Rare Diseases of the Immune System *Series Editors:* Lorenzo Emmi · Domenico Prisco

Rolando Cimaz Editor

Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers



Rare Diseases of the Immune System

Series Editors

Lorenzo Emmi Domenico Prisco

Editorial Board:

Systemic Vasculitis

Lorenzo Emmi Carlo Salvarani Renato Alberto Sinico

Autoimmune Disease

Pier Luigi Meroni Dario Roccatello Marco Matucci-Cerinic Lorenzo Emmi

Autoinflammatory Syndromes Marco Gattorno

Fabrizio de Benedetti Rolando Cimaz

Primary Immunodeficiency

Alessandro Plebani Cosima Baldari Mario Milco D'Elios

Systemic Fibroinflammatory Disorders Augusto Vaglio



Scogliera Laura Maddii Emmi (Private collection)

Rolando Cimaz Editor

Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers



Editor Rolando Cimaz Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health University of Milano Milano Italy ASST-Gaetano Pini Milano Italy

ISSN 2282-6505 ISSN 2283-6403 (electronic) Rare Diseases of the Immune System ISBN 978-3-030-19054-5 ISBN 978-3-030-19055-2 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Foreword

Periodic diseases have long held a special fascination for physicians and scientists alike. In ancient times, such illnesses were tied to natural phenomena, such as the phases of the moon. Later, it became clear that the periodicity of some illnesses, such as malaria, is linked to the life cycle of the causative organism, while in other cases, such as relapsing fever, periodicity is the result of the "cat and mouse" game between a microbial pathogen and the host immune response. More recently, with the discovery of *CLOCK* genes, some forms of biologic periodicity could be explained by molecular pathways with an intrinsic oscillation constant.

Our understanding of the periodic fever syndromes evolved within this conceptual landscape. By the 1980s, it was well-established that the periodicity of some febrile illnesses, such as those noted above, is driven by host-pathogen interactions. Yet there remained an intriguing group of illnesses, the best recognized of which was familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), in which there was recurrent fever without any overt evidence of infection. The ethnic predilection of FMF, taken together with its autosomal recessive inheritance, strongly suggested a disease mechanism intrinsic to the host. With the advent of the Human Genome Project and positional cloning, I was drawn to FMF as an "experiment of nature" through which we could discover a molecular tuning fork regulating fever and inflammation in humankind.

Ultimately, we were successful in discovering the *MEFV* gene and its encoded protein, pyrin. Although not immediately obvious at the time, pyrin and its eponymous N-terminal fragment have helped to define multiple innate immune molecules and pathways, in some cases leading to life-altering targeted therapies. Moreover, the positional cloning of *MEFV* was the first in a long progression of gene discoveries defining new monogenic febrile disorders and a new family of illnesses—the autoinflammatory diseases—that are inborn errors of the innate immune system. This concept has been subsequently extended to genetically complex illnesses, such as systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis, Still's disease, Behçet's disease, and the syndrome of periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis (PFAPA). In most cases, both the monogenic and genetically complex disorders are more aptly described as *recurrent* rather than *periodic*, and the cyclicity and responsiveness to environmental cues vary greatly even among family members harboring the same genetic variant. Many of these disorders are elegantly described in this volume.

Notwithstanding the significant advances in the field of autoinflammation, there are still many puzzles awaiting the enquiring mind. Perhaps most notable, we still do not have a clear concept of the periodicity (or episodic nature) of these illnesses. For disorders like PFAPA, in which the attacks are predictable months in advance, it seems likely that there may be a feedback loop between the host microbiome and the developing lymphoid tissue of the oropharynx, but the details remain elusive. Even for disorders like FMF, which are admittedly more recurrent than periodic, we are far from a molecular account of how attacks are triggered and how they are ultimately turned off.

This dialectic of mystery and discovery is exactly how it should be in science. I truly hope that you will find this volume to be your own travel guide to this exciting new world of human disease and your inspiration to take the field to the next level.

February 6, 2019

Dan Kastner Division of Intramural Research National Human Genome Research Institute, NIH Bethesda, Maryland, USA

Preface

Recurrent fevers are a frequent problem in children. While infections are the most common causes, genetic and autoinflammatory disorders have been increasingly recognized. These syndromes are sometimes very difficult to diagnose, and several can be discovered only after a thorough work-up for fever of unknown origin, but improvements in genetic techniques have allowed more and more precise definitions. Enormous advancements have been achieved in treatment with the use of biologic therapies, in particular with the cytokine inhibitors.

This volume includes the description of several classic conditions as well as of novel and rarer forms. The authors of these chapters are international experts in the field and have provided clear descriptions of the clinical findings and of therapeutic implications. The readers, whether general pediatricians, pediatric rheumatologist, or immunologist, will certainly benefit from these updated informations, which we tried to keep as practical as possible.

Milan, Italy

Rolando Cimaz

Contents

1	Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers 1 Marco Gattorno 1
2	Fever of Unknown Origin.21Estíbaliz Iglesias, Antoni Noguera-Julian, Laia Alsina, and Jordi Antón21
3	PFAPA: Periodic Fever, Aphthous Ulceration, Pharyngitis, Adenitis
4	Kawasaki Disease45Rakesh Kumar Pilania and Surjit Singh
5	Systemic-Onset Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis.65María Martha Katsicas and Ricardo A. G. Russo
6	Adult-Onset Still's Disease93Stéphane Mitrovic, Eugen Feist, and Bruno Fautrel
7	Recurrent Pericarditis
8	Chronic Nonbacterial Osteomyelitis
9	Behçet Disease161Erdal Sag, Yelda Bilginer, and Seza Ozen
10	Extraintestinal Manifestations of Inflammatory Bowel Disease 177 Skirmante Rusoniene, Vaidotas Urbonas, and Tadej Avcin
11	Castleman Disease. 215 Dale M. Kobrin and David C. Fajgenbaum
12	Mevalonate Kinase Deficiency

13	Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Periodic Syndrome (TRAPS).	235
	Charalampia Papadopoulou and Helen J. Lachmann	
14	Type I Interferonopathies. Z Cécile Frachette, Rolando Cimaz, and Alexandre Belot Z	247
15	Rare Monogenic Causes of Periodic Fevers 2 Serife Gulmus, Roberta Berard, and Erkan Demirkaya 2	257
16	Pyogenic Arthritis, Pyoderma Gangrenosum, and Acne (PAPA) Syndrome Antonella Insalaco	273
Ind	ex	281

Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers

Marco Gattorno

1.1 Cryopyrin-Associated Periodic Syndromes (CAPS)

CAPS are a group of clinical conditions identified in different times and secondary to autosomal dominant mutations of a single gene, NLRP3 (NOD-like receptor 3), encoding a protein called cryopyrin [1]. FCAS, also named familial cold urticaria, familial polymorphous cold eruption, and cold hypersensitivity, was first described in 1940 as a rare autosomal dominant disorder characterised by intermittent episodes of rash, fever, and arthralgia secondary to exposure to cold [2]. MWS was first described in 1962 in a British family with recurrent episodes of urticaria-like eruptions, fever, chills, malaise, and limb pain since childhood associated with progressive development of sensorineural hearing loss and amyloidosis [3]. In 1981, Prieur and Griscelli described three unrelated children presenting since birth with a syndrome characterised by a permanent skin rash, fever, lymphadenopathy, severe central nervous system involvement (mental retardation, sensorial hearing loss, and chronic aseptic meningitis), chronic arthropathy, peculiar facial and dysmorphic features [4]. They defined this syndrome as CINCA syndrome (MIM 607115), whereas American authors defined the same entity as neonatal onset multisystemic inflammatory disease (NOMID).

1.1.1 Pathogenesis

Interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) plays a pivotal role in the pathogenesis of many inflammatory conditions and represents a potential target of therapeutic intervention in many inflammatory diseases. The increasing knowledge of the pathogenic consequences

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020



1

M. Gattorno (🖂)

Center for Autoinflammatory Diseases and Immunedeficiencies, IRCCS G. Gaslini, Genova, Italy e-mail: marcogattorno@gaslini.org

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_1

related to mutations of genes involved in the monogenic autoinflammatory diseases has shed light on some pivotal pathophysiological mechanisms related to the activation and secretion of IL-1 β [5].

IL-1 β lacks a secretory signal peptide and is externalised by monocytic cells through a non-classical pathway, arranged in two steps and involving a multiprotein intracellular complex, called inflammasome, responsible for activation of the IL-1 converting enzyme (or caspase-1), which in turn converts pro-IL-1 β to the mature, active 17 kDa form.

The stimulation of cells of the innate immunity with an external PAMP (pathogens associated molecular pattern), such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) toward the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), induces the gene expression and the synthesis of the inactive IL-1 β precursor (pro-IL-1 β) (Fig. 1.1) [6]. Monocytes stimulated with LPS alone release approximately only 20% of the IL-1 β over 24–48 h. After priming, the NLRP3-Inflammasome activation requires a second signal, usually the extracellular ATP that determines an intracellular depletion of potassium after its binding to its specific cellular purinergic receptor P2x7R. A wide range of exogenous (whole pathogens, PAMPS, toxins) and endogenous (products of cell death, indicators of metabolic stress, crystals, mitochondrial reactive oxygen species, ROS) stimuli can activate the NLRP3 inflammasome (Fig. 1.1).

Mutations of NLRP3 in humans are associated with a gain of function that leads to an excessive and faster production of IL-1 β after stimulation of TLR, even in the



Fig. 1.1 Activation of the NLRP3 Inflammasome. *LPS* lipopolysaccharide, *ROS* reactive oxygen species, *TLR* toll-like receptor, *LRR* leucine rich repeat, *IL-1* interleuchin-1

absence of a second signal, like ATP. This is caused by a state of overactivation of the redox state observed in NLRP3-mutated monocytes from CAPS patients that cause a faster production and secretion of IL-1 β after TLRs' stimulation [7, 8].

1.1.2 Clinical Picture and Diagnostic Approach

FCAS is characterised by urticarial rash and fever spikes of short duration (usually <24 h) induced by generalized cold exposition [2]. Arthralgia and conjunctivitis are also common. Other symptoms seen after cold exposure include profuse sweating, drowsiness, headache, extreme thirst, and nausea. MWS is characterised by recurrent episodes of urticaria and fever that may develop in early infancy. The fever episodes (usually <38.5 °C) can be associated with the same clinical manifestations as seen in FCAS (arthralgia, conjunctivitis, drowsiness) but usually are not strictly evoked by cold exposure. Acute phase reactants are raised during fever episodes and may persist at a slightly increased level also during fever-free intervals. During the course of the disease, neurosensorial deafness and polyarthritis may develop. Amyloid A (AA) amyloidosis is a complication of the late stage of the disease [9]. CINCA represents the more severe phenotype associated with NLRP3 mutations. It presents with a chronic and inflammatory disease course that differentiates this condition from the classical periodic fevers. The urticaria-like rash may develop during the first weeks of life. Patients present a typical "facies" characterised by frontal bossing, saddle back nose, and mid-face hypoplasia. Bony overgrowth predominantly affecting the knees (including the patella) is the most characteristic feature of this form. A chronic inflammatory polyarthritis may be also present, sometime leading to bone erosions. Central nervous system manifestations include chronic aseptic meningitis that can lead to cerebral atrophy, ventriculomegaly and to a severe mental retardation. Increased intracranial pressure, sensorineural hearing loss and chronic papilledema, with associated optic nerve atrophy, and loss of vision are also typical findings in untreated patients. Patients display a persistent elevation of acute phase reactants, leucocytosis and chronic anaemia [10, 11]. Recently, novel diagnostic criteria for all CAPS phenotypes have been developed by a group of experts and validated with a number of confounding diseases [12]. Evidence-based classification criteria have been also developed on the basis of the comparison of different monogenic and multifactorial conditions collected enrollled in the Eurofever registry [13].

So far, more than 200 different variants have been reported in the NLRP£ gene (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/). Of course not all of them are associated with a phenotype consistent with a cryopyrinopathy. Almost all the observed pathogenic mutations are found in the exon 3 of the NLRP3 gene, coding for the NACHT domain of the cryopyrin that plays a crucial role in the oligomerisation of the protein. Different mutations are associated with a milder or more severe alteration of the structure of the protein and therefore are associated to a milder or more severe phenotype [11]. Recently, a genotype-phenotype analysis has been developed in the context of all CAPS patients included in a large international registry, Eurofever

[14]. Notably, there are other NLRP3 variants (such as V198M and Q703K), that are considered low-penetrance mutations (V198M) or even common polymorphisms (Q703K), being detected also in a percentage of healthy carriers. These variants should be considered with a great caution in the diagnostic work-up patients with an inflammatory phenotype [15].

Germline mutations of the NLRP3 gene are found in almost 70% of patients with a CAPS phenotype. Notably, a relevant percentage of CAPS patients negative for germline mutations are carriers of somatic mosaicisms that should be systematically searched for in patients with a typical phenotype with a negative genetic standard test [16, 17].

1.1.3 Treatment

The crucial role of NLRP3 in the control of caspase 1 activation and the massive secretion of active IL-1 β seen in cryopyrin-mutated subjects suggested that anti-IL1 treatment might be an effective treatment. Indeed, the recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist, anakinra, has a dramatic effect on the control of rash and constitutional symptoms in patients with the all subtypes of CAPS [9, 18-22]. It is today established that IL-1 inhibitors are the treatment of choice in CAPS patients. The goal of the treatment is a complete control of the inflammatory symptoms and the normalization of the acute phase reactants. Anakinra has been approved by the FDA and in Europe for the treatment of CAPS. Canakinumab is a fully human anti-interleukin-1ß monoclonal antibody that selectively blocks IL-1β. Canakinumab is used subcutaneously at the dose of 150 mg (or 2 mg/kg) every 8 weeks. In patients with the more severe CINCA phenotype, higher doses (4 mg/kg) and frequency of administration are often required [23]. Canakinumab is approved for the use in all subtypes of CAPS in patients older than 2 years. A third IL-1 blocker (rilonacept) is available in the United States but is not licensed in Europe.

1.2 Familial Mediterranean Fever (FMF)

FMF is the most common among hereditary recurrent inflammatory disorders [24]. This disease affects populations of Mediterranean descent: Arabs from the East and from the West, Armenians, Turks, non-Ashkenazi and other Jews, but also Italians, Greeks. Among non-Ashkenazi Jews and Turks, the frequency of heterozygotes in the general population is greater than 1/5.

In 1997, the gene associated with FMF was cloned by two international consortia [25, 26]. It was called MEFV for MEditerranean FeVer. The gene encodes a protein called marenostin/pyrin consisting of 781 amino acids. MEFV is a gene expressed specifically in myeloid cells.

Pyrin has several domains: the pyrin domain is a specific domain of 90 amino acids located in the N-terminal region. The second domain called B30.2 or SPRY is



Fig. 1.2 The pyrin inflammasome. RhoA activates the serine-threonine kinases PKN1 and PKN2 that phosphorylate pyrin. Phosphorylated pyrin binds to regulatory proteins that in turn block the pyrin inflammasome. This regulatory mechanism is greatly altered with mutant pyrin: the binding to regulatory proteins of mutant pyrin is substantially decreased, with a constitutive IL-1 β release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with FMF. In MDK, the shortage of the geranylgeranyl groups induces a defect of prenylation that leads to RhoA inactivation and consequent pyrin inflammasome activation

located in the C-terminal region of the protein and contains the most frequent mutations associated with FMF.

The functional role of pyrin remained largely unknown for many years after its identification. Preliminary studies suggested its possible regulatory role on the NLRP3 inflammasome [27, 28]. Pyrin is indeed able to interact with some crucial elements of the NLRP3 inflammasome, such as ASC and caspase 1, and it was postulated that pyrin mutations could induce a loss-of function in its potential inhibitory action on the NLRP3 Inflammasome (Fig. 1.2).

Recently, an alternative hypothesis has been proposed: pyrin forms, with ASC and caspase 1, its own "pyrin inflammasome" [29, 30], able to activate IL-1 in response to bacterial modifications of the GTPase RhoA [31]. RhoA activates the serine-threonine kinases PKN1 and PKN2 that phosphorylate pyrin. Phosphorylated pyrin binds to regulatory proteins that in turn block the pyrin inflammasome. This regulatory mechanism is greatly altered with mutant pyrin: the binding to regulatory proteins of mutant pyrin is substantially decreased, with a constitutive IL-1 β release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells of patients with FMF [9]. According to this model pyrin variants would represent gain-of-function mutations enhancing the activity of the "pyrin inflammasome" [30, 31] (Fig. 1.2).

1.2.1 Clinical Picture and Diagnostic Approach

FMF has a disease onset before 5 years of age in two-thirds of patients. Fever is typically associated with signs of acute serosal inflammation: peritonitis (95%), pleuritis (45%,), scrotitis (3%) and pericarditis (1%). Large joints are also affected in more than 50% of patients—mainly knees, hips and ankles. Erysipelas-like erythema of the lower limbs is the most typical skin lesion, even if uncommon. Attacks last for about 24–72 h and resolve spontaneously. Their recurrences have no regular periodicity. Some factors can trigger inflammatory attacks in FMF, especially physical or emotional stress, menstruation, and travel. Except for amyloidosis, chronic manifestations of the disease such as encapsulating peritonitis and chronic destructive arthritis affecting especially hips and knees are rare. At least in children, the severity of the clinical manifestations is related not only to genetic factors (i.e., severe variants affecting exon 10) but also to environmental factors, such as country of residence [32].

Despite advances in genetic testing the diagnosis of FMF still relies on clinical grounds [33]. Three different sets of diagnostic criteria have been developed mainly in populations in which FMF has a high prevalence (Table 1.1) [34–36].

The performances of the three Hashomer, Livneh Tel-Hashomer, and Yalcinkaya FMF criteria were assessed in pediatric patients with FMF compared to other periodic fevers, including MKD, TRAPS, CAPS, PFAPA, and undefined periodic fever of different ethnicity enrolled in the large international Eurofever registry. Patients with FMF were correctly diagnosed using the pediatric Yalcinkaya criteria with a sensitivity rate of 87.4%, but with a low specificity (40.7%). On the other hand, Tel Hashomer and Livneh criteria displayed a sensitivity of 45.0% and 77.3%, respectively, but a better specificity, 97.2% and 41.1% for the Tel Hashomer and Livneh criteria, respectively [37]. In 2015, Federici et al. developed and validated a new set of clinical criteria for the classification of patients affected by the four main autoinflammatory recurrent fever syndromes, including FMF (Table 1.2) [13].

In a clinical context, the presence of two mutations on different alleles (homozygosity or compound heterozygosity) confirms the diagnosis. When only one mutation is present, the diagnosis is not ascertained but should not be ruled out if the clinical presentation is typical: although five mutations represent more than 85% of all the mutations, some rare or unknown mutations exist (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/) [38]. It is also likely that some heterozygous patients may have attenuated clinical signs. According to this theory, in cohorts of patients with periodic fever syndrome it has been observed that the frequency of typical FMF symptoms decreases from patients carrying two high penetrance mutations towards patients with a single one low-penetrance mutation [39]. Clinical signs may appear in heterozygotes probably due to the presence of yet unknown modifying factors such as additional molecular defect(s) and/or particular environmental factors [32, 40]. Large series show that patients with one single mutated allele may present a clinical picture of FMF. However, heterozygosity in the MEFV gene constitutes only a susceptibility factor for the disease that need to be combined to the presence of still unknown genetic or environmental factors to explain the clinical picture [32, 39–41].

Criteria of Livneh
Major criteria
Typical attacks
1. Peritonitis (generalised)
2. Pleuritis (unilateral) or pericarditis
3. Monoarthritis (hip, knee, ankle)
Minor criteria
1-3. Incomplete attacks involving one or more of the following sites:
1. Abdomen
2. Chest
3. Joint
4. Exertional leg pain
5. Favourable response to colchicine
Supportive criteria
1. Family history of familial Mediterranean fever
2. Appropriate ethnic origin
3. Age < 20 years at disease onset
4-7. Features of attacks: 4. Severe, requiring bed rest, 5. Spontaneous remission, 6.
Symptom-free interval
7. Transient inflammatory response, with one or more abnormal test result(s) for white blood cell count, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, serum amyloid A and/or fibrinogen
8. Episodic proteinuria/haematuria
9. Unproductive laparotomy or removal of 'white' appendix
10. Consanguinity of parents
The requirements for diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever are >1 major criterion or >2

Table 1.1 Criteria for the diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever^a

^aThe requirements for diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever are ≥ 1 major criterion, or ≥ 2 minor criteria, or 1 minor plus ≥ 5 supportive criteria, or 1 minor criterion plus ≥ 4 of the first 5 supportive criteria. Typical attacks are defined as recurrent (≥ 3 of the same type), febrile (rectal temperature of ≥ 38 °C) and short (lasting between 12 h and 3 days). Incomplete attacks are defined as painful and recurrent attacks that differ from typical attacks in one or two features, as follows: (1) the temperature is normal or < 38 °C; (2) the attacks are longer or shorter than specified (but no shorter than 6 h or longer than a week; (3) no signs of peritonitis are recorded during the abdominal attacks; (4) the abdominal attacks are localised; (5) the arthritis is in joints other than those specified. Attacks are not counted if they do not fit the definition of either typical or incomplete attacks

Amyloid nephropathy was the most severe long-term complication and the more frequent cause of death in FMF before the colchicine era. FMF-associated amyloidosis is a prototype of the inflammatory amyloidosis or AA amyloidosis, which complicates longstanding inflammatory diseases. Amyloidosis generally occurs in patients with early and severe inflammatory attacks (FMF phenotype 1) [42]. The risk of developing AA amyloidosis is closely linked to the duration and intensity of the inflammatory state as reflected by the level of serum AA (SAA). SAA and C-reactive protein (CRP) are both increased during FMF attacks, as well as in all forms of hereditary fevers. However, amyloidosis may occur exceptionally in patients with no recognised clinical inflammatory crisis (Phenotype 2) [43]. Phenotype 2 is probably exceptional, as shown in a Turkish study in which proteinuria was measured in relatives of patients with FMF amyloidosis [19]. It has long

		_			
FMF (cut-off > 65)			MKD (cut off > 41)		
PRESENCE	score		PRESENCE	score	
Duration of episodes <2 days	7	1	Painful lymphnodes	13	
Chestpain	11		Aphtous stomatitis	11	
Abdominal pain	9		Generalized enlargment of	8	
South Mediterrean ethnicity	20		lymphonodes OR splenomegaly		
North Mediterranean ethnicity	8		Age at onset <2 years	10	
ABSENCE	score	1	Diarrhea (sometimes/often)	20	
Aphtous stomatitis	10	1	Diarrhea (always)	37	
Exudative pharyngitis	7		ABSENCE	score	
Urticarial rash	13		Chestpain	11	
Enlarged cervical lymphonodes	8	i		<u></u>	
Duration of episodes >6 days	15		TRAPS (cut off 44))	
		-	PRESENCE	score	
CAPS (cut off >61)			Periorbital oedema	27	
PRESENCE	score		Duration of animates Orders		
Arthralgia	17		Duration of episodes >6 days	22	
Urticarial rash	34		Myalgia	12	
ABSENCE	score		Belatives affected	8	
Abdominal pain	26]	Age at disease onset>3	3	
Exudative pharyngitis	23			<u> </u>	
		-	ABSENCE	score	
			Vomiting	11	
			Anhtous stomatitis	16	

Table 1.2 The preliminary Eurofever classification criteria

been established that the prevalence of amyloidosis varies according to ethnic groups. This suggests that genetic and/or environmental factors participate in the occurrence of amyloidosis during FMF. Several correlation studies have shown a preferential association between amyloidosis and the M694V mutation in the homo-zygous state. The occurrence of amyloidosis is influenced by modifier genes, among which are genes encoding SAA—namely, SAA1 and SAA2, and several polymorphic variants [44].

In patients with FMF, the homozygous SAA1.1 genotype is associated with an increased risk of amyloidosis, compared with other genotypes at the SAA1.1 locus. This was first observed in Armenian patients and has been confirmed in patients with FMF from other populations. Whereas the major role of the SAA1 locus in the risk of developing amyloidosis has been clearly identified in many studies, including patients with other underlying diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, and other populations such as Japanese patients, the precise mechanism underlying this observation is still to be elucidated.

1.2.2 Treatment

Daily colchicine is an effective treatment for preventing recurrence of attacks and the occurrence of amyloidosis [45]. The usual dose of colchicine is 1 mg/day [46]. If the disease activity is not controlled, either because of recurrence of attacks or because of persistently raised inflammatory parameters, especially SAA, the dose of

colchicine should be increased by 0.5 mg/day every 3–6 months up to 2.5 mg/day [47]. Diarrhea due to colchicine is rare and can be managed by splitting the dose in two during the day. In some cases, proteinuria due to amyloidosis disappears during treatment with colchicine.

Although colchicine intoxication remains a serious concern, long-term daily colchicine is relatively safe. Adverse effects of colchicine on sperm function are controversial but now considered as not being deleterious; long-term use of colchicine can be considered as safe, including during pregnancy [46].

True non-responders to colchicine are rare; most of them are non-compliant patients. In these non-responders, interferon- α has been proposed, but promising early results have not been confirmed. More recently, IL-1 blockers (anakinra, rilonacept, and canakinumab) have shown efficacy in some patients who were resistant to colchicine, in agreement with the pathogenic data obtained on marenostin/ pyrin role in the IL-1 secretion pathway [48]. Monoclonal antibody against IL-1beta (canakinumab) was effective in small series of FMF patients resistent to colchicne [49, 50]. Recently, a placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial has clearly shown the efficacy of this drug in colchicine resistent FMF [51]. Canakinumab is now approved for this indication by FDA and EMA.

1.3 Mevalonate Kinase Deficiency (MKD)

MKD was originally identified in 1984 in six patients of Dutch ancestry with a long history of recurrent attacks of fever of unknown cause and a high serum IgD level [52]. For this reason, this disorder has also been named hyper IgD syndrome or Dutch fever.

High IgD plasma levels have been used as a diagnostic hallmark until mutations in the mevalonate kinase (MVK) gene, encoded on chromosome 12q24, were identified as the cause of the disease [53, 54]. The complete deficiency of this enzyme causes a distinct syndrome called mevalonic aciduria (MA; MIM 251170), which is clinically characterised by severe mental retardation, ataxia, failure to thrive, myopathy and cataracts; notably, these patients also have recurrent fever attacks [55]. MVK is an essential enzyme in the isoprenoid biosynthesis pathway, which producess several biomolecules involved in different cellular processes (Fig. 1.2).

The distribution of MKD is not limited to northern European populations. Indeed, a relevant number of patients have been observed also among populations living around the Mediterranean basin and Asia. Moreover, owing to the low sensitivity and specificity of IgD serum levels, the term hyper IgD syndrome has been replaced by mevalonate kinase deficiency associated periodic syndrome.

1.3.1 Pathogenesis

The pathogenetic mechanisms that link the dysregulation of mevalonate pathway to the inflammatory phenotype are only partially understood. MVK catalyses the ATP-dependent phosphorylation of mevalonate to 5-phosphomevalonate and is the first enzyme to follow the highly regulated enzyme hydroxymethylglutaryl-coenzyme A (HMG-CoA) reductase in isoprenoid biosynthesis. Cells from patients with the MKD phenotype still contain residual MVK enzyme activities (from 1% to 8% of the activities of control cells), while in cells from patients with the MA pheno-type the MVK enzyme activity is below the detection level (approximately 0.1% that of normal individuals). This enzymatic deficiency is also reflected in the high levels of mevalonic acid in plasma and urine in patients with MA and low to moder-ate levels of mevalonate acid in patients with periodic fever associated with MKD.

In vitro studies have shown that shortage of isoprenoid end products (mainly the geranylgeranyl groups), rather than an excess of mevalonate, contributes to the inflammation in MKD [56]. It has recently been demonstrated that the shortage of the geranylgeranyl groups induces a defect of prenylation that leads to RhoA inactivation and consequent pyrin inflammasome activation (Fig. 1.2) [31]. These data demonstrate a previously unsuspected fundamental molecular connection between FMF and MKD.

1.3.2 Clinical Picture and Diagnostic Approach

Disease onset occurs very early in life, most often the first 2 years; almost all patients have developed the disease during the first decade of life [57]. Fever attacks have an abrupt onset and last 4-6 days. Irritability and general poor conditions during the attacks are quite common. Severe abdominal pain often accompanied by vomiting and/or diarrhea is frequently associated with fever attacks. Cervical lymphadenopathy is common; axillary, inguinal, and intra-abdominal lymph node enlargement may be also present. Splenomegaly is seen during fever attacks in about half of patients. Erythematous macules and urticaria-like lesions are frequent cutaneous manifestations. Oral aphthous lesions might be also observed. Articular involvement occurs in the majority of patients as arthralgia or as an oligoarticular, usually symmetric, arthritis [57]. Usually patients carrying milder mutations (see below) present a complete wellbeing between fever attacks, with a normal growth. In a subgroup of patients the more severe impairment of the enzymatic activity secondary to MVK mutations with a deleterious effect, lead to a sub-chronic inflammatory phenotype associated to persistent elevation of acute phase reactants, hepatosplenomegaly, chronic arthritis, failure to thrive and a slightly impaired cognitive development, the so-called intermediate phenotype. This latter phenotype is clearly a continuum between MKD with periodic fever and mevalonic aciduria.

In MKD patients with periodic fever, the symptoms persist for years, but usually tend to become less prominent with time. However, in some patients the disease may progress towards adulthood. Amyloidosis was not considered as a possible long-term complication of MKD, but it has been recently described in rare patients.

Neutrophilia and raised acute phase reactants are present during fever attacks. Increased plasma levels of IgD (>100 IU/ml) during episodes of fever and in basal conditions have been considered in the past as a hallmark of the disease. However,

the specificity of this finding is low. Concomitant elevation of IgA has been also reported. An increased urine excretion of mevalonic acid is seen during fever spikes and decreased MVK activity may also point towards the diagnosis. However, the above mentioned determinations need a highly specialised laboratory and therefore are often difficult to perform as a screening test. Thus the decision to undergo molecular analysis of the MVK gene in a child with periodic fever is usually taken on clinical grounds.

Since MKD has the higher clinical overlap with the more frequent and multifactiorial PFAPA syndrome, a diagnostic score has been developed in order to identify those children with recurrent fever at higher risk to carry mutations of MVK, MEFV and TNFRSF1A genes [58]. The score has been validated in Western european populations only and is available at www.printo.it/diagnosticscore. Evidence-based classification criteria for MKD have been recently developed on the basis of the comparison of different monogenic and multifactorial recurrent fevers enrolled in the Eurofever registry [13].

MKD is an autosomal recessive disease. So far more than 215 substitutions or deletions of the MVK gene have been reported (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/) [38]. Some variants (i.e., V310M, A334T) are strongly associated with a severe MA phenotype and with a severely impaired cellular MVK activity. The most common mutation in the MVK gene is the V377I variant, which is associated with the mild phenotype of MKD and with a residual MVK activity. It is found in the compound heterozygous state in the vast majority of patients with the periodic fever associated with MKD [57]. Other mutations such as H20P and I268T have also been associated either with MA and MKD phenotype (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/ infevers/) and might be associated to the intermediate phenotype [14]. More recently other hereditary diseases has been linked to the MKD gene: disseminated superficial actinic porokeratosis (DSAP) [48, 59] and very rare inherited retinal diseases [60] are due to mutations in the MKD gene, showing further that mutations of a single gene can manifest with very different phenotypes. Even if up to date, no ocular involvement has been described in MKD-associated periodic syndrome patients; this finding highlights that all the patients should undergo a regular ocular assessment.

1.3.3 Treatment

Fever attacks usually respond dramatically to the administration of steroids (prednisone: 1 mg/kg/day as single administration or, in more severe attacks, with a short course of 3–5 days) [48]. However, owing to the high frequency of the fever episodes, some patients may need almost continuous treatment [61].

The use of biological treatments is largely anecdotal and sometimes controversial. Anti-TNF therapy has been found to reduce the frequency and intensity of fever attacks in some patients, but not in others. The use of IL-1 blockers has been described as effective in some anecdotal cases, even if the percentage of patients with a complete response to Anakinra in the Eurofever registry was lower than reported for other monogenic diseases [57]. In an open-label study, MKD patients showed an excellent response to the use of IL-1 monoclonal antibody (canakinumab) [62]. Recently a placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial has clearly shown the efficacy of this drug in MKD, TRAPS, and colchicine-resistant FMF [51]. In this study, MKD patients needed higher doses of the drug and a more frequent administration (4 mg/kg every 4 weeks) when compared to the other two conditions. Canakinumab is now approved for MKD by FDA and EMA.

1.4 TNF-Receptor-Associated Autoinflammatory Syndrome (TRAPS)

TRAPS is due to dominant mutations of the p55kd TNF receptor superfamily type 1A (TNFRSF1A) [63]. Even though TRAPS was initially described in subjects of Nordic origin, as emphasised by the name familial Hibernian fever, mutations in TNFRSF1A have now been found in many populations, including Black Americans, Japanese and those of Mediterranean ancestry [64, 65].

1.4.1 Pathogenesis

Early studies of TRAPS suggested that inflammation was mediated by a defect in the shedding of the soluble extracellular domain of TNFR1. This defect could impair the shedding of the membrane bound receptor and decrease the circulating levels of soluble TNFR1. Soluble TNF receptors (p55 and p75 kD, type 1B) play a crucial role in the down-modulation of the pro-inflammatory effect of TNF, binding the cytokine in the circulation and preventing the activation of membrane-bound receptors. However, normal plasma concentration of the soluble form of the receptor during attacks have been found and, even more importantly, treatment with a fusion protein of the soluble part of the p75 receptor (etanercept) produce only a modest and transient response in most TRAPS patients (see below) reflecting the fact that the mechanisms that drive the inflammation in TRAPS mutations do not rely on a quantitative or qualitative abnormality of the soluble form of the receptor. Subsequent studies have shown that most TRAPS-associated TNFR1 mutants are clearly accumulated and retained in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), which suggests that the mutations most likely affect protein folding and trafficking to the membrane [66, 67]. Some studies suggest that the mutated TNFR1 receptor might retain some functionality and that it can still signal at the ER and promote ER-stress induced activation of proinflammatory MAP kinases [68]. Furthermore, cells carrying TNSRFS1A mutations try to override the accumulation of mutant unfolded proteins through an intracellular mechanism called Autophagy. The exhaustion of this process may lead to the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and is therefore responsible for the increased secretion of IL-1 β observed in TRAPS patients [69] (Fig. 1.3). This latter mechanism explains the apparent paradox of the better response to anti-IL-1 than anti-TNF agents in TRAPS patients.



Fig. 1.3 Effect of unfolded protein response and endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) stress in the pathogenesis of TRAPS

1.4.2 Clinical Picture and Diagnostic Approach

TRAPS attacks last longer than in FMF and MKD, generally more than 5 days and up to 3 weeks, even though attacks shorter than 5 days have been reported [70]. Abdominal pain can simulate a surgical event, like for FMF. Skin manifestations are present in more than three quarters of cases. A wide spectrum of rashes can be seen: urticaria-like, plaques and patches. The most distinctive lesion is represented by erythematous, swollen, warm, and tender plaques of various sizes with hazy edges, usually affecting the upper and lower limbs but also the chest. Usually, the rash has a migratory course from the root to the extremity of the limbs. This pseudocellulitis is often accompanied by painful myalgias and constitutes the other most distinctive manifestation of TRAPS attacks. Myalgias are frequently observed and might herald the onset of the attacks. Although magnetic resonance imaging shows an abnormal signal in subcutaneous tissue, fasciae and muscles during TRAPS attacks, biopsies reveal that only fasciae were infiltrated by lymphocytes and monocytes, without myositis. Thoracic, scrotal pain, arthritis, orbital oedema and conjunctivitis are also found in TRAPS attacks. Renal amyloidosis is the main complication of TRAPS syndrome, being present in the majority of untreated patients. Increased levels of serum amyloid A not only during the fever attacks but also in the symptoms-free intervals detect patients with an increased risk of developing this complication.

TRAPS is an autosomal recessive disease. The careful examination of the family tree might help the identification of other affected members. As for FMF, some TRAPS patients display a subclinical disease course with persistent elevation of acute phase reactants and SAA. If not properly recognized these patients may develop AA amyloidosis, that represented the more frequent and severe complication in pre-biologic treatment era. A relative who died for renal insufficiency due to amyloidoses was a common finding in the family history of many TRAPS patients.

At present, 158 variants of the TNFRSF1A gene have been reported (http://fmf. igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/) [38]. Most TRAPS-associated mutations, including a majority of cysteine substitutions, are located in the first two cysteine-rich domains of the TNFRSF1A protein and are likely responsible of the proposed pathogenesis. The meaning of two variants, R92Q and P46L has not been completely determined [71]. P46L appears rather as a benign polymorphism and R92Q behaves at most as an incomplete penetrance mutation with no accumulation of the receptor in the ER.

At least in Caucasian populations, the R92Q mutation is the most frequently observed variant of the TNFRSF1A gene. According to different studies, the allele frequency of the R92Q variant in the general population ranges from 1.2% to 4%. As stated above, R92Q is a missense and low-penetrance mutation with no relevant impact on the structure and function of the mutated protein and is usually associated with a milder disease course, characterised by episodes of fever lasting only a few days, lower intensity of disease-associated symptoms and much lower prevalence of amyloidosis [72]. The majority of children with periodic fever and the R92Q mutation display a milder disease course than patients with structural mutations and a higher rate of spontaneous resolution and amelioration [73]. These clinical observation supports the limited pathogenic role of this variant. Based on these data and on the prevalence of this variant in the normal population, great caution should be taken in the interpretation of a positive molecular analysis for the R92Q variant, especially in children with periodic fever.

1.4.3 Treatment

Corticosteroids can attenuate the length and the severity of an attack when given at its onset [48]. In the most severe forms of the disease, clinical signs of inflammation are almost permanent and require daily use of corticosteroids, leading to dependency and requiring the use of other anti-inflammatory drugs [61]. Colchicine does not seem to prevent recurrences of TRAPS attacks. Some benefit has been described in patients carrying the R92Q variant. Theoretically, TNF inhibitors seem designed to be an optimal treatment of TRAPS. Nevertheless studies describing the use of etanercept report, despite the overall beneficial effects both on clinical manifestations and laboratory parameters, a discontinuation of the treatment in most of the treated patients due to lack of complete efficacy [74]. Furthermore, a paradoxical reaction with exacerbation of the inflammatory signs has been seen after administration of the anti-TNF monoclonal antibody (infliximab) in some patients with TRAPS and thus this type of drugs should not be used in this indication [48]. Recently published data suggested an excellent response to IL1 inhibitors in some patients. Anakinra was firstly used in one adult patient for few months [75] and subsequently in 5 TRAPS patients (4 children and 1 adult) for a longer follow-up, with good response [76]. Data from the Eurofever registry confirm the better performance of IL-1 blockade compare with anti-TNF treatment in TRAPS patients [48]. These observations lead to the recommendation of using IL1 inhibitors as a first-line treatment if corticosteroids failed to control symptoms [61]. In an open-label study involving 20 patients with severe disease course, canakinumab (IL-1 monoclonal antibody) showed a complete control of disease activity in 90% of the patients [77]. Recently a placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial has clearly shown the efficacy of canakinumab in TRAPS [51]. Canakinumab is now approved for TRAPS by FDA and EMA.

1.5 Periodic Fever, Aphthous Stomatitis, Pharyngitis, and Adenitis Syndrome (PFAPA)

Within this acronym are classified those children presenting with periodic fever attacks similar to those seen in monogenic periodic fevers but negative for mutations of known genes (MEFV, MVK, TNFRS1A). Although some anecdotic familial cases of PFAPA have been reported, it does not have a documented genetic basis. No specific ethnic background for PFAPA has been also demonstrated.

PFAPA was first described by Marshall et al. in 1987 [78]. The disease usually develops before 5 years of age. It is characterised by fever spikes of abrupt onset lasting 3–6 days; fever recurs regularly every 2–6 weeks, although an explanation for its clockwork periodicity is lacking.

The fever flare-ups are usually heralded by chills. Children with PFAPA syndrome often appear to be in good condition even during the fever spikes; this is a clinical feature that may help to distinguish PFAPA from the other form of periodic fevers associated with a genetic defect. Nevertheless some older children complain of general malaise and myalgia. The aphthous lesions seen in PFAPA are small and localised to labial gingival tissues and are rapidly self-remitting. Cervical lymph node enlargement is common (and may be relevant); enlarged lymph nodes are tender and normalise with the resolution of the fever attack. Acute phase reactants and neutrophils are elevated during attacks and completely normalise during the periods of complete wellbeing. The disease has a benign course and tends to remit spontaneously [79].

Recently, a comparison of the clinical manifestations seen in 518 patients with genetically-confirmed inherited periodic fevers (291 FMF, 74 MKD, 86 TRAPS, 67 CAPS) and 199 PFAPA patients was analyzed in the Eurofever registry [13]. The clinical features included in the classical PFAPA triad (pharyngitis, enlargement of cervical lymph nodes and apthous stomatitis) were by far the most common manifestations. However, the same features were also observed in other inherited diseases, mainly in MKD. Conversely, other clinical features reported in different PFAPA series (such as abdominal pain, arthralgia, myalgia, vomiting, diarrhea) were clearly less prevalent when compared to inherited periodic fevers.

The diagnosis of PFAPA is based on clinical diagnostic criteria: the modified Marshall criteria that remain highly nonspecific [80]. Indeed these criteria display also a low specificity, as almost 50% of genetically positive children (especially MKD) also fulfil the PFAPA criteria, which therefore do not represent a specific tool for selecting patients with high probability of being negative at genetic testing [81]. Some clinical manifestations during fever attacks, such as abdominal and chest pain and gastrointestinal symptoms (vomiting and/or diarrhea), should be considered as indicating a higher risk of carrying mutations of known genes. The diagnosis of PFAPA is generally based on a number of variables (dramatic onset of attacks, lack of response to antibiotics, repetitive presence of cardinal symptoms and prompt response to steroids) that are much more complex than the mere satisfaction of the current diagnostic criteria.

Patients are treated with oral steroids on the first day of the crisis with success. However, their administration could decrease the interval between attacks. Case series and prospective studies showed good responses to tonsillectomy; but all these studies lack a long follow-up period and most are non-controlled.

References

- Hoffman HM, Mueller JL, Broide DH, Wanderer AA, Kolodner RD. Mutation of a new gene encoding a putative pyrin-like protein causes familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome and Muckle-Wells syndrome. Nat Genet. 2001;29(3):301–5.
- Hoffman HM, Wanderer AA, Broide DH. Familial cold autoinflammatory syndrome: phenotype and genotype of an autosomal dominant periodic fever. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;108(4):615–20.
- 3. Muckle TJ, Wells M. Urticaria, deafness, and amyloidosis: a new heredo-familial syndrome. Q J Med. 1962;31:235–48.
- Prieur AM. A recently recognised chronic inflammatory disease of early onset characterised by the triad of rash, central nervous system involvement and arthropathy. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19(1):103–6.
- 5. Masters SL, Simon A, Aksentijevich I, Kastner DL. Horror autoinflammaticus: the molecular pathophysiology of autoinflammatory disease (*). Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:621–68.
- Agostini L, Martinon F, Burns K, McDermott MF, Hawkins PN, Tschopp J. NALP3 forms an IL-1beta-processing inflammasome with increased activity in Muckle-Wells autoinflammatory disorder. Immunity. 2004;20(3):319–25.
- Carta S, Penco F, Lavieri R, Martini A, Dinarello CA, Gattorno M, et al. Cell stress increases ATP release in NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated autoinflammatory diseases, resulting in cytokine imbalance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(9):2835–40.
- Tassi S, Carta S, Vene R, Delfino L, Ciriolo MR, Rubartelli A. Pathogen-induced interleukinlbeta processing and secretion is regulated by a biphasic redox response. J Immunol. 2009;183(2):1456–62.
- 9. Hawkins PN, Lachmann HJ, Aganna E, McDermott MF. Spectrum of clinical features in Muckle-Wells syndrome and response to anakinra. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(2):607–12.
- Neven B, Callebaut I, Prieur AM, Feldmann J, Bodemer C, Lepore L, et al. Molecular basis of the spectral expression of CIAS1 mutations associated with phagocytic cell-mediated autoinflammatory disorders CINCA/NOMID, MWS, and FCU. Blood. 2004;103(7):2809–15.
- 11. Levy R, Gerard L, Kuemmerle-Deschner J, Lachmann HJ, Kone-Paut I, Cantarini L, et al. Phenotypic and genotypic characteristics of cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome: a series of 136 patients from the Eurofever Registry. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(11):2043–9.

- Kuemmerle-Deschner JB, Ozen S, Tyrrell PN, Kone-Paut I, Goldbach-Mansky R, Lachmann H, et al. Diagnostic criteria for cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome (CAPS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(6):942–7.
- Federici S, Sormani MP, Ozen S, Lachmann HJ, Amaryan G, Woo P, et al. Evidence-based provisional clinical classification criteria for autoinflammatory periodic fevers. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(5):799–805.
- Papa R, Doglio M, Lachmann HJ, Ozen S, Frenkel J, Simon A, et al. A web-based collection of genotype-phenotype associations in hereditary recurrent fevers from the Eurofever registry. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2017;12(1):167.
- Naselli A, Penco F, Cantarini L, Insalaco A, Alessio M, Tommasini A, et al. Clinical characteristics of patients carrying the Q703K variant of the NLRP3 gene: a 10-year multicentric national study. J Rheumatol. 2016;43(6):1093–100.
- Tanaka N, Izawa K, Saito MK, Sakuma M, Oshima K, Ohara O, et al. High incidence of NLRP3 somatic mosaicism in patients with chronic infantile neurologic, cutaneous, articular syndrome: results of an International Multicenter Collaborative Study. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(11):3625–32.
- 17. Arostegui JI, Lopez Saldana MD, Pascal M, Clemente D, Aymerich M, Balaguer F, et al. A somatic NLRP3 mutation as a cause of a sporadic case of chronic infantile neurologic, cutaneous, articular syndrome/neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease: novel evidence of the role of low-level mosaicism as the pathophysiologic mechanism underlying mendelian inherited diseases. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(4):1158–66.
- Goldbach-Mansky R, Dailey NJ, Canna SW, Gelabert A, Jones J, Rubin BI, et al. Neonatalonset multisystem inflammatory disease responsive to interleukin-1beta inhibition. N Engl J Med. 2006;355(6):581–92.
- Lepore L, Paloni G, Caorsi R, Alessio M, Rigante D, Ruperto N, et al. Follow-up and quality of life of patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes treated with Anakinra. J Pediatr. 2010;157(2):310–5.
- Hoffman HM, Throne ML, Amar NJ, Sebai M, Kivitz AJ, Kavanaugh A, et al. Efficacy and safety of rilonacept (interleukin-1 Trap) in patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes: results from two sequential placebo-controlled studies. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(8):2443–52.
- Lachmann HJ, Kone-Paut I, Kuemmerle-Deschner JB, Leslie KS, Hachulla E, Quartier P, et al. Use of canakinumab in the cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(23):2416–25.
- 22. Kuemmerle-Deschner JB, Hachulla E, Cartwright R, Hawkins PN, Tran TA, Bader-Meunier B, et al. Two-year results from an open-label, multicentre, phase III study evaluating the safety and efficacy of canakinumab in patients with cryopyrin-associated periodic syndrome across different severity phenotypes. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(12):2095–102.
- 23. Caorsi R, Lepore L, Zulian F, Alessio M, Stabile A, Insalaco A, et al. The schedule of administration of canakinumab in cryopyrin associated periodic syndrome is driven by the phenotype severity rather than the age. Arthritis Res Ther. 2013;15(1):R33.
- Ozen S. Familial mediterranean fever: revisiting an ancient disease. Eur J Pediatr. 2003;162(7–8):449–54.
- 25. The French FMF Consortium. A candidate gene for familial Mediterranean fever. Nat Genet. 1997;17(1):25–31.
- The International FMF Consortium. Ancient missense mutations in a new member of the RoRet gene family are likely to cause familial Mediterranean fever. Cell. 1997;90(4):797–807.
- Chae JJ, Komarow HD, Cheng J, Wood G, Raben N, Liu PP, et al. Targeted disruption of pyrin, the FMF protein, causes heightened sensitivity to endotoxin and a defect in macrophage apoptosis. Mol Cell. 2003;11(3):591–604.
- 28. Chae JJ, Wood G, Masters SL, Richard K, Park G, Smith BJ, et al. The B30.2 domain of pyrin, the familial Mediterranean fever protein, interacts directly with caspase-1 to modulate IL-1beta production. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2006;103(26):9982–7.

- Yu JW, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Datta P, Wu J, Juliana C, Solorzano L, et al. Pyrin activates the ASC pyroptosome in response to engagement by autoinflammatory PSTPIP1 mutants. Mol Cell. 2007;28(2):214–27.
- Chae JJ, Cho YH, Lee GS, Cheng J, Liu PP, Feigenbaum L, et al. Gain-of-function Pyrin mutations induce NLRP3 protein-independent interleukin-1beta activation and severe autoinflammation in mice. Immunity. 2011;34(5):755–68.
- Park YH, Wood G, Kastner DL, Chae JJ. Pyrin inflammasome activation and RhoA signaling in the autoinflammatory diseases FMF and HIDS. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(8):914–21.
- 32. Ozen S, Demirkaya E, Amaryan G, Kone-Paut I, Polat A, Woo P, et al. Results from a multicentre international registry of familial Mediterranean fever: impact of environment on the expression of a monogenic disease in children. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(4):662–7.
- Giancane G, Ter Haar NM, Wulffraat N, Vastert SJ, Barron K, Hentgen V, et al. Evidencebased recommendations for genetic diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(4):635–41.
- 34. Akar S, Yuksel F, Tunca M, Soysal O, Solmaz D, Gerdan V, et al. Familial Mediterranean fever: risk factors, causes of death, and prognosis in the colchicine era. Medicine (Baltimore). 2012;91(3):131–6.
- Livneh A, Langevitz P, Zemer D, Zaks N, Kees S, Lidar T, et al. Criteria for the diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40(10):1879–85.
- Yalcinkaya F, Ozen S, Ozcakar ZB, Aktay N, Cakar N, Duzova A, et al. A new set of criteria for the diagnosis of familial Mediterranean fever in childhood. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009;48(4):395–8.
- 37. Demirkaya E, Saglam C, Turker T, Kone-Paut I, Woo P, Doglio M, et al. Performance of different diagnostic criteria for familial mediterranean fever in children with periodic fevers: results from a multicenter international registry. J Rheumatol. 2016;43(1):154–60.
- Touitou I, Lesage S, McDermott M, Cuisset L, Hoffman H, Dode C, et al. Infevers: an evolving mutation database for auto-inflammatory syndromes. Hum Mutat. 2004;24(3):194–8.
- Federici S, Calcagno G, Finetti M, Gallizzi R, Meini A, Vitale A, et al. Clinical impact of MEFV mutations in children with periodic fever in a prevalent western European Caucasian population. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(12):1961–5.
- 40. Hentgen V, Grateau G, Stankovic-Stojanovic K, Amselem S, Jeru I. Familial Mediterranean fever in heterozygotes: are we able to accurately diagnose the disease in very young children? Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(6):1654–62.
- 41. Jeru I, Hentgen V, Cochet E, Duquesnoy P, Le BG, Grimprel E, et al. The risk of familial Mediterranean fever in MEFV heterozygotes: a statistical approach. PLoS One. 2013;8(7):e68431.
- 42. Ben-Chetrit E, Touitou I. The impact of MEFV gene identification on FMF: an appraisal after 15 years. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2012;30(3 Suppl 72):S3–6.
- Melikoglu M, Ozdogan H, Korkmaz C, Kasapcopur O, Arisoy N, Akkus S, et al. A survey of phenotype II in familial Mediterranean fever. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(11):910–3.
- 44. Akar N, Hasipek M, Ozturk A, Akar E, Tekin M. Serum amyloid A1-13 T/C alleles in Turkish familial Mediterranean fever patients with and without amyloidosis. J Nephrol. 2006;19(3):318–21.
- 45. Dinarello CA, Wolff SM, Goldfinger SE, Dale DC, Alling DW. Colchicine therapy for familial mediterranean fever. A double-blind trial. N Engl J Med. 1974;291(18):934–7.
- 46. Ozen S, Demirkaya E, Erer B, Livneh A, Ben-Chetrit E, Giancane G, et al. EULAR recommendations for the management of familial Mediterranean fever. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(4):644–51.
- 47. Hentgen V, Grateau G, Kone-Paut I, Livneh A, Padeh S, Rozenbaum M, et al. Evidence-based recommendations for the practical management of Familial Mediterranean Fever. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2013;43(3):387–91.
- Ter HN, Lachmann H, Ozen S, Woo P, Uziel Y, Modesto C, et al. Treatment of autoinflammatory diseases: results from the Eurofever Registry and a literature review. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(5):678–85.

- 49. Brik R, Butbul-Aviel Y, Lubin S, Ben DE, Rachmilewitz-Minei T, Tseng L, et al. Canakinumab for the treatment of children with colchicine-resistant familial Mediterranean fever: a 6-month open-label, single-arm pilot study. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66(11):3241–3.
- 50. Gul A, Ozdogan H, Erer B, Ugurlu S, Kasapcopur O, Davis N, et al. Efficacy and safety of canakinumab in adolescents and adults with colchicine-resistant familial Mediterranean fever. Arthritis Res Ther. 2015;17:243.
- 51. de Benedetti F, Gattorno M, Anton J, Ben-Chetrit E, Frenkel J, Hoffman HM, et al. Canakinumab for the treatment of autoinflammatory recurrent fever syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(20):1908–19.
- 52. van der Meer JW, Vossen JM, Radl J, van Nieuwkoop JA, Meyer CJ, Lobatto S, et al. Hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever: a new syndrome. Lancet. 1984;1(8386):1087–90.
- 53. Drenth JP, Cuisset L, Grateau G, Vasseur C, van de Velde-Visser SD, De Jong JG, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding mevalonate kinase cause hyper-IgD and periodic fever syndrome. International Hyper-IgD Study Group. Nat Genet. 1999;22(2):178–81.
- 54. Houten SM, Kuis W, Duran M, De Koning TJ, van Royen-Kerkhof A, Romeijn GJ, et al. Mutations in MVK, encoding mevalonate kinase, cause hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever syndrome. Nat Genet. 1999;22(2):175–7.
- 55. Houten SM, Frenkel J, Kuis W, Wanders RJA, Poll-The BT, Waterham HR. Molecular basis of classical mevalonic aciduria and the hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever syndrome: high frequency of 3 mutations in the mevalonate kinase gene. J Inherit Metab Dis. 2000;23(4):367–70.
- 56. Frenkel J, Rijkers GT, Mandey SH, Buurman SW, Houten SM, Wanders RJ, et al. Lack of isoprenoid products raises ex vivo interleukin-1beta secretion in hyperimmunoglobulinemia D and periodic fever syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(10):2794–803.
- 57. Ter Haar NM, Jeyaratnam J, Lachmann HJ, Simon A, Brogan PA, Doglio M, et al. The phenotype and genotype of mevalonate kinase deficiency: a series of 114 cases from the eurofever registry. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(11):2795–805.
- Gattorno M, Sormani MP, D'Osualdo A, Pelagatti MA, Caroli F, Federici S, et al. A diagnostic score for molecular analysis of hereditary autoinflammatory syndromes with periodic fever in children. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(6):1823–32.
- 59. Lu WS, Zheng XD, Yao XH, Zhang LF, Hu B, Lu YJ. Detection of a novel missense mutation in the mevalonate kinase gene in one Chinese family with DSAP. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 2014;7(2):728–32.
- Roosing S, Collin RW, den Hollander AI, Cremers FP, Siemiatkowska AM. Prenylation defects in inherited retinal diseases. J Med Genet. 2014;51(3):143–51.
- Ter Haar NM, Oswald M, Jeyaratnam J, Anton J, Barron KS, Brogan PA, et al. Recommendations for the management of autoinflammatory diseases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(9): 1636–44.
- 62. Arostegui JI, Anton J, Calvo I, Robles A, Iglesias E, Lopez-Montesinos B, et al. Open-label, phase ii study to assess the efficacy and safety of canakinumab treatment in active hyperimmu-noglobulinemia D with periodic fever syndrome. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69(8):1679–88.
- 63. McDermott MF, Aksentijevich I, Galon J, McDermott EM, Ogunkolade BW, Centola M, et al. Germline mutations in the extracellular domains of the 55 kDa TNF receptor, TNFR1, define a family of dominantly inherited autoinflammatory syndromes. Cell. 1999;97(1):133–44.
- Dode C, Cuisset L, Delpech M, Grateau G. TNFRSF1A-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS), Muckle-Wells syndrome (MWS) and renal amyloidosis. J Nephrol. 2003;16(3):435–7.
- 65. D'Osualdo A, Ferlito F, Prigione I, Obici L, Meini A, Zulian F, et al. Neutrophils from patients with TNFRSF1A mutations display resistance to tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis pathogenetic and clinical implications. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(3):998–1008.
- 66. Lobito AA, Kimberley FC, Muppidi JR, Komarow H, Jackson AJ, Hull KM, et al. Abnormal disulfide-linked oligomerization results in ER retention and altered signaling by TNFR1 mutants in TNFR1-associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS). Blood. 2006;108(4): 1320–7.

- 67. Simon A, Park H, Maddipati R, Lobito AA, Bulua AC, Jackson AJ, et al. Concerted action of wild-type and mutant TNF receptors enhances inflammation in TNF receptor 1-associated periodic fever syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2010;107(21):9801–6.
- Bulua AC, Simon A, Maddipati R, Pelletier M, Park H, Kim KY, et al. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species promote production of proinflammatory cytokines and are elevated in TNFR1associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). J Exp Med. 2011;208(3):519–33.
- 69. Bachetti T, Chiesa S, Castagnola P, Bani D, Di ZE, Omenetti A, et al. Autophagy contributes to inflammation in patients with TNFR-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(6):1044–52.
- Lachmann HJ, Papa R, Gerhold K, Obici L, Touitou I, Cantarini L, et al. The phenotype of TNF receptor-associated autoinflammatory syndrome (TRAPS) at presentation: a series of 158 cases from the Eurofever/EUROTRAPS international registry. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(12):2160–7.
- Ravet N, Rouaghe S, Dode C, Bienvenu J, Stirnemann J, Levy P, et al. Clinical significance of P46L and R92Q substitutions in the tumour necrosis factor superfamily 1A gene. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(9):1158–62.
- 72. Aksentijevich I, Galon J, Soares M, Mansfield E, Hull K, Oh HH, et al. The tumor-necrosisfactor receptor-associated periodic syndrome: new mutations in TNFRSF1A, ancestral origins, genotype-phenotype studies, and evidence for further genetic heterogeneity of periodic fevers. Am J Hum Genet. 2001;69(2):301–14.
- Pelagatti MA, Meini A, Caorsi R, Cattalini M, Federici S, Zulian F, et al. Long-term clinical profile of children with the low-penetrance R92Q mutation of the TNFRSF1A gene. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(4):1141–50.
- Bulua AC, Mogul DB, Aksentijevich I, Singh H, He D, Muenz L, et al. Efficacy of etanercept in the tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(3):908–13.
- 75. Simon A, Bodar EJ, van der Hilst JC, van der Meer JW, Fiselier TJ, Cuppen MP, et al. Beneficial response to interleukin 1 receptor antagonist in traps. Am J Med. 2004;117(3):208–10.
- 76. Gattorno M, Pelagatti MA, Meini A, Obici L, Barcellona R, Federici S, et al. Persistent efficacy of anakinra in patients with tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(5):1516–20.
- 77. Gattorno M, Obici L, Cattalini M, Tormey V, Abrams K, Davis N, et al. Canakinumab treatment for patients with active recurrent or chronic TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): an open-label, phase II study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(1):173–8.
- Marshall GS, Edwards KM, Lawton AR. PFAPA syndrome. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1989;8(9):658–9.
- 79. Hofer M, Pillet P, Cochard MM, Berg S, Krol P, Kone-Paut I, et al. International periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, cervical adenitis syndrome cohort: description of distinct phenotypes in 301 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(6):1125–9.
- Thomas KT, Feder HM, Lawton AR, Edwards KM. Periodic fever syndrome in children. J Pediatr. 1999;135(1):15–21.
- Gattorno M, Caorsi R, Meini A, Cattalini M, Federici S, Zulian F, et al. Differentiating PFAPA syndrome from monogenic periodic fevers. Pediatrics. 2009;124(4):e721–8.



Fever of Unknown Origin

2

Estíbaliz Iglesias, Antoni Noguera-Julian, Laia Alsina, and Jordi Antón

2.1 Definitions

Fever is a common complaint in children seeking medical care. We define *fever* without source (FWS) as fever for *less than a week* without adequate explanation after a thorough history and physical examination. Although higher temperature (>39 °C) has been classically associated with a higher risk of bacteremia, evidence is lacking whether this is supported in the post-conjugate vaccine era. Specific guidelines for the management of infants and children with FWS have been published.

Fever of unknown origin (FUO) refers to a febrile illness lasting for *more than one week* with no apparent diagnosis after an initial evaluation that includes a detailed history, physical examination, and an initial laboratory assessment. FWS can progress to FUO if it lasts for more than a week although most febrile illnesses either resolve before a diagnosis can be made or develop distinguishing characteristics that lead to a diagnosis within the first 7 days.

FUO must be differentiated from *recurrent fever* which refers to patients with three or more episodes of unexplained fever (regardless of its duration) in a 6-month period, each of them occurring at least 7 days apart. When duration between episodes is regular it is defined as *periodic recurrent fever*. Some patients with FUO may present with recurrent fever.

A. Noguera-Julian

L. Alsina

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

E. Iglesias (🖂) · J. Antón

Pediatric Rheumatology, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: eiglesias@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org; janton@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org

Infectious Diseases, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: ton@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org

Clinical Immunology, Hospital Sant Joan de Déu, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: lalsina@sjdhospitalbarcelona.org

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_2

2.2 Causes

The majority of children with fever have a self-limited viral infection, most commonly acute upper respiratory tract infections. Repeated febrile episodes are frequent among healthy children attending kindergarten and again these are usually caused by viral infections.

Nowadays, the majority of children diagnosed with FUO remain etiologically undiagnosed after a complete study (51%). The second most frequent group of children with FUO comprises a heterogeneous group named "noninfectious inflammatory diseases" which represent the second cause of FUO (22%). Infectious diseases are currently only the third cause of FUO (16%), reflecting an improvement in diagnostic techniques that lead to an early diagnosis rather than changes in disease incidence rates [1].

After an infection has been excluded, rheumatic illnesses and malignancy must also be taken into account in the differential. Table 2.1 summarizes the main causes of FUO in children.

Failure to thrive, infections by unusual pathogens, repeated or complicated infections, granulomatous inflammation and/or severe autoimmunity, should raise the suspicion of an underlying primary immunodeficiency. In the early 1990s, the Jeffrey Modell Foundation (JMF) developed the ten warning signs of primary immunodeficiency to ensure an early diagnosis of these rare disorders. This set of ten warnings signs is being currently reviewed into more specialty-oriented signs (specific for hematology, oncology, pneumology, and so on), but these have not been endorsed yet. Thus, currently, if a child meets two or more of the 10 JMF

Generalized infections				
Brucellosis, cat scratch disease, leptospirosis, malaria, mycobacterial including tuberculosis, salmonellosis, toxoplasmosis, tularemia, viral infections (CMV, EBV, adenovirus, hepatitis viruses, enteroviruses, arboviruses, HIV)				
Localized infections				
Bone and joint, infective endocarditis, intraabdominal abscess, hepatic infection, upper respiratory tract infection, urinary tract infection				
Primary Immunodeficiencies (manifesting with infections/inflammation/autoimmunity)				
Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis				
Rheumatologic diseases				
Autoimmune diseases				
Autoinflammatory diseases				
Immune dysregulation				
Neoplasms				
Leukemia, lymphoma, neuroblastoma, hepatoma, sarcoma, atrial myxoma				
Others				
Central nervous system dysfunction, diabetes insipidus, drug fever, factitious fever, familial dysautonomia, hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis, immunodeficiency, infantile cortical hyperostosis, inflammatory bowel disease, Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease				

Table 2.1 Etiologies of FUO in children

warning signs, a referral to a clinical immunologist for evaluation is mandatory. Of special interest is the detection of a form of primary immunodeficiency named hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH) [2], an inflammatory disorder that can be triggered by infections, neoplasms, or rheumatic diseases. HLH manifests as persisting fever and progressive hepatosplenomegaly and cytopenias can rapidly worsen patient's condition and even lead to death if undiagnosed.

2.2.1 Autoinflammatory Diseases and Immune Dysregulation

Autoinflammation is a term proposed in 1999 by Dan Kastner to describe a group of patients with unexplained recurrent inflammation neither associated with infection nor oncological disease. This term was defined as opposed to autoimmunity, since autoantibodies are usually not detected in these patients [3].

Later, *gain of function* mutations in *NLRP3*, a component of an intracellular multiprotein complex known as inflammasome, were found to be one of the causes of these diseases. These pathogenic mutations in *NLRP3* produced an overexpression of IL-1b, the pivotal cytokine in autoinflammation.

Over time, the boundaries between autoinflammation and autoimmunity have proven to be blurred. Defects in the innate immune system were described in diseases previously considered as pure autoimmune such as lupus, and currently we refer to them as a spectrum of immunological diseases with a predominant component of autoinflammation or autoimmunity [4].

In addition, some of the newly described autoinflammatory conditions, such as ADA2 deficiency (DADA2), associate a certain degree of immunodeficiency [5, 6]. That is why the term immune dysregulation is preferred by us to autoinflammation [7].

As genetic techniques have progressed, the number of autoinflammatory diseases (AD) with an identified pathogenic mutation has increased. These disorders are known as monogenic AD and include different diseases with a described inherited pattern such as Familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), hyperimmunoglobulin D syndrome (HIDS), TNF receptor-1 associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS) and cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes (CAPS).Currently, most of the patients with a suspected autoinflammatory background remain genetically undiagnosed. Polygenic AD include diseases such as systemic Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis (sJIA), Behçet Disease and *Periodic Fever with Aphtous Stomatitis, Pharyngitis, and Adenitis* (PFAPA) syndrome. PFAPA syndrome is the main non-infectious cause of recurrent fever.

According to their predominant mechanism of inflammation, monogenic AD have been classified into 6 groups: (1) AD mediated by activated inflammasomes and IL-1 β production pathways, (2) Abnormal protein folding or unstable protein structure, (3) AD mediated by the NF-k β pathway, (4) AD mediated by the type I interferon pathway, (5) AD mediated by the type I interferon pathway, and (6) AD mediated by unknown mechanisms [8].

Once infection and malignancy seem unlikely, it is important to keep AD in mind since genetic tests are available for the diagnosis and specific treatments are available depending on the pivotal cytokine that is involved. In addition, these patients must be carefully followed up to avoid or early detect severe complications such as hearing loss in CAPS or amyloidosis in FMF. Genetic counseling is also mandatory in these severe diseases.

2.3 Evaluation

The cause of fever should promptly be evaluated, especially in infants, due to the risk of serious infections. A detailed history and physical examination are essential. The history should include details about the fever, associated complaints, and exposures (e.g., to ill contacts, animals, insects, travel, drugs). The patient should be examined while febrile.

Table 2.2 summarizes recommended initial and subsequent tests for FUO in children.

Normal erythrocyte sedimentation rate and C-reactive protein decrease the likelihood of an infectious or inflammatory cause.

Absence of tachycardia and nonspecific symptoms, such as malaise or discomfort, in a patient with high fevers, rapid defervescence without diaphoresis, failure of the temperature curve to show normal diurnal variation, extreme hyperpyrexia, discrepancies between temperatures recorded by the patient or by caregivers, and those obtained by health practitioners suggest a factitious fever.

The increase in ferritine levels above 10,000 ng/mL in a child with a consistent clinical picture can suggest of sJIA with/without macrophage activation syndrome (MAS). Differential diagnosis with HLH, malignancy, hepatic diseases, and/or repeated blood transfusions should be done.

In patients with FUO in whom the findings from the initial workup and imaging studies are nondiagnostic, PET/CT examination may be preferable to radiolabeled leukocyte studies because of its high sensitivity and lower cost [9].

2.4 Management

Understanding molecular mechanisms in AD allows for the use of targeted treatments. Most of the AD mediated by activated inflammasomes and IL-1 β production pathways are highly responsive to anti IL-1 therapies, such as the recombinant IL-1receptor antagonist anakinra, the monoclonal antibody against IL-1b canakinumab, and the recombinant IL-1R fusion protein rilonacept. However, patients with *NLRC4*-associated syndromes do not fully respond to IL-1b blockade, partially because of the high expression if IL-18 in their blood, whereas treatment with recombinant IL-18-binding protein may produce a dramatic improvement. Colchicine is the preferred treatment for FMF, whereas IL-1 inhibitors are effective in colchicine-resistant FMF.

Initial evaluation (in all children with FUO)
Complete blood count and peripheral smear
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate and C-reactive protein
Serial aerobic and anaerobic blood cultures
Urinalysis and culture
Chest radiograph
Tuberculin skin testing (TST) and interferon gamma release assays (IGRAs)
Serum electrolytes, blood urea nitrogen, creatinine, and hepatic aminotransferases, ferritine, immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, IgM), LDH
Combination antigen/antibody HIV immunoassay
Abdominal ultrasound
Additional diagnostic tests suggested by the history, physical examination and initial
evaluation
Viral and bacterial serologies and PCR
Stool cultures and/or examination for ova and parasites (1)
Electrocardiography and echocardiography (2)
Calprotectin stool test, digestive endoscopy (3)
Anti-streptolysin (ASLO), rapid streptococcal antigen test and/or throat culture for group A beta-hemolytic streptococci (4)
Antinuclear antibody (ANA), C3 and C4 (5)
Anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibody (ANCA) (6)
HLA-B51 (7)
Genetic tests for monogenic autoinflammatory diseases (8)
Bone marrow aspirate (9)
Bone scintigraphy and/or magnetic resonance imaging (10)
Positron emission tomography (PET) scans (11)

 Table 2.2
 Recommended evaluation in FUO in children

(1) In children with gastrointestinal complaints, loose stools or recent international travel; (2) suspected vasculitis (Kawasaki disease, other vasculitis), endocarditis or pericarditis; (3) suspected inflammatory bowel disease; (4) suspected rheumatic fever; (5) suspected connective tissue disorders (lupus, juvenile dermatomyositis, Sjögren syndrome, systemic sclerosis, mixed connective tissue disease); (6) suspected ANCA-associated vasculitis; (7) suspected Behçet disease; (8) suspected monogenic autoinflammatory diseases; (9) suspected malignancy or macrophage activation syndrome/hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis; (10) suspected malignancy, osteomyelitis; (11) fever persists despite previous study

Many of the NF-k β activation disorders respond well to TNF inhibition. JAK inhibitors are currently under study in patients with interferonopathies, and other types of immune dysregulation, who usually exhibit minimal response to IL-1 and TNF blockage.

References

- 1. Long SS. Diagnosis and management of undifferentiated fever in children. J Infect. 2016;72:S68–76.
- 2. Astigarraga I, Gonzalez-Granado LI, Allende LM, Alsina L. Haemophagocytic syndromes: the importance of early diagnosis and treatment. An Pediatr (Barc). 2018;89(2):124.e1–8.

- Mc Dermott MF, Aksentijevich I, Galon J, Mc Dermott EM, Ogunkolade BW, Centola M, et al. Germline mutations in the extracellular domains of the 55 kDa TNF receptor, TNFR1, define a family of dominantly inherited autoinflammatory syndromes. Cell. 1999;97(1):133–44.
- 4. McGonagle D, McDermott MF. A proposed classification of the immunological diseases. PLoS Med. 2006;3(8):e297.
- 5. Zhou Q, Yang D, Ombrello AK, Zavialov AV, Toro C, Stone DL, et al. Early-onset stroke and vasculopathy associated with mutations in ADA2. N Enlg J Med. 2014;370(10):911–20.
- 6. Elkan P, Pierce SB, Segel R, Walsh T, Barash J, Padeh S, et al. Mutant adenosine deaminase 2 in polyarteritisnodosavasculopathy. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(10):921–31.
- 7. Broderick L. Recurrent fevers for the pediatric immunologist: it's not all immunodeficiency. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2016;16(1):2.
- 8. Manthiram K, Zhou Q, Aksentijevich I, Kastner DL. The monogenic autoinflammatory diseases define new pathways in human innate immunity and inflammation. Nat Immunol. 2017;18(8):832–42.
- 9. Dibble EH, Yoo DC, Noto RB. Role of PET/CT in workup for fever without source. Radiographics. 2016;36(4):1166–77.
Check for updates

3

PFAPA: Periodic Fever, Aphthous Ulceration, Pharyngitis, Adenitis

Jeffrey Chaitow

3.1 Introduction

In 1987, Marshall et al.—investigators from the Department Paediatrics, Division of Immunology and Infectious Diseases at Vanderbilt University in Nashville and from the Department of Paediatrics, Division of Cellular Immunobiology at the University of Alabama Birmingham—described a syndrome of periodic fever which resembled the neutropenic phase of human cyclic neutropenia in its clinical presentation. They ruled out the diagnosis of cyclic neutropenia with standard haematologic testing and noted a much more benign course of this newly described condition than the previously described cyclic neutropenia [1].

3.2 Historical Description

Two separate papers by Hobart Reimann entitled "Periodic Disease" were published 40 years earlier in 1948 and 1949 [2, 3]. Reimann however in his second periodic disease paper had described a collection of different diseases with periodicity as the unifying characteristic. The paper was titled "Periodic disease" with the subtext "Periodic fever Periodic Abdominalgia Cyclic Neutropenia Intermittent Arthralgia Angioneurotic Edema Anaphylactoid Purpura and Periodic Paralysis" [3].

This paper clearly describes a very heterogeneous collection and largely different from Marshall's syndrome although some of the 50 cases collected in the 1949 paper may indeed have been that of PFAPA.

Hobart Reimann in his paper comments "The name periodic disease was proposed to embrace the conditions in a newly established symptom complex, but it

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

27

J. Chaitow (🖂)

Department of Rheumatology, Sydney Children's Hospital Westmead and Randwick, Westmead, NSW, Australia e-mail: jeffrey.chaitow@health.nsw.gov.au

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_3

appears that periodicity of disease was known to the ancients and was ascribed to the influence of solar and lunar cycles" [3].

"Knowledge of its cause has not progressed much further. Infectious, allergic, endocrinologic, epileptic or migrainous influences have been held responsible."

Reading through Reimann's second paper [3] in which 50 cases were collated it is clear that most do not have PFAPA. In 1 patient, the periodic fever occurred three times weekly for 34 years and in several others, the description of multiple family members' serositis and genetic racial background are more typical of Familial Mediterranean Fever.

We have certainly made significant progress following Reimann's conclusion in 1949. "Until further knowledge is attained, it is simplest to regard periodic disease as a manifestation of a rhythm of life".

3.3 Initial Marshall Syndrome Cohort

3.3.1 Clinical Characterisation

Marshall and his colleagues identified a similar pattern in 12 children from two major referral centres. They noted that the attacks were characterised by abrupt onset of fever associated with malaise, chills, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and headache with concomitant tender cervical lymphadenopathy.

They describe the episodes occurring at 4–6 week intervals, with the children being observed over a number of years. They also noted that the episodes resolved spontaneously without treatment within a 4–5 day typical time frame.

None of the patients were identified as being atopic, they had all been fully immunised and none had any significant co-morbidities.

A prodrome was reported in 5 of the 12 children. Two of the children had a prodrome of stomatitis and 1 of pharyngitis. One child had pallor and another an erythematous generalised rash.

During the febrile episodes, five patients were noted to have transient splenomegaly.

As this was described as "a new syndrome", they sought to exclude other known autoimmune and auto inflammatory disease. They therefore commented particularly on the absence of other associated features such as arthralgia, conjunctivitis, oedema, genital lesions or specific neurologic signs—other than the symptom of headache.

3.3.2 Laboratory Features

Laboratory testing documented a mild leucocytosis and elevation of the erythrocyte sedimentation rate during the attack as the only identifiable significant clinical laboratory abnormalities.

The immune serologic testing performed at the time was negative other than one patient who had a markedly elevated serum IgE and one with a positive antinuclear antibody. Two of the patients had IgD measured and it was normal. The syndrome of hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever had been described by Ver de Meer et al. [4] and Reeves and Mitchell [5] 2 years earlier.

3.3.3 Natural History

Marshall and colleagues noted the condition was of relatively early age onset with the majority of children being less than 5 years old when first symptoms were noted. They commented that the children grew normally and that they were not unusually susceptible to outside infection as are children with cyclical neutropenia.

They noted the syndrome was sporadic, was much more common than the previously described differential diagnosis of cyclic neutropenia.

There was an average duration of follow-up of 3.9 years although the range varied from 1 to 15 years and they also noted significantly that the intervals between cycles seemed to increase as the children aged.

3.3.4 Therapy

Although the attacks resolved spontaneously in 4–5 days, they could be dramatically aborted by a short course of prednisolone in the three patients in whom it was trialled-particularly effective if started at the very onset of symptoms. They also noted a failure of adequate response to non-steroidal anti-inflammatory medication tried in two documented patients and all the illnesses were refractory to any antibiotic intervention.

A summary of their findings is tabulated below in Table 3.1 [1].

	Patient											
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12
Malaise	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Chills	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	+	-
Stomatitis	+	-	+	-	+	+	-	+	+ ^a	+ ^a	+	+
Pharyngitis	+	+	+ ^a	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	-	-
Headache	+	-	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	+	+	-
Cervical adenopathy	+	+	-	+	+	-	-	+	+	-	+	+
Nausea and vomiting	+	-	+	-	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	-
Abdominal pain	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	+	+	+ ^a	-

 Table 3.1
 Signs and symptoms associated with syndrome of periodic fever

^aProdromal

3.3.5 Ethnicity

The 12 children originally described by Marshall and colleagues were all Caucasian 7 boys and 5 girls. They commented that none were of Mediterranean descent though the diverse ancestry included European and American Indian stock.

3.3.6 Recommendations

They recommended that given the relatively benign nature of this condition in their 12 patients a diagnosis of this condition was particularly important to reduce unnecessary hospitalisation and expensive investigation as well as being necessary in placating patients' parents and physicians.

3.4 Subsequent Cohort of PFAPA

3.4.1 Diagnostic Criteria

In a letter to the editor of the Pediatric Infectious Disease Journal—September 1989, Marshall et al. presented the acronym PFAPA and a set of diagnostic criteria for the syndrome [6]. In January 1999, Thomas and Edwards presented a revised set of diagnostic criteria for PFAPA published together with the presentation of 94 children with PFAPA.

The criteria are listed below in Table 3.2.

Over the next 40 years, many papers have described larger cohorts of PFAPA, the largest—301 patients—relatively recently being described in 2014 by Michael Hofer et al., an International collaboration within the periodic fevers working party of the Pediatric Rheumatology European Society (PReS) [8].

Since there are no absolute diagnostic criteria for the diagnosis of PFAPA, the inclusion criteria for Hofer's study was "the diagnosis of PFAPA made by an experienced paediatric rheumatologist participating in an international working group on periodic fever syndromes".

Table 3.2	Diagnostic	criteria for	Marshall'	s/PFAPA	syndrome	[7]
-----------	------------	--------------	-----------	---------	----------	-----

1. Regularly recurring fevers with an early age of onset (<5 years of age)
2. Constitutional symptoms in the absence of upper respiratory tract infection with at least one
of the following clinical signs:
(a) Aphthous stomatitis
(b) Cervical lymphadenitis
(c) Pharyngitis
3. Exclusion of cyclic neutropenia
4. Completely asymptomatic interval between episodes
5. Normal growth and development

Fifteen centres cooperated with the study which resulted in 301 reported patients. Only 42% (132 out of 301 patients) had all clinical features of fever, pharyngitis, cervical adenitis and oral aphthosis.

3.4.2 Age of Onset

As in the original Marshall study there was a slight predominance of males 1.15-1. There was a much younger median age of disease onset of 1.7 years (0.1–12) with a comparatively young median age at diagnosis of 4 years, almost certainly due to the increasing familiarity of this condition by clinicians.

The patients were separated into the essential sign of fever combined with additional signs totalling one, two, or three features of pharyngitis, cervical adenitis, and oral aphthosis. The patients with fewer signs tended to have a younger disease onset than the patients who had one additional feature in addition to the fever.

3.4.3 Symptoms

Common additional symptoms included headache, abdominal pain, arthralgia, abdominal pain and myalgia. In the large cohort of 301 patients, positive family history was noted in 81 of 301, mainly including episodes of recurrent fever (47/81) and less commonly, recurrent tonsillitis (15/81).

3.4.4 Genetics

PFAPA had been diagnosed in 11 out of 301 patient's family members and FMF in 8. The racial origin of patients reflected the ethnic mix of the participating centres and in the author's assessment reflected similar proportions to that of foreigners living in the particular European centres. No one particular or specific ethnic background was shown to have a prominent weighting.

3.4.5 Laboratory Features

As distinct from the earlier study of Marshall, most patients had a CRP measured as well as an ESR and this showed consistently a striking early rapid increase during the period of fever; CRP was >50 mg/l in 131 patients and >100 mg/l in 77 patients in whom it was measured during a flare.

The trough level in almost all patient fell to a median value of 5 mg; in 12 patients however the level was still mildly elevated at >10 mg/l. The consistent response to steroids was noted with resolution of the fever in 63% of patient in whom this was tried (93 of 147 within a short time frame) 32% of patients were partially responsive and 5%—8 patients, were designated non-responsive to steroids.

Many patients in this Hofer et al. study particularly those of older age onset had genetic testing performed to exclude monogenic auto inflammatory disease but there was no specific exclusion criteria protocol and it was left to the individual centre to perform the testing.

Forsvoll as part of his PhD thesis performed a population-based study in which all children in South Rogaland Norway diagnosed with PFAPA during 2004–2010 were evaluated clinically, and the parents interviewed.

Forty-six children (32 boys) were diagnosed with PFAPA. The median age of onset was a much younger 11.0 months. The incidence of PFAPA was estimated to be 2.3 per 10,000 children up to 5 years of age [9].

3.5 Clinical Manifestations of PFAPA

3.5.1 Fever

PFAPA is known to be to be the most regularly cycling of the periodic fevers in children. The fevers often have such predictable regularity that families can plan events around the probable future flares although this is not true of all patients. The fevers are of abrupt onset and tend to abate rapidly at the end of the cycle—many parents of younger children will note a prodrome of irritability sore throat or change in temperament. Prolonged fevers >7 days or very irregular fever patterns should prompt consideration of alternative diagnoses.

Marshall described the fevers as typically lasting 5 days and having a symptomfree interval that lasted an average of 4.5 weeks with a range of 2–9 weeks. His group noted that the asymptomatic interval tended to increase with age.

The level of fever was not defined in Marshall's original paper but described as being of abrupt onset and characteristically reaching 40–41 °C. Other studies have used 38–38.9 °C with the proviso that the fever is undifferentiated, that is, no other obvious explanation [10, 11].

The fever pattern tends to wane if not completely disappear over a period of many years. In addition to the decreased frequency of fevers, there is a concomitant increase in interval between the episodes and each episode shortening in duration. This was demonstrated in a long-term study of US patients in 2011 with a follow-up ranging from 12 to 21 years (59 of the original 94 patients) [14]. Overall, 50 of the 59 patients had complete resolution of symptoms, yielding a mean illness duration of 6.3 years. Nine patients continued to have persistent symptoms at follow-up, for a mean duration of 18.1 years.

In subjects with persistent PFAPA, the duration of the febrile episodes was reduced from a mean of 3.6 days at diagnosis to 1.8 days at follow-up. In addition, the symptom-free interval between episodes markedly lengthened from 29 to 159 days.

3.5.2 Aphthous Stomatitis

Ulcers most commonly present with shallow ulcers in the buccal mucosa and pharynx. They are usually small <5 mm and non-clustering. They last from 3–5 days and heal without scarring.

Stomatitis was described in 9 of the original 12 patients in Marshall's series and in 2 of the patients was reported as a prodrome 24 hours prior to the onset of the fever.

Aphthous stomatitis is a sign that is not always confined in duration to the PFAPA episodes and some children with very frequent attacks do not recover completely from their ulcers between attacks.

3.5.3 Pharyngitis

Pharyngitis consists of an erythematous pharynx with tonsillar enlargement. Most authors in various studies have not defined whether the tonsillitis is exudative.

Pharyngitis was described in 9 of the original 12 patients in Marshall's series the same number as were diagnosed with stomatitis; 6 of the patients having both signs.

Negative bacterial and viral cultures from the pharynx and tonsils are expected as "no other cause for the fever" was listed as a criterion in Marshall's original paper and remains an essential exclusion criterion [1].

One does need to acknowledge however that a baseline level of carriage of Streptococcus exists to varying degrees in different populations. In a United States cohort of patients with PFAPA, 29 of 284 throat cultures yielded Group A Streptococcus [7]. Antibiotic treatment in this situation of patients colonised with Streptococcus however would not affect the fever.

3.5.4 Adenitis

Cervical lymphadenitis is one of the major disease features with almost 90% of patients having this manifestation in some series, and 66%—8 of the 12 patients in Marshall's original description. Enlarged nodes are moderately tender, rapidly appearing and regressing, often bilateral, not exceeding 5 cm in diameter, neither red nor warm, and never fluctuant.

If more generalised lymphadenopathy is found, it should warrant searching for a more significant pathology.

Transient splenomegally was reported in Marshall's original paper [1] (5 of the 12 children) but hepatosplenomegally is not considered part of the PFAPA Syndrome.

3.5.5 Non Classic Symptoms

Although not part of the original diagnostic criteria [7] associated symptoms of being constitutionally unwell are not infrequent accompaniments.

These may include non-specific abdominal pain (but not serositis or peritonism) in up to 65% of children, arthralgia in up to to 42% (but no joint swelling), vomiting in a similarly reported proportion and headache in up to 65% [7–9, 11].

3.6 Exclusion Criteria

3.6.1 Cyclic Neutropaenia

As noted from the first description of Marshall et al., PFAPA resembled the neutropaenic phase of human cyclic neutropenia in its clinical presentation.

We now know that true cyclic neutropaenia is a rare, autosomal dominantly inherited disorder, having variable expression and an estimated incidence of one to two per million [12, 13].

Ninety percent of patients exhibit a cycle period of 21 days and cyclic neutropaenia is attributable, in at least 95% of cases, to autosomal dominant mutations in the elastase gene (*ELANE*) on chromosome 19p13.3 [12, 13].

Documenting neutrophils in the normal range three times weekly for up to 6 weeks between two subsequent febrile episodes is considered sufficient to rule out cyclic neutropenia in patients evaluated for PFAPA.

Monogenic auto inflammatory diseases are usually clinically distinguishable from PFAPA—and thus genetic testing is indicated where atypical fever patterns, serositis, or incomplete response to steroids makes PFAPA unlikely.

Summary of Diagnostic criteria Table 3.3.

3.7 Aetiology and Pathogenesis

Sarah Long in her paper published in 1999 notes "I conclude that PFAPA syndrome walks like dysregulation of cytokines and sounds like an infection" [18].

The scoring system proposed in her paper is calculated to weigh up infection vs. immune dysregulation as an underlying cause for PFAPA.

The periodicity of fever with wellness in between, the response to steroids but not antibiotics, and the long duration of the syndrome without any long term health sequelae are all against infection.

In contradistinction however the response to tonsillectomy, the ethnic diversity of the patients and the early age of onset are factors which would support an infectious cause.

The PFAPA syndrome does not have a known genetic cause. PFAPA may be caused by oligogenic or complex inheritance of variants in many genes, interacting with nongenetic factors [19].

					Vanoni et al.
	Marshall	Thomas	Garavello	Feder and	[17]
Criteria	et al. [6]	et al. [7]	et al. [32]	Salazar [11]	(No = ranking)
Onset <5 years of	1	1	1	N.S	Ranked 22
age					
Characteristics of	Abrupt	Not	Abrupt	>38.9°	Not specified
fever	onset	specified	onset		
Frequency of episodes	Regular	Regular	Regular	≥6 every 2–8 weeks	1
Duration of episodes	~5 days		~5 days	≤10 days	10 3–5 days
Constitutional symptoms	1	1	1		
Clinical findings (≥ 1 of the following:)					
Aphthous stomatitis	1	1	1	✓	2
Pharyngitis	1	1	\checkmark	1	6
Cervical lymphadenitis		1	1	1	4
Acute phase reactants	1				7
Asymptomatic intervals	1	1	1	1	5
Exclusion of URTI	1	1	1		27
Exclusion of cyclic Neutro	1	1	1	1	15
Other exclusions	1		1	1	
Benign long-term course	1				
Response to corticosteroid			1		3
Normal growth and development	1	1	1		8

Table 3.3 Diagnostic criteria for PFAPA modified from Harel et al. [10]

The numbers in column 6 Vanoni et al. [17] refer to a scaled weighted ranking of importance by clinicians in Delphi survey

It is currently thought to result from some degree of immune dysregulation. Transient rises in gammaglobulins, IgM, IgG and IgA may occur, with one study by Kovacs showing increased plasma IgD levels $(322.2 \pm 29.2 \text{ U/l})$ were detected in all of 14 patients in this small series of patients [20].

Marshall's original group and most subsequent large cohort studies have required the exclusion of the hyper IgD Syndrome before enrolling patients for study in a diagnostic cohort.

The study of whole blood gene expression profiling could clearly distinguish PFAPA flares from asymptomatic intervals [20]. In association with high fevers,

other cytokines including interferon gamma, TNF alpha, IL1 beta and IL6 have been observed to be elevated [21]. There have also been reports of over-expression of complement and interferon induced genes during an attack.

The increase in IL-1 during PFAPA flares demonstrated in two different studies suggests a possible role in the pathogenesis of PFAPA febrile attacks, as well as the use of IL-1 inhibition in treating PFAPA [21, 22].

There is an increase of S100A8/A9 and S100A12 in the febrile phase of PFAPA that seems to normalise in the afebrile phase [23]. This may help in differentiation from untreated FMF where serum amyloid A often remains elevated between fever episodes.

These findings indicate that there is an activation of both the innate and the adaptive immune system in PFAPA with a Th1 differentiation of CD4+ cells during febrile episodes.

A study in 2016 by Tejesvi et al. [24] used next-generation sequencing technology to investigate the bacterial microbiota of the tonsils of 30 PFAPA patients and 24 controls. They noted that the microbiota of the tonsils removed from PFAPA patients differed significantly from those of the controls and postulated that the tonsillar microbiota may play a role in triggering the inflammatory processes that lead to symptoms of PFAPA.

This ties in with the proposed model of Stojanov et al. in which microbial triggers activate a cascade beginning with the innate immune system and ultimately recruiting activated T cells to the periphery. [22].

3.8 Genetics

Familial clusters of PFAPA have been described in Europe [25], Japan [16], and the USA [26].

Whole exome sequencing—a comprehensive genetic study on 68 individuals from 14 families did not find a specific gene suggesting that PFAPA results from oligogenic or complex inheritance of variants in multiple disease genes and/or non-genetic factors [19, 27].

3.9 Treatment

There is no consistency in the best approach to treatment of the PFAPA although it is almost uniformally noted to have a rapid response of the fever to oral steroids.

Marshall in 1987 described three children who had dramatic symptomatic relief from short courses of prednisone, beginning with 40 mg/day (their weights were not described in the paper). This was particularly effective if started at the first sign of an impending attack.

3.9.1 Glucocorticoids

Prednisolone is the steroid that has been given most frequently in studies and used by most experienced clinicians. In 2006, Tasher et al. reported termination of the febrile episode in 51 out of 54 children after a single dose of prednisone with a mean dosage of 0.59 mg/kg [28].

The recommended dose of prednisolone is somewhere between 0.5 and 2 mg/kg immediately at the onset of symptoms and often a single dose will suffice.

The study by Yazgan comparing the low dose prednisolone 0.5 mg/kg and high dose 2 mg/kg dose in 41 patients showed no difference in efficacy between these two dosage regimens [15]. The effectiveness of the treatment was determined by the time needed to reduce the fever and the effect on the duration between the initially treated and subsequent attacks. The patients were re-examined 24 h after the steroid treatment.

A second dose 24 h later may be necessary in some patients if the symptoms are ongoing.

Response to corticosteroids was the third highest ranked diagnostic variable amongst 110 expert physicians in a recently published international Delphi survey for the development of new classification criteria for PFAPA [17].

Although Prednisolone is effective in terminating the episode, there has been some suggestion that in some patients, it may shorten the interval between episodes; this group may be between 20% and 50% of the patients in some studies [28, 29].

As in Marshall's original Paper, there is a poor response to NSAIDs; although NSAID's may reduce the fever, they do not abort the other symptoms, the syndrome is by definition antibiotic unresponsive.

3.9.2 Tonsillectomy

In 2007 and 2009 two randomized clinical trials using tonsillectomy for the therapy of PFAPA were published.

Renko et al. conducted a prospective, randomized, controlled trial in 26 children with well-defined PFAPA [30].

Six months after randomization, all 14 children in the tonsillectomy group and 6 of 12 children in the control group were free of symptoms. Tonsillectomy was subsequently performed on five of six of the patients in the control group who still had symptoms after 6 months and they also had symptom resolution.

Hofer however criticised the study in a subsequent letter to the journal noting that half of the patients did not meet the previously described diagnostic criteria because they did not present at least one of the main symptoms accompanying the fever. He also noted that half the control patients in the study of Renko showed disease remission within 6 months of follow-up which was not consistent with other studies of this syndrome [31].

Garavello et al. reported on 39 children with PFAPA syndrome who were randomized to either adenotonsillectomy (surgery group; n = 19) or expectant management (control group; n = 20).

All patients prospectively recorded all PFAPA episodes and were evaluated clinically every 3 months for 18 months after randomization.

Sixty-three percent of patients in the surgery group and 5% in the control group experienced complete resolution of symptoms (P < 0.001) [32].

Several other groups have subsequently reported on the success of tonsillectomy in children with PFAPA [33, 34] and the data have been summarized in a Cochrane systematic review [35].

In the Delphi survey of 2018 previously mentioned above [17] response to tonsillectomy only ranked as the13th most important diagnostic criterion amongst respondents. The authors did however comment that the response to tonsillectomy is probably not a desirable feature to support the diagnosis of PFAPA, since response to tonsillectomy is also found in non-PFAPA recurrent tonsillitis and it is important to establish a diagnosis prior to surgical referral.

3.9.3 Cimetidine

Cimetidine is anecdotally efficacious in some patients. The PFAPA syndrome resolved in 8 of 28 patients (29%) treated for 6 months with cimetidine [36]. No randomized, controlled trials of cimetidine prophylaxis have been performed for PFAPA.

Cimetidine may increase the interval between attacks or decrease the severity of each episode. In some children it has been reported to result in resolution of PFAPA episodes. Cimetidine is usually given at 20–40 mg/kg/day in divided doses every 12 h. If cimetidine reduces the frequency of recurrent fevers or eliminates them altogether, an attempt to discontinue the drug is appropriate after 6–12 months of continuous use. Prednisolone may still need to be given for breakthrough episodes.

In a 2016 survey completed by 277 US paediatric subspecialty physicians, 124 paediatric rheumatologists, and 153 paediatric infectious disease specialists, 48% report that they have used cimetidine in the treatment of PFAPA but only 8% use it as their most commonly prescribed treatment; only 19% rated it as effective or very effective [37] (Table 3.4 below).

3.9.4 Colchicine

Colchicine can be used as an alternative option for prophylaxis in PFAPA patients.

The exact mechanism of action is unknown although one possibility is colchicine interferes with the inflammasome complex found in neutrophils and monocytes that mediates interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) activation.

In the same 2016 survey, 31% of rheumatologists but only 5% of ID physicians used colchicine to treat PFAPA with only 19% ranking it as effective or very effective [37].

In a case series of nine patients with frequent PFAPA episodes defined as occurring at intervals of ≤ 14 days, prophylaxis with colchicine (0.5–1 mg/day) was administered [38]. All of these patients also received glucocorticoids to treat their episodes. The patients were followed for an average of 2 years on colchicine. In eight of nine patients, treatment with colchicine was associated with an increased interval between episodes (the average interval increased from 1.7 to 8.4 weeks). In

	% Who ran commonly	k the specific medi used treatment	% Who rank			
	All		ID		treatment as most commonly	% Who rate as "very effective" or
Medication	physicians	Rheumatologists	physicians	P value	used	"effective"
Corticosteroid	87	88	86	0.53	55	95
Antipyretics	61	59	63	0.60	29	29
Cimetidine	48	52	46	0.36	8	19
Tonsillectomy	57	45	67	< 0.001	5	68
Colchicine	17	31	5	< 0.001	1	19
Anakinra	6	9	5	0.19	1	-
Montelukast	6	9	3	0.07	0	3

Table 3.4 Percentage of pediatric physicians who use various modalities to treat PFAPA syndrome

Reproduced with permission from Rheumatol Int (2017) 37:883–889 Kalpana Manthiram Springer Verlag

two patients, discontinuation of colchicine was associated with an increased frequency of episodes. This study from Israel may not translate to other ethnic groups with PFAPA as two patients were compound heterozygotes for *MEFV* mutations.

An additional Israeli study which was open label and randomized involved twice as many—18 patients with PFAPA. Patients were randomly assigned to no treatment for 6 months or observation for 3 months followed by colchicine treatment for 3 months.

The study showed that colchicine prophylaxis was effective in reducing the number of PFAPA episodes [39].

Patients in the treatment group had fewer PFAPA episodes while on colchicine therapy $(4.9 \pm 2.3 \text{ versus } 1.6 \pm 1.2 \text{ episodes per 3-month period}).$

Colchicine is generally safe to use in children though commonly reported side effects are mainly gastrointestinal including abdominal pain, diarrhoea, and nausea. The dose should be slowly increased over several weeks starting from 250 to 300 μ g/ day to the desired dose to mitigate these side effects.

The concomitant use of Colchicine and CYP3A4 inhibitors (e.g., clarithromycin, ketoconazole, grapefruit juice, erythromycin), should be avoided due to the potential for serious and life-threatening toxicity.

3.9.5 Anakinra

In a 2006 study, testing PFAPA patients during a flare increased serum levels of cytokines IL1 and IL6 was noted when compared to the control group; and a decrease in serum levels of anti-inflammatory cytokines, particularly IL-4 and IL-10 was also demonstrated [40].

A later study in 2011 showed that during PFAPA attacks, complement, IL-1-related (IL-1B, IL-1RN, CASP1, IL18RAP), and IFN-induced

(AIM2, IP-10/CXCL10) genes were significantly over expressed [22]. PFAPA flares were accompanied by significantly increased serum levels of chemokines for activated T lymphocytes (IP-10/CXCL10, MIG/CXCL9), G-CSF, and proinflammatory cytokines (IL-18, IL-6).

Based on the evidence for IL-1 β activation in PFAPA flares, the authors treated five PFAPA patients with a recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist. All patients showed a prompt clinical response [22].

3.9.6 Vitamin D

An Italian study of 25 children with PFAPA was published in 2014 looking specifically at vitamin D as a predisposing factor and an adjunctive treatment. Hypovitaminosis D was found in most children with PFAPA syndrome. It was postulated that this might be a significant risk factor for PFAPA flares. Vitamin D supplementation in this group significantly reduced the typical PFAPA episodes and their duration, the authors suggesting the role of vitamin D as an immune regulatory factor in this syndrome [41].

3.10 Into the Future

Recently—April 2018, an International Delphi survey has been undertaken amongst Paediatric Rheumatologists to define more clearly the most important diagnostic variables for clinicians to diagnose PFAPA. This is the first step of a planned process aimed to develop new classification criteria for PFAPA [17].

The ongoing follow-up to this survey will attempt to develop new classification criteria for the PFAPA Syndrome through consensus and data validation in the large data set of the Eurofever Registry.

The DELPHI method "Project DELPHI" was first described by Norman Crolee Dalkey and Olaf Helmer-Hirschberg in 1962 in a paper titled "The use of experts for the estimation of bombing requirements". The paper and study had been written in 1951 but publication was suppressed for 10 years until the original study had been declassified [42].

The paper reported that the DELPHI method was devised in order to obtain the most reliable opinion consensus of a group of experts. This was done by subjecting the experts to a series of in depth questions interspersed with controlled opinion feedback. The technique employed involved the repeated individual questioning of the experts (by interview or questionnaire) and avoided direct confrontation of the experts with one another. The hope listed in the original paper is that expert opinion consensus would be an acceptable substitute for direct empirical evidence when the evidence was unavailable.

This use of the DELPHI method was applied to the definition of the variables for the development of new classification criteria for (PFAPA).

This consisted of an open ended questionnaire sent to both adult and paediatric clinicians and researchers. Participants were asked to identify the variables thought most likely to be helpful and relevant for the diagnosis of PFAPA in current clinical practice and in research setting.

In the first survey, participants were asked to report, in an open fashion, all measures they thought to be relevant for PFAPA based on their clinical or research expertise. The question was: "Please list the variables (as many as you like) that you are currently using in your everyday clinical practice or you consider to be the most useful for the diagnosis of PFAPA. Variables to be included can be of any type: i.e. clinical features, laboratory tests, genetic analysis, etc."

Of the 92 variables identified in the first survey, 62 were selected for a second DELPHI survey.

Respondents in the second survey were asked to select from a list of variables in the first survey with the ten features they thought were most important and to rank them in descending order from most important to least important.

Eighty-eight percent (109 of 124) responded to the first DELPHI survey and 87% (141 of 162) to the second.

A ranking was then attained combining the listing of the variable (from 1 being the most important) with the number of clinicians that had selected that variable.

The five features with the highest weighting were

- 1. Regular Periodicity of fever
- 2. Aphthous stomatitis
- 3. Response to steroids
- 4. Cervical lymphadenitis
- 5. Return to wellbeing i.e. normal health in between flares

The highest total score was given to the regular periodicity of the fever with the single most selected variable being aphthous stomatitis (Table 3.5).

Duration of fever 3–5 days or 3–6 days received equal ranking.

The response to tonsillectomy as well as the response to steroids was ranked highly as expected. The cardinal signs were all ranked highly as was return to normal health between episodes, return of inflammatory markers to normal, and normal growth and development and long term spontaneous resolution and decreased frequency of episodes with age.

Age of onset was not ranked highly—perhaps influenced by recent studies describing older children with the condition as well as adult onset disease.

Associated features such as headache, abdominal pain, myalgia and arthralgia were included in the list of some participating clinicians but did not rank highly. Most experienced practicing clinicians would feel that these features of serositis are a stronger pointer to auto inflammatory disease such as MVK or MEFV mutation.

These survey items are now being applied in the next phase of the study testing the sensitivity and specificity on real patient data. The aim of this project is that this will result in a further tightening of the diagnosis of the PFAPA syndrome which is in itself a step towards unravelling the puzzle of this clinical condition.

				Mean
Rank	Variable	Score	Frequency	score
1	Regular periodicity	436	56	7.8
2	Aphtous stomatitis	431	77	5.6
3	Response to steroid	401	66	6.1
4	Cervical adenitis	368	72	5.1
5	Well-being between flares	299	57	5.2
6	Pharyngitis (exudative or not)	288	47	6.1
7	Increase of acute phase reactants and serum amyloid	271	44	6.2
	A during fever episodes			
8	Normal growth/development	236	51	4.6
9	Pharingotonsillitis	228	35	6.5
10	Periodic fever 3–5 days	202	24	8.4
11	Periodic fever 3–6 days	202	23	8.8
12	Self-limiting episodes	183	35	5.2
13	Response to tonsillectomy	182	33	5.5
14	Improvement with age	160	40	4.0
15	Exclusion cyclic neutropenia/immunodeficiency	150	34	4.4
16	Normalization of acute phase reactants in well-being	146	33	4.4
17	Recurrence every 3–6 weeks	145	21	6.9

Table 3.5 Top 17 of 62 variables listed by participants in Delphi survey [17]

References

- 1. Marshall GS, Edwards KM, Butler J, et al. Syndrome of periodic fever, pharyngitis, and aphthous stomatitis. J Pediatr. 1987;110:43 6.
- Reimann HA. Periodic disease: periodic fever, periodic abdominalgia, cyclic neutropenia, intermittent arthralgia, angioneurotic edema, anaphylactoid purpura and periodic paralysis. JAMA. 1949;141:175–83.
- 3. Reimann HA. Periodic disease. Medicine. 1951;30:219-45.
- 4. ver der Meer JWM, Vossen JM, Radl J, van Nieuwkoop JA, et al. Hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever: a new syndrome. Lancet. 1984;1:1087–90.
- 5. Reeves WG, Mitchell JRA. Hyperimmunoglobulinaemia D and periodic fever. Lancet. 1984;1:1463–4.
- 6. Marshall GS, Edwards KM, Lawton AR. PFAPA syndrome. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1989;8:658.
- Thomas KT, Feder HM Jr, Lawton AR, Edwards KM. Periodic fever syndrome in children. J Pediatr. 1999;135:15–21.
- Hofer M, Pillet P, Cochard MM, Berg S, Krol P, Kone-Paut I, et al. International periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, cervical adenitis syndrome cohort: description of distinct phenotypes in 301 patients. Rheumatology. 2014;53:1125–9.
- Førsvoll J, Kristoffersen EK, Øymar K. Incidence, clinical characteristics and outcome in Norwegian children with periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and cervical adenitis syndrome; a population based study. Acta Paediatr. 2013;102(2):187–92.
- Harel L, Hashkes PJ, Lapidus S, Edwards KM, Padeh S, Gattorno M, Marshall GS. The First International Conference on Periodic Fever, Aphthous Stomatitis, Pharyngitis, Adenitis Syndrome. J Pediatr. 2018;193:265–274.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2017.10.034. Epub 2017 Dec 12
- Feder HM, Salazar JC. A clinical review of 105 patients with PFAPA (a periodic fever syndrome). Acta Paediatr. 2010;99:178–84.

- Bellanné-Chantelot C, Clauin S, Leblanc T, et al. Mutations in the ELA2 gene correlate with more severe expression of neutropenia: a study of 81 patients from the French Neutropenia Register. Blood. 2004;103:4119.
- Germeshausen M, Deerberg S, Peter Y, et al. The spectrum of ELANE mutations and their implications in severe congenital and cyclic neutropenia. Hum Mutat. 2013;34:905.
- 14. Wurster VM, Carlucci JG, Feder HM, Edwards KM. Long-term follow-up of children with periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis syndrome. J Pediatr. 2011;159:958–64.
- Yazgan H, Gultekin E, Yazicilar O, Sagun OF, Uzun L. Comparison of conventional and low dose steroid in the treatment of PFAPA syndrome: preliminary study. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2012;76:1588–90.
- Adachi M, Watanabe A, Nishiyama A, Oyazato Y, Kamioka I, Murase M, et al. Familial cases of periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis syndrome. J Pediatr. 2011;158:155–9.
- 17. Vanoni F, Federici S, Antón J, Barron KS, Brogan P, De Benedetti F, Dedeoglu F, Demirkaya E, Hentgen V, Kallinich T, Laxer R, Russo R, Toplak N, Uziel Y, Martini A, Ruperto N, Gattorno M, Hofer M, for Eurofever and the Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO). An international Delphi survey for the definition of the variables for the development of new classification criteria for periodic fever aphtous stomatitis pharingitis cervical adenitis (PFAPA). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2018;16(1):27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12969-018-0246-9.
- Long SS. Syndrome of periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis (PFAPA) what it isn't. What is it? J Pediatr. 1999;135:1–5.
- Manthiram K, Lapidus S, Edwards K. Unraveling the pathogenesis of periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis through genetic, immunologic, and microbiologic discoveries: an update. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2017;29(5):493–9. https://doi.org/10.1097/ BOR.000000000000418.
- Kovacs L, Hlavatá A, Baldovič M, Paulovicova E, Dallos T, Fehérvízyová Z, Kadasi L. Elevated immunoglobulin D levels in children with PFAPA syndrome. Neuro Endocrinol Lett. 2010;31(6):743–6.
- Brown KL, Wekell P, Osla V, Sundqvist M, Savman K, Fasth A, et al. Profile of blood cells and inflammatory mediators in periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. BMC Pediatr. 2010;10:65.
- 22. Stojanov S, Lapidus S, Chitkara P, et al. Periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis (PFAPA) is a disorder of innate immunity and Th1 activation responsive to IL-1 block-ade. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108:7148–53.
- Wekell P, Karlsson A, Berg S, Fasth A. Review of auto inflammatory diseases, with a special focus on periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and cervical adenitis syndrome. Acta Paediatr. 2016;105(10):1140–51. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13531. Epub 2016 Aug 19
- Tejesvi MV, Uhari M, Tapiainen T, Pirttila AM, Suokas M, Lantto U, et al. Tonsillar microbiota in children with PFAPA (periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis) syndrome. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016;35:963–70.
- Cochard M, Clet J, Le L, Pillet P, Onrubia X, Gueron T, et al. PFAPA syndrome is not a sporadic disease. Rheumatology. 2010;49:1984–7.
- Manthiram K, Nesbitt E, Morgan T, Edwards KM. Family history in periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. Pediatrics. 2016;139:e20154572.
- 27. Di Gioia SA, Bedoni N, von Scheven-Gête A, Vanoni F, Superti-Furga A, Hofer M, et al. Analysis of the genetic basis of periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. Sci Rep. 2015;5:10200.
- Tasher D, Somekh E, Dalal I. PFAPA syndrome: new clinical aspects disclosed. Arch Dis Child. 2006;91:981–4.
- Ter Haar N, Lachmann H, Ozen S, Woo P, Uziel Y, Modesto C, et al. Treatment of auto inflammatory diseases: results from the Eurofever Registry and a literature review. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72:678–85.

- Renko M, Salo E, Putto-Laurila A, et al. A randomized, controlled trial of tonsillectomy in periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis syndrome. J Pediatr. 2007;151:289–92.
- Hofer MF. Cured by tonsillectomy: was it really a PFAPA syndrome? J Pediatr. 2008;153(2):298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2008.04.050.
- Garavello W, Romagnoli M, Gaini RM. Effectiveness of adenotonsillectomy in PFAPA syndrome: a randomized study. J Pediatr. 2009;155:250–3.
- Garavello W, Pignataro L, Gaini L, Torretta S, Somigliana E, Gaini R. Tonsillectomy in children with periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis syndrome. J Pediatr. 2011;159:138–42.
- Licameli G, Lawton M, Kenna M, Dedeoglu F. Long-term surgical out-comes of adenotonsillectomy for PFAPA syndrome. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. 2012;138:902–6.
- 35. Burton MJ, Pollard AJ, Ramsden JD, Chong LY, Venekamp RP. Tonsillectomy for periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and cervical adenitis syndrome (PFAPA). Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2014;(9):CD008669.
- Feder HM Jr. Cimetidine treatment for periodic fever associated with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and cervical adenitis. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 1992;11:318–21.
- 37. Manthiram K, Li SC, Hausmann JS, et al. Childhood Arthritis and Rheumatology Research Alliance (CARRA) PFAPA Subcommittee. Physicians' perspectives on the diagnosis and management of periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. Rheumatol Int. 2017;37(6):883–889.
- Tasher D, Stein M, Dalal I, Somekh E. Colchicine prophylaxis for frequent periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis and adenitis episodes. Acta Paediatr. 2008;97:1090–2.
- 39. Butbul Aviel Y, Tatour S, Gershoni Baruch R, Brik R. Colchicine as a therapeutic option in periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, cervical adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2016;45:471–4.
- Stojanov S, Hoffmann F, Kéry A, Renner ED, Hartl D, Lohse P, Huss K, Fraunberger P, Malley JD, Zellerer S, Albert MH, Belohradsky BH. Cytokine profile in PFAPA syndrome suggests continuous inflammation and reduced anti-inflammatory response. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2006;17(2):90–7.
- 41. Stagi S, Bertini F, Rigante D, Falcini F. Vitamin D levels and effects of vitamin D replacement in children with periodic fever, aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and cervical adenitis (PFAPA) syndrome. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol. 2014;78(6):964–8. Epub 2014 Apr 1
- Dalkey NC, Helmer O. An experimental application of the Delphi method to the use of experts. Manag Sci. 1963;9(3):458–67.



Kawasaki Disease

4

Rakesh Kumar Pilania and Surjit Singh

Kawasaki disease (KD) is an acute and usually self-limiting medium vessel vasculitis of childhood that has a predilection to involve the coronary arteries. It is characterized by the sequential appearance of a constellation of clinical features [1]. However, none of these clinical findings is, in itself, pathognomonic of KD. Many of these clinical features can, in fact, be seen in other common febrile illnesses of children. It is for this reason that the diagnosis of KD is often considered to be a clinical challenge [2]. Approximately 15–25% of untreated patients may go on develop coronary artery abnormalities (CAAs) and this remains the major cause of morbidity, and occasional mortality, in KD [3].

4.1 History

KD was first recognized in 1961 by Dr. Tomisaku Kawasaki while working at the Japan Red Cross Medical Centre at Tokyo. He saw a 4-year-old boy with fever and a constellation of clinical features that did not seem to fit into any known clinical disease entity. By 1967, he had collected 50 such cases of *mucocutaneous lymph node syndrome* and published his series in the Japanese Journal of Allergy (Arerugi) [4]. It is remarkable that to this day, the case definition proposed by Dr. Kawasaki in 1967 has remained largely unchanged.

R. K. Pilania \cdot S. Singh (\boxtimes)

Allergy Immunology Unit, Department of Pediatrics, Advanced Pediatrics Centre, Post Graduate Institute of Medical Education and Research (PGIMER), Chandigarh, India

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_4

4.2 Epidemiology

KD is arguably the second commonest vasculitis of childhood after Henoch–Schonlein purpura. It is a disease of young children with 80% of affected patients being below the age of 5. Peak age of onset is around 6–11 months in Japan and 2–3 years in North America. KD occurs more commonly in boys and the male female ratio is 1.3:1 [5]. Siblings can be affected in 3% of patients [6].

KD has been reported from all continents and is now increasingly being identified in many resource-challenged countries (Fig. 4.1). Although this disease is being diagnosed worldwide, the highest number of cases has been reported from the North-East Asian countries, viz. Japan, Korea, and Taiwan [7]. The current incidence of KD in Japan is more than 300 per 100,000 children <5 years (highest worldwide) [8]. Approximately 1% of Japanese children develop KD by age 10 [9]. Incidence rates from Korea and Taiwan are 194.7 and 69.5, respectively [10, 11]. Incidence of KD in Europe and the United States has plateaued and ranges from 5 to 30/100,000 children below 5. Data from North America show that there is significant ethnic variation with higher rates being reported in African Americans and Pacific islanders [7]. KD is currently being diagnosed and reported from both China and India but nationwide data are not available in these countries [12–16]. In North India, the KD incidence is 4–5/100,000 children below 5 [16].

Epidemiologic studies have shown distinct seasonality in occurrence of KD. Japan and Korea have two peaks—in June/July and December/January [17], while Taiwan has a peak in May/June [7]. In Chandigarh (India), the peak incidence is in April and October, with a nadir in February [16].

4.3 Genetics

KD is a complex disorder in which an infectious/environmental agent is believed to trigger the onset of disease in a genetically susceptible host [18]. Various susceptibility genes have been identified to have association with KD. These includes inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate 3-kinase C (ITPKC), Caspase-3 calcium release-activated calcium modulator 1 (ORAI1), and CD 40 [19–21]. Knowledge about these susceptibility genes may provide new insights in etiopathogenesis of KD. Reports have suggested association of transforming growth factor (TGF)- β variants with development of CAAs in patients with KD [22].

4.4 Etiopathogenesis of KD

Although etiopathogenesis of KD is not clear, various epidemiological and laboratory studies have shown that an infectious agent triggers a cascade that causes the illness (Fig. 4.2). Histopathologic studies have emanated from children with KD who have died from unrelated causes [23]. The vasculitic process shows three distinct phases [24]:



Fig. 4.1 Epidemiologic variation of KD in different areas

- (a) Acute necrotizing arteritis phase: in which there is neutrophilic infiltration of intima and media.
- (b) Subacute/chronic arteritis phase: in which the neutrophilic infiltrate gets replaced by lymphocytes, plasma cells, and macrophages.
- (c) Luminal myofibroblastic phase: in which there is proliferation of smooth muscle cells in the media that can result in luminal narrowing [24, 25].



Fig. 4.2 Etiopathogenesis of KD. *Abbreviations: ABCC4* ATP-binding cassette sub-family C member 4, *BLK* B-cell lymphoid kinase, $FC\gamma R2A$ Fc γ receptor 2A, *HLA* human leukocyte antigen, *IL* interleukin, *ITPKC* inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate kinase-C, *ORA11* calcium release-activated calcium modulator 1, *TGF-* β transforming growth factor- β , *TLR* toll like receptor, *TNF-* α tumor necrosis factor

The etiopathogenesis of KD is closely linked to an infectious process. Evidence for this comes from both seasonability and clustering of cases of KD [7, 26]. The presence of febrile exanthemata and cervical lymphadenopathy, uncommon occurrence in babies below 3 months, and the rarity of cases in adults, further lends support to this hypothesis. Some of the infectious agents that have been linked to the etiology of KD are parvovirus, Epstein–Barr virus, *Staphylococcus aureus*, chlamydia, and mycobacteria. It has been hypothesized that the putative infectious trigger sets up a cytokine storm that manifests as KD [23]. Some investigators have also proposed a super-antigen theory that triggers an immune response against vascular endothelium [27].

4.5 Clinical Features and Diagnosis

Diagnosis of KD is essentially clinical. Criteria for diagnosis of KD have been updated from time to time. Currently there are two sets of guidelines—American Heart Association (AHA) guidelines (2004 [3] and 2017 [28]) and Kawasaki Disease

Research Committee guidelines (Japanese guidelines), 2002 (Table 4.1) [29]. AHA 2017 guidelines (clinical criteria) for diagnosis of KD are given in Table 4.2. Patients who fulfil the criteria are classified as having complete KD (also known as classical or typical KD), while those who do not fulfil criteria are classified as incomplete KD [28]. Principal clinical features in KD are reviewed in Table 4.3.

The clinical course of KD has three distinct phases: (a) acute febrile phase, (b) subacute phase, and (c) convalescent phase [4]. However in clinical practice, these features often overlap.

Acute phase: This phase starts with abrupt onset of high grade fever that is characteristically accompanied by significant irritability. It usually lasts for 10–14 days. Fever with marked irritability may be the initial clinical presentation of KD, especially in young infants [30]. Presence of intermittent or remittent fever is not characteristic of KD. Cough can be present in a small subset of patients but nasal catarrh is

 Table 4.1
 Kawasaki Disease Research Committee guidelines (Japanese Ministry of Health guidelines) for diagnosis of KD (2002) [29]

Five of the following six criteria

(At least five items of 1–6 should be satisfied for diagnosis of KD. However, patients with 4 items of the principal symptoms can be diagnosed with KD when coronary aneurysm or dilatation is recognized by 2-D echocardiography or coronary angiography)

- 1. Fever persisting \geq 5 days (inclusive of cases in whom the fever has subsided before the fifth day in response to therapy)
- 2. Bilateral conjunctival congestion
- 3. Changes of lips and oral cavity
- 4. Polymorphous exanthema
- 5. Changes of peripheral extremities
- 6. Acute non-purulent cervical lymphadenopathy

Table 4.2 AHA 2017 diagnostic criteria for KD [28]

Diagnosis of classic KD can be proffered in the presence of fever for at least 5 days associated with at least 4 of the 5 following principal clinical features. In the presence of \geq 4 principal clinical features, particularly when redness and swelling of the hands and feet are present, the diagnosis of KD can be made on day 4 of fever also.

Principal clinical features:

- Changes in lips and oral cavity: Erythema, lips cracking, strawberry tongue, diffuse injection of oral and pharyngeal mucosae
- Changes in extremities
 Acute: Erythema of palms, soles; edema of hands, feet
 Subacute: Periungual peeling of fingers and toes in weeks 2 and 3
- Polymorphous exanthema (diffuse maculopapular, urticarial, erythroderma, erythemamultiforme like, not vesicular or bullous)
- 4. Bilateral bulbar conjunctival injection without exudates
- 5. Cervical lymphadenopathy (>1.5 cm diameter), usually unilateral

A careful history may reveal that ≥ 1 principal clinical features were present during the illness but resolved by the time of presentation

Exclusion of other diseases with similar findings (e.g., scarlet fever, viral infections like measles, adenovirus, enterovirus, Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic shock syndrome, drug hypersensitivity reactions, systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis)

Clinical manifestation	Characteristics
Fever	Is typically high grade, acute onset, unremitting, without any response to antimicrobials and can associated with extreme irritability.
Extremity changes (acute)	In acute phase include erythema of palms and soles that is usually associated with edema over dorsum of hands and feet. Diagnosis of KD can be made on day 4 of illness if one of the features is redness and dorsal edema of extremities.
Extremity changes (subacute)	Periungual sheet like peeling of skin is a pathognomonic sign of KD that usually appears in the second to third week of illness.
Rash	Diffuse erythematous polymorphous rash usually appears in the first few days of illness and may be seen in >90% patients. Bullous, vesicular and petechial lesions are not seen in KD.
Conjunctival involvement	Bilateral nonexudative conjunctival injection with characteristic sparing of limbus is an important and specific clinical sign and often helps in making a clinical diagnosis. It may be seen in >85% patients.
Changes in lips and oral cavity	Erythema of lips and oral cavity with vertical lip cracking in a febrile child is an important diagnostic clue and is seen in >95% patients. Distinct oral ulcerations are unusual in KD.
Cervical lymphadenopathy	Unilateral cervical lymphadenopathy (size ≥ 1.5 cm) is a characteristic clinical sign of KD. This is the least common of all the principal clinical features.

Table 4.3 Principal clinical features in KD [28]



Fig. 4.3 Clinical manifestations of typical KD. (a) Conjuctival injection; (b) maculopapular erythematous rash; (c) classical perianal desquamation; (d) strawberry tongue and cracked red lips; (e) dorsal edema over feet; (f) classical periungual desquamation; (g) Beau's line

unusual for KD. Rash in KD is usually generalized, erythematous, polymorphic (Fig. 4.3b), but is never vesicular or bullous. Cervical lymphadenopathy (\geq 1.5 cm size) is usually unilateral and is often more commonly seen in the anterior cervical triangle. Cervical lymphadenopathy may be mistaken for suppurative lymphadenitis.

AHA 2017 guidelines have highlighted the importance of ultrasonogram and computed tomography (CT) for differentiation of bacterial lymphadenitis from KD lymphadenopathy. In KD, there is enlargement of multiple lymph nodes along with retropharyngeal edema while bacterial lymphadenitis is mostly associated with a single lymph node with a central hypoechoic region [28]. However, such differentiation on basis of ultrasound examination requires lot of expertise and that may not be readily available in the usual clinical setting. Oral cavity and lip changes include redness of lips with bleeding and vertical cracking, oral mucosa redness and a strawberry tongue (Fig. 4.3d). Oral ulcers are distinctly unusual in KD. Conjunctival injection is characteristically nonexudative and with typical sparing of limbus (Fig. 4.3a). Conjunctivitis with discharge is a strong pointer towards an alternative diagnosis. Edema of the dorsum of extremities is an early sign and is usually transient (Fig. 4.3e). Perianal desquamation is virtually pathognomonic of KD and is a useful clinical sign for diagnosis of the disease during the acute phase (Fig. 4.3c). Arthritis in KD is typically oligoarthritis, involving large joints and resolves without sequelae [31]. Erythema at BCG injection site is an important clinical sign during acute stage of KD and more common in infants [32]. Hydrops of gall bladder is also an important finding during acute stage. Mild pericardial effusion is a common finding on 2Dechocardiography (2DE). CAAs are usually not seen during the first week of illness.

Subacute phase: This stage usually lasts for another 2–3 weeks during which fever usually subsides. Periungual peeling is characteristically seen during this stage (Fig. 4.3f). Irritability that is prominent during acute phase subsides completely in this phase. Arthritis in KD can also develop in subacute phase. CAAs most commonly become apparent during this time. An important laboratory manifestation that is seen in the subacute phase is development of thrombocytosis and this in conjunction with periungual desquamation is very suggestive of KD.

Chronic phase: It lasts for few weeks to months; there are no symptoms during this phase and the inflammation tends to subside. Beau's lines presents as horizontal ridging over nails and first manifest at the subsidence of the subacute phase (Fig. 4.3g). This is the only clinical sign of KD that can be seen for several weeks.

4.6 Differential Diagnosis

Measles can present with similar clinical features; however, the presence of a viral prodrome, exudative conjunctivitis and Koplik spots will help to differentiate measles from KD. In measles, lymphocytic leucocytosis is usually prominent (unless there is secondary infection) while children with KD have polymorphonuclear leucocytosis. Procalcitonin levels are normal in measles but may be elevated in KD. Other infectious causes that can mimic KD include viral infections (cytomegalovirus, adenovirus, Epstein Barr virus, and enterovirus), bacterial infections (bacterial cervical lymphadenitis, scarlet fever, toxic shock syndrome, staphylococcal scalded skin syndrome, and leptospira), and systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Absence of eye changes and lip changes, presence of sand paper rash, elevated antistreptolysin O titres, and a brisk response to antimicrobials are pointers towards

scarlet fever. Presence of exudative conjunctivitis, ulcerative lesions in oral cavity, exudative pharyngitis, generalized lymphadenopathy and significant running nose are certain clinical features that make the diagnosis of KD less likely [28].

4.7 KD in Special Situations

4.7.1 Incomplete KD

The diagnosis of KD is challenging and requires experience. Clinical features of KD are nonspecific and overlap with various common childhood disorders especially infections [33]. Patients who are not fulfilling clinical criteria completely are labelled as incomplete KD. In these situations, one has to rely largely on clinical assessment supplemented by laboratory parameters. Incomplete form of KD is more commonly seen in infants (especially in babies below 6 months). Approach for diagnosis of incomplete KD has been simplified in new AHA 2017 guidelines [28]. Incomplete KD should, by no means, be considered a milder form of KD.

4.7.2 Atypical KD

A patient can be said to have atypical KD if the clinical manifestations are unusual. These atypical manifestations may include arthritis [31], nephritis [34], pneumonia [35], myositis, central nervous system involvement, uveitis [36], and retinal vasculitis [37]. Common neurological findings include extreme irritability and aseptic meningitis. Rare neurological manifestations include transient peripheral facial nerve palsy (mostly unilateral) and profound sensorineural hearing loss. Vomiting, diarrhea, and transient hepatitis are common gastrointestinal manifestations [38]. Other relatively uncommon findings include jaundice, gall bladder hydrops, and pancreatitis. Genitourinary findings include urethritis which usually presents as sterile pyuria [39]. Atypical presentations of KD can pose difficult clinical problems for the attending physician.

4.7.3 KD in Infants

In infancy, and especially in babies below 6 months, KD is often a diagnostic challenge because it may present with incomplete manifestations. KD in this age group may often remain undiagnosed for several days, leading to increased incidence of development of CAAs. This group of patients also has higher intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg) resistance [28, 30, 40, 41]. Sterile pyuria is another clinical presentation of KD in this age group and may mistakenly get treated as a urinary tract infection. The consequent delay in diagnosis can result in serious clinical sequelae [39]. Due to these reasons, KD in infants has been given special consideration in new AHA guidelines. It has been highlighted that if an infant has fever

for more than 7 days without explanation, KD should always be in list of differential diagnosis.

According to AHA 2017 guidelines KD should be considered as a clinical possibility in the following situations:

- Babies <6 months who present with fever and extensive irritability.
- Infants having prolonged fever and unexplained aseptic meningitis.
- · Children presenting with longer duration of fever and
 - Culture-negative hypotensive shock.
 - Cervical adenopathy that is unresponsive to antibiotic therapy.
 - Parapharyngeal or retropharyngeal phlegmon that is unresponsive to antibiotic therapy.

4.7.4 KD in Older Children and Adolescents

KD is uncommon in older children and may often go unrecognized. Due to missed or delayed diagnosis, there is higher risk of CAAs in this age group. It may be difficult to assess CAAs by 2DE in this age group of patients because of limited acoustic window and thick chest wall [42, 43].

4.7.5 KD Shock Syndrome

Myocarditis in KD is said to be very common and may even be universal. It is not often recognized and can, at times, be severe and symptomatic. Myocarditis can develop during acute stage and manifest with unexplained tachycardia, hemodynamic compromise, or cardiovascular collapse [44]. Approximately 5% patients with KD can present with cardiovascular collapse. This entity is known as KD shock syndrome (KDSS). The shock in these patients is multifactorial and may have both cardiogenic and distributive components. The distributive shock may result from cytokine storm leading to uncontrolled inflammation [45]. Patients with KDSS are usually present to emergency room and intensive care units with shock and may be inappropriately treated for bacterial sepsis and presumed septic shock. Diagnosis of KD gets often delayed in these cases and can have devastating consequences. Differentiation between KDSS and septic shock in the early phase of clinical diagnosis is often challenging. However, 2DE should always be performed in patients with fever and shock as presence of CAAs will suggest KDSS. Differentiation of KDSS and septic shock is critical as management of both diseases is entirely different. Presence of conjunctival injection, dorsal edema, perineal desquamation, incomplete response to antimicrobials, and no microbiological evidence for infection are indicators towards KD in these patients. These patients are reported to have increased risk of having IVIg resistance, CAAs, and myocardial dysfunction [28, 46, 47]. It is said that KDSS should always be considered in children presenting with fever, cardiovascular collapse and myocardial dysfunction. KDSS has been discussed at length in the AHA 2017 revised guidelines because of these highlighted facts [28].

4.7.6 Infection Triggered KD

Infections have been commonly considered as triggers for KD. At the bedside, it is often difficult to differentiate the clinical features of KD from that of viral exanthemata. However, if a child is having typical clinical features of the KD, the diagnosis cannot be excluded even in the presence of a documented infection. Adenovirus, coronavirus, dengue virus, enteroviruses, measles virus, respiratory syncytial virus have been reported to trigger the KD in children [23]. Toxin-mediated diseases (e.g., staphylococcal and streptococcal infection) have also been also closely associated with the pathogenesis of KD [27]. Candida infection has been linked to the causation of KD in mice models and as well as in epidemiological studies carried out on tropospheric wind patterns in Japan and Hawaii [48].

4.8 Laboratory Investigations

The acute phase is characterized by a mild normocytic normochromic anemia, polymorphonuclear leucocytosis, raised erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), and usually a normal platelet count. Serum procalcitonin, that is usually thought to be a sensitive and specific marker for bacterial infection, may get elevated in KD as well. Thrombocytosis develops during the end of second week or in the third week; however it may even develop earlier [49]. Presence of thrombocytopenia during acute stage suggests either macrophage activation syndrome or thrombotic microangiopathy—this is associated with poor prognosis [28]. Progressive thrombocytosis has been correlated with development of CAAs. Urine may show sterile pyuria, secondary to urethritis and easily mistaken as urinary tract infection especially during infancy, thereby resulting in delay in diagnosis of KD [39]. It is said that KD is the commonest cause of sterile pyuria in children.

4.9 Biomarkers in KD

Diagnosis of KD is essentially clinical and there is no gold standard for confirmation of diagnosis. It is no surprise, therefore, that several biomarkers have been extensively evaluated for their role in diagnosis of this condition. Various cytokines (e.g., tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin 6) have been found to be raised during the acute phase of KD and decrease promptly following IVIg administration. In patients with refractory KD or CAAs levels of TNF- α continue to remain elevated [50]. Various microarray based studies have been carried out to identify the genes associated with KD. Expression of these genes may be used as a novel diagnostic and prognostic biomarker for KD [51]. N terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) is a cardiac biomarker that has recently been found to be raised in children with KD during the acute phase. Age-based nomograms for Pro-BNP are available. These are helpful in differentiation of KD from other febrile illnesses [52]. The values for Pro-BNP are comparatively higher in patients who develop CAAs as compared to patients with normal coronaries [53]. ProBNP levels also correlate with myocardial dysfunction [45].

4.10 Two-Dimensional Echocardiography (2DE)

Cardiac evaluation is an essential component in patients with KD. 2DE is an important tool for coronary artery assessment and, evaluation of cardiac structures during acute phase as well as on follow-up. However, diagnosis of KD should never be ruled out on basis of normal 2DE examination. The quality of scan obtained by 2DE is operator dependent [43].

Criteria for definition of CAAs have been given by AHA as well as by the Japanese Ministry of Health. According to the latter coronary involvement in KD is categorized on basis of absolute internal diameter of coronary artery (Table 4.4) [54]. Manlhiot et al. have proposed definition of CAAs on the basis of *Z* score which is widely accepted currently and also has been adapted by AHA 2017 guidelines (Table 4.4) [28, 55]. It is mandatory to use body surface area-adjusted '*Z*' scores for

Terminology	AHA 2017	JCS 2013
No involvement	Z score <2	-
Dilatation only	Z score 2 to <2.5; or if initially <2, a decrease in Z score during follow-up ≥ 1 thereby suggesting that coronary artery was dilated during acute stage though diameter was within normal standards and the diameter has regressed on follow-up	-
Small aneurysm	Z score ≥ 2.5 to <5	Localized dilation with internal diameter ≤ 4 mm or if child is ≥ 5 years of age, internal diameter <1.5 times that of an adjacent segment
Medium aneurysm	Z score ≥5 to <10, and absolute dimension <8 mm	Dilation with internal diameter >4 mm but <8 mm or if child is \geq 5 years of age, internal diameter 1.5–4 times that of an adjacent segment
Giant or large	\geq 10, or absolute dimension \geq 8 mm	Dilation with internal diameter ≥ 8 mm or if child is ≥ 5 years of age, internal diameter >4 times that of an adjacent segment

Table 4.4 Severity of CAAs lesions: comparison between AHA 2017 [28] and Japanese

 Circulation Society (JCS) 2013 [54] guidelines

grading the severity of CAAs. Patients with a maximal Z score >+2.5 are classified to have aneurysm, while between 2 and 2.5 is considered dilatation. CAAs can presents in the form of absence of tapering of coronary arteries, coronary artery ectasia, dilation and aneurysms. Other than CAAs these patients can have myocardial dysfunction (reduced ejection fraction, fractional shortening), valvular regurgitation, pericardial effusion and aortic root dilation [44]. It is recommended to perform frequent 2DE examinations during acute phase of KD. After discharge, 2DE should be done 2 weeks and then 4–6 weeks later. It should be noted that normal 2DE examination in first 7 days of illness does not exclude development of CAAs. More frequent 2DE assessment should be carried out in children with KD having >2 Z score coronary artery diameters [28].

4.11 Interpretation of 2DE Examination: A Word of Caution

- 1. Assessment of Z scores on 2DE is operator dependent and inter-individual variations are not uncommon. This can influence both acute and long-term management.
- During the first 5–7 days of illness, CAAs are usually not seen. A normal 2DE during this period may be mistakenly interpreted as having excluded coronary involvement.
- 3. While normative data are available only for proximal segment of coronary arteries, there is paucity of literature on data for middle and distal segments of coronary arteries. Isolated involvement of distal segments of coronary arteries is uncommon but has been described [56].
- 4. It has been suggested that an aneurysm may be better defined as a dilatation that is 1.5 times or more than an adjacent segment. This circumvents the problems associated with *Z* scores.
- 5. Detailed and better evaluation of coronary arteries requires multiple transducer positions, imaging in multiple planes and high frequency transducers. Coronary artery diameters refer to the maximal internal luminal diameter. Measurements should not be taken at branching points.
- 6. Limitations of 2DE include difficulty in visualization of distal coronaries, frequent non-visualization of left circumflex coronary artery, difficulty in commenting on stenosis or thrombosis and limited field of vision in older children because of thick chest walls. Another problem is due to artifacts especially while scanning the right coronary artery or left circumflex coronary artery.
- 7. Several nomograms on Z scores are available and there may be variations in the measurements. Body surface area calculations have to be carried out meticulously and there is no consensus on the ideal method. It cannot be overemphasized that a trivial difference in measurement of weight and height (especially in infants and young children) can significantly impact the calculations of Z scores.
- 8. There are no normative data for "Z" scores for left circumflex coronary artery.

4.12 Coronary CT Angiography (CTCA)

Although 2DE has hitherto been considered the imaging modality of choice for coronary artery evaluation, CTCA is now increasingly being performed for better delineations of coronary arteries. CTCA is a useful modality for better characterization and delineation of coronary arteries dilatations, ectasia and aneurysms especially in the mid- and distal segments. It also provides precise details of aneurysm size, morphology, and thrombus. In the last decade, due to advancements in CT technology and the development of dual-source CT scanners (DSCT), it is now possible to obtain high resolution motion-free images at acceptable radiation dose. In the convalescent phase, CTCA can be used for delineation of complications such as intra-aneurysmal thrombus, segmental stenosis, and mural calcifications [57].

4.13 Management

4.13.1 Acute Management

Main aim of therapy in KD is halting of acute phase inflammation and arterial damage. Management includes use of IVIg, aspirin with or without anticoagulant therapy.

4.13.2 Intravenous Immunoglobulin (IVIg)

IVIg is the standard of care for the patients with KD. It should ideally be administered in first 10 days of illness. In the acute stage, IVIg (2 g/kg) is given over 10–12 h as a single infusion along with oral aspirin [3, 28]. If diagnosis is made after 10 days, IVIg should still be given if fever is persistent, inflammatory parameters are raised or if CAAs are present. Administration of IVIg during acute stage has reduced the rate of coronary artery complications to less than 5%. Approximately 1–3% patients with KD can have recurrences [58].

4.13.3 Aspirin and Anticoagulation Therapy

Aspirin has anti-inflammatory and antiplatelet activity depending on the dose being used. It remains an essential component of management in KD. However, effect of aspirin on development of CAAs is inconclusive. During the acute phase of illness, aspirin should be administered at high (50–100 mg/kg/day) or moderate (30–50 mg/kg/day) doses 6–8 hourly [59, 60]. Anti-inflammatory dose of aspirin is usually continued until 48–72 h after the patient becomes afebrile. After discontinuation of anti-inflammatory dose of aspirin, low-dose aspirin (3–5 mg/kg/day) is started and continued for 6–8 weeks. At this time if there are no CAAs on 2DE, aspirin can be discontinued. For children who develop CAAs, aspirin may need to be given indefinitely [28].

Complications related to CAAs during the acute phase of KD include thrombotic occlusion of a coronary artery aneurysm and rarely coronary artery rupture leading to sudden cardiac death. Coronary artery thrombosis in patients with KD is contributed by acute inflammation, high platelet counts, endothelial dysfunction and stasis of blood flow due to abnormal dilatation. In patients with CAAs assessment with 2DE is mandatory to monitor size of aneurysm and presence of thrombus. Patients with large coronary artery aneurysms are at high risk of myocardial infarction especially in the first year after illness. They continue to be at increased life-time risk of developing coronary artery events [28]. Risk stratification of coronary artery aneurysm should take into account both current and maximal Z score. Along with a Z score classification the shape, location, number of aneurysms and coronary artery wall abnormalities should also be considered for prognostication and risk stratification [61].

In patients with small aneurysms, low-dose aspirin is adequate for thromboprophylaxis. However, treating physicians can consider addition of another antiplatelet agent (e.g., clopidogrel) in patients with moderate size aneurysms. Patients having large or giant aneurysms are at very high risk for coronary artery complications including thrombosis and rupture. These patients should be treated with a combination of antiplatelet and therapeutic anticoagulation therapy. This includes low-dose aspirin along with either low-molecular-weight heparin (LMWH) or oral warfarin. LMWH should be given as 1 mg/kg/dose subcutaneously every 12 h. LMWH may be preferred to warfarin in acute phase because of added effects of anti-inflammatory and remodeling action. Transition from LMWH to oral warfarin may be considered in situations where the aneurysm has stopped progressing [28].

4.14 Resistant KD

Majority of patients will respond to first dose of IVIg with rapid defervescence of fever and improvement in general well-being. However, approximately 10–20% of patients with KD may go on to develop recrudescent or persistent fever. Children who have axillary temperature \geq 38.0 °C at 36 h after completion of therapy are said to have resistant or refractory KD [28]. There are multiple factors that have been associated with development of IVIg resistance. These include severity of disease and host genetic factors (e.g., polymorphisms in the Fc γ receptors). Patients having refractory KD are at increased risk of developing CAAs. Various scoring systems have been developed in Japan to predict IVIg resistance, but the validity of these scores in other countries remains a contentious issue.

4.14.1 Treatment Options for Resistant KD

There are no clear guidelines on management of patients with refractory KD [62]. The AHA guidelines recommended use of a repeat dose of IVIg (2 g/kg) in these

patients. Alternatively, the guidelines emphasize the role of intravenous pulse methylprednisolone (30 mg/kg/day, three doses) with tapering oral prednisolone. Administration of tapering course of prednisolone for 2–3 weeks with second dose of IVIg (2 g/kg) may also be considered in the retreatment of refractory KD patients. Infliximab (TNF- α blocker), given as a single dose (5–10 mg/kg) intravenously, is also an important choice in treatment of refractory KD and appears to decrease the chances of developing CAAs [28]. Use of infliximab is associated with prompt reduction of fever. At our centre we prefer to use infliximab as second line therapy [63]. Cyclosporine may also be considered as an option in these circumstances. In highly refractory cases, plasma exchange, cytotoxic agents, or other biologicals have been used [28]. There are a few recent reports of successful use of the IL-1 receptor antagonist, anakinra, for the treatment of highly refractory KD [64].

4.15 Long-Term Management

Long-term follow-up and management of patients with KD is based on risk stratification. Children with large CAAs may need lifelong follow-up. Long-term management includes counselling about a healthy lifestyle with balanced diet and exercise to avoid obesity and hypertension. Because these patients have already developed a cardiac risk factor (even if there are no obvious CAAs during acute stage), a second risk factor like obesity, hyperlipidemia, or hypertension must be avoided [28]. Uses of statins have also been advocated in these situations. Patients having large and giant aneurysms should undergo frequent 2DE examinations for monitoring of size and associated complications. These patients may also require CTCA at periodic (every 3–5 years) intervals [56].

4.16 Consequences of KD in Adulthood

Children with missed and untreated KD can have significant clinical consequences later in life. Even though coronary arteries with remodeled aneurysms may become anatomically normal, they continue to remain functionally abnormal. An increasing number of young adults are presenting to cardiologists with myocardial ischemia and infarction—it is not often realized that these could well be late manifestations of KD that has been missed in childhood. These consequences of KD in adulthood are grossly under recognized [65]. There is very little awareness amongst adult cardiologists regarding cardiovascular sequelae of KD and their management. Clearly there is a need for an improved evidence base to guide the care and management of adults with coronary artery damage following KD in childhood. Whenever a young adult is presenting with myocardial ischemia and there is marked ectasia or proximal coronary artery involvement, possibility of untreated KD in past should be entertained [66].

4.17 AHA 2017 Guidelines: The Debate Continues

The AHA has published an update on criteria for diagnosis of KD in 2017. While the presence of fever remains an essential criterion and there is no change in the five principal clinical manifestations of the disease, the scientific committee has suggested several amendments. The new guidelines emphasize that some clinical features of KD may subside by the time the patient reaches a clinician. In such situations the clinical findings that have disappeared can also be taken into account for fulfilment of criteria. Similarly, the issue of diagnosis in young infants has been addressed at length. The guidelines mention that any infant with unexplained fever lasting for a week or more should be evaluated for underlying KD. This cannot be overemphasized.

In the 2017 guidelines, the terms *incomplete KD and atypical KD* have been used interchangeably. However, these are distinct clinical entities and this fact needs to be kept in mind while evaluating a patient. Desquamating groin rash has been included as one of the other clinical findings. It is known that erythema or desquamation of perineal/perianal region occurs earlier than classic periungual peeling and thus may facilitate early consideration of the diagnosis.

The AHA 2017 guidelines emphasize on the use of Z score for assessment of coronary artery size. However, the difficulties involved in calculation of an accurate 'Z' score that is reproducible across centres have not been detailed at length.

4.18 Difference Between Japanese Ministry of Health and AHA Guidelines [28, 29, 54]

- 1. In the Japanese criteria fever is not taken as an essential prerequisite for diagnosis. In other words, a diagnosis of KD can be offered even in absence of fever while using the Japanese criteria.
- 2. Definition of coronary artery lesion in Japanese Ministry of Health guidelines is based on absolute dimensions, while AHA 2017 guidelines have classified the CAAs on basis of "Z" scores (Table 4.4).
- 3. Refractory KD has been defined as persistence of fever more than 36 h despite treatment as per AHA guidelines. However, the cut-off for duration of fever is 24 h in Japanese guidelines.

References

- 1. Newburger JW, Takahashi M, Burns JC. Kawasaki disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;67:1738–49.
- 2. Singh S, Jindal AK, Pilania RK. Diagnosis of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:36–44.
- 3. Newburger JW, Takahashi M, Gerber MA, et al. Diagnosis, treatment, and long-term management of Kawasaki disease: a statement for health professionals from the Committee on Rheumatic Fever, Endocarditis and Kawasaki Disease, Council on Cardiovascular Disease in the Young, American Heart Association. Circulation. 2004;110:2747–71.

- 4. Kawasaki T. Acute febrile mucocutaneous syndrome with lymphoid involvement with specific desquamation of the fingers and toes in children. Arerugi. 1967;16:178–222.
- 5. Uehara R, Belay ED. Epidemiology of Kawasaki disease in Asia, Europe, and the United States. J Epidemiol. 2012;22:79–85.
- 6. Nakamura Y. Kawasaki disease: epidemiology and the lessons from it. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:16–9.
- Singh S, Vignesh P, Burgner D. The epidemiology of Kawasaki disease: a global update. Arch Dis Child. 2015;100:1084–8.
- Makino N, Nakamura Y, Yashiro M, Sano T, Ae R, Kosami K, Kojo T, Aoyama Y, Kotani K, Yanagawa H. Epidemiological observations of Kawasaki disease in Japan, 2013–2014. Pediatr Int. 2018;60:581–7.
- 9. Nakamura Y, Yashiro M, Yamashita M, et al. Cumulative incidence of Kawasaki disease in Japan. Pediatr Int. 2018;60:19–22.
- Kim GB, Park S, Eun LY, Han JW, Lee SY, Yoon KL, Yu JJ, Choi J-W, Lee K-Y. Epidemiology and clinical features of Kawasaki disease in South Korea, 2012–2014. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2017;36:482–5.
- Lin M-T, Wu M-H. The global epidemiology of Kawasaki disease: review and future perspectives. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract. 2017;2017:e201720.
- Chen J-J, Ma X-J, Liu F, Yan W-L, Huang M-R, Huang M, Huang G-Y, Shanghai Kawasaki Disease Research Group. Epidemiologic features of Kawasaki disease in Shanghai from 2008 through 2012. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2016;35:7–12.
- 13. Zhang X, Zhang Z, Liu S, Sun J. Epidemiologic survey of Kawasaki disease in Jilin from 1999 through 2008. Pediatr Cardiol. 2012;33:272–9.
- 14. Tang Y, Gao X, Shen J, Sun L, Yan W. Epidemiological and clinical characteristics of Kawasaki disease and factors associated with coronary artery abnormalities in East China: nine years experience. J Trop Pediatr. 2016;62:86–93.
- Du Z-D, Zhao D, Du J, Zhang Y-L, Lin Y, Liu C, Zhang T, Beijing Kawasaki Research Group. Epidemiologic study on Kawasaki disease in Beijing from 2000 through 2004. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2007;26:449–51.
- Singh S, Aulakh R, Bhalla AK, Suri D, Manojkumar R, Narula N, Burns JC. Is Kawasaki disease incidence rising in Chandigarh, North India? Arch Dis Child. 2011;96:137–40.
- Makino N, Nakamura Y, Yashiro M, Ae R, Tsuboi S, Aoyama Y, Kojo T, Uehara R, Kotani K, Yanagawa H. Descriptive epidemiology of Kawasaki disease in Japan, 2011–2012: from the results of the 22nd nationwide survey. J Epidemiol. 2015;25:239–45.
- Onouchi Y. Genetics of Kawasaki disease: what we know and don't know. Circ J. 2012;76:1581–6.
- 19. Onouchi Y. The genetics of Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:26-30.
- Dietz SM, van Stijn D, Burgner D, Levin M, Kuipers IM, Hutten BA, Kuijpers TW. Dissecting Kawasaki disease: a state-of-the-art review. Eur J Pediatr. 2017;176:995–1009.
- Onouchi Y, Fukazawa R, Yamamura K, et al. Variations in ORAI1 gene associated with Kawasaki disease. PLoS One. 2016;11:e0145486.
- 22. Shimizu C, Jain S, Davila S, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling pathway in patients with Kawasaki disease. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2011;4:16–25.
- 23. Rowley AH. Is Kawasaki disease an infectious disorder? Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:20–5.
- Orenstein JM, Shulman ST, Fox LM, et al. Three linked vasculopathic processes characterize Kawasaki disease: a light and transmission electron microscopic study. PLoS One. 2012;7:e38998.
- Takahashi K, Oharaseki T, Yokouchi Y. Histopathological aspects of cardiovascular lesions in Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:31–5.
- Kao AS, Getis A, Brodine S, Burns JC. Spatial and temporal clustering of Kawasaki syndrome cases. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2008;27:981–5.
- Matsubara K, Fukaya T. The role of superantigens of group A Streptococcus and Staphylococcus aureus in Kawasaki disease. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2007;20:298–303.

- McCrindle BW, Rowley AH, Newburger JW, et al. Diagnosis, treatment, and long-term management of Kawasaki disease: a scientific statement for health professionals from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2017;135:e927–99.
- Ayusawa M, Sonobe T, Uemura S, Ogawa S, Nakamura Y, Kiyosawa N, Ishii M, Harada K, Kawasaki Disease Research Committee. Revision of diagnostic guidelines for Kawasaki disease (the 5th revised edition). Pediatr Int. 2005;47:232–4.
- 30. Singh S, Agarwal S, Bhattad S, Gupta A, Suri D, Rawat A, Singhal M, Rohit M. Kawasaki disease in infants below 6 months: a clinical conundrum? Int J Rheum Dis. 2016;19:924–8.
- Gong GWK, McCrindle BW, Ching JC, Yeung RSM. Arthritis presenting during the acute phase of Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr. 2006;148:800–5.
- 32. Kumar A, Singh S. BCG site reactivation in Kawasaki disease. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68:2026.
- Pilania RK, Bhattarai D, Singh S. Controversies in diagnosis and management of Kawasaki disease. World J Clin Pediatr. 2018;7:27–35.
- Chuang G-T, Tsai I-J, Lin M-T, Chang L-Y. Acute kidney injury in patients with Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Res. 2016;80:224. https://doi.org/10.1038/pr.2016.81.
- Singh S, Gupta A, Jindal AK, Gupta A, Suri D, Rawat A, Vaidya PC, Singh M. Pulmonary presentation of Kawasaki disease-a diagnostic challenge. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2017;53:103. https:// doi.org/10.1002/ppul.23885.
- 36. Madhusudan S, Singh S, Suri D, Gupta A, Gupta A. Acute anterior uveitis as the presenting feature of Kawasaki disease. Indian J Pediatr. 2014;81:415.
- Burgner D, Curtis N. Kawasaki disease as a cause of encephalitis. Arch Dis Child. 2011;96:988–9.
- Eladawy M, Dominguez SR, Anderson MS, Glodé MP. Kawasaki disease and the pediatric gastroenterologist: a diagnostic challenge. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2013;56:297–9.
- 39. Watanabe T. Pyuria in patients with Kawasaki disease. World J Clin Pediatr. 2015;4:25-9.
- 40. Salgado AP, Ashouri N, Berry EK, Sun X, Jain S, Burns JC, Tremoulet AH. High risk of coronary artery aneurysms in infants younger than 6 months of age with Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr. 2017;185:112–116.e1.
- 41. Singh S, Bhattad S, Gupta A, Suri D, Rawat A, Rohit M. Mortality in children with Kawasaki disease: 20 years of experience from a tertiary care centre in North India. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34:S129–33.
- Stockheim JA, Innocentini N, Shulman ST. Kawasaki disease in older children and adolescents. J Pediatr. 2000;137:250–2.
- Altman CA. Clinical assessment of coronary arteries in Kawasaki disease: focus on echocardiographic assessment. Congenit Heart Dis. 2017;12:636–40.
- Dahdah N. Not just coronary arteritis, Kawasaki disease is a myocarditis, too. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55:1507; author reply 1507–1508.
- 45. Dionne A, Dahdah N. Myocarditis and Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:45-9.
- 46. Lin Y-J, Cheng M-C, Lo M-H, Chien S-J. Early differentiation of Kawasaki disease shock syndrome and toxic shock syndrome in a pediatric intensive care unit. Pediatr Infect Dis J. 2015;34:1163–7.
- Dominguez SR, Friedman K, Seewald R, Anderson MS, Willis L, Glodé MP. Kawasaki disease in a pediatric intensive care unit: a case-control study. Pediatrics. 2008;122:e786–90.
- 48. Rodo X, Curcoll R, Robinson M, et al. Tropospheric winds from northeastern China carry the etiologic agent of Kawasaki disease from its source to Japan. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2014;111:7952–7.
- Kushner HI, Macnee RP, Burns JC. Kawasaki disease in India: increasing awareness or increased incidence? Perspect Biol Med. 2009;52:17–29.
- 50. Rawat A, Singh S. Biomarkers for diagnosis of Kawasaki disease. Indian Pediatr. 2015;52:473–4.
- Jiang J, Cai Y, Li Z, et al. Screening of differentially expressed genes associated with Kawasaki disease by microarray analysis. Exp Ther Med. 2017;14:3159–64.
- 52. Reddy M, Singh S, Rawat A, Sharma A, Suri D, Rohit MK. Pro-brain natriuretic peptide (ProBNP) levels in North Indian children with Kawasaki disease. Rheumatol Int. 2016;36:551–9.
- 53. Lin K-H, Chang S-S, Yu C-W, Lin S-C, Liu S-C, Chao H-Y, Lee M-TG, Wu J-Y, Lee C-C. Usefulness of natriuretic peptide for the diagnosis of Kawasaki disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e006703.
- JCS Joint Working Group. Guidelines for diagnosis and management of cardiovascular sequelae in Kawasaki disease (JCS 2013). Digest version. Circ J. 2014;78:2521–62.
- Manlhiot C, Millar K, Golding F, McCrindle BW. Improved classification of coronary artery abnormalities based only on coronary artery z-scores after Kawasaki disease. Pediatr Cardiol. 2010;31:242–9.
- 56. Singhal M, Singh S, Gupta P, Sharma A, Khandelwal N, Burns JC. Computed tomography coronary angiography for evaluation of children with Kawasaki disease. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2018;47:238–44.
- 57. Singhal M, Singh S, Gupta P, Khandelwal N, Burns JC. Computed tomography coronary angiography for evaluation of children with Kawasaki disease. Curr Probl Diagn Radiol. 2018;47(4):238–44.
- Maddox RA, Holman RC, Uehara R, Callinan LS, Guest JL, Schonberger LB, Nakamura Y, Yashiro M, Belay ED. Recurrent Kawasaki disease: USA and Japan. Pediatr Int. 2015;57:1116–20.
- Dallaire F, Fortier-Morissette Z, Blais S, et al. Aspirin dose and prevention of coronary abnormalities in Kawasaki disease. Pediatrics. 2017;139:e20170098. https://doi.org/10.1542/ peds.2017-0098.
- Ho LGY, Curtis N. What dose of aspirin should be used in the initial treatment of Kawasaki disease? Arch Dis Child. 2017;102:1180.1. https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2017-313538.
- McCrindle BW, Cifra B. The role of echocardiography in Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2018;21:50–5.
- 62. Tremoulet AH. Adjunctive therapies in Kawasaki disease. Int J Rheum Dis. 2017;21:76. https://doi.org/10.1111/1756-185X.13208.
- 63. Singh S, Sharma D, Suri D, Gupta A, Rawat A, Rohit MK. Infliximab is the new kid on the block in Kawasaki disease: a single-centre study over 8 years from North India. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34:S134–8.
- 64. Kone-Paut I, Cimaz R, Herberg J, Bates O, Carbasse A, Saulnier JP, Maggio MC, Anton J, Piram M. The use of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) in Kawasaki disease: a retrospective cases series. Autoimmun Rev. 2018;17:768. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autrev.2018.01.024.
- 65. Vijayvergiya R, Bhattad S, Varma S, Singhal M, Gordon J, Singh S. Presentation of missed childhood Kawasaki disease in adults: experience from a tertiary care center in North India. Int J Rheum Dis. 2017;20:1023–7.
- Gordon JB, Burns JC. Management of sequelae of Kawasaki disease in adults. Glob Cardiol Sci Pract. 2017;2017:e201731.



5

Systemic-Onset Juvenile Idiopathic Arthritis

María Martha Katsicas and Ricardo A. G. Russo

5.1 Introduction

Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SJIA) is a rare disease of unknown etiology characterized by arthritis and systemic symptoms such as highly spiking daily fever, evanescent skin rash, organomegaly, and serositis. Evidence shows that SJIA is probably not a single disease but a diverse group of clinically and genetically distinct illnesses [1]. It is classified both as one of the Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) categories and also among the autoinflammatory diseases. Abnormalities in the innate immunity components, dramatic response to IL-1 inhibitors, occurrence at very young age and absence of pathogenic autoantibodies has led many researchers to consider SJIA as a complex, polygenic autoinflammatory disorder [2–5].

SJIA is probably the most severe forms of JIA, causing considerable morbidity and mortality due to several complications that may occur along the disease course. The macrophage activation syndrome (MAS), a form of secondary hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH), often appears in SJIA individuals and it still carries significant mortality despite increased awareness and novel therapies.

5.2 Classification

Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SJIA) is one of the juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) categories according to the International League of Associations for Rheumatology (ILAR) classification criteria [6]. Classification of SJIA requires the presence of arthritis and a documented quotidian fever of at least 2 weeks duration, plus one of the following: typical rash, generalized lymphadenopathy, enlargement

65

M. M. Katsicas (🖂) · R. A. G. Russo

Service of Immunology & Rheumatology, Hospital de Pediatría Prof. Dr. Juan P. Garrahan, Buenos Aires, Argentina e-mail: rrusso@garrahan.gov.ar

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_5

of liver or spleen, or serositis. Children with SJIA may have a delayed diagnosis, particularly in the "pre-arthritic" phase, when the systemic disease is already prominent. At this stage, ILAR criteria are not sensitive enough and do not allow the inclusion of such patients. Individuals with the same signs and symptoms (probably the same disease) who present their disease onset after the 16th birthday are diagnosed with adult-onset Still's disease (AOSD) and could be classified using different criteria set, such as the Yamaguchi's criteria [7], which is probably the most widely used set of criteria for AOSD. Five or more criteria are required, of which two or more must be major. Major criteria are the following: (1) fever >39 °C, lasting 1 week or longer, (2) arthralgia or arthritis, lasting 2 weeks or longer, (3) typical rash, and (4) leukocytosis >10,000/mm³ with >80% polymorphonuclear cells. Minor criteria are the following: (1) sore throat, (2) recent development of significant lymphadenopathy, (3) hepatomegaly or splenomegaly, (4) abnormal liver function tests, (5) negative tests for antinuclear antibody (immunofluorescence), and (6) negative rheumatoid factor (IgM). Exclusion criteria are the following: infections, malignancies (mainly malignant lymphoma), and other rheumatic diseases (mainly systemic vasculitides). Small cohorts of patients with SJIA have revealed that Yamaguchi criteria seem to be more efficacious in the absence of arthritis. However, these criteria have not been formally validated in children [7, 8].

The SJIA spectrum includes those patients with benign, monocyclic course and those with protracted, severe forms, which lead to joint destruction. In the future, more precise classification based on genetic variants and gene expression may not only identify homogeneous groups but also direct towards personalized treatment [9, 10].

5.3 Epidemiology

According to different studies in different parts of the world, the prevalence of SJIA is approximately 3.5/100,000 children, while incidence ranges between 0.4 and 0.9 per 100,000 per year [11, 12]. A large number of studies have demonstrated equal distribution between girls and boys [13, 14]. Age at onset is virtually any age before the 16th birthday; however, the peak incidence has been registered at 6 years [15]. SJIA represents nearly 5–25% of patients with JIA in cohort studies, but this proportion differs in different parts of the world [12–16]. Despite being one of its most rare subtypes, SJIA accounts for nearly two-thirds of the total mortality rate in JIA [12–16]. Recently, Davies et al. showed that mortality rate for SJIA patients is 3.9/1000 person-years compared with 0.6/1000 person-years in non-systemic JIA patients, being the standardized mortality rate was highest in SJIA (8.3 with 95% CI 2.7–19.4) [17].

5.4 Pathogenesis

The pathogenic mechanisms of SJIA are poorly understood. Growing evidence aims at a major dysbalance in innate immunity pathways: disturbed pro-inflammatory cytokine expression patterns and inappropriate down-regulation of immune activation are major determinants of the immunological abnormalities in SJIA [3]. There is ample evidence supporting the autoinflammatory nature of SJIA, at least in its early phases. Expansion and dysfunction of circulating innate immune effector cells—neutrophils, monocytes, and natural killer (NK) cells—and increased expression of pro-inflammatory molecules and receptors, as well as lower expression of regulatory mediators, have been reported and proposed as key pathogenic mechanisms of the disease [18, 19]. Some authors hypothesize that SJIA could evolve in a biphasic fashion, from a predominantly autoinflammatory disease in its early stages into one in which interleukin (IL)-17 mediated autoimmunity may have a role in joint-related outcomes [20–22].

Several studies support the predominant pathogenic role of IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-18 in SJIA. Dysbalance of IL-10, IL-17, interferon (IFN)- γ , and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α may also be involved [23–25]. Shimizu et al. supported the heterogeneity of the disease by describing different plasma cytokine profiles in patients with SJIA: an IL-6-dominant group (with predominant arthritic symptoms and good response to IL-6 inhibitors) and an IL-1 β /IL-18-dominant group (with mainly systemic symptoms, predisposition to develop MAS, and good response to IL-1 blockers) [26, 27].

There is substantial evidence that IL-1 β plays a major role in SJIA. Pascual et al. showed not only high levels of IL-1 β in supernatants of stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) of SJIA patients but also demonstrated that serum of SJIA patients induced transcription and secretion of IL-1β by healthy PBMCs [23]. However, other researchers could not observe the same phenomena [28, 29]. Gene expression profiling in PBMCs demonstrates up-regulation of components of the IL-1, IL-18 and toll-like receptor (TLR) signaling pathways and of components of the NLRP3 inflammasome [23, 30, 31]. Moreover, the clinically demonstrated dramatic response to IL-1 blocking agents also supports the pathogenic role of IL-1 in SJIA [23, 32]. IL-18 may also have a disease-promoting role in SJIA. Excessive IL-18 plasma levels reflect disease activity and they may persist even during inactive disease phases [24, 25, 28, 33, 34]. Elevated IL-6 levels have been demonstrated in synovial fluid as well as in plasma of SJIA patients in several studies. Their levels correlated with disease activity, systemic symptoms, and inflammationrelated laboratory abnormalities (anemia and thrombocytosis) [35-38]. Also, IL-6 inhibition through the use of anti-IL-6 receptor-monoclonal antibodies has proven highly efficacious in controlling systemic and arthritic symptoms in SJIA, thus supporting the pathogenic role of IL-6 [38]. Additionally, in vitro evidence demonstrates a reduced inhibition of IL-6 by IL-10 in patients with SJIA compared to healthy controls [39, 40]. Animal models of SJIA also endorse the pathogenic role of IL-1 β , IL-6, and IL-18 [41–44]. On the other hand, IFN- γ levels are not particularly elevated during active phases of SJIA, but this cytokine seems to be central in the development of MAS [45].

NK cell number and function are abnormal at least in a proportion of patients with SJIA. Some investigators have found decreased numbers of NK cell in wholeblood samples of SJIA patients as compared to patients with other categories of JIA or healthy controls [46–49]. Grom et al. demonstrated reduced perform expression and suppressed cytolytic activity of NK cells in a number of SJIA patients [48]; the same group also showed that a proportion of patients with SJIA who have not yet had an episode of MAS exhibit decreased NK cytolytic function and absence of circulating CD56^{bright} population [49]. Wulffraat et al. found that these abnormalities were reversible upon autologous stem cell transplantation [50]. Put et al. [51] could not replicate these findings but demonstrated decreased interleukin IL-18-induced IFN- γ production and granzyme K expression in CD56^{bright} NK cells. These authors also found increased expression of inflammatory pathways, increased expression of TLR4 and S100A9, and decreased expression of immune regulatory genes such as granzyme K and IL-10 receptor [52]. It has been proposed that the characteristic inflammatory *milieu* of SJIA (rich in IL-6 and IL-18) alters NK cell function and numbers, leading to decreased production of IFN- γ , perforin, and granzyme K, and to the simultaneous increased production of proinflammatory cytokines [52, 53]. de Jager et al. found that the decreased NK cell responses to IL-18 are associated with decreased phosphorylation of the IL-18 receptor [54].

Monocytes seem to be a key effector cell in the pathogenesis of SJIA. Expansion and activation of monocytes in active SJIA, likely related to increased monocyte resistance to apoptosis, have been clearly demonstrated by Macaubas et al. [55]. Monocytes from SJIA patients appear to have a mixed polarization phenotype, with features of both classically (M1) and alternatively (M2) activated populations [56]. Activated macrophages with an M1 phenotype are potential sources of proinflammatory cytokines and those with an M2 phenotype would be responsible for a compensatory, regulatory mechanism during inactive state. The same authors showed impaired IFN/STAT1 signaling in monocytes from SJIA patients, which suggested a skewing toward a regulatory M2 phenotype [57]. Schulert et al. demonstrated that the microRNA, miR-125a-5p (whose expression on monocytes is elevated in patients with active disease) drives monocytes polarization to a regulatory phenotype [58]. Additionally, under-expression of the IL-1 inhibitor, aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AHR) may skew monocytes toward macrophage differentiation [59].

The predominant role of the innate immune system in the pathogenesis of SJIA is also demonstrated by the uniquely high serum concentrations of products of activated granulocytes and monocytes, the proteins S100A8 (or myeloid-related protein [MRP]8), S100A9 (or MRP14) and the neutrophil-derived S100A12, which may act as endogenous TLR ligands [60–62].

Genetic studies in SJIA are scarce due to the low frequency of the disease and usually performed on underpowered samples (Table 5.1). Polymorphisms in genes of different innate immunity proteins involved in the amplification or control of the inflammatory response have been associated with the disease. A large genome-wide association study of SJIA has shown an association with the HLA class II locus, consistent with T-cell-mediated autoimmunity. This study involved 988 SJIA patients from different countries and it identified several SJIA-associated risk loci: the MHC locus on chromosome 6 (HLA-DRB1*11 was strongly associated with SJIA) and another susceptibility locus on the short arm of chromosome 1 (1p36.32) [63]. Another study on a smaller sample supported the HLA-DRB1*11 association [64]. On the other hand, polymorphisms in non-HLA genes such as TNF, IL-1, IL-6,

Gene/region	Polymorphism/sequence variation/position	MAS	Ref
IL-1	rs6712572, rs2071374, rs1688075	No	65
IL-1R	rs12712122	No	65
IL-6	rs1800795	No	67
MIF	rs755622	No	69
IL-10	rs1800896	No	71
IL-20	rs1400986	No	71
MUNC 13-4	12 SNPs, 2 mutations	Yes	80
	rs35037984	Yes	81
PRF1	–499 C > T, Ala91Val	Yes	79
IRF5	rs2004640	Yes	73
STXBP2	rs151257815, fs7705108	Yes	81
LYST	rs147794568, rs115330112	Yes	81
SLC26A2	rs1541915, rs245056, rs245055, rs245051, rs245076, rs8073	No	77
HLA-DRB1*11	rs115124338	No	63
	position 32660042		64
HLA-DRA#	rs41291794	No	63
LOC284661, AJAP1#	rs72632736	No	63

Table 5.1 Genetic association studies in SJIA

#Closest genes in Genome-wide association studies

macrophage inhibitory factor (MIF), interferon regulatory factor (IRF) 1 and IL-10 have been reported to be associated with the disease [65–72]. Similarly, polymorphisms in IRF5 have been associated with susceptibility to MAS [73]. Additional genetic abnormalities affecting other components of the innate immune system, such as P2X7 (encoding an ATP receptor involved in IL-1 regulation), have also been reported [29].

Polymorphisms in genes responsible for well-known monogenic autoinflammatory disorders, such as the *MEFV* gene, and duplications in the *NLRP* gene cluster have been reported in patients with SJIA [74–76]. Additionally, an association between susceptibility to SJIA with polymorphisms within *SLC26A2*, a gene related to diastrophic dysplasia, has been reported [77]. The implications of such associations on the phenotypic expression of SJIA are still unknown. Several polymorphisms of unknown significance and protein-altering variants in genes coding for proteins involved in the cytolytic pathway have been described in patients with SJIA. Variants in *PRF1*, *LYST*, *MUNC13-4*, and *STXBP2* genes may be related to susceptibility to develop MAS and demonstrate the genetic overlap (albeit partial) between SJIA and HLH [19, 78–81].

A monogenic, autosomal-recessive form of SJIA has been described in six consanguineous families from southern Saudi Arabia and Lebanon. A missense mutation in the gene *FAMIN* (Fatty Acid Metabolism-Immunity Nexus, formerly also referred to as *LACC1*) was found by whole-exome sequencing and confirmed by Sanger sequencing in patients with an SJIA-like disease that satisfied ILAR classification criteria [82, 83].

5.5 Diagnosis: Differential Diagnosis

There is no gold standard for the diagnosis SJIA, and therefore, it is made on the basis of a combination of clinical features and the exclusion of confounding conditions [13]. There are no specific biomarkers that allow the differentiation of the disease from other conditions or JIA categories [84].

The spectrum of clinical manifestations is wide and may overlap with those that are common in other causes of the febrile syndrome in childhood. These include infections such as bacterial endocarditis, cat scratch disease, Lyme disease, Brucellosis, viral infections, Mycoplasma infections; inflammatory diseases including acute rheumatic fever, Kawasaki disease (KD), sarcoidosis, Systemic Lupus Erythematosus, systemic vasculitis; and autoinflammatory diseases (Familial Mediterranean Fever, Mevalonate Kinase Deficiency, TNF Receptor-Associated Periodic Syndrome, and Cryopyrin-Associated Autoinflammatory Syndromes, which include the Muckle-Wells syndrome, Familial Cold Autoinflammatory Syndrome, and Chronic Infantile Neurological, Cutaneous, and Articular Syndrome) [85].

Children with SJIA may fulfill criteria for KD at presentation. It has been estimated that 0.2% of patients with a diagnosis of KD will later be diagnosed as SJIA. Features suggestive of SJIA are Caucasian ethnicity, MAS, an incomplete KD phenotype, and persistence of arthritis [86].

5.6 Clinical Manifestations

The typical clinical features of SJIA are a combination of arthritis and systemic symptoms, such as fever, rash, lymphadenopathy, serositis, and hepato-splenomegaly. Patients with SJIA starting before age 18 months show more systemic inflammatory features than children with later disease onset [15].

Fever is present in virtually all patients [13]. In many cases, it may precede the onset of arthritis by weeks or months. The fever pattern is typically quotidian and it occurs once or twice daily, more often during the evening, commonly reaching 39 °C [6]. Temperature exceeding 40.5 °C is extremely rare. Fever is coincident with the rash in 80% of patients. While the child is febrile, other symptoms such as arthritis, rash or serositis may worsen and significantly disturb activities of daily life [87]. The classic fever pattern is not present in all patients; morning (12%), bi-daily (15%), intermittent (27%), and unremitting (5%) fever patterns are also observed [13].

Arthritis is present at onset in 88% of patients, and it may appear months or years after disease onset [12, 88]. The most frequently involved joints at presentation are wrists, knees, ankles, cervical spine, and hips. The joint pattern is usually symmetrical, polyarticular (45%) or oligoarticular (40%), while the involvement of a single joint is rare [12, 13]. Synovial cysts are frequent, especially in upper limbs [89]. They may resolve spontaneously, but occasionally cyst rupture may cause diffuse swelling and mimic thrombophlebitis [90]. At least 40% of patients will show a chronically active arthritic course, and bilateral, destructive changes in hips and wrists may occur [90].



Fig. 5.1 Erythematous, salmon-pink colored, rash in a patient with active Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis

Nearly 80% of patients exhibit skin rash at onset and during disease activity phases [13, 91]. It is morbilliform, evanescent (vanishes within a few minutes to a few hours), and it correlates with the acute febrile episodes. Macular papules are usually salmon pink-colored or erythematous, surrounded by a pallor zone; purpuric lesions are not seen and pruritus may accompany in 5% of cases [12, 91]. The diameter of the individual lesions usually ranges between 2 and 5 mm, although larger, coalescent lesions may occur [12]. Sites where rash is most common are trunk and proximal extremities. Koebner phenomenon (emergence of linear distribution of lesions next to the site of injury) can occur [87, 92] (Fig. 5.1).

Pathology usually demonstrates subdermal, perivascular rich infiltrates of neutrophils and monocytes, accompanied by a marked expression of endothelial adhesion molecules. Keratinocytes are activated and express MRP8 and MRP14 [91].

Generalized lymphadenopathy is observed in 25–30% of patients [11, 13, 93]. It usually consists of mobile, rubbery nodes on the cervical, axillary, inguinal, epitrochlear, mesenteric, and mediastinal groups. They may mimic malignances like lymphomas, often leading to biopsies; pathology usually reveals reactive changes [12, 87, 94]. Lymphedema (associated with inflammation of the lymphatic vessels) is a rare manifestation [95].

Hepatomegaly is frequent but does not occur as often as splenomegaly, which has been described in 50% of patients and is usually evident during active phases. Enlargement of the liver is usually moderate and associated with only mild abnormalities of liver enzymes. However, massive hepatomegaly may occur and cause abdominal distention and pain [12]. Liver biopsy usually exhibits periportal inflammatory infiltrates. Hepatosplenomegaly may be the initial sign of amyloidosis [90].

Pericarditis is the most common form of serositis and it can be detected in nearly 10–15% of patients. It is more common in older patients and may precede the onset of arthritis. It is usually benign and resolves with no sequelae. On the other hand, the rare myocarditis has a poorer prognosis. Most pericardial effusions are asymptomatic, although some children exhibit dyspnea or precordial pain [96]. On the other hand, pleuritis and peritonitis are rare [12].

Less frequent manifestations are the following: aseptic meningitis, pseudotumor cerebri, seizures, encephalopathy and cerebral hemorrhage (as part of MAS), myocarditis, endocarditis, congestive heart failure, coronary artery dilatation, pulmonary artery hypertension, interstitial lung disease, lipoid pneumonia, orbital tenosynovitis (Brown's Syndrome), uveitis, glomerulonephritis, and nasal septal perforation [97–101].

5.7 Laboratory and Biomarkers

Laboratory findings reflect systemic inflammation during active phases. There are no specific tests but typically high C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), leukocytosis with neutrophilia, marked thrombocytosis, and microcytic anemia are present during active phases. Limenis et al. reported the laboratory variables voted for in a consensus process aimed at the validation of a tool for assessment of disease activity in SJIA [102]. ESR, CRP, hemoglobin, platelet count, ferritin, albumin, white blood cell count, neutrophil count, D-dimer, alanine transaminase, and aspartate transaminase were considered to be of value by the authors. Autoantibodies are absent and complement levels may be normal or elevated. ANA titers might increase over time in a proportion of patients with SJIA. It is unclear if this is of pathogenic relevance or an epiphenomenon [103]. The role of ACPA anticitrullinated protein antibodies) in SJIA has not been defined yet [103, 104]. ACPA has been related to polyarticular and oligoarticular JIA, particularly rheumatoid factor-positive polyarticular JIA. Different studies have demonstrated low levels of ACPA in a small percentage of SJIA patients [105]. Despite the predictive role of ACPA in the development of erosions in patients with rheumatoid arthritis, they have no predictive value for bone erosions in SJIA [105, 106].

Serum biomarkers that reflect disease activity include ferritin, S100A8, S100A9 (or the S100A8/S100A9 complex, calprotectin), and S100A12. The serum levels of these proteins are significantly higher in patients with SJIA than in patients with confounding conditions (such as Kawasaki disease or infections) and correlate well with disease activity and response to treatment, which has led some investigators to propose them as predictors of relapses [61, 85, 107–110].

A large study identified several biomarkers of diagnostic or prognostic value in SJIA [84] (Table 5.2). Most of these proteins are secreted by activated granulocytes, monocytes, and immature macrophages, and their serum levels are significantly higher in patients with SJIA than in patients with confounding conditions. Additionally, they correlate well with disease activity and response to treatment, and they have a role in the prediction of relapses [85]. Particularly S100A8/A9 has been shown to be a sensitive biomarker for subclinical disease activity and also a predictor of relapses in SJIA [111]. Additionally, some investigators propose that serum levels of IL-18 and IL-6 might define subsets of SJIA [112].

Plasma and urine proteomic profiling may exhibit a "signature" associated with the active phases of the disease [107, 113]. One study demonstrated that

	SJIA (active						
	phase)	MAS	Clinical value				
Routine laboratory and BM							
C-reactive protein	1	N/↑↑	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease.				
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	↑	N/↑/↓	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
White blood cells	1	N/↑/↓	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Neutrophil count	N/↑	N/↓	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Hemoglobin	Ļ	Ļ	Distinguishes active from inactive disease.				
Platelet count	N/↑	N/↓	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Triglycerides	N/↑	N/†††	Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Na	N	N/↓	Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Albumin	N/↓	Ļ	Distinguishes active from inactive disease.				
Lactate dehydrogenase	N/↑	N/↑↑↑	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
D-dimer	N/↑	N/↑↑	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Alanine transaminase	N/↑	N/↑↑↑	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Aspartate transaminase	N/↑	N/↑↑↑	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Ferritin	1	1111	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Fibrinogen	N/↑	N/↓↓	Distinguishes active from inactive disease. Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				

Table 5.2 Laboratory tests and biomarkers (BM) in SJIA and MAS

(continued)

	SJIA (active						
	phase)	MAS	Clinical value				
Non-routine laboratory and BM							
SAA (serum amyloid A)	1	1	Predictive for flare. Distinguishes active from inactive disease.				
S100A8/S100A9	1	1	Discrimination of active vs. inactive disease.				
S100A12	1	1	Distinguishes active from inactive disease.				
sCD163 (hemoglobin scavenging receptor)	↑	<u>^</u>	Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
sCD25 (soluble IL-2 receptor alpha)	1	† ††	Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
Neopterin	N/↑	111	Discriminating MAS from active SJIA.				
COMP (cartilage oligomeric matrix protein)	1	?	BM in SJIA vs. other non-arthritis conditions.				
FSTL-1 (follistatin- like protein 1)	1	?	BM in SJIA vs. other non-arthritis conditions.				
OPG (osteoprotegerin)	1	?	BM in SJIA vs. other non-arthritis conditions				
sST2 (soluble ST2 or IL-1 receptor-like)	1	?	BM in SJIA vs. other non-arthritis conditions				
TTR (transthyretin)	1	?	BM in sJIA vs. other non-arthritis conditions. Predictive flare?				

Table 5.2 (continued)

programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1) expression on monocytes is significantly lower in SJIA than in patients with other febrile illnesses (KD, infections) [110]. Gene expression analysis may discriminate between active and inactive phases and provide additional predictors of flares or MAS [19]. A "multimarker approach" has recently been used to predict the risk of disease activity in pediatric lupus predicting nephritis [114]. A biomarker panel might be cost-effective in identifying different subgroups in SJIA, predict flares, and potentially preclude MAS.

5.8 Imaging

Radiographic changes are not specific, although hip joint abnormalities, juxtaarticular osteoporosis, and epiphyseal irregularities are more common in SJIA than in other forms of JIA [115]. Early changes include soft tissue involvement and juxta-articular osteoporosis. Abnormalities in the development and maturation of ossification centers, joint space narrowing due to cartilage damage, bony erosions, and growth abnormalities usually appear later during the disease course. Joint damage is more frequent in hips, wrists, temporomandibular joints, and cervical spine [15, 116]. A significant proportion of SJIA patients develop joint damage within 2 years while 75% of patients show radiographic damage at 5 years after diagnosis [117, 118]. Particularly in hips, rapid progression can be observed despite aggressive treatment [119].

5.9 Complications

Growth delay is associated with active disease, corticosteroids treatment, and poor nutrition. Growth delay was reported to be present in 18% of children 5 years after disease onset [120]. Catch-up growth is incomplete in 30% of patients and the mean final height is -2 SD [15, 121, 122].

Amyloidosis is a rare complication. The incidence of amyloidosis is between 1% and 10%, but it may vary according to the country where the patient lives. SJIA patients from Turkey evidence a higher incidence [123]. It typically occurs in patients with persistently active disease and elevated levels of serum amyloid-A (SAA) and other inflammatory proteins. It is a late complication, usually developing after several years after disease onset: it may develop as early as 1 year or as late as 23 years after onset. The diagnosis is made with a biopsy (the rectal submucosa is one of the preferred sites for obtaining a specimen) [75, 124]. Lately, the use of efficacious biologic agents has led to better control of clinical and biochemical signs of inflammation, and consequently to a dramatic decrease in the frequency of this complication [125].

Longer disease duration, persistent inflammatory activity, use of corticosteroids, biologic action of proinflammatory cytokines, muscle atrophy, and sedentarism predispose SJIA patients to osteoporosis. Vertebral fractures are frequent, while bone mineral density catch-up is usually incomplete [126–129].

5.10 Macrophage Activation Syndrome

MAS, a form of secondary or reactive HLH, is a serious complication of SJIA and it is associated with a mortality rate approaching 10–20% [130, 131]. It is caused by an exaggerated and uncontrolled activation and expansion of T cells and macrophages, which are the sources of massive amounts of proinflammatory cytokines leading to a multiorgan, hyperinflammatory state [132]. Although it may occur in the context of different rheumatic conditions, SJIA is by far the most common cause of MAS [133]. Even though it may develop during active SJIA in the absence of a recognizable trigger, different factors such as infections (remarkably EBV-related) or changes in therapy have been associated with its onset [131, 134, 135]. The syndrome occurs in 5–20% of SJIA patients, but this proportion may reach 50% if cases of subclinical MAS are included [96]. MAS represents the most severe end of a continuous clinical spectrum of disease activity in SJIA. The syndrome may develop either abruptly or progressively over the course of several days; clinical suspicion and timely diagnosis should occur before the full-blown picture is overt and chances of organ failure increase. Increased transaminase levels, abnormal coagulation screen, a fall in fibrinogen and platelet count, and increasing serum ferritin (presumably originating from activated macrophages) levels may precede the onset of MAS [136]. Serum levels of soluble CD163 and sCD25 (or Interleukin-2 Receptor α -Chain), which are markers of activation and expansion of macrophages and T cells, respectively, may help in the diagnosis of MAS and assessment of treatment response [137]. Typical features are continuous fever (as opposed to the intermittent fever occurring during active SJIA), fixed rash that may include petechiae or purpura, encephalopathy, hepatosplenomegaly, and a paradoxical improvement in the joint symptoms. Laboratory abnormalities include pancytopenia (or decreasing white blood cell and platelet counts), elevated liver enzymes, coagulopathy, hyperferritinemia, hypertriglyceridemia, normal or falling ESR, hypofibrinogenemia, elevated D-dimers, reduced NK-cell numbers and cytotoxic activity, and increased serum sCD25 levels [131, 136]. A recent study showed that serum Angiopoietins 2/1 (regulators of endothelial cell function) ratio was significantly elevated during MAS as compared to the ratio observed during the active and inactive phases of SJIA, indicating disruption or activation of the endothelial cells [137].

In 2005, Ravelli et al. published a set of clinical and laboratory diagnostic criteria which have been useful in the clinical recognition of the syndrome [138]. Recently, the classification criteria for SJIA-associated MAS were developed by an international panel of experts [139]. These criteria may be less sensitive for classifying MAS in SJIA patients who develop MAS while treated with biological agents such as IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors [140]. Evidence of hemophagocytosis is commonly found in bone marrow aspirates but it is not a mandatory criterion for diagnosis [138]. Clinical features and course of MAS are comparable between patients irrespective of their evidence of hemophagocytosis [141].

5.11 Treatment

The optimal management of SJIA requires a multidisciplinary team that includes pediatric rheumatologists, nurses, physiotherapists, occupational therapists, social workers, and psychologists. The initial pharmacological therapy consists of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs supplemented with corticosteroids in variable amounts according to the severity of the disease [142], but the more ample availability of anti-IL-1 agents has led some groups to use anakinra (ANK) very early during the disease course, even before or instead of the prescription of corticosteroids [143–146]. Indications for the use of steroids are the presence of anemia, myocarditis, pericarditis, pleuritis, peritonitis, and MAS. Recommendations for steroid dosing and tapering have been developed [147]. Pulse methylprednisolone (10–30 mg/kg/dose, up to 1 g/daily, for 3 consecutive days) may be useful in certain circumstances, such as MAS.

Traditional disease-modifying agents have not demonstrated consistent efficacy in SJIA. Methotrexate may be effective in patients with no systemic features,

Agent	Sample	Primary endpoint	Efficacy (%)	Reference
Tocilizumab	56 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + CRP < 15 mg/L	91	[38]
	112 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + resolution of fever + taper of steroids	85	[176]
Anakinra	24 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + resolution of systemic symptoms + 50% drop in CRP/ESR; CRP < 15 mg/L	75	[167]
Canakinumab	84 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + resolution of fever	84	[32]
	100 patients	Absence of flare	74	1
Rilonacept	68 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + resolution of fever + taper of steroids	57	[175]
	24 patients	ACR Pedi 30 + resolution of systemic symptoms	35.3	[174]

Table 5.3 Controlled clinical trials assessing the efficacy of different biologic agents in SJIA. Only the results of the double-blind phase are shown

ESR erythrocyte sedimentation rate, CRP C-reactive protein

although it is not as effective as in other forms of JIA [148]. Thalidomide and atorvastatin have been modestly effective in small series or single, refractory cases [149, 150]. On the other hand, data on the efficacy of high-dose intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) are conflicting [151, 152].

The advent of biologic medications has provided unprecedented efficacious agents for the treatment of SJIA, dramatically changing the outcome of patients (Table 5.3). The first biologic agents that were approved for the treatment of JIA (etanercept and adalimumab) have been used for the treatment of SJIA with conflicting results. SJIA patients with systemic features were excluded from the pivotal clinical trials of anti-TNF agents and abatacept in JIA [153–155] and they have usually failed to show sustained efficacy in children with SJIA in routine clinical practice, especially in patients with active systemic features [156–161]. However, these agents might be useful in patients without systemic features or during the late, predominantly arthritic phases of the disease [162].

Several observational studies and clinical trials have shown the efficacy and safety of ANK in the treatment of SJIA, at least in the first year of therapy [23, 163–168]. Most studies have demonstrated that ANK is effective in suppressing systemic signs more than joint inflammation. Gattorno et al. showed that SJIA patients can be divided into two different groups according to their response to ANK: good responders (about 40% of treated patients) and incomplete or non-responders [29]. In a French multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial, ANK demonstrated rapid efficacy in 8 of 12 SJIA refractory patients during the double-blind phase of the trial, while 7 out of 16 patients reached 30% improvement in a composite score (ACR 30) during the12-month long, open-label, extension phase [167, 169]. Interestingly, one patient was diagnosed with Crohn's disease after receiving ANK during the trial [167]. Observational, non-controlled, retrospective and prospective studies have shown that ANK (both in combination with steroids and DMARDs or alone) is effective as first-line therapy, it is associated with rapid resolution of systemic symptoms and could probably alter the course

of SJIA [143, 144, 146]. Interestingly, treatment with ANK has been demonstrated to induce normalization of soluble inflammatory markers as well as gene expression abnormalities [30, 143, 167]. Besides, ANK has shown efficacy in the treatment of SJIA-associated MAS [170]. Toxicity has been reported in several cases: infections, severe skin reaction at the injection site, and hepatitis (or subtle MAS) have occurred in several patients [165, 171].

Canakinumab (CNK), an anti-IL-1 β monoclonal antibody, was rapidly effective in a preliminary, phase II, multicenter, open-label, dose-escalation study involving 24 children [172]. CNK was more effective in children with fewer swollen joints. A larger phase III trial including 177 SJIA patients with active systemic symptoms demonstrated its rapid efficacy in the vast majority of treated children, allowing dose reduction or discontinuation of corticosteroids [32]. After 15 days of treatment, ACR30 was achieved by 84% of patients on CNK, and inactive disease state was observed in 33%. At the end of the withdrawal phase, 62% of CNK-treated patients and 34% of patients in the placebo group had inactive disease. The drug was generally well tolerated but MAS occurred in seven patients. Additionally, CNK therapy proved to induce down-regulation of innate immune response genes in SJIA patients [173].

Rilonacept (RLN), an anti-IL-1 soluble decoy receptor protein, was tested in a controlled clinical trial where no significant differences in efficacy between the RLN- and the placebo-treated patients were observed in the double-blind phase, but fever and rash subsided during the open-label phase [174]. Another trial involving 71 SJIA patients with long-standing disease and paucity of systemic features demonstrated that shorter time to response occurred in the RLN arm as compared to the placebo arm. Liver enzymes elevation and MAS were among the reported severe adverse events [175].

Tocilizumab (TCZ), a humanized anti-IL-6 receptor monoclonal antibody, showed marked efficacy and safety in a double-blind, placebo-controlled, withdrawal, phase III trial enrolling 56 patients [38]. ACR 30, 50, and 70 responses were achieved by 91%, 86%, and 68% of patients, respectively, at the end of the openlabel phase of the study. These results were confirmed in a larger trial involving 112 patients [176]. Of interest, TCZ allowed improved growth and normalization of insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) in the majority of these patients [177]. One surveillance study on TCZ performed in Japan demonstrated a more frequent occurrence of MAS and serious infusion-related adverse in routine clinical practice than in clinical trials [178].

Clinical experience in the real world (outside clinical trials) with biologic agents has also demonstrated their efficacy in SJIA, especially for IL-1 and IL-6 inhibitors. A recent paper reporting the German registry data on biologics in SJIA showed that JADAS remission was reached by up to half of the patients while up to two-thirds reached JADAS minimal disease activity after 6 months on biological therapy [179]. In an observational study, Simonini et al. recently reported that children with SJIA had the lowest probability of flares after drug discontinuation when compared to the other JIA categories [180]. ANK, CNK, and TCZ have been included in recently developed clinical practice recommendations and treatment plans [145, 181, 182].

Patients whose disease is refractory to IL-1 therapies may respond to IL-6 inhibitors and vice versa [183]. Although many patients respond to IL-1 and IL-6 inhibition, a subset of patients continues to have refractory SJIA. These patients may benefit from abatacept [184]; anecdotal reports show that combination biological therapy may be successful in the treatment of refractory cases [185, 186].

Although its use has decreased since the advent of effective biologic agents, autologous Stem Cell Transplantation represented an option for severe, refractory cases of SJIA during the nineties, when anti-IL-1 and anti-IL-6 therapies were not available. Theoretically, the procedure leads to a resetting of the immune system and recovery of regulatory T cells [187]. High associated morbidity and mortality (due to MAS or infections) led to gradual discontinuation of this therapeutic procedure, which is now reserved for patients whose disease is refractory to conventional and biologic therapies [187, 188].

Potentially useful therapies are being investigated. Multipotent mesenchymal stromal cell therapy is relatively safe and has immunomodulatory properties, making it appropriate for the treatment of multi-refractory, immune-mediated disorders [189]. Preliminary studies have shown its efficacy in SJIA [190]. Likewise, inhibition of Janus kinase (JAK) through the use of JAK-inhibitors may prove efficacious in SJIA [191]. The efficacy and safety of Tadekinig alfa (a recombinant IL-18 binding protein [IL-18BP]) in AOSD was assessed in a recent phase II clinical trial [192]. The agent was reasonably safe and effective and might become a therapeutic option for SJIA in the future.

There is no current consensus on the optimal management of SJIA-associated MAS, which requires a rapid and intense treatment oriented at controlling the underlying disease activity. The combination of high dose intravenous corticosteroid pulses and cyclosporine has shown efficacy [193]. While the HLH treatment protocols developed by the Histiocyte Society [194] are progressively being abandoned by pediatric rheumatologists, early addition of ANK at higher doses, which has proven to be effective in several published cases, is becoming a preferred choice [131, 195]. Potential targets in MAS are IFN- γ and IL-18. Emapalumab, anti*interferon-gamma* (IFN- γ) *monoclonal antibody, is being currently investigated as an agent to treat primary HLH* (ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT03312751), and it could be useful for the treatment of SJIA-associated MAS. Inhibition of IFN- γ has been effective in the treatment of MAS associated with the monogenic autoinflammatory disease, NLRC4-MAS [196]. On the other hand, the therapeutic use of rIL-18BP has also been effective in a patient with NLRC4-MAS [197]. Further research is needed to determine the clinical utility of these new agents in SJIA.

5.12 Disease Course and Prognosis

Classically, the disease course pattern of SJIA is classified into monocyclic (a single phase lasting up to 24 months), polycyclic (disease flares separated by months or years of inactive disease) or persistent (chronic persistent arthritis requiring treatment often into adulthood) [198, 199]. According to published series, these courses

have variable frequencies: monocyclic 11–45%, polycyclic 7–35%, and persistent 51–55% [200, 201]. Similarly, the disease may show persistently active systemic features ("systemic" course) or it may progress into an exclusively arthritic, often resistant and destructive disease ("polyarticular" course). This course progression is probably related to the abnormalities occurring sequentially in the innate and, later, in the adaptive immune system components [21, 199]. However, flares that include active systemic symptoms may occur, even after years of remission or purely arthritic involvement. Patients with very early onset (before age 18 months) are characterized by a serious and aggressive disease course [15].

SJIA patients often suffer from chronic disability and significant functional impairment. In adult life, patients who had been diagnosed as SJIA often exhibit severe disability and frequently need joint replacement [202]. Disability is proportional to the disease duration and affects a greater proportion of patients with longer follow up [117, 124, 203]. Predictive factors for poor functional capacity and/or joint damage are persistently active systemic features, use of corticosteroids and thrombocytosis at 6 months after onset, male sex, polyarticular involvement, cervical and hip involvement, and younger age at onset [204–210]. The course and outcome are variable, ranging from good in the monocyclic course to a more serious, progressive disease carrying considerable morbidity and mortality in the persistently active disease [15, 198, 199, 201].

However, nowadays clinically inactive disease and sustained remission are attainable in a significant proportion of cases [211, 212].

References

- 1. Woo P. Anakinra treatment for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and adult-onset Still disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67:281–2.
- Masters SL, Simon A, Aksentijevich I, Kastner D. Horror autoinflammaticus: the molecular pathophysiology of autoinflammatory disease. Annu Rev Immunol. 2009;27:621–68.
- Mellins ED, Macaubas C, Grom AA. Pathogenesis of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: some answers, more questions. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011;7:416–26.
- 4. Hedrich CM, Tsokos GC. Bridging the gap between autoinflammation and autoimmunity. Clin Immunol. 2013;147:151–4.
- 5. Nigrovic PA. Autoinflammation and autoimmunity in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:15785–6.
- Petty RE, Southwood TR, Manners P, Baum J, Glass DN, Goldenberg J, et al. International League of Associations for Rheumatology classification of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: second revision, Edmonton, 2001. J Rheumatol. 2004;31:390–2.
- Yamaguchi M, Ohta A, Tsunematsu T, Kasukawa R, Mizushima Y, Kashiwagi H, et al. Preliminary criteria for classification of adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1992;19(3):424–30.
- Kumar S, Kunhiraman DS, Rajam L. Application of the Yamaguchi criteria for classification of "suspected" systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis (sJIA). Pediatr Rheumatol. 2012;10:40.
- 9. Vastert SJ, Nigrovic PA. Toward personalized treatment for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1002/art.40501.
- Eng SWM, Duong TT, Rosenberg AM, Morris Q, Yeung RS, REACCH OUT and BBOP Research Consortia. The biological basis of clinical heterogeneity in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:3463–75.

- Modesto C, Antón J, Rodriguez B, Bou R, Arnal C, Ros J, et al. Incidence and prevalence of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in Catalonia (Spain). Scand J Rheumatol. 2010;39:472–9.
- Gurion R, Lehman TJ, Moorthy LN. Systemic arthritis in children: a review of clinical presentation and treatment. Int J Inflamm. 2012;2012:271569.
- Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Gallo L, Spangler J, Rosenkranz M, Arkachaisri T, et al. Evaluation of the presentation of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: data from the Pennsylvania Systemic Onset Juvenile Arthritis Registry. (PASOJAR). J Rheumatol. 2008;35:343–8.
- Feldman BM, Birdi N, Boone JE, Dent PB, Duffy CM, Ellsworth JE, et al. Seasonal onset of systemic-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Pediatr. 1996;129(4):513–8.
- Russo R, Katsicas MM. Patients with very early-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis exhibit more inflammatory features and a worse outcome. J Rheumatol. 2013;40:329–34.
- Wallace CA, Levinson JE. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: outcome and treatment for the 1990s. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 1991;17:891–905.
- Davies R, Southwood T, Kearsley-Fleet L, Lunt M, Baildam E, Beresford MW, et al. Mortality rates are increased in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arch Dis Child. 2017;102(2):206–7.
- Hinze CH, Fall N, Thornton S, Mo JQ, Aronow BJ, Layh-Schmitt G, et al. Immature cell populations and an erythropoiesis gene-expression signature in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: implications for pathogenesis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2010;12:R123.
- Fall N, Barnes M, Thornton S, Luyrink L, Olson J, Ilowite NT, et al. Gene expression profiling of peripheral blood from patients with untreated new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis reveals molecular heterogeneity that may predict macrophage activation syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:3793–804.
- Omoyinmi E, Hamaoui R, Pesenacker A, Nistala K, Moncrieffe H, Ursu S, et al. Th1 and Th17 cell subpopulations are enriched in the peripheral blood of patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012;51(10):1881–6.
- Nigrovic PA. Is there a window of opportunity for treatment of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis? Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:1405–13.
- 22. Kessel C, Lippitz A, Weinhage T, Hinze C, Wittkowski H, Holzinger D, et al. Proinflammatory cytokine environments can drive interleukin-17 overexpression by γ/δ T cells in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2017;69:1480–94.
- Pascual V, Allantaz F, Arce E, Punaro M, Banchereau J. Role of interleukin-1 (IL-1) in the pathogenesis of systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis and clinical response to IL-1 blockade. J Exp Med. 2005;201:1479–86.
- 24. de Jager W, Hoppenreijs EP, Wulffraat NM, Wedderburn LR, Kuis W, Prakken BJ. Blood and synovial fluid cytokine signatures in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a crosssectional study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66:589–98.
- Frosch M, Roth J. New insights in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis-from pathophysiology to treatment. Rheumatology. 2008;47:121–5.
- 26. Shimizu M, Nakagishi Y, Kasai K, Yamasaki Y, Miyoshi M, Takei S, et al. Tocilizumab masks the clinical symptoms of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis-associated macrophage activation syndrome: the diagnostic significance of interleukin-18 and interleukin-6. Cytokine. 2012;58:287–94.
- Shimizu M, Nakagishi Y, Yachie A. Distinct subsets of patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis based on their cytokine profiles. Cytokine. 2013;61:345–8.
- Muller K, Herner EB, Stagg A, Bendtzen K, Woo P. Inflammatory cytokines and cytokine antagonists in whole blood cultures of patients with systemic juvenile chronic arthritis. Br J Rheumatol. 1998;37:562–9.
- Gattorno M, Piccini A, Lasiglie D, Tassi S, Brisca G, Carta S, et al. The pattern of response to anti-interleukin-1 treatment distinguishes two subsets of patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:1505–15.

- Allantaz F, Chaussabel D, Stichweh D, Bennett L, Allman W, Mejias A, et al. Blood leukocyte microarrays to diagnose systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis and follow the response to IL-1 blockade. J Exp Med. 2007;204:2131–44.
- Jelusić M, Lukić IK, Tambić-Bukovac L, Dubravcić K, Malcić I, Rudan I, et al. Interleukin-18 as a mediator of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(8):1332–4.
- Ruperto N, Brunner HI, Quartier P, Constantin T, Wulffraat N, Horneff G, et al. Two randomized trials of canakinumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2012;367:2396–406.
- Lotito AP, Campa A, Silva CA, Kiss MH, Mello SB. Interleukin 18 as a marker of disease activity and severity in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2007;34: 823–30.
- 34. Shimizu M, Yokoyama T, Yamada K, Kaneda H, Wada H, Wada T, et al. Distinct cytokine profiles of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis-associated macrophage activation syndrome with particular emphasis on the role of interleukin-18 in its pathogenesis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49:1645–53.
- 35. de Benedetti F, Massa M, Robbioni P, Ravelli A, Burgio GR, Martini A. Correlation of serum interleukin-6 levels with joint involvement and thrombocytosis in systemic juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1991;34:1158–63.
- 36. Cazzola M, Ponchio L, de Benedetti F, Ravelli A, Rosti V, Beguin Y, et al. Defective iron supply for erythropoiesis and adequate endogenous erythropoietin production in the anemia associated with systemic-onset juvenile chronic arthritis. Blood. 1996;87:4824–30.
- 37. de Benedetti F, Meazza C, Oliveri M, Pignatti P, Vivarelli M, Alonzi T, et al. Effect of IL-6 on IGF binding protein-3: a study in IL-6 transgenic mice and in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Endocrinology. 2001;142:4818–26.
- 38. Yokota S, Imagawa T, Mori M, Miyamae T, Aihara Y, Takei S, et al. Efficacy and safety of tocilizumab in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, withdrawal phase III trial. Lancet. 2008;371:998–1006.
- Raziuddin S, Bahabri S, al-Dalaan A, Siraj AK, al-Sedairy S. A mixed Th1/Th2 cell cytokine response predominates in systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: immunoregulatory IL-10 function. Clin Immunol Immunopathol. 1998;86:192–8.
- Pignatti P, Vivarelli M, Meazza C, Rizzolo MG, Martini A, De BF. Abnormal regulation of interleukin 6 in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2001;28:1670–6.
- 41. de Benedetti F, Alonzi T, Moretta A, Lazzaro D, Costa P, Poli V, et al. Interleukin-6 causes growth impairment in transgenic mice through a decrease in insulin-like growth factor-I. A model for stunted growth in children with chronic inflammation. J Clin Invest. 1997;99:643–50.
- 42. Strippoli R, Carvello F, Scianaro R, Pasquale LD, Vivarelli M, Petrini S, et al. Amplification of the response to Toll-like receptor ligands by prolonged exposure to interleukin-6 in mice: implications for the pathogenesis of macrophage activation syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64:1680–8.
- 43. Canna SW, Wrobel J, Chu N, Kreiger PA, Paessler M, Behrens EM. Interferon-gamma mediates anemia but is dispensable for fulminant toll-like receptor 9-induced macrophage activation syndrome and hemophagocytosis in mice. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65:1764–75.
- 44. Avau A, Mitera T, Put S, Put K, Brisse E, Filtjens J, et al. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis-like syndrome in mice following stimulation of the immune system with Freund's complete adjuvant: regulation by interferon-gamma. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:1340–51.
- 45. Bracaglia C, de Graaf K, Marafon DP, Guilhot F, Ferlin W, Prencipe G, et al. Elevated circulating levels of interferon-γ and interferon-γ-induced chemokines characterize patients with macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:166–72.
- 46. Wouters CH, Ceuppens JL, Stevens EA. Different circulating lymphocyte profiles in patients with different subtypes of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2002;20: 239–48.

- Zhou J, Tang X, Ding Y, An Y, Zhao X. Natural killer cell activity and frequency of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors in children with different forms of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Allergy Immunol. 2013;24:691–6.
- Grom AA, Villanueva J, Lee S, Goldmuntz EA, Passo MH, Filipovich A. Natural killer cell dysfunction in patients with systemic-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and macrophage activation syndrome. J Pediatr. 2003;142:292–6.
- 49. Villanueva J, Lee S, Giannini EH, Graham TB, Passo MH, Filipovich A, et al. Natural killer cell dysfunction is a distinguishing feature of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis and macrophage activation syndrome. Arthritis Res Ther. 2005;7:R30–7.
- Wulffraat NM, Rijkers GT, Elst E, Brooimans R, Kuis W. Reduced perforin expression in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis is restored by autologous stem-cell transplantation. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42:375–9.
- 51. Put K, Vandenhaute J, Avau A, et al. Inflammatory gene expression profile and defective interferon-γ and granzyme K in natural killer cells from systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2017;69:213–24.
- Brady J, Carotta S, Thong RP, Chan CJ, Hayakawa Y, Smyth MJ, et al. The interactions of multiple cytokines control NK cell maturation. J Immunol. 2010;185:6679–88.
- Cifaldi L, Prencipe G, Caiello I, Bracaglia C, Locatelli F, de Benedetti F, et al. Inhibition of natural killer cell cytotoxicity by interleukin-6: implications for the pathogenesis of macrophage activation syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2015;67:3037–46.
- 54. de Jager W, Vastert SJ, Beekman JM, Wulffraat NM, Kuis W, Coffer PJ, et al. Defective phosphorylation of interleukin-18 receptor b causes impaired natural killer cell function in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60:2782–93.
- Macaubas C, Nguyen K, Deshpande C, Phillips C, Peck A, Lee T, et al. Distribution of circulating cells in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis across disease activity states. Clin Immunol. 2010;134:206–16.
- Macaubas C, Nguyen KD, Peck A, Buckingham J, Deshpande C, Wong E, et al. Alternative activation in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis monocytes. Clin Immunol. 2012;142:362–72.
- 57. Macaubas C, Wong E, Zhang Y, Nguyen KD, Lee J, Milojevic D, et al. Altered signaling in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis monocytes. Clin Immunol. 2016;163:66–74.
- Schulert GS, Fall N, Harley JB, Shen N, Lovell DJ, Thornton S, et al. Monocyte microRNA expression in active systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis implicates microRNA-125a-5p in polarized monocyte phenotypes. Arthritis Rheum. 2016;68:2300–13.
- Cepika AM, Banchereau R, Segura E, Ohouo M, Cantarel B, Goller K, et al. A multidimensional blood stimulation assay reveals immune alterations underlying systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Exp Med. 2017;214:3449–66.
- Frosch M, Vogl T, Seeliger S, Wulffraat N, Kuis W, Viemann D, et al. Expression of myeloidrelated proteins 8 and 14 in systemic-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:2622–6.
- Foell D, Wittkowski H, Hammerschmidt I, Wulffraat N, Schmeling H, Frosch M, et al. Monitoring neutrophil activation in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis by S100A12 serum concentrations. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:1286–95.
- Foell D, Roth J. Proinflammatory S100 proteins in arthritis and autoimmune disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50:3762–71.
- 63. Ombrello MJ, Remmers EF, Tachmazidou I, Grom A, Foell D, Haas JP, et al. HLA-DRB1*11 and variants of the MHC class II locus are strong risk factors for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112:15970–5.
- 64. Hinks A, Bowes J, Cobb J, Ainsworth HC, Marion MC, Comeau ME, et al. Fine-mapping the MHC locus in juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA) reveals genetic heterogeneity corresponding to distinct adult inflammatory arthritic diseases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:765–72.
- Stock CJ, Ogilvie EM, Samuel JM, Fife M, Lewis CM, Woo P. Comprehensive association study of genetic variants in the IL-1 gene family in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Genes Immun. 2008;9:349–57.

- 66. de Benedetti F, Meazza C, Vivarelli M, Rossi F, Pistorio A, Lamb R, et al. Functional and prognostic relevance of the -173 polymorphism of the macrophage migration inhibitory factor gene in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:1398–407.
- 67. Fishman D, Faulds G, Jeffery R, Mohamed-Ali V, Yudkin JS, Humphries S, et al. The effect of novel polymorphisms in the interleukin-6 (IL-6) gene on IL-6 transcription and plasma IL-6 levels, and an association with systemic-onset juvenile chronic arthritis. J Clin Invest. 1998;102:1369–76.
- Ogilvie EM, Fife MS, Thompson SD, Twine N, Tsoras M, Moroldo M, et al. The -174G allele of the interleukin-6 gene confers susceptibility to systemic arthritis in children. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:3202–6.
- Donn RP, Barrett JH, Farhan A, Stopford A, Pepper L, Shelley E, et al. Cytokine gene polymorphisms and susceptibility to juvenile idiopathic arthritis. British Paediatric Rheumatology Study Group. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44:802–10.
- Donn RP, Shelley E, Ollier WE, Thomson W, British Paediatric Rheumatology Study Group, et al. A novel 5'-flanking region polymorphism of macrophage migration inhibitory factor is associated with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44:1782–5.
- 71. Fife MS, Gutierrez A, Ogilvie EM, Stock CJ, Samuel JM, Thomson W, et al. Novel IL10 gene family associations with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Res Ther. 2006;8:R148.
- Moller JC, Paul D, Ganser G, Range U, Gahr M, Kelsch R, et al. IL10 promoter polymorphisms are associated with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SoJIA). Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2010;28:912–8.
- 73. Yanagimachi M, Goto H, Miyamae T, Kadota K, Imagawa T, Mori M, et al. Association of IRF5 polymorphisms with susceptibility to hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis in children. J Clin Immunol. 2011;31:946–51.
- 74. Ayaz NA, Ozen S, Bilginer Y, Ergüven M, Taşkiran E, Yilmaz E, et al. MEFV mutations in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology. 2009;48:23–5.
- 75. Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Simonini G, Galeazzi M, Baldari CT, Cimaz R. Systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis complicated by early onset amyloidosis in a patient carrying a mutation in the MEFV gene. Rheumatol Int. 2012;32:465–7.
- 76. Tadaki H, Saitsu H, Nishimura-Tadaki A, Imagawa T, Kikuchi M, Hara R, et al. De novo 19q13.42 duplications involving NLRP gene cluster in a patient with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Human Genet. 2011;56:343–7.
- Lamb R, Thomson W, Ogilvie E, Donn R. Positive association of SLC26A2 gene polymorphisms with susceptibility to systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:1286–91.
- Hazen MM, Woodward AL, Hofmann I, Degar BA, Grom A, Filipovich AH, et al. Mutations of the hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis-associated gene UNC13D in a patient with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:567–70.
- 79. Vastert SJ, van Wijk R, D'Urbano LE, de Vooght KM, de Jager W, Ravelli A, et al. Mutations in the perforin gene can be linked to macrophage activation syndrome in patients with systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2010;49:441–9.
- Zhang K, Biroschak J, Glass DN, et al. Macrophage activation syndrome in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis is associated with MUNC13-4 polymorphisms. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:2892–6.
- Kaufman KM, Linghu B, Szustakowski JD, Husami A, Yang F, Zhang K, et al. Whole-exome sequencing reveals overlap between macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and familial hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:3486–95.
- Wakil SM, Monies DM, Abouelhoda M, Al-Tassan N, Al-Dusery H, Naim EA, et al. Association of a mutation in LACC1 with a monogenic form of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2015;67:288–95.

- Kallinich T, Thorworth A, von Stuckrad SL, et al. Juvenile arthritis caused by a novel FAMIN (LACC1) mutation in two children with systemic and extended oligoarticular course. Pediatr Rheumatol. 2016;14:63.
- Gohar F, Kessel C, Lavric M, Holzinger D, Foell D. Review of biomarkers in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: helpful tools or just playing tricks? Arthritis Res Ther. 2016;18:163.
- Wittkowski H, Frosch M, Wulffraat N, Goldbach-Mansky R, et al. S100A12 is a novel molecular marker differentiating systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis from other causes of fever of unknown origin. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:3924–31.
- Dong S, Bout-Tabaku S, Texter K, Jaggi P. Diagnosis of systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis after treatment for presumed Kawasaki disease. J Pediatr. 2015;166(5):1283–8.
- Calabro JJ, Marchesano JM. Fever associated with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med. 1967;276(1):11–8.
- Calabro JJ, Holgerson WB, Sonpal GM, Khoury MI. Juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: a general review and report of 100 patients observed for 15 years. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 1976;5(3):257–98.
- Roth J, Scheer I, Kraft S, Keitzer R, Riebel T. Uncommon synovial cysts in children. Eur J Pediatr. 2006;165(3):178–81.
- Schneider R, Laxer RM. Systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol. 1998;12:245–71.
- Frosch M, Metze D, Foell D, Vogl T, Sorg C, Sunderkötter C, et al. Early activation of cutaneous vessels and epithelial cells is characteristic of acute systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Exp Dermatol. 2005;14:259–65.
- Bywaters EG, Isdale IC. The rash of rheumatoid arthritis and Still's disease. Q J Med. 1956;25(99):377–87.
- 93. Shishov M, Henrickson M, Burgos-Vargas R, Rubio-Pérez N, Baca V, Romero-Feregrino R, et al. Systemic features and early prognostic factors in Hispanic and non-Hispanic children from the United States of America and Mexico with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2007;25(6):907–14.
- Ramanan AV, Wynn RF, Kelsey A, Baildam EM. Systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis, Kikuchi's disease and haemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis - is there a link? Case report and literature review. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42:596–8.
- Ambrósio C, Abreu P, Alexandre M, Malcata A. Lymphoedema in systemic juvenile arthritis: a rare extra-articular feature. Acta Reumatol Port. 2008;33(4):457–9.
- Parvez N, Carpenter JL. Cardiac tamponade in Still disease: a review of the literature. South Med J. 2009;102(8):832–7.
- 97. Tabak F, Tanverdi M, Ozaras R, Mert A, Tartan Z, Ozturk R, et al. Neutrophilic pleocytosis in cerebrospinal fluid: adult-onset Still's disease. Intern Med. 2003;42:1039–41.
- Heyd J, Glaser J. Early occurrence of aortic valve regurgitation in a youth with systemiconset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Am J Med. 1990;89:123–4.
- Kimura Y, Weiss JE, Haroldson KL, Lee T, Punaro M, Oliveira S, et al. Pulmonary hypertension and other potentially fatal pulmonary complications in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2013;65(5):745–52.
- Wang FM, Wertenbaker C, Behrens MM, Jacobs JC. Acquired Brown's syndrome in children with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Ophthalmology. 1984;91:23–6.
- 101. Avcin T, Silverman ED, Forte V, Schneider R. Nasal septal perforation: a novel clinical manifestation of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis/adult onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2005;32:2429–31.
- 102. Limenis E, Feldman BM, Achonu C, Batthish M, Lang B, Mclimont M, et al. Proposed core set of items for measuring disease activity in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2018;45(1):115–21.
- 103. Hügle B, Hinze C, Lainka E, Fischer N, Haas JP. Development of positive antinuclear antibodies and rheumatoid factor in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis points toward an autoimmune phenotype later in the disease course. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2014;12:28.

- 104. Berntson L, Nordal E, Fasth A, Aalto K, Herlin T, Nielsen S, et al. Anti-type II collagen antibodies, anti-CCP, IgA RF and IgM RF are associated with joint damage, assessed eight years after onset of juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2014;12:22.
- 105. Pang SY, Liu HY, Huang YJ, Liu YF, Dai YM, Zeng P, et al. Diagnostic performance of anti-citrullinated protein/peptide antibodies in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Genet Mol Res. 2016;15(2). https://doi.org/10.4238/gmr.15028641.
- 106. Ferucci ED, Majka DS, Parrish LA, Moroldo MB, Ryan M, Passo M, et al. Antibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptide are associated with HLA-DR4 in simplex and multiplex polyarticular-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:239–46.
- 107. Ling XB, Park JL, Carroll T, Nguyen KD, Lau K, Macaubas C, et al. Plasma profiles in active systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: biomarkers and biological implications. Proteomics. 2010;10(24):4415–30.
- 108. Gerss J, Roth J, Holzinger D, Ruperto N, Wittkowski H, Frosch M, et al. Phagocyte-specific S100 proteins and high-sensitivity C reactive protein as biomarkers for a risk-adapted treatment to maintain remission in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a comparative study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71:1991–7.
- 109. Holzinger D, Frosch M, Kastrup A, Prince FH, Otten MH, Van Suijlekom-Smit LW, et al. The Toll-like receptor 4 agonist MRP8/14 protein complex is a sensitive indicator for disease activity and predicts relapses in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71:974–80.
- Shenoi S, Ou JN, Ni C, Macaubas C, Gersuk VH, Wallace CA, et al. Comparison of biomarkers for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Res. 2015;78:554–9.
- 111. Rothmund F, Gerss J, Ruperto N, Däbritz J, Wittkowski H, Frosch M, et al. Validation of relapse risk biomarkers for routine use in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2014;66(6):949–55.
- 112. van den Ham HJ, de Jager W, Bijlsma JW, Prakken BJ, de Boer RJ. Differential cytokine profiles in juvenile idiopathic arthritis subtypes revealed by cluster analysis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009;48(8):899–905.
- 113. Miyamae T, Malehorn DE, Lemster B, Mori M, Imagawa T, Yokota S, et al. Serum protein profile in systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis differentiates response versus non response to therapy. Arthritis Res Ther. 2005;7:R746–55.
- 114. Smith EM, Jorgensen AL, Midgley A, Oni L, Goilav B, Putterman C, et al. International validation of a urinary biomarker panel for identification of active lupus nephritis in children. Pediatr Nephrol. 2017;32(2):283–95.
- 115. Ozawa R, Inaba Y, Mori M, Hara R, Kikuchi M, Higuchi R, et al. Definitive differences in laboratory and radiological characteristics between two subtypes of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: systemic arthritis and polyarthritis. Mod Rheumatol. 2012;22(4):558–64.
- 116. Solari N, Viola S, Pistorio A, Magni-Manzoni S, Vitale R, Ruperto N, et al. Assessing current outcomes of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a cross-sectional study in a tertiary center sample. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;15(59):1571–9.
- 117. Shelmerdine SC, Di Paolo PL, Tanturri de Horatio L, Malattia C, Magni-Manzoni S, et al. Imaging of the hip in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Pediatr Radiol. 2018;48(6):811–7.
- 118. Lang BA, Schneider R, Reilly BJ, Silverman ED, Laxer RM. Radiologic features of systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 1995 Jan;22(1):168–73.
- Sudol-Szopińska I, Matuszewska G, Gietka P, Płaza M, Walentowska-Janowicz M. Imaging of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Part I: Clinical classifications and radiographs. J Ultrason. 2016;16:225–36.
- 120. Bowyer SL, Roettcher PA, Higgins GC, Adams B, Myers LK, Wallace C, et al. Health status of patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis at 1 and 5 years after diagnosis. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(2):394–400.
- 121. Simon D, Lucidarme N, Prieur AM, Ruiz JC, Czernichow P. Treatment of growth failure in juvenile chronic arthritis. Horm Res. 2002;58(Suppl 1):28–32.
- Simon D. Management of growth retardation in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Horm Res. 2007;68(Suppl 5):122–5.

- 123. Yilmaz M, Kendirli SG, Altintas DU, Karakoc GB, Inal A, Kilic M. Juvenile idiopathic arthritis profile in Turkish children. Pediatr Int. 2008;50(2):154–8.
- 124. Packham JC, Hall MA. Long-term follow-up of 246 adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: functional outcome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2002;41:1428–35.
- 125. Saha A, Chopra Y, Theis JD, Vrana JA, Sethi S. AA amyloidosis associated with systemiconset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Am J Kidney Dis. 2013;62:834–8.
- 126. Murray KJ, Boyle RJ, Woo P. Pathological fractures and osteoporosis in a cohort of 103 systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43:S119.
- 127. Stagi S, Masi L, Capannini S, Cimaz R, Tonini G, Matucci-Cerinic M, et al. Cross-sectional and longitudinal evaluation of bone mass in children and young adults with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: the role of bone mass determinants in a large cohort of patients. J Rheumatol. 2010;37:1935–43.
- 128. Rodd C, Lang B, Ramsay T, Alos N, Huber AM, Cabral DA, et al. Incident vertebral fractures among children with rheumatic disorders 12 months after glucocorticoid initiation: a national observational study. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2012;64:122–31.
- 129. Lien G, Flatø B, Haugen M, Vinje O, Sørskaar D, Dale K. Frequency of osteopenia in adolescents with early-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a long-term outcome study of one hundred five patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:2214–23.
- 130. Behrens EM, Beukelman T, Paessler M, Cron RQ. Occult macrophage activation syndrome in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2007;34:1133–8.
- 131. Minoia F, Davì S, Horne A, Demirkaya E, Bovis F, Li C, Lehmberg K, et al. Clinical features, treatment, and outcome of macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a multinational, multicenter study of 362 patients. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:3160–9.
- 132. Schulert GS, Grom AA. Pathogenesis of macrophage activation syndrome and potential for cytokine-directed therapies. Annu Rev Med. 2015;66:18.1–18.15.
- Sawhney S, Woo P, Murray KJ. Macrophage activation syndrome: a potentially fatal complication of rheumatic disorders. Arch Dis Child. 2001;85(5):421–6.
- 134. Stéphan JL, Koné-Paut I, Galambrun C, Mouy R, Bader-Meunier B, Prieur AM. Reactive haemophagocytic syndrome in children with inflammatory disorders. A retrospective study of 24 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2001;40:1285–92.
- 135. Russo RAG, Rosenzweig S, Katsicas MM. Hepatitis A-associated macrophage activation syndrome in children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: report of 2 cases. J Rheumatol. 2008;35:166–8.
- 136. Ravelli A, Minoia F, Davi S, Horne A, Bovis F, Pistorio A, et al. Expert consensus on dynamics of laboratory tests for diagnosis of macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. RMD Open. 2016;2:e000161.
- 137. Bleesing J, Prada A, Siegel DM, Villanueva J, Olson J, Ilowite NT, et al. The diagnostic significance of soluble CD163 and soluble interleukin-2 receptor α-chain in macrophage activation syndrome and untreated new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:965–71.
- Ravelli A, Magni-Manzoni S, Pistorio A, Besana C, Foti T, Ruperto N, et al. Preliminary diagnostic guidelines for macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Pediatr. 2005;146:598–604.
- 139. Ravelli A, Minoia F, Davi S, Horne A, Bovis F, Pistorio A, et al. 2016 Classification criteria for macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:481–9.
- 140. Schulert GS, Minoia F, Bohnsack J, Cron RQ, Hashad S, Koné-Paut I, et al. Biologic therapy modifies clinical and laboratory features of macrophage activation syndrome associated with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70(3):409–19.
- 141. Minoia F, Davi S, Horne A, Bovis F, Demirkaya E, Akikusa J, et al. Dissecting the heterogeneity of macrophage activation syndrome complicating systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2015;42:994–1001.

- 142. Kimura Y, Fieldston E, Devries-Vandervlugt B, Li S, Imundo L, et al. High dose, alternate day corticosteroids for systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:2018–24.
- 143. Nigrovic P, Mannion M, Prince FHM, Zeft A, Rabinovich CE, van Rossum MA, et al. Anakinra as first-line disease-modifying therapy in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63:545–55.
- 144. Hedrich CM, Bruck N, Fiebig B, Gahr M. Anakinra: a safe and effective first-line treatment in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SoJIA). Rheumatol Int. 2012;32:3525–30.
- 145. DeWitt EM, Kimura Y, Beukelman T, Nigrovic PA, Onel K, Prahalad S, et al. Consensus treatment plans for new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Care Res. 2012;64:1001–10.
- 146. Vastert SJ, de Jager W, Noordman BJ, Holzinger D, Kuis W, Prakken BJ, et al. Effectiveness of first-line treatment with recombinant interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in steroidnaive patients with new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:1034–43.
- 147. Ilowite NT, Sandborg CI, Feldman BM, Grom A, Schanberg LE, Giannini EH, et al. Algorithm development for corticosteroid management in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis trial using consensus methodology. Pediatr Rheumatol. 2012;10:31.
- 148. Woo P, Southwood TR, Prieur A-M, Doré CJ, Grainger J, David J, et al. Randomized, placebo-controlled crossover trial of low-dose oral methotrexate in children with extended oligoarticular or systemic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43:1849–57.
- 149. Lehman TJ, Schechter SJ, Sundel RP, Oliveira SK, Huttenlocher A, Onel KB, et al. Thalidomide for severe systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: a multicenter study. J Pediatr. 2004;145:856–7.
- 150. ten Cate R, Nibbering PH, Bredius RG. Therapy-refractory systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis successfully treated with statins. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2004;43:934–5.
- 151. Silverman ED, Laxer RM, Greenwald M, Gelfand E, Shore A, Stein LD, et al. Intravenous gamma globulin therapy in systemic juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1990;33(7):1015–22.
- 152. Silverman ED, Cawkwell GD, Lovell DJ, Laxer RM, Lehman TJ, Passo MH, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of systemic juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Pediatric Rheumatology Collaborative Study Group. J Rheumatol. 1994;21(12):2353–8.
- Lovell DJ, Giannini EH, Reiff A, Cawkwell GD, Silverman ED, Nocton JJ, et al. Etanercept in children with polyarticular juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2000;16(342):763–9.
- 154. Ruperto N, Lovell DJ, Quartier P, Paz E, Rubio-Pérez N, Silva CA, et al. Abatacept in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled withdrawal trial. Lancet. 2008;372:383–91.
- 155. Lovell DJ, Ruperto N, Goodman S, Reiff A, Jung L, Jarosova K, et al. Adalimumab with or without methotrexate in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2008;359:810–20.
- 156. Russo RAG, Katsicas MM, Zelazko M. Etanercept in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2002;20:723–6.
- 157. Quartier P, Taupin P, Bordeaut F, Lemelle I, Pillet P, Bost M, et al. Efficacy of etanercept for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis according to the onset type. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:1093–101.
- 158. Horneff G, Schmeling H, Biederman T, Foeldvari I, Ganser G, Girschick HJ, et al. The German etanercept registry for treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2004;63:1638–44.
- 159. Kimura Y, Pinho P, Walco G, Higgins G, Hummell D, Szer I, et al. Etanercept treatment in patients with refractory systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2005;32:935–42.
- 160. Katsicas MM, Russo RAG. Use of adalimumab in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis refractory to etanercept and/or infliximab. Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28:985–8.

- 161. Russo RA, Katsicas MM. Clinical remission in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis treated with anti-tumor necrosis factor agents. J Rheumatol. 2009;38:1078–82.
- 162. Lovell DJ, Reiff A, Ilowite NT, Wallace CA, Chon Y, Lin SL, et al. Safety and efficacy of up to eight years of continuous etanercept therapy in patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:1496–504.
- 163. Verbsky JW, White AJ. Effective use of the recombinant interleukin 1 receptor antagonist anakinra in therapy-resistant systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2004;31:2071–5.
- Ohlsson V, Balldam E, Foster H, Jandial S, Pain C, Strike H, et al. Anakinra treatment for systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SOJIA). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2008;47:555–6.
- 165. Lequerre T, Quartier P, Rosellini D, Alaoui F, De Bandt M, Mejjad O, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) treatment in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis or adult onset Still disease: preliminary experience in France. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67:302–8.
- 166. Zeft A, Hollister R, LaFleur B, Sampath P, Soep J, McNally B, et al. Anakinra for systemic juvenile arthritis: the Rocky Mountain experience. J Clin Rheumatol. 2009;15:161–4.
- 167. Quartier P, Allantaz F, Cimaz R, Pillet P, Messiaen C, Bardin C, et al. A multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial with the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist anakinra in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (ANAJIS trial). Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70:747–54.
- Pardeo M, Marafon DP, Insalaco A, Bracaglia C, Nicolai R, Messia V, et al. Anakinra in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a single-center experience. J Rheumatol. 2015;42:1523–7.
- Giannini EH, Ruperto N, Ravelli A, Lovell DJ, Felson DT, Martini A. Preliminary definition of improvement in juvenile arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 1997;40:1202–9.
- 170. Miettunen PM, Narendran A, Javanthan A, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Successful treatment of severe paediatric rheumatic disease-associated macrophage activation syndrome with interleukin-1 inhibition following conventional immunosuppressive therapy: case series with 12 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50:417–9.
- 171. Canna S, Frankovich J, Higgins G, Narkewicz MR, Nash SR, Hollister JR, et al. Acute hepatitis in three patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis taking interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Pediatr Rheum. 2009;7:21.
- 172. Ruperto N, Quartier P, Wulffraat N, Woo P, Ravelli A, Mouy R, et al. A phase II, multicenter, open-label study evaluating dosing and preliminary safety and efficacy of canakinumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis with active systemic features. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64:557–67.
- 173. Brachat AH, Grom AA, Wulffraat N, Brunner HI, Quartier P, Brik R, et al. Early changes in gene expression and inflammatory proteins in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients on canakinumab therapy. Arthritis Res Ther. 2017;19:13.
- 174. Lovell DJ, Giannini EH, Reiff AO, Kimura Y, Li S, Hashkes PJ, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of rilonacept in patients with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65:2486–96.
- 175. Ilowite NT, Prather K, Lokhnuyina Y, Schanberg LE, Elder M, Milojevic D, et al. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of the efficacy and safety of rilonacept in the treatment of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2014;66:2570–9.
- 176. De Benedetti F, Brunner H, Ruperto N, Kenwright A, Wright S, Calvo I, et al. Randomized trial of tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. N Engl J Med. 2012;67:2385–95.
- 177. De Benedetti F, Brunner H, Ruperto N, Schneider R, Xavier R, Allen R, et al. Catch-up growth during tocilizumab therapy for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Results from a phase III trial. Arthritis Rheum. 2015;67:840–8.
- 178. Yokota S, Itoh Y, Morio T, Origasa H, Sumitomo N, Tomobe M, et al. Tocilizumab in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis in a real-world clinical setting: results from 1 year of postmarketing surveillance follow-up of 417 patients in Japan. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75:1654–60.

- 179. Horneff G, Schulz AC, Klotsche J, Hospach A, Minden K, Foeldvari I, et al. Experience with etanercept, tocilizumab and interleukin-1 inhibitors in systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients from the BIKER registry. Arthritis Res Ther. 2017;19(1):256.
- 180. Simonini G, Ferrara G, Pontikaki I, Scoccimarro E, Giani T, Taddio A, et al. Flares after withdrawal of biologic therapies in juvenile idiopathic arthritis: clinical and laboratory correlates of remission duration. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2017; https://doi.org/10.1002/ acr.23435.
- 181. Ringold S, Weiss PF, Beukelman T, DeWitt EM, Ilowite NT, Kimura Y, et al. 2013 Update of the 2011 American College of Rheumatology recommendations for the treatment of juvenile idiopathic arthritis: recommendations for the medical therapy of children with systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis and tuberculosis screening among children receiving biologic medications. Arthritis Care Res. 2013;65:1551–63.
- 182. Kimura Y, DeWitt EM, Beukelman T, Stoll ML, Nigrovic PA, Onel K, et al. Adding canakinumab to the childhood arthritis and rheumatology research alliance consensus treatment plans for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis [Letter]. Arthritis Care Res. 2014;66:1430–1.
- 183. Woerner A, Uettwiller F, Melki I, Mouy R, Wouters C, Bader-Meunier B, et al. Biological treatment in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: achievement of inactive disease or clinical remission on a first, second or third biological agent. RMD Open. 2015;1:e000036.
- 184. Ruperto N, Lovell DJ, Quartier P, Paz E, Rubio-Pérez N, Silva CA, et al. Long-term safety and efficacy of abatacept in children with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(6):1792–802.
- 185. Record JL, Beukelman T, Cron RQ. Combination therapy of abatacept and anakinra in children with refractory systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a retrospective case series. J Rheumatol. 2011;38:180–1.
- 186. Lee M, Isaacs J. The novel use of combined IL-1 and IL-6 inhibition in a patient with severe, aggressive, erosive, systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Eur J Rheumatol. 2017;4:68–9.
- 187. de Kleer I, Vastert B, Klein M, Teklenburg G, Arkesteijn G, Yung GP, et al. Autologous stem cell transplantation for autoimmunity induces immunologic self-tolerance by reprogramming autoreactive T cells and restoring the CD4+CD25+ immune regulatory network. Blood. 2006;107(4):1696–702.
- 188. Brinkman BMC, de Kleer M, ten Cate R, van Rossum MA, Bekkering WP, Fasth A, et al. Autologous stem cell transplantation in children with severe progressive systemic or polyarticular juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56:2410–21.
- Swart JF, Wulffraat NM. Mesenchymal stromal cells for treatment of arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2014;28(4):589–603.
- 190. Wang L, Zhang Y, Li H, Hong J, Chen X, Li M, et al. Clinical observation of employment of umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell for juvenile idiopathic arthritis therapy. Stem Cells Int. 2016;2016:9165267.
- 191. Das R, Guan P, Sprague L, Verbist K, Tedrick P, An Q, et al. Janus kinase inhibition lessens inflammation and ameliorates disease in murine models of hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis. Blood. 2016;127(13):1666–75.
- 192. Gabay C, Fautrel B, Rech J, Spertini F, Feist E, Kötter I, et al. Open-label, multicenter, doseescalating phase II clinical trial on the safety and efficacy of tadekinig alfa (IL-18BP) in adult-onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77:840–7.
- 193. Ravelli A, De Benedetti F, Viola S, Martini A. Macrophage activation syndrome in systemic juvenile rheumatoid arthritis successfully treated with cyclosporine. J Pediatr. 1996;128:275–8.
- 194. Henter JI, Samuelsson-Horne A, Aricò M, Egeler RM, Elinder G, Filipovich AH, et al. Treatment of hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis with HLH-94 immunochemotherapy and bone marrow transplantation. Blood. 2002;100(7):2367–73.

- 195. Ravelli A, Grom AA, Behrens EM, Cron RQ. Macrophage activation syndrome as part of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: diagnosis, genetics, pathophysiology and treatment. Genes Immun. 2012;13:289–98.
- 196. Braccaglia C, Gatto A, Pardeo M, Lapeyre G, Ferlin W, Nelson R, et al. Anti interferongamma (IFN-γ) monoclonal antibody treatment in a patient carrying an NLRC4 mutation and severe hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2015; 13(Suppl 1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1546-0096-13-S1-O68.
- 197. Canna SW, Girard C, Malle L, de Jesus A, Romberg N, Kelsen J, et al. Life-threatening NLRC4-associated hyperinflammation successfully treated with IL-18 inhibition. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;139(5):1698–701.
- Nigrovic PA, White PH. Care of the adult with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;15(55):208–16.
- 199. Minden K. Adult outcomes of patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Horm Res. 2009;72(Suppl 1):20–5.
- Lomater C, Gerloni V, Gattinara M, Mazzotti J, Cimaz R, Fantini F. Systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a retrospective study of 80 consecutive patients followed for 10 years. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:491–6.
- 201. Singh-Grewal D, Schneider R, Bayer N, Feldman BM. Predictors of disease course and remission in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: significance of early clinical and laboratory features. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54:1595–601.
- 202. Susic GZ, Stojanovic RM, Pejnovic NN, Damjanov NS, Soldatovic II, Jablanovic DB, Sefik Bukilica MN. Analysis of disease activity, functional disability and articular damage in patients with juvenile idiopathic arthritis: a prospective outcome study. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2011;29(2):337–44.
- 203. Magni-Manzoni S, Pistorio A, Labo E, Viola S, Garcia-Munitis P, Panigada S, et al. A longitudinal analysis of physical functional disability over the course of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67:1159–64.
- Schneider R, Lang BA, Reilly BJ, Laxer RM, Silverman ED, Ibanez D, et al. Prognostic indicators of joint destruction in systemic onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. J Pediatr. 1992;120:200–5.
- 205. Spiegel LR, Schneider R, Lang BA, Birdi N, Silverman ED, Laxer RM, et al. Early predictors of poor functional outcome in systemic-onset juvenile rheumatoid arthritis. A multicenter cohort study. Arthritis Rheum. 2000;43:2402–9.
- 206. Modesto C, Woo P, García-Consuegra J, Merino R, García-Granero M, Arnal C, et al. Systemic onset juvenile chronic arthritis: polyarticular pattern and hip involvement as markers for a bad prognosis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19:211–7.
- 207. Magni-Manzoni S, Rossi F, Pistorio A, Temporini F, Viola S, Beluffi G, et al. Prognostic factors for radiographic progression, radiographic damage, and disability in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48:3509–17.
- Oen K, Malleson PN, Cabral DA, Rosenberg AM, Petty RE, Reed M, et al. Early predictors of long-term outcome in patients with juvenile rheumatoid arthritis: subset-specific correlations. J Rheumatol. 2003;30:585–93.
- 209. Viola S, Felici E, Magni-Manzoni S, Pistorio A, Buoncompagni A, Ruperto N, et al. Development and validation of a clinical index for assessment of long-term damage in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:2092–102.
- 210. Sandborg C, Holmes TH, Lee T, Biederman K, Bloch DA, Emery H, et al. Candidate early predictors for progression to joint damage in systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2006;33:2322–9.
- 211. Wallace CA, Huang B, Bandeira M, Ravelli A, Giannini EH. Patterns of clinical remission in select categories of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52:3554–62.
- 212. Guzman J, Oen K, Tucker LB, Huber AM, Shiff N, Boire G, et al. The outcomes of juvenile idiopathic arthritis in children managed with contemporary cohort treatments: results from the ReACCh-Out. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74:1854–60.



Adult-Onset Still's Disease

Stéphane Mitrovic, Eugen Feist, and Bruno Fautrel

6.1 Introduction

Adult-onset Still's disease (AoSD was first described in the early 1970s, by Bywaters, as an inflammatory condition occurring in young adults. The disease was very similar to childhood-onset Still's disease, today called systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis (SoJIA), described a century ago by Sir Still [1]. Although the exact pathogenic mechanisms of the disease remain unknown, substantial advances have been made first to confirm the homology between AoSD and SoJIA, and then the disease became the archetype of nonfamilial, or sporadic, systemic autoinflammatory disorders (SAID) [2–4].

By definition, AoSD affects people older than 16, either de novo or those with a history of systemic JIA [3, 5, 6]. In the latter, a disease-free interval between the

E. Feist

Department of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Charité—Universitätsmedizin, Berlin, Germany e-mail: Eugen.Feist@charite.de

B. Fautrel (⊠) Department of Rheumatology, Pitié-Salpêtière Hospital, AP-HP, Paris, France

CEREMAIA, Reference Center for Autoinflammatory Diseases and Amyloidosis, Paris, France

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

S. Mitrovic

Department of Rheumatology, Pitié-Salpêtière Hospital, AP-HP, Paris, France

Department of Internal Medicine, Institut Mutualiste Montsouris, Paris, France

CEREMAIA, Reference Center for Autoinflammatory Diseases and Amyloidosis, Paris, France

Sorbonne Université, Pierre Louis Institute of Epidemiology and Public Health, Paris, France e-mail: bruno.fautrel@aphp.fr

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_6

childhood episode and the adulthood recurrence differentiates AoSD from persistent SoJIA. In most patients, AoSD is characterized by four cardinal symptoms: spiking fever, an evanescent salmon-pink maculopapular rash, arthritis, and a white blood cell count (WBC) $\geq 10,000/\text{mm}^3$, mainly neutrophilic polymorphonuclear cells (PMNs). Other features are sore throat or pharyngitis, myalgia, lymph node or spleen enlargement, pleuritis or pericarditis, multivisceral involvement, elevated levels of liver enzymes, and other hematologic abnormalities [3, 7, 8]. None of these symptoms is disease specific, so diagnosis of AoSD is difficult, and clinicians must first rule out neoplastic, infectious, or inflammatory conditions.

6.2 Epidemiology

To date, epidemiologic data about AoSD have been scarce and imprecise, because of the heterogeneous clinical presentation of the disease and the complex assessment of diagnosis. The disease occurs worldwide, and no specific familial aggregation has been reported. AoSD satisfies the definition of an orphan disease because historically its prevalence was estimated between one case per million in Europe [9] and ten cases per million in Japan [10]. In the Japanese study, the incidence was estimated at about one case per million in the mid-1990s. However, because of the substantial advances in AoSD diagnosis as well as differential diagnoses during the last two decades, these prevalence and incidence estimates lack robustness, and new studies are clearly needed to update these figures.

Initially, the disease was characterized as affecting exclusively young adults (i.e., 16-35 years of age [1]); however, more recent series identified cases in adults older than 35 and even elderly people [5, 11-14]. The sex ratio is almost balanced, with only a slight female predominance [5, 6, 11, 13-15].

6.3 Clinical Expression

6.3.1 AoSD Clinical Symptoms

AoSD is traditionally characterized by four "cardinal" symptoms (three are clinical, one is biological), with many other manifestations possibly associated [3, 7, 16].

6.3.1.1 Cardinal Symptom 1: Fever

Fever is constant when the disease is active, except in patients with established disease, for whom residual inflammation could remain without it. Typically, fever starts suddenly, and temperature rapidly reaches 39 °C or more, associated with shivers. It evolves with daily evening spikes for more than a week (Fig. 6.1). Patients usually experience rapid deterioration of general health as well as significant weight loss. Of importance, fever may be the only clinical symptom of AoSD as a potential diagnosis in patients with fever of unknown origin [17].





Fig. 6.2 Ankylosing carpal arthritis in adult-onset Still's disease



6.3.1.2 Cardinal Symptom 2: Arthralgia or Arthritis

Joint pain or arthritis is the second most common symptom, with synovitis, usually with concomitant fever spikes, occurring in more than two-thirds of patients. All joints can be involved, including sacroiliac and distal interphalangeal joints. In some patients, the presentation is that of a bilateral symmetrical rheumatoid arthritis (RA)-like polyarthritis [3, 7]. Synovial fluid analysis displays high cellularity, >2000 cells/mm³, which confirms joint inflammation. When performed, synovium biopsy reveals only nonspecific synovitis. During the evolution, arthritis becomes erosive in one-third of patients; in these patients, isolated bilateral carpal ankylosis (i.e., without structural damage of metacarpophalangeal or proximal interphalangeal joints, in contrast to RA) is very suggestive of AoSD (Fig. 6.2) [1, 3, 7].

6.3.1.3 Cardinal Symptom 3: Skin Rashes

Skin rash is typically salmon pink-colored macular or maculopapular (Figs. 6.3 and 6.4). The rash is transient, mainly visible during fever spikes on the proximal limbs or trunk, and rarely involves the face, palms, or soles of the feet [3, 7, 18]. No specific histological feature has been described. Misdiagnosis with drug allergy is frequent and usually attributed to nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) prescribed for joint symptoms or fever. Complete regression without scars is the rule.

Fig. 6.3 Typical rash of the arm in adult-onset Still's disease



Fig. 6.4 Transient erythema of the elbow in adult-onset Still's disease



Atypical patterns also reported are urticarial or pruritic with dermographism [3, 7, 18]. Presence of purpuric lesions should lead to urgent coagulation workup because these lesions are suggestive of the AoSD hematologic complications of hemophagocytic syndrome or reactive hemophagocytic lymphoproliferation (RHL), disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), or thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA), also called thrombocytic thrombocytopenic purpura or Moschcowitz syndrome [3, 7].

6.3.1.4 Other Clinical Symptoms

Sore throat (odynophagia) and sometimes pharyngitis are classical symptoms, concomitant with fever (and not just a few weeks previous, e.g., in post-streptococcal arthritis) [3]. All microbiological test results are negative. The presence of this symptom in such a systemic context seems to exclude lymphoma or another neoplastic disease [19].

Diffuse and symmetrical lymphadenopathy is possible, eventually associated with splenomegaly or even hepatomegaly. However, large and nonsymmetrical lymphadenopathy should lead to the exclusion of malignant lymphoma by biopsy: reactive polyclonal lymphoid hyperplasia is the usual pattern in AoSD [3, 7]. Kikuchi necrotizing lymphadenitis has been described in a few cases [20].

Myalgia is frequent, but myositis or polymyositis is exceptional [3, 7, 21, 22].

Finally, as in many other inflammatory disorders, nonspecific manifestations have been reported: abdominal pain related to deep lymphadenitis, aseptic peritonitis or rarely acute pancreatitis, pleural effusion or pericarditis, or interstitial lung infiltrates [3, 7].

6.3.2 AoSD Biological Abnormalities

6.3.2.1 Cardinal Symptom 4: Increased Leukocyte and Neutrophil Counts

A major increase in leukocyte and neutrophil counts is observed (i.e., leukocyte count >10,000–15,000/mm³, with neutrophils >80%). Greatly increased counts, up to 50,000/mm³, can be observed, associated with myelemia. Leucopenia has also been described, in isolation or with anemia and/or thrombopenia; it often reveals RHL or TMA [3, 7].

6.3.2.2 Acute-Phase Reactants

Besides increased leukocyte and neutrophil counts, a substantial increase in acutephase reactants—ESR and levels of CRP, fibrinogen, and serum immunoglobulins—is always present during AoSD flares.

6.3.2.3 Liver Function Tests

Elevated serum liver enzyme levels, rarely fulminant hepatitis, are often present, related to systemic inflammation or the use of drugs, such as antibiotics or NSAIDs, as symptomatic treatment before diagnosis.

6.3.2.4 Serum Ferritin and Glycosylated Ferritin

High serum ferritin level, an indicator of macrophage activation, has been frequently reported [5, 12, 23–26]. Although hyperferritinemia was first considered suggestive of AoSD, several studies showed that hyperferritinemia, whatever the threshold used, has poor positive predictive value in isolation without a suggestive context [27, 28].

Besides total ferritin level, the diagnostic performance of glycosylated ferritin (GF) level has been investigated [29]. The GF level normally represents more than half of the total ferritin level. In inflammatory conditions, the concentration of GF decreases and usually ranges from 20% to 50%; this decrease has been related to the saturation of glycosylation mechanisms due to hyperferritinemia. However, in AoSD, GF level is typically markedly decreased (below 20%), which suggests a more specific phenomenon. More extensive data revealed a sensitivity and specificity of GF $\leq 20\%$ for AoSD diagnosis of 78% and 64%, respectively [27]. The combination of both hyperferritinemia and GF level $\leq 20\%$ yielded a sensitivity and specificity of 67% and 84%, respectively. Of note, although serum ferritin level fluctuates according to systemic inflammation, GF level remains low several weeks to several months after disease remission [30]. However, as mentioned previously, low GF level is not completely specific to AoSD and is observed in other inflammatory processes, such as severe systemic infections [27]. Moreover, the GF level is usually low, $\leq 20\%$, in hemophagocytic syndromes, regardless of the cause, such as infection, neoplasm, or inflammation [31-33].

6.3.2.5 Immunological Findings

Results of immunological workups performed to exclude other connective tissue diseases or inflammatory joint diseases must be negative.

6.4 Pathogenesis

6.4.1 A Systemic Autoinflammatory Disorder as Opposed to a Systemic Autoimmune Disease

Approximately ten years ago, McGonagle and McDermott formulated the hypothesis of two main pathogenic mechanisms underlying immune-mediated inflammation against the self and proposed a new classification for immunological diseases contrasting autoimmunity and autoinflammation [2, 34]. Autoimmunity referred to adaptive immunity and was defined as aberrant dendritic, B- and T-cell responses in primary and secondary lymphoid organs leading to tolerance break and development of immune reactivity toward native antigens (with autoantibodies in most cases), whereas autoinflammation referred to innate immunity and was defined as dysregulated activation of macrophages and neutrophils in response to a danger signal leading to tissue damage. These categories represent a continuum, which allowed for a new classification of immune-mediated inflammatory disorders that was refined in the following years [2, 4].

Although autoimmune diseases were rather easily diagnosed based on autoantibody or autoantigen-specific T and B cells, no specific biomarker exists for SAID. The definition mainly relies on similarities with monogenic, hereditary periodic fever syndromes, which were at the origin of the concept. They include several key features: intense inflammation with periodic fever, tissue inflammation depending on the disease, increased leukocyte and neutrophil count, elevated erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) and C-reactive protein (CRP) level, and, more recently, a pathogenic role of inflammasome and response to interleukin-1 (IL-1) blockade [35]. Besides monogenic familial syndromes, Crohn's disease was the first nonfamilial polygenic AID, mainly tissue specific, with predominant gut involvement [36, 37]. A few years later, Still's disease was described as another nonfamilial AID, becoming one of the most characteristic polygenic systemic SAID [3].

6.4.2 A Pro-inflammatory Cascade

The mechanisms underlying AoSD pathogenesis are largely hypothetical, but, from the evident pathogenic pathway seen in SoJIA patients and the growing understanding of SAID, a pro-inflammatory cascade can be proposed (Fig. 6.5) [3, 7, 16, 38, 39].



Fig. 6.5 Pathogenic pathways involved in AoSD (adapted from [16]). AGE advanced glycosylated end products, ATP adenosine triphosphate, ER endoplasmic reticulum, DAMP damage-associated molecular pattern, DC dendritic cells, HLA human leukocyte antigen, IL interleukin, $M\Phi$ macrophages, MIF macrophage inhibitory factor, NK natural killer, PAMP pathogen-associated molecular pattern, PMN polymorphonuclear neutrophil, RAMP resolution-associated molecular pattern, ROS reactive oxygen species, sRAGE soluble receptors of AGE products, TGF transforming growth factor, Th1 T-helper 1 cells, Treg T-regulatory cells

6.4.2.1 A Cytokine Storm

The starting point is likely specific danger signals, such as pathogen- or damageassociated molecular patterns (i.e., PAMPs or DAMPs). Danger signals are transmitted to macrophages and neutrophils via specific Toll-like receptors that activate specific inflammasomes, likely NOD-like receptor family pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3), leading to caspase activation and overproduction of active IL-1 [39-42]. This step seems to be central to the AoSD pathogenesis and leads to intense innate immune cell activation and overproduction of several pro-inflammatory cytokines including IL-6, IL-18, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), as well as IL-8 and IL-17. Several factors actively contribute to an amplified inflammatory response, often referred to as the cytokine "burst" or "storm" [3, 42]. In addition to IL-1 itself, conferring retrograde activation of macrophages and neutrophils; different alarmins, such as the S100 protein-S100A12 protein seeming to be more specific to Still's disease in children—and advanced glycosylated end (AGE) products are involved in these processes [39, 42–46]. Besides amplification mechanisms, SAID pathogenesis has been suggested to involve deficiency or failure in regulatory or antiinflammatory mechanisms: deficiency in T regulator or natural killer cells, insufficient IL-10 production, and deficiency in resolution lipid mediators, soluble receptors of AGEs (RAGEs), or other resolution-associated molecular patterns [47-50].

6.4.2.2 A Role for Infections as a Trigger

Bacteria or viruses are the usual suspects for the danger signals. Numerous case reports describe the occurrence of AoSD after viral infection (rubella; measles; mumps; Epstein-Barr virus; hepatitis A, B, or C virus; HIV; cytomegalovirus; parvovirus B19; adenovirus; echovirus; human herpes virus 6; influenza and parainfluenza viruses; Coxsackie virus) or bacterial infection (*Yersinia enterocolitica, Campylobacter jejuni, Chlamydia trachomatis* or *pneumoniae, Mycoplasma pneumoniae, Borrelia burgdorferi*) [3, 7, 39]. In addition, patients often experience odynophagia or pharyngitis just before the start of the disease or the relapse, which could correspond to the infectious danger signal that will trigger Toll-like receptors and start the intense inflammatory process.

6.4.2.3 A Role for a Genetic Background

In contrast to monogenic, hereditary, periodic fever syndromes, the underlying genetic background of AoSD is largely unknown. The disease is present in different geographic regions and different ethnic groups [3, 4, 7, 39, 51]. Association studies have suggested a potential predisposing genetic background. HLA-Bw35 was the first identified as a susceptibility antigen and associated with a mild self-limiting pattern of the disease [52]. HLA-DR4 was found more prevalent in AoSD cases versus healthy controls, and HLA-DRw6 was associated with the occurrence of proximal arthralgia [53]. However, no functional analysis has confirmed these hypotheses [3, 39, 53].

Recently, two major findings have been reported in SoJIA patients. Firstly, a homoallelic missense mutation in the enzyme laccase (multicopper oxidoreductase) domain-containing 1—*LACC1*—has been identified in 13 SoJIA patients from five Saudi consanguineous families [54]. Although familial SoJIA is not the rule, this study raises the potential role of this laccase in the pathogenesis of SoJIA. Secondly, a large association study performed in 982 SoJIA children and 8010 healthy controls identified a strong association between SoJIA and different HLA-DRB1*11 haplotypes which all contain glutamate 58 [55]. This finding is more challenging since it would involve adaptive immunity in the AoSD pathogenesis which was not expected [56].

Finally, substantial advances have been made in exploring the human genome, which will facilitate the identification of potential mutations in genes involved in autoinflammatory pathways, including de novo germinal mutations or somatic mutations occurring during fetus development or after birth [57, 58].

6.5 Atypical Forms and Life-Threatening Complications

Several severe manifestations have been described in AoSD, which explains the potentially pejorative prognosis of the disease [3, 59]. The disease can be life-threatening because of the predominant involvement of one organ or of systemic complications with multiple organ failure from the outset, while the diagnosis isn't
clearly confirmed. The articular signs may often fall by the wayside because of the gravity of the complications of such clinical forms, which can contribute to misdirect the clinicians who are not familiar with AoSD.

These complications are given in Table 6.1, and the most frequent and relevant ones are discussed in more detail.

6.5.1 Reactive Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis (RHL)

This is a common complication of AoSD at the time of diagnosis, right after treatment introduction or during the course of the disease. In systemic-onset JIA, it is also called macrophage activation syndrome. This serious complication should be suspected in a patient with persisting fever (in contrast to evening spiking fever) and decrease in initially elevated leukocyte and neutrophil counts [3, 32, 59]. Several other manifestations can be associated.

The key issue with RHL is to determine whether its occurrence is related to AoSD intense inflammation or to concomitant infection, potentially favored by immunomodulators introduced because of AoSD. The list of possible infections is quite long, with viral reactivation at first place.

6.5.2 Coagulation Disorders

AoSD can be complicated by two serious coagulation disorders, mainly at the acute phase of the disease.

The first disorder, disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC), is not rare and may occur at a frequency of 1-5% [8, 53, 59–67]. This diagnosis should be suspected with the combination of thrombotic events and cutaneous or mucosal bleeding and sometimes specific organ involvements, such as fulminant hepatitis, cardiac or respiratory failure, or stroke. Hemostasis workups reveal platelet and coagulation factor consumption, increased thromboplastin time, and high D-dimer levels.

The other rare but quite severe coagulation disorder is thrombotic microangiopathy (TMA). It must be suspected with unexplained multiorgan failure or stroke, related to multiple small thrombi leading to tissue ischemia and mechanical hemolytic anemia [60, 74, 75]. Acute vision impairment, such as blurred vision related to Purtscher-like retinopathy, is frequently the first symptom [74]. Key diagnostic tests display thrombocytopenia by platelet consumption, anemia, and schistocytes (fragmented red blood cells), which are specific to this diagnosis. Organ imaging may reveal multiple infarctions. In addition, ADAMTS13 enzymatic activity needs to be tested because acquired deficiency has been found to predispose to TMA [59, 96–98]. TMA has been mainly described during AoSD flare, related to intense inflammation or to concomitant infection with Shiga toxin-producing microorganisms [74].

Table 6.1 Main life-th	reatening complications of AoSD			
Complications	Signs and symptoms	Diagnosis	Treatment	References
Reactive hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (RHL)	 High (>38.5 °C), persistent fever^a Peripheral lymphadenopathy, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly Polymorphous skin rashes^h: rashes, edema, petechiae, urticaria, or purpura Multiple organ involvement: pulmonary, neurological, gastrointestinal, or renal involvement, bleeding Rapid change on hemogram: resolution of high leukocyte and neutrophil counts, occurrence of anemia and thrombocytopenia 	 Cytopenia^c: anemia, thrombocytopenia, and/or leukopenia Decreased ESR⁴ Increased liver function tests: transaminases and alkaline phosphatases Elevated LDH level Hyperferritinemia^c 	 Supportive care in ICU Exclusion of an additional trigger: mainly infections^g Immunomodulatory agents: High-dose corticosteroids ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors after a few days If refractory, etoposide or cyclosporine A 	[3, 32, 59]
Disseminated intravascular coagulopathy (DIC)	 Hematoma, bleeding Thrombotic event Multi-organ involvement or failure: ARDS, pleural effusion, myocarditis, pulmonary embolism, gastrointestinal bleeding, CNS involvement 	 Thrombocytopenia Prolongation of prothrombin time and activated thromboplastin time Decreased fibrinogen Increased levels of fibrin degradation products 	 Supportive measures in ICU Immunomodulatory agents: High-dose corticosteroids ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors If refractory, cyclosporine A 	[8, 53, 59–73]

102

Signs and	symptoms	Diagnosis	Treatment	References
Acute vision impairment (early sigWeakness	• (uŝ	• Mechanical hemolytic anemia (schistocytes on the peripheral	 Supportive measures in ICU Specific treatment: 	[60, 74–76]
 Confusion, seizures, or coma Abdominal pain, nausea, vomiting, diarrhea 	•	blood smear with a negative Coomb's test) • Thrombocytopenia	 High-dose corticosteroids and plasma exchange ±Hemodialvsis 	
 Cutaneous gangrene Arrhythmias caused by myocardial damage Multi-organ failure 	•	• Multiple organ failure of varying severity (mainly the kidneys and the CNS)	 If insufficient, multidisciplinary round ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors or cyclosporine or IVIG 	
 Physical status deterioration: appeloss, fatigue Jaundice Hepatomegaly Right abdominal pain Rarely, bleeding Elevated liver function test finding 	e e e	 Abnormal and rapidly increasing liver function test findings High activity on multi-biomarker FibroTest Liver biopsy (if performed): nonspecific portal infiltrates of lymphocytes, plasma cells, and neutrophils, hepatocytic lesions or massive necrosis 	 Supportive measures in ICU Discontinuation of all potentially hepatotoxic drugs^h: mainly acetaminophen, aspirin, NSAIDs, or methotrexate Rule out RHL, DIC, and/or TMA Rule out viral reactivation Specific treatment: High-dose corticosteroids ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors⁴ or cyclosporine Liver transplantation in extreme 	[42, 60]
 Pericarditis, sometimes recurrent Tamponade Myocarditis Endocarditis (exceptional cases) 	•••	 Electrocardiography Echocardiography Troponin and creatinine kinase level increase if myocarditis 	cases • Supportive measures in ICU • Specific treatment: - High-dose corticosteroids usually - ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors	[42, 60]

(continued)

103

;	,			
Complications	Signs and symptoms	Diagnosis	Treatment	References
Pulmonary arterial hypertension	 Dyspnea (key symptom) Fatigue, dizziness Syncope ARDS 	 Electrocardiography: right atrium hypertrophy Echocardiography: systolic PAP >35 mmHg Right heart catheterization (gold standard): Mean PAP 225 mmHg at rest End-expiratory PAWP 515 mmHg Pulmonary vascular resistance >3 wood units 	 Close monitoring and refer to a pulmonary hypertension reference center (multidisciplinary rounds) Vasodilatation therapy: calcium channel blockers, endothelin receptor antagonists, phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors, and/ or prostacyclin analogues Immunosuppressive therapy: High-dose steroids ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors or cyclosporine 	[77-88]
Pulmonary complications	 Pleuritis Interstitial lung disease with or without ARDS A septic empyema Diffuse alveolar hemorrhage 	 High-resolution computed tomography Bronchoalveolar lavage (for differential diagnosis: in AoSD, nonspecific neutrophilic profile) Pulmonary function tests 	 Supportive measures in ICU if ARDS Rule out differential diagnoses: infections, cardiogenic causes (brain natriuretic peptide dosage, echocardiography), drug-related or iatrogenic causes, cancer Specific treatment: High-dose corticosteroids usually ±IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors 	[42, 60]
AA amyloidosis	 Exceptional these days Renal failure, proteinuria, edema, hydrops Digestive involvement Orthostatic hypotension, other neuropathics 	 Biopsy of minor salivary gland, or abdominal fat pad, or the kidney 	 Inflammation control with IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors 	[89–93]
AoSD adult-onset Still intravascular coagulop	's disease, ARDS acute respiratory distreathy, DRESS drug reaction with eosinopl	ss syndrome, <i>BAL</i> bronchoalveolar lavailia and systemic symptoms, <i>ESR</i> eryt	age, CNS central nervous system, DIC of throcyte sedimentation rate, ICU intensi	disseminated ve care unit,

^e Hyperferritinemia is also seen in AoSD, but, in case of very high ferritin levels or sudden increase, an RHL or another systemic complication should be suspected ^r This scoring system is a set of nine weighted criteria (known underlying immunosuppression, temperature, organomegaly, number of cytopenia, ferritin, tri- glyceride, fibrinogen, serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase, hemophagocytosis features on bone marrow aspirate) that have been elaborated and validated for the diagnosis of RHL in adults [94]. It is freely available online (http://saintantoine.aphp.ff/score/) [®] Mainly infections, in particular viral reactivation (Epstein-Barr virus, cytomegalovirus), which may trigger AoSD or reactivated by immunosuppressive treatments ^b Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome, potentially induced by interleukin (IL)-1 or IL-6 or another immunosuppressive agent, is a differential diagnosis that should always been ruled out because it can be responsible for a fulminant hepatitis and mimic AoSD systemic
glyceride, fibrinogen, serum glutamic oxaloacetic transaminase, hemophagocytosis features on bone marrow aspirate) that have been elaborated and validated for the diagnosis of RHL in adults [94]. It is freely available online (http://saintantoine.aphp.fr/score/) ^g Mainly infections, in particular viral reactivation (Epstein-Barr virus, cytomegalovirus), which may trigger AoSD or reactivated by immunosuppressive treatments ^h Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome, potentially induced by interleukin (IL)-1 or IL-6 or another immunosuppressive agent, is a differential diagnosis that should always been ruled out because it can be responsible for a fulminant hepatitis and mimic AoSD systemic
^h Drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms (DRESS) syndrome, potentially induced by interleukin (IL)-1 or IL-6 or another immunosuppressive agent, is a differential diagnosis that should always been ruled out because it can be responsible for a fulminant hepatitis and mimic AoSD systemic
manifestations
'Keeping in mind that tocilizumab-induced hepatic injury has also been reported [95]

6.5.3 Cardiac and Pulmonary Involvements

Although pleural effusion or pericarditis is frequent, other serious cardiac or pulmonary manifestations have been described.

Specific attention should be dedicated to a rare and very severe AoSD manifestation, pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH), with several cases recently reported [77–88]. PAH, either idiopathic or occurring with AoSD or other connective tissue diseases, is thought to be related at least in part to immune-related alteration of the endothelium with overproduction of IL-1, IL-6, IL-18, and TNF [79, 80, 82, 83, 99]. PAH may occur at AoSD onset or later and seems to predominate in women. The diagnosis must be suspected with unexplained and often rapidly progressing dyspnea [59, 79, 81, 100, 101]. Electrocardiography is rarely contributive, eventually disclosing signs of right atrium hypertrophy. Echocardiography is more useful for detection by measuring systolic pulmonary artery pressure, which is >35 mmHg, and the exclusion of left ventricle dysfunction. The formal PAH diagnosis remains the right heart catheterization [100, 101].

6.5.4 Hepatitis

While liver abnormalities are most often limited to mild to moderate increases in aminotransferase activity which is frequent (up to 60% of cases), fulminant and fatal hepatitis have been reported [3, 59]. The potential role of aspirin, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), or methotrexate has been mentioned by some authors [102]. Thus, clinicians should closely monitor liver function from the onset of the disease and particularly after prescription of potentially hepatotoxic drugs. Self-medication should be avoided.

Liver biopsy, if performed, reveals nonspecific portal infiltrates of lymphocytes, plasma cells, and polymorphonuclears [3, 59, 102]. Hepatocytic lesions or massive necrosis has been described in fulminant hepatitis with rapidly progressive hepatic insufficiency. Liver transplantation was necessary in a few exceptional cases [3, 103].

6.5.5 Exceptional Symptoms

Amyloid A amyloidosis is becoming extremely rare owing to the better ability of AoSD treatments to control inflammation [89–93]. It could be observed in refractory patients or in patients who did not have access to adequate treatments for long periods of time. Multiple organs can be involved.

Many other symptoms attributed to AoSD have appeared in the literature. As these are almost exclusively in case reports, drawing conclusions is difficult:

 Ophthalmologic involvement related to sicca syndrome, conjunctivitis, uveitis, or episcleritis [1, 5, 102].

- Neurological manifestations, such as ischemic stroke, aseptic meningitis, or encephalitis [3]. Such symptoms might reveal hepatic failure or coagulation dysfunction, as in DIC, RHL, or TMA.
- Renal involvement limited to isolated proteinuria or related to glomerular or interstitial nephritis [102, 103]. Acute renal failure is possible in the context of severe myositis, hepatic insufficiency, or hematological complications [21, 74, 102–104].
- Secondary amyloid A amyloidosis (AA amyloidosis) is nowadays exceptional and is related to sustained uncontrolled inflammation [89–93].

6.6 Differential Diagnoses

AoSD is an exclusion diagnosis. Because of presentation heterogeneity and of the lack of specificity of the clinical and biological manifestations, many other diagnoses might be evoked and afterward ruled out, before reasonably considering AoSD(Table 6.2) [3, 5, 6, 102]. Before finally diagnosing AoSD, it is thus essential to first rule out neoplastic, infectious, or inflammatory conditions that can mimic the disease.

	Diseases	Relevant workups
Infections		
Bacteria	Pyogenic bacterial septicemia	Blood cultures, PCT
	Infectious endocarditis	Echocardiogram
	Biliary, colic, or urinary occult infections, tuberculosis	CT scan IGRAs, CT scan
	Brucellosis, yersiniosis	Biopsy for bacteriology and histology Serology, PCR
Viruses	HIV, viral hepatitis Parvovirus B19 Herpesviridae Measles, rubella	Serology, PCR
Parasites	Toxoplasmosis, abscessed parasitosis	Serology, PCR
Malignant diseases		
Hematological disease	Hodgkin's disease or non- Hodgkin's lymphoma	Biopsy of a large and asymmetrical lymphadenopathy
	Angioimmunoblastic lymphadenopathy	Bone marrow smear or biopsy
	Castleman's disease	CT scan
	Myeloproliferative disorders	PET/CT scan
Solid cancers	Kidney, colon, lung, etc. Paraneoplastic syndromes	CT scan, PET/CT scan

 Table 6.2
 Differential diagnoses of AoSD and helpful tests to rule them out

(continued)

	Diseases	Relevant workups
Systemic diseases		
Autoimmune	Systemic lupus erythematosus	Antinuclear autoantibodies
diseases	Polymyositis, dermatomyositis	CPK, specific autoantibody, biopsy
	Rheumatoid arthritis	RF, ACPA, joint ultrasonography
	Polyarteritis nodosa or other vasculitides	ANCA, arteriography
Autoinflammatory disorders	Hereditary autoinflammatory syndromes:	Familial history and
	- Familial Mediterranean fever	- MEFV gene sequencing
	– Mevalonate kinase deficiency	 Urinary mevalonic acid, MVK gene sequencing
	 – TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome 	-TNFRSF1A gene sequencing
	 – Cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes 	- CIAS1 (NLRP3) gene sequencing
	Neutrophilic dermatosis, Sweet syndrome	Skin biopsy
Other	Post-streptococcal arthritis	ASLO
	Reactive arthritis	No fever, erythema nodosum
	Sarcoidosis	ACEs, lesion biopsy
		(granulomatosis)
	Schnitzler's syndrome	Monoclonal gammopathy
	Kikuchi-Fujimoto disease	Biopsy of a large and asymmetrical lymphadenopathy
	Drug-related hypersensitivity	Eosinophilia, drug investigation

Iddle 0.2 (Continueu)	Table 6.2	(continued)
-----------------------	-----------	-------------

ACEs angiotensin-converting enzymes, ACPA anti-citrullinated antibody, ANCA anti-neutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies, ASLO anti-streptolysin O antibody, CPK creatine phosphokinase, CT computed tomography, HLA human leukocyte antigen, IGRAs interferon gamma release assays, MEFV Mediterranean fever virus, MVK mevalonate kinase, PCR polymerase chain reaction, PCT procalcitonin, PET positron emission tomography, RF rheumatoid factor, TNFRS1A tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily member 1A

6.6.1 Infections

Infectious diseases represent the most complex issue in differential diagnoses because AoSD therapies can be highly deleterious. The most misleading diagnoses are probably deep occult infections (e.g., biliary tract abscess or bone marrow infestation) or subacute endocarditis [3]. Whole blood culture, urine testing, and synovial fluid culture seem the minimal workup, while other tests might be considered depending on the context.

6.6.2 Malignant Diseases

Among malignancies, malignant lymphomas—either Hodgkin's disease or non-Hodgkin's lymphomas—are probably the most misleading and the first to exclude

if nonsymmetrical, fixed, and indurated lymph node enlargement is present [3, 105]. Less frequently, systemic inflammatory conditions have been described in the course of lymphoid leukemia or in paraneoplastic syndromes associated with solid cancers of either the lung or the breast [3, 105].

6.6.3 Autoimmune or Autoinflammatory Disorders

Autoimmune diseases that can mimic AoSD include vasculitis, especially polyarteritis nodosa, and polymyositis [6]. For patients with mainly chronic arthritis, the distinction between seronegative RA and AoSD can be difficult.

Besides autoimmune diseases, hereditary or nonfamilial autoinflammatory syndrome (AIS) can present with symptoms close to AoSD because of the combination of fever, skin lesions, and arthritis in addition to other symptoms that differ among the AIS [106–108]. Although the hereditary AIS often begins during childhood, the diagnosis tends to be made when the individual is an adult; examples are hyperimmunoglobulin D (IgD) syndrome or TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Different mutations have been associated with different hereditary AIS, but, to date, none has been associated with AoSD. However, the similarities between these diseases and AoSD might suggest common pathogenic pathways and place AoSD as a nonfamilial, sporadic form of AIS.

Finally, in rare cases, the severe and systemic drug hypersensitivity reaction can mimic AoSD. The presence of urticarial skin lesions and increased eosinophilic PMN count are suggestive features, as is exposure to a potential agent within the previous days or weeks.

6.7 Classification Criteria and Biomarkers

After comprehensive investigations, no clinical sign or biological abnormality can be considered AoSD specific enough to ascertain the diagnosis. Thus, classification criteria may be helpful, although they have been developed more for clinical research than diagnosis.

6.7.1 Classification Criteria

Two sets of criteria have been validated (Table 6.3). The Yamaguchi criteria set, published in 1992, is the most widely used [109]; however, it contains exclusion criteria that are problematic in clinical practice. The Fautrel criteria set has the advantage of including ferritin and GF levels as diagnostic biomarkers and does not require exclusion criteria [13]. In a recent validation study, both sets showed high sensitivity and specificity [14].

Yamaguchi et al. [109]	Fautrel et al. [13]
Major criteria	
 Fever ≥39 °C lasting 1 week or more Arthralgia lasting 2 weeks or more Typical skin rash: maculopapular, nonpruritic, salmon-pink rash with concomitant fever spikes Leukocytosis ≥10,000/mm³ with neutrophil polymorphonuclear count ≥80% 	 Spiking fever ≥39 °C Arthralgia Transient erythema Pharyngitis Neutrophil polymorphonuclear count ≥80% Glycosylated ferritin fraction ≤20%
Minor criteria	
 Pharyngitis or sore throat Lymphadenopathy and/or splenomegaly Liver enzyme abnormalities (aminotransferases) Negative for rheumatoid factor or antinuclear antibodies 	 Typical rash Leukocytosis ≥10,000/mm³
Exclusion criteria	
 Absence of infection, especially sepsis and Epstein- Barr viral infection Absence of malignant diseases, especially lymphomas Absence of inflammatory disease, especially polyarteritis nodosa 	None
At least five criteria, including two major criteria And No exclusion criteria	Four major criteria Or Three major criteria and two minor criteria
Classification performance ^a Se, 96.3%; Sp, 98.2%; PPV, 94.6%; NPV, 99.3% Modified Yamaguchi criteria Yamaguchi criteria and – Ferritin > N:Se, 100%; Sp 97.1%; PPV, 87.1%; NPV, 100% – $GF \le 20\%$:Se, 98.2%; Sp, 98.6%; PPV, 93%; NPV, 99.6%	Classification performance ^a Se, 87.0%; Sp, 97.8%; PPV, 88.7%; NPV, 97.5%

Table 6.3 Classification criteria for adult-onset Still's disease

^aLebrun D et al. Semin Arthritis Rheum 2018 [14]

6.7.2 AoSD Biomarkers

The most relevant serum biomarkers identified to date are listed in Table 6.4.

6.7.2.1 Biomarkers for Routine Clinical Setting

Ferritins are the major biomarkers for AoSD. Serum ferritin level is a key biomarker to assess disease activity, but probably less relevant for diagnosis since its specificity is limited and no clear threshold has been identified so far [27, 28]. The diagnostic value of glycosylated ferritin level, with the threshold of GF \leq 20%, is much more interesting [27, 30].

Table 6.4 Most relevant serui	n biomarkers identif	ied to date in adult-	onset Still's disease (AoSD) col	horts and their intended potential use	
		Disease activity	Prognosis: severity (i.e., predictive of life-threatening	Prognosis: evolution (i.e., predictive of evolution pattern ^b (systemic versus arthritis; monophasic, recurrent, or	
Biomarker	Diagnosis ^a	monitoring	complications)	progressive, either systemic or joint)	References
Routine biomarkers					
CRP	High sensitivity No specificity	+	1	1	[42]
Ferritins					
Ferritin >ULN ≥5ULN (≥1000 µg/L)	High sensitivity No specificity	+	+	ŦI	[5, 12, 27, 28, 61, 110]
	Se 40.8% Sp 80%	+	+	High levels associated with systemic pattern ^e	
Glycosylated ferritin (GF) ≤20%	Se 79.5% Sp 66.4%	I	÷	NA	[29, 30]
Ferritin >ULN and GF ≤20%	Se 70.5% Sp 83.2%	1	1	1	[29, 30]
Ferritin >5ULN and GF ≤20%	Se 70.5% Sp 92.9%	1	1	1	[29, 30]
Calprotectin (S100A8/S100A9 proteins)	p+	+	NA	NA	[111, 112]
Procalcitonin	Weak (rule out sepsis)	NA	NA	NA	[113]
SAA	NA	NA	+ Predictive of AA amyloidosis	NA	[42]
					(continued)

Biomarker	Diagnosis ^a	Disease activity monitoring	Prognosis: severity (i.e., predictive of life-threatening complications)	Prognosis: evolution (i.e., predictive of evolution pattern ^b (systemic versus arthritis; monophasic, recurrent, or progressive, either systemic or joint)	References
Nonroutine biomarkers					
IL-18 > 150 ng/L >366 ng/L	Se 88% Sp 78% Se 91.7% Sp 99.1%	+	+ High levels are associated with RHL, hepatitis, and steroid dependence	+ High levels potentially associated with systemic pattern	[110, 111, 114–124]
IL-1 β^*	°I	+	÷	± High levels potentially associated with systemic pattern	[115, 116, 125]
IL-6*	ĩ	+	± High levels potentially associated with RHL	± High levels potentially associated with arthritis pattern	[115, 116]
$TNF-\alpha^*$	ĩ	1	1	1	[115, 116]
S100A12 protein*	Ť	+	NA	NA	[43, 45, 126]
AGEs and sRAGE*	+1	+	NA	+ Higher AGE levels in serum with polycyclic or chronic articular patterns (compared to monocyclic pattern)	[50]
CXCL10*	+	+	NA	NA	[127]
CXCL13*	+	+	NA	NA	[127]
sCD163*	+1	NA	NA	NA	[128, 129]
MIF*	+	+	NA	NA	[130]
ICAM1*	+1	+	NA	NA	[131]

e range according to		in, MIF macrophage	TNF tumor necrosis	
of normal, se sensitivity, sp. specificity, *reference		M1 intracellular adhesion molecule-1, IL interleuk	loid A protein, sRAGE soluble receptors for AGEs,	
ontradictory results, NA not assessed, ULN upper level of		ced glycation end products, CRP C-reactive protein, ICAM	ve hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis, SAA serum amyle	
+ yes, $-$ no, \pm tested but co	nanufacturer	4A amyloid A, AGEs advanc	nhibitory factor, RHL reactiv	actor

A good diagnostic biomarker helps rule out the differential diagnoses of infection, malignancy, and other inflammatory disorders

bIdentifying the disease subset might orientate the therapeutic strategy

Serum ferritin levels are significantly higher in the systemic subtype [110], but high ferritin levels after adequate treatment may predict chronic articular course 61]

⁴Calprotectin levels help rule out rheumatoid arthritis, but further studies are needed to validate it as a diagnostic biomarker because of no statistical difference between AoSD and septic patients, although the populations were small [42]

Elevated plasma levels of IL-1β, IL-6, and TNFa have been found during AoSD, but the cytokine profile is not specific and cannot differentiate AoSD patients from those with sepsis

S100A12 was found an efficient diagnostic and monitoring biomarker in systemic juvenile arthritis, but further studies are needed for validation in AoSD

Procalcitonin, a marker of severe systemic infection, was also found elevated in patients with active AoSD and does not appear relevant to distinguish acute infection from AoSD flare [42, 113].

Serum level of calprotectin (i.e., S100A8/S100A9 protein) could be an additional disease activity biomarker because alarmins seem to play a key role in AoSD pathogenesis. However, it is not specific to AoSD and may be elevated in many other inflammatory conditions [42, 44, 111, 112]. Finally, serum amyloid A protein (SAA) is an inflammatory biomarker found predictive of amyloidosis [42].

6.7.2.2 Potential Biomarkers for Future Clinical Research

Several research works assessed serum cytokine levels. High serum levels of IL-1, IL-6, and IL-18 have been found in systemic forms of AoSD and can be considered activity biomarkers. However, their additional value on top of CRP level and other inflammatory biomarkers is unclear, and these cytokines are clearly not specific to AoSD. Thus, they are not recommended in routine investigation. Of importance, IL-18 seems to play a key role in RHL.

AGE products and RAGEs, involved in AoSD pathogenesis, may be elevated in other inflammatory disorders. High serum levels have been associated with polycyclic or chronic/progressive evolution patterns [42]. Serum level of soluble CD163, a macrophage activation biomarker, is elevated in AoSD but is not specific to the disease. Finally, several chemokines (C-X-C motif chemokine ligands 10 and 13, macrophage inhibitory factor) have been found to be diagnostic biomarkers for AoSD, which needs to be confirmed in larger patient samples [42].

6.8 Disease Evolution and Prognosis

AoSD evolution can be quite diverse and currently is impossible to predict. Several patterns of evolution have been described, mainly based on case series and not robust epidemiological studies [5, 9, 102, 132, 133]:

6.8.1 Evolution Patterns

6.8.1.1 Self-Limited, Monocyclic Evolution

It combines systemic manifestations and joint involvement: the initial flare evolves over a few weeks; remission is achieved with steroids or other immunomodulatory agents after a few days or weeks; and treatments can be progressively tapered and then stopped without relapse after a few months. The pattern may represent 19–44% of cases.

6.8.1.2 Recurrent or Polycyclic Evolution

It is characterized by AoSD relapses after a few months or years, under immunomodulatory treatment or after its discontinuation. In this pattern, one classical presentation is a first flare during childhood-diagnosed SoJIA, followed by sustained drug-free remission for several years, and then a relapse in adulthood. In most of these cases, recurrences combine systemic and joint involvement. The pattern represents 10-41% of cases.

6.8.1.3 Chronic and Progressive Evolution

In this form, a continuous inflammation is responsible for chronic and frequently erosive joint involvement with regular systemic flares. This pattern was the most frequent, estimated at 35–67% of cases, in old series [1, 102, 134]. Although no new estimates are available, this pattern should be less likely with the most recent targeted therapies.

6.8.2 Prognosis

The prognosis of AoSD is dominated by potential life-threatening events as well as progressive functional impairment.

6.8.2.1 Life Prognosis

The life prognosis is dominated by the severity of the following visceral involvements, in isolation or combination: hematological complications, such as DIC, TMA, or severe RHL; fulminant hepatitis with rapid liver failure; and acute respiratory distress syndrome, extensive myocarditis, or multiorgan failure [3, 59]. Importantly, exacerbation of these serious symptoms has been reported within the first days of treatment initiation, especially of biological therapies. This necessitates a close and very careful monitoring of such patients at the start of treatment. In addition to organ involvements, the development of secondary amyloidosis of the AA type remains possible in long-standing refractory chronic articular AoSD [59].

6.8.2.2 Functional Prognosis

Functional prognosis depends mainly on erosion and joint destruction in chronic articular AoSD, which affects approximately one-third of patients [3, 7, 102]. No clear predictor of erosive joint disease has been identified, but, as joint involvement is often limited, functional prognosis in AoSD seems to be less severe than in RA or other inflammatory arthritides [135].

6.8.2.3 latrogenicity

Corticosteroid side effects are also common because steroids are usually prescribed in high doses and the long term, which might contribute to the overall prognosis in AoSD.

6.9 AoSD Treatment

AoSD is rare, and no randomized controlled trial has been performed. Thus, the only information on therapy is from observational studies and retrospective case series. Recently, the management of AoSD benefited from the proofs of the efficacy of targeted biotherapies.

6.9.1 Symptomatic Treatments

Although NSAIDs, including aspirin, have been effective in systemic JIA, they are rarely effective in AoSD; only 20% of patients have achieved control with this therapy [1, 102, 103].

Of the NSAIDs, indometacin 150–250 mg/day seems to be the most effective [3, 102]. Liver enzymes must be monitored at the initial stages of the disease because severe hepatitis has been suggested to be related to treatment with NSAIDs [3, 102, 103].

Acetaminophen may help to reduce fever, although it is often not enough to suspend it. Other analgesics might be necessary to relieve intense myalgia and joint paint.

6.9.2 Corticosteroids

Once the diagnosis is established, corticosteroids are usually required to induce symptom remission. Optimal dosing relies on medium to high doses (i.e., 0.5–1 mg/ kg/day of prednisone equivalent) [3, 5, 6, 16, 102]. Patients with serious visceral involvement might achieve a quick response with intravenous infusion of high-dose methylprednisolone [3, 102, 103]. Response to corticosteroids is often dramatic—within a couple of hours or a few days [3, 102].

The consensus is lacking on a therapeutic tapering scheme once clinical remission is achieved. However, owing to the potentially serious side effects of cumulative corticosteroid therapy, many others currently recommend to achieve the dose of 0.1 mg/kg/day after 6 weeks of therapy and to stop completely after three months. If this is not possible, the response should be considered inadequate, and a diseasemodifying treatment, especially a targeted therapy, should be started (Fig. 6.6) [16].

6.9.3 Methotrexate

Methotrexate is used as an immunomodulatory agent in rheumatoid arthritis. It is efficient in controlling AoSD disease activity and allowing for steroid dose sparing [3, 136–138]. However, whether methotrexate can prevent or limit joint structural damage in the erosive form of AoSD, as has been shown for RA, is unclear. The presence of liver enzyme abnormalities does not contraindicate methotrexate prescription, but close biological monitoring is necessary [3, 102, 136, 137].

Of importance, methotrexate can be associated with anti-IL-1- or anti-IL-6targeted therapies.

6.9.4 Targeted Therapies for AoSD

Different targeted therapies have been used to treat refractory AoSD (Table 6.5). The medical need is high, keeping in mind the unsatisfactory rates provided by



Fig. 6.6 Therapeutic strategies to manage AoSD patients. *CRP* C-reactive protein, *ESR* erythrocyte sedimentation rate, *IL* interleukin, *methylPDN* methylprednisolone, *NSAIDs* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, *TNF* tumor necrosis factor

classical therapies with NSAIDs or conventional disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs). The use of glucocorticoids is also limited by the known long-term safety issues, especially with higher doses. In fact, for at least 30–40% of patients, the disease cannot be controlled by glucocorticoids even when combined with conventional DMARDs, such as methotrexate.

				;;			
	International nonproprietary name	Reported no.	Preferential AoSD	Follow-up	Complete	Steroid dose	
Targeted therapy	and usual dose	of patients	pattern	(months)	remission (%)	reduction	References
IL-1 receptor	Anakinra	>250	Systemic and	>12	80	Yes	[46, 68, 69,
antagonists	100 (sometimes 200) mg/day SC		articular				139–144]
Anti-IL-18	Canakinumab	Ŷ	Systemic and	>12	100	Yes	[145-147]
	150 (sometimes 300) mg/month SC		articular				
IL-1 trap	Rilonacept	₹	Systemic and	>12	100	Yes	[148]
	Loading dose of 100–320 mg and then 100–320 mg/week		articular				
TNF blockers	Infliximab	<100	Articular	>12	0-100	n.k.	[149–154]
	3-7.5 mg/kg at W0-W2-W6 and						1
	then every 6-8 weeks IV						
	Or						
	Etanercept						
	50 mg/7 days SC						
IL-6 receptor	Tocilizumab	<150	Systemic and	>12	60-85	Yes	[155-162]
antagonists	8 mg/kg/month IV		articular				
	Or						
	162 mg/week SC						
Anti-IL-18	Tadekinig alfa	<25	NA	4	n.k.	n.k.	[163]
	80 mg/week SC						
	Or						
	160 mg/week SC						
B cell directed	Rituximab	Single case	NA	12	n.k.	n.k.	[164]
	1 g D1–D15 every 6 months						
T cell directed	Abatacept	Single case	NA	>12	n.k.	n.k.	[165, 166]
	125/week SC						
D day, IV intraven	ously, SC subcutaneously, W week, NA	not available, II	C interleukin, TNF tum	or necrosis fac	ctor, n.k. not know	vn	
^a Abatacept dose di	epends on patient's weight: <60 kg =50	00 mg, 60–100 k	g = 750 mg, ≥100 kg =	= 1000 mg			

 Table 6.5
 AoSD targeted therapies

6.9.4.1 IL-1 Inhibition

The use of IL-1 inhibitors for AoSD contributed to the revival of considering this mode of action in rheumatology and now represents the primary choice for treating autoinflammatory diseases in general. However, it took surprisingly long until clinical development moved forward from cohort studies to randomized, placebo-controlled trials. Currently, two IL-1 blocking compounds are the focus of phase 2/ phase 3 studies with different designs.

Anakinra, a recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist, was the first biologic showing beneficial effects in treating the systemic and articular features of AoSD in many case series, uncontrolled trials, and different national surveys. Although the evidence for its efficacy has not been proven by controlled trials, the overall number of more than 250 published cases provides convincing results. In fact, a clear and sustained improvement was described for systemic and also arthritic symptoms in most treated cases [68, 139–143]. Systemic features seem to show a more rapid response, and longer exposure seems usually required for improvement of arthritis. Of major importance for long-term safety were consistent reports of a reduction or even discontinuation of glucocorticoids use as well as NSAIDs. In this context, meta-analyses from eight case series and three national surveys meeting predefined quality standards and including more than 100 anakinra-treated AoSD patients revealed a remission rate of approximately 80% and a reduced use of steroids in approximately 35% of patients [69]. Recently, a large observational retrospective multicenter study from Italy added evidence for a strong impact on disease activity with the Pouchot score as well as clinical and serological features regardless of sex, age, disease pattern, or co-medication [46]. Since September 2017, a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multicenter, phase 3 study in the United States has recruited patients for investigating two different doses of anakinra (2 mg/kg/day [max 100 mg/day] or 4 mg/kg/day [max 200 mg/day]) to evaluate its efficacy and safety in patients newly diagnosed with SoJIA and AoSD. The primary end point, American College of Rheumatology 30 (ACR30) response, has already been evaluated at week 2; however, the overall treatment period is short, with only 12 weeks of exposure followed by a 4-week safety follow-up [167]. Of note, anakinra is the only IL-1 blocker for which we have substantial long-term results in terms of efficacy and safety in AoSD [144], and it has now been approved in this indication. In contrast to monogenic autoinflammatory diseases, in AoSD, remission can continue in some cases even after treatment is stopped. However, a relatively high withdrawal rate of 40% has been reported owing to loss of response over time and also to frequent injection site reactions to the required daily administrations.

The other approved biologic for AoSD is canakinumab, a fully human antibody against IL-1 β [145]. Furthermore, canakinumab is also approved for treating other autoinflammatory diseases including cryopyrin-associated periodic syndromes, familial Mediterranean fever, TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome, and hyper-IgD syndrome as well as SoJIA. Although the overall experience with canakinumab in AoSD is still limited, the reported response of systemic features and arthritis was rapid and sustained over many months to years in most patients, frequently allowing for tapering of steroids [145–147]. Of note, canakinumab was

found highly effective for patients with AoSD who were difficult to treat, including those showing failure of NSAIDs, glucocorticoids, and other IL-1 inhibitors. With these promising results, a placebo-controlled, randomized, multicenter, phase 2 study of canakinumab in AoSD is ongoing [168]. The dosage of canakinumab with monthly injections of up to 4 mg/kg body weight (maximum dos of 150 mg) is based on the pharmacokinetic profile in adolescent patients with SoJIA. The primary aim is to investigate the efficacy of canakinumab in patients with AoSD and active joint involvement in terms of the proportion of patients with a clinically significant reduction in disease activity (Disease Activity Score in 28 joints [DAS28] > 1.2) following a treatment period of 12 weeks. The overall placebo-controlled period is 24 weeks, but nonresponders can be unblinded and show treatment rescue at week 12. The core study is followed by an optional long-term extension over 2 years to provide additional safety results in the adult population.

In summary, the published data for anti-IL-1 agents in refractory AoSD clearly show a consistently high rate of full or partial remission with the additional achievement of lowering or stopping glucocorticoid medication [169].

6.9.4.2 IL-6 Inhibition

Inhibition of IL-6 signaling is possible by two different approaches, the direct neutralization of the cytokine or the blockade of the respective receptor. None of these mechanisms has been investigated in AoSD in a controlled setting of clinical trials in detail. For the two different IL-6 receptor antagonists currently available in daily practice for treating rheumatic diseases, only the tocilizumab AoSD case series has been published and reported at conferences [155-158]. To summarize, the observed anti-inflammatory effects were strong, rapid, and sustained for most of the cases. Usually, the systemic features disappeared entirely, but also the arthritic manifestations improved, and the serologic activity decreased [159, 160]. However, because of limited data, the likelihood of response cannot be estimated as clearly as for IL-1 inhibitors and seems to be between 60% to 80% in terms of full remission. A recently published meta-analysis of ten original studies (147 individuals) on the efficacy of tocilizumab and AoSD revealed overall high partial and complete remission rates of 85-77%, respectively. Tocilizumab prevented new flares, was well tolerated, and could significantly reduce the need for corticosteroids [161, 162].

Whether other IL-6 inhibitors have similar effects remains unknown. As shown for RA treatment, with AoSD, differences could exist with respect to safety, especially in comparison to the direct cytokine inhibitors. Also, the advantages or disadvantages that distinguish IL-6 and IL-1 inhibition are unclear. Although clearly IL-6 as well as IL-1 inhibitors have high response rates and represent alternative approaches in AoSD, we have no way to predict the individual effects and define the ideal treatment algorithm.

6.9.4.3 IL-18 Inhibition

A novel compound is Tadekinig alfa, a recombinant human IL-18 binding protein [163]. This drug was tested in healthy volunteers and patients with psoriasis and

RA in phase I studies and demonstrated a good safety and tolerability profile with only mild adverse events at the injection site. Because of the postulated role of IL-18 in the pathogenesis of AoSD, it was a logical step to investigate the effects of Tadekinig alfa in this condition. A first open-label, dose-finding phase 2 study involving multiple centers in Europe was designed to capture safety information as the primary outcome. Two doses (80 and 160 mg) were administered during 12 weeks, and patients were followed up for 4 more weeks. As a secondary outcome measurement, the efficacious dose at 3 weeks was defined as normalization of body temperature and decrease of CRP level by 50% or more of baseline values.

Although limited by the low patient number and short observation period in the study, the safety profile of Tadekinig alfa was overall acceptable, with injection site reactions and infections being the most frequent adverse events. In terms of efficacy, reduced level of CRP as well as other inflammatory markers (including IL-18, ferritin) was detected in some patients. Furthermore, an improvement in skin rash and a slight but significant reduction in the prednisolone doses were reported. In summary, inhibition of IL-18 by Tadekinig alfa could be a promising new approach in ASOD that needs to be investigated in a controlled setting.

6.9.5 Other Potential Agents with Less Validated Indication

Many other treatments have been tried in AoSD, with varying degrees of success.

6.9.5.1 TNF Inhibition

Stimulated by encouraging results from other chronic inflammatory joint diseases, especially RA, TNF inhibitors have been the first biologics used for AoSD [149–154]. However, driven by the deceptive impression that AoSD, with a predominant arthritic phenotype, is a subgroup of seronegative RA, the results from uncontrolled trials involving usually small cohorts of patients were inconsistent. Since favorable outcomes have been seen in only a few patients without any specific characteristics, TNF inhibitors can only be considered third-line drugs, preferentially for patients with chronic arthritis.

6.9.5.2 Cyclosporine A

Cyclosporine A has been proposed before the era of biotherapies, in patients with systemic features of AoSD or with RHL, with an interesting efficacy. However, the tolerance of this drug limits its use, but it certainly can be of interest in complex or refractory situations.

6.9.5.3 Intravenous Immunoglobulins

There is henceforth no place for intravenous immunoglobulins in AoSD treatment, owing to the efficacy of the other therapies available.

6.9.6 Treatment Strategies

The strategy we propose for AoSD patients is summarized in Fig. 6.6.

6.9.7 Treatment and Management of Life-Threatening Complications

6.9.7.1 Reactive Hemophagocytic Lymphohistiocytosis (RHL)

Management should include, firstly, symptomatic care in a medicine department or intensive care unit (ICU); secondly, active and rapid search for an infection; and, thirdly, introduction of high-dose steroids. Since RHL has described under IL-1 therapy, it appears prudent to introduce this treatment only after RHL control by a few days of high-dose steroids.

6.9.7.2 Coagulation Disorders

DIC is a medical emergency whose care combines:

- 1. Supportive measures, which could include platelet transfusion, coagulation factors (or fresh frozen plasma), and fibrinogen (in cryoprecipitate) infusion to control severe bleeding or sometimes heparin if no active bleeding is present [70].
- Specific anti-inflammatory agents often decided in multidisciplinary rounds, with mainly high-dose corticosteroids, either intravenous (methylprednisolone 15 mg/kg/day) or oral (prednisone 1 mg/kg/day) [59]. To limit steroid exposure, the addition of other immunomodulatory agents, such as IL-1 or IL-6 blockers or cyclosporine, is recommended [68, 69, 71–73].

TMA treatment is complex and mandatorily includes [60]:

- 1. Supportive care in an ICU, with plasma exchange being central [75]
- 2. High-dose steroids intravenously and then orally

Other immunomodulatory agents proposed for refractory cases include anakinra [74], tocilizumab [76], intravenous immunoglobulins, cyclophosphamide, azathioprine, cyclosporine A, and rituximab [60, 74]. Despite this treatment, mortality associated with TMA remains high, up to 20% [60].

6.9.7.3 Cardiac and Pulmonary Involvements

Their treatment combines supportive care, high-dose steroids, and frequently IL-1 or IL-6 inhibitors.

Regarding PAH, early diagnosis is central for the prognosis of this complication, with mortality remaining as high as 40% [60]. The diagnosis includes [80, 82, 83, 85, 86, 100, 101]:

1. Hospitalization in an ICU and rapid referral to a specific reference center for multidisciplinary round discussions.

- 2. Vasodilating therapies frequently combining endothelin receptor antagonists (bosentan, ambrisentan), phosphodiesterase-5 inhibitors and other guanylate cyclase stimulators (sildenafil or others), and prostacyclin analogues.
- 3. High-dose steroids, initially intravenously and then orally.
- 4. Rapid introduction of biologic immunomodulatory agents targeting IL-1 or IL-6 or other immunosuppressive agents, such as methotrexate, azathioprine, cyclo-phosphamide, cyclosporine, or rituximab. However, these treatments must be carefully monitored because a few cases of PAH worsening have been described after their introduction.

PAH deserves to be well known by physicians caring for AoSD patients because it was not described in most of the initial AoSD case series for several reasons: now better diagnostic tools for PAH; differential efficacy of large-spectrum immunomodulatory agents, such as steroids, as compared with more targeted therapies, such as IL-1 or IL-6 blockers; and exposure to microorganisms as an additional target whose ecology may have evolved in recent years.

6.9.7.4 Amyloidosis

Even administered late, AoSD therapy, such as steroids and above all IL-1 and IL-6 blockers, may at least in part improve the clinical and biological symptoms.

6.10 Conclusion

In the last 15 years, substantial progress has been made in the diagnosis and prognosis of AoSD. The coming years will likely contribute to a better understanding of the disease and its complications, notably in disease pathogenesis, identification of diagnostic and prognostic biomarkers, and new targets for preventing both lifethreatening manifestations and chronicity.

Acknowledgments Conflicts of Interest:

S.M. has received consultant fees from BMS and Pfizer.

E.F. has received consultant fees from AbbVie, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Janssen, Lilly, Medac, MSD, Nordic Pharma, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Swedish Orphan BioVitrum, and UCB, as well as a research grant from BMS, Lilly, Novartis, Pfizer, and Roche.

B.F. has received consultant fees from AbbVie, Biogen, BMS, Celgene, Janssen, Lilly, Medac, MSD, Nordic Pharma, Novartis, Pfizer, Roche, Sanofi-Aventis, Swedish Orphan BIovitrum, and UCB, as well as research grants from AbbVie, Lilly, MSD, and Pfizer.

References

- 1. Bywaters EG. Still's disease in the adult. Ann Rheum Dis. 1971;30(2):121-33.
- McGonagle D, McDermott MF. A proposed classification of the immunological diseases. PLoS Med. 2006;3(8):e297.
- 3. Fautrel B. Adult-onset Still disease. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2008;22(5):773-92.

- Peckham D, Scambler T, Savic S, McDermott MF. The burgeoning field of innate immunemediated disease and autoinflammation: innate immune-mediated disease and autoinflammation. J Pathol. 2017;241(2):123–39.
- Ohta A, Yamaguchi M, Tsunematsu T, Kasukawa R, Mizushima H, Kashiwagi H, et al. Adult Still's disease: a multicenter survey of Japanese patients. J Rheumatol. 1990;17(8):1058–63.
- 6. Ohta A, Yamaguchi M, Kaneoka H, Nagayoshi T, Hiida M. Adult Still's disease: review of 228 cases from the literature. J Rheumatol. 1987;14(6):1139–46.
- Gerfaud-Valentin M, Jamilloux Y, Iwaz J, Sève P. Adult-onset Still's disease. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(7):708–22.
- Gerfaud-Valentin M, Maucort-Boulch D, Hot A, Iwaz J, Ninet J, Durieu I, et al. Adult-onset still disease: manifestations, treatment, outcome, and prognostic factors in 57 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2014;93(2):91–9.
- 9. Magadur-Joly G, Billaud E, Barrier JH, Pennec YL, Masson C, Renou P, et al. Epidemiology of adult Still's disease: estimate of the incidence by a retrospective study in west France. Ann Rheum Dis. 1995;54(7):587–90.
- Wakai K, Ohta A, Tamakoshi A, Ohno Y, Kawamura T, Aoki R, et al. Estimated prevalence and incidence of adult Still's disease: findings by a nationwide epidemiological survey in Japan. J Epidemiol. 1997;7(4):221–5.
- van de Putte LB, Wouters JM. Adult-onset Still's disease. Baillieres Clin Rheumatol. 1991;5(2):263–75.
- 12. Ota T, Higashi S, Suzuki H, Eto S. Increased serum ferritin levels in adult Still's disease. Lancet. 1987;1(8532):562–3.
- Fautrel B, Zing E, Golmard J-L, Le Moel G, Bissery A, Rioux C, et al. Proposal for a new set of classification criteria for adult-onset still disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 2002;81(3): 194–200.
- Lebrun D, Mestrallet S, Dehoux M, Golmard JL, Granger B, Georgin-Lavialle S, et al. Validation of the Fautrel classification criteria for adult-onset Still's disease. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2018;47(4):578–85.
- Masson C, Le Loët X, Lioté F, Renou P, Dubost JJ, Boissier MC, et al. Adult Still's disease: Part I. Manifestations and complications in sixty-five cases in France. Rev Rhum Engl Ed. 1995;62(11):748–57.
- 16. Feist E, Mitrovic S, Fautrel B. Adult-onset Still's disease: new mechanisms, biomarkers and targets. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14(10):603–18.
- Crispín JC, Martínez-Baños D, Alcocer-Varela J. Adult-onset Still disease as the cause of fever of unknown origin. Medicine (Baltimore). 2005;84(6):331–7.
- Zuelgaray E, Battistella M, Sallé de Chou C, Vignon-Pennamen M-D, Rybojad M, Petit A, et al. Increased severity and epidermal alterations in persistent versus evanescent skin lesions in adult onset Still's disease. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2018;79(5):969–71.
- Nguyen KH, Weisman MH. Severe sore throat as a presenting symptom of adult onset Still's disease: a case series and review of the literature. J Rheumatol. 1997;24(3):592–7.
- 20. Lyberatos C. Two more cases of Still's disease and Kikuchi's. J Rheumatol. 1990;17(4):568–9.
- Samuels AJ, Berney SN, Tourtellotte CD, Artymyshyn R. Coexistence of adult onset Still's disease and polymyositis with rhabdomyolysis successfully treated with methotrexate and corticosteroids. J Rheumatol. 1989;16(5):685–7.
- Moreno-Alvarez MJ, Citera G, Maldonado-Cocco JA, Taratuto AL. Adult Still's disease and inflammatory myositis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1993;11(6):659–61.
- Gonzalez-Hernandez T, Martin-Mola E, Fernandez-Zamorano A, Balsa-Criado A, de Miguel-Mendieta E. Serum ferritin can be useful for diagnosis in adult onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1989;16(3):412–3.
- 24. Akritidis N, Giannakakis I, Giouglis T. Ferritin levels and response to treatment in patients with Adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1996;23(1):201–2.
- Schiller D, Mittermayer H. Hyperferritinemia as a marker of Still's disease. Clin Infect Dis. 1998;26(2):534–5.

- Zandman-Goddard G, Shoenfeld Y. Ferritin in autoimmune diseases. Autoimmun Rev. 2007;6(7):457–63.
- 27. Fautrel B, Le Moël G, Saint-Marcoux B, Taupin P, Vignes S, Rozenberg S, et al. Diagnostic value of ferritin and glycosylated ferritin in adult onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2001;28(2):322–9.
- Lee MH, Means RT. Extremely elevated serum ferritin levels in a university hospital: associated diseases and clinical significance. Am J Med. 1995;98(6):566–71.
- Van Reeth C, Le Moel G, Lasne Y, Revenant MC, Agneray J, Kahn MF, et al. Serum ferritin and isoferritins are tools for diagnosis of active adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1994;21(5):890–5.
- Vignes S, Le Moël G, Fautrel B, Wechsler B, Godeau P, Piette JC. Percentage of glycosylated serum ferritin remains low throughout the course of adult onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(5):347–50.
- Lambotte O, Costedoat-Chalumeau N, Amoura Z, Piette JC, Cacoub P. Drug-induced hemophagocytosis. Am J Med. 2002;112(7):592–3.
- 32. Lambotte O, Cacoub P, Costedoat N, Le Moel G, Amoura Z, Piette JC. High ferritin and low glycosylated ferritin may also be a marker of excessive macrophage activation. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(5):1027–8.
- 33. Fardet L, Coppo P, Kettaneh A, Dehoux M, Cabane J, Lambotte O. Low glycosylated ferritin, a good marker for the diagnosis of hemophagocytic syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(5):1521–7.
- 34. McGonagle D, Savic S, McDermott MF. The NLR network and the immunological disease continuum of adaptive and innate immune-mediated inflammation against self. Semin Immunopathol. 2007;29(3):303–13.
- 35. McDermott MF, Aksentijevich I, Galon J, McDermott EM, Ogunkolade BW, Centola M, et al. Germline mutations in the extracellular domains of the 55 kDa TNF receptor, TNFR1, define a family of dominantly inherited autoinflammatory syndromes. Cell. 1999;97(1):133–44.
- Hugot JP, Chamaillard M, Zouali H, Lesage S, Cézard JP, Belaiche J, et al. Association of NOD2 leucine-rich repeat variants with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001;411(6837):599–603.
- Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, Nicolae DL, Chen FF, Ramos R, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001;411(6837):603–6.
- Maria ATJ, Le Quellec A, Jorgensen C, Touitou I, Rivière S, Guilpain P. Adult onset Still's disease (AOSD) in the era of biologic therapies: dichotomous view for cytokine and clinical expressions. Autoimmun Rev. 2014;13(11):1149–59.
- Jamilloux Y, Gerfaud-Valentin M, Martinon F, Belot A, Henry T, Sève P. Pathogenesis of adult-onset Still's disease: new insights from the juvenile counterpart. Immunol Res. 2015;61(1–2):53–62.
- 40. Church LD, Cook GP, McDermott MF. Primer: inflammasomes and interleukin 1beta in inflammatory disorders. Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. 2008;4(1):34–42.
- 41. Mellins ED, Macaubas C, Grom AA. Pathogenesis of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis: some answers, more questions. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2011;7(7):416–26.
- 42. Mitrovic S, Fautrel B. New markers for adult-onset Still's disease. Joint Bone Spine. 2018;85(3):285–93.
- 43. Wittkowski H, Frosch M, Wulffraat N, Goldbach-Mansky R, Kallinich T, Kuemmerle-Deschner J, et al. S100A12 is a novel molecular marker differentiating systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis from other causes of fever of unknown origin. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(12):3924–31.
- Foell D, Roth J. Proinflammatory S100 proteins in arthritis and autoimmune disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(12):3762–71.
- 45. Foell D, Wittkowski H, Hammerschmidt I, Wulffraat N, Schmeling H, Frosch M, et al. Monitoring neutrophil activation in juvenile rheumatoid arthritis by S100A12 serum concentrations. Arthritis Rheum. 2004;50(4):1286–95.

- 46. Colafrancesco S, Priori R, Valesini G, Argolini L, Baldissera E, Bartoloni E, et al. Response to interleukin-1 inhibitors in 140 Italian patients with adult-onset Still's disease: a multicentre retrospective observational study. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2017 Jun 13 [cited 2018];8. Available from: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2017.00369/full.
- Shields AM, Thompson SJ, Panayi GS, Corrigall VM. Pro-resolution immunological networks: binding immunoglobulin protein and other resolution-associated molecular patterns. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012;51(5):780–8.
- 48. Serhan CN. Pro-resolving lipid mediators are leads for resolution physiology. Nature. 2014;510(7503):92–101.
- 49. Hofmann SR, Kubasch AS, Ioannidis C, Rösen-Wolff A, Girschick HJ, Morbach H, et al. Altered expression of IL-10 family cytokines in monocytes from CRMO patients result in enhanced IL-1β expression and release. Clin Immunol. 2015;161(2):300–7.
- 50. Chen D-Y, Chen Y-M, Lin C-C, Hsieh C-W, Wu Y-C, Hung W-T, et al. The potential role of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and soluble receptors for AGEs (sRAGE) in the pathogenesis of adult-onset still's disease. BMC Musculoskelet Disord. 2015;16:111.
- Grateau G, Hentgen V, Stojanovic KS, Jéru I, Amselem S, Steichen O. How should we approach classification of autoinflammatory diseases? Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2013;9(10):624–9.
- Terkeltaub R, Esdaile JM, Décary F, Harth M, Lister J, Lapointe N. HLA-Bw35 and prognosis in adult Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 1981;24(12):1469–72.
- Wouters JM, van de Putte LB. Adult-onset Still's disease; clinical and laboratory features, treatment and progress of 45 cases. Q J Med. 1986;61(235):1055–65.
- Wakil SM, Monies DM, Abouelhoda M, Al-Tassan N, Al-Dusery H, Naim EA, et al. Association of a mutation in LACC1 with a monogenic form of systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(1):288–95.
- 55. Ombrello MJ, Remmers EF, Tachmazidou I, Grom A, Foell D, Haas J-P, et al. HLA-DRB1*11 and variants of the MHC class II locus are strong risk factors for systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015;112(52):15970–5.
- Aksentijevich I, McDermott MF. Lessons from characterization and treatment of the autoinflammatory syndromes. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2017;29(2):187–94.
- Touitou I. Inheritance of autoinflammatory diseases: shifting paradigms and nomenclature. J Med Genet. 2013;50(6):349–59.
- Sarrabay G, Touitou I. Autoinflammation. Management of hereditary recurrent fevers— SHARE experience. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2015;11(10):567–9.
- Mitrovic S, Fautrel B. Complications of adult-onset Still's disease and their management. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2018;14(5):351–65.
- Efthimiou P, Kadavath S, Mehta B. Life-threatening complications of adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2014;33(3):305–14.
- Colina M, Zucchini W, Ciancio G, Orzincolo C, Trotta F, Govoni M. The evolution of adultonset Still disease: an observational and comparative study in a cohort of 76 Italian patients. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2011;41(2):279–85.
- Mimura T, Shimodaira M, Kibata M, Tsukadaira A, Shirahata K. Adult-onset Still's disease with disseminated intravascular coagulation and hemophagocytic syndrome: a case report. BMC Res Notes. 2014;7:940.
- Shinohara T, Hidaka T, Matsuki Y, Suzuki K, Ohsuzu F. Calcinosis cutis and intestinal pseudoobstruction in a patient with adult onset Still's disease associated with recurrent relapses of disordered coagulopathy. Intern Med. 1999;38(6):516–20.
- 64. Yokoyama M, Suwa A, Shinozawa T, Fujii T, Mimori T, Akizuki M, et al. A case of adult onset Still's disease complicated with adult respiratory distress syndrome and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Nihon Rinsho Meneki Gakkai Kaishi. 1995;18(2):207–14.
- 65. Yamashita S, Furukawa NE, Matsunaga T, Hirakawa Y, Tago M, Yamashita S-I. Extremely high serum ferritin: an instrumental marker of masquerading adult-onset Still's disease with hemophagocytic syndrome. Am J Case Rep. 2017;18:1296–301.
- Colina M, Govoni M, Trotta F. Fatal myocarditis in adult-onset still disease with diffuse intravascular coagulation. Rheumatol Int. 2009;29(11):1355–7.

- 67. Namas R, Nannapaneni N, Venkatram M, Altinok G, Levine M, Dhar JP. An unusual case of adult-onset Still's disease with hemophagocytic syndrome, necrotic leukoencephalopathy and disseminated intravascular coagulation. Case Rep Rheumatol. 2014;2014:128623.
- 68. Kötter I, Wacker A, Koch S, Henes J, Richter C, Engel A, et al. Anakinra in patients with treatment-resistant adult-onset Still's disease: four case reports with serial cytokine measurements and a review of the literature. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2007;37(3):189–97.
- Hong D, Yang Z, Han S, Liang X, Ma K, Zhang X. Interleukin 1 inhibition with anakinra in adult-onset Still disease: a meta-analysis of its efficacy and safety. Drug Des Devel Ther. 2014;8:2345–57.
- Sakata N, Shimizu S, Hirano F, Fushimi K. Epidemiological study of adult-onset Still's disease using a Japanese administrative database. Rheumatol Int. 2016;36(10):1399–405.
- Matsumoto K, Nagashima T, Takatori S, Kawahara Y, Yagi M, Iwamoto M, et al. Glucocorticoid and cyclosporine refractory adult onset Still's disease successfully treated with tocilizumab. Clin Rheumatol. 2009;28(4):485–7.
- 72. Park J-H, Bae JH, Choi Y-S, Lee H-S, Jun J-B, Jung S, et al. Adult-onset Still's disease with disseminated intravascular coagulation and multiple organ dysfunctions dramatically treated with cyclosporine A. J Korean Med Sci. 2004;19(1):137–41.
- Kumar A, Kato H. Macrophage activation syndrome associated with adult-onset Still's disease successfully treated with anakinra. Case Rep Rheumatol. 2016;2016:3717392.
- 74. El Karoui K, Karras A, Lebrun G, Charles P, Arlet JB, Jacquot C, et al. Thrombotic microangiopathy and purtscher-like retinopathy associated with adult-onset Still's disease: a role for glomerular vascular endothelial growth factor? Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(11):1609–13.
- 75. Zheng XL, Kaufman RM, Goodnough LT, Sadler JE. Effect of plasma exchange on plasma ADAMTS13 metalloprotease activity, inhibitor level, and clinical outcome in patients with idiopathic and nonidiopathic thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Blood. 2004;103(11):4043–9.
- 76. Masuyama A, Kobayashi H, Kobayashi Y, Yokoe I, Sugimura Y, Maniwa K, et al. A case of adult-onset Still's disease complicated by thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura with retinal microangiopathy and rapidly fatal cerebral edema. Mod Rheumatol. 2013;23(2):379–85.
- 77. Chen CH, Chen HA, Wang HP, Liao HT, Chou CT, Huang DF. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in autoimmune diseases: an analysis of 19 cases from a medical center in northern Taiwan. J Microbiol Immunol Infect Wei Mian Yu Gan Ran Za Zhi. 2006;39(2):162–8.
- 78. Menezes de Siqueira ME, Rodrigues RP, Kormann APM. Adult-onset Still's disease and pulmonary arterial hypertension. Respir Med CME. 2009;2(2):70–2.
- Guilleminault L, Laurent S, Foucher A, Poubeau P, Paganin F. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in adult onset Still's disease: a case report of a severe complication. BMC Pulm Med. 2016;16(1):72.
- Kadavath S, Zapantis E, Zolty R, Efthimiou P. A novel therapeutic approach in pulmonary arterial hypertension as a complication of adult-onset Still's disease: targeting IL-6. Int J Rheum Dis. 2014;17(3):336–40.
- Lowther GH, Chertoff J, Cope J, Alnuaimat H, Ataya A. Pulmonary arterial hypertension and acute respiratory distress syndrome in a patient with adult-onset Still's disease. Pulm Circ. 2017;7(4):797–802.
- 82. Mehta MV, Manson DK, Horn EM, Haythe J. An atypical presentation of adult-onset Still's disease complicated by pulmonary hypertension and macrophage activation syndrome treated with immunosuppression: a case-based review of the literature. Pulm Circ. 2016;6(1):136–42.
- Mubashir E, Ahmed MM, Hayat S, Heldmann M, Berney SM. Pulmonary hypertension in a patient with adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(8):1359–61.
- Padilla-Ibarra J, Sanchez-Ortiz A, Sandoval-Castro C, Ramos-Remus C. Rituximab treatment for pulmonary arterial hypertension in adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2013;31(4):657–8.
- Thakare M, Habibi S, Agrawal S, Narsimulu G. Pulmonary arterial hypertension complicating adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Rheumatol. 2013;32(Suppl 1):S1–2.

- Weatherald J, Lategan J, Helmersen D. Pulmonary arterial hypertension secondary to adultonset Still's disease: response to cyclosporine and sildenafil over 15 years of follow-up. Respir Med Case Rep. 2016;19:27–30.
- Zen A, Yamashita N, Ueda M, Asakawa Y, Yoshikawa Y, Funai T, et al. A case of adult Still's disease with pulmonary hypertension. Ryumachi. 1990;30(1):45–52.
- 88. Campos M, Schiopu E. Pulmonary arterial hypertension in adult-onset Still's disease: rapid response to anakinra. Case Rep Rheumatol. 2012;2012:537613.
- Uppal SS, Al-Mutairi M, Hayat S, Abraham M, Malaviya A. Ten years of clinical experience with adult onset Still's disease: is the outcome improving? Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(7):1055–60.
- Ben Ghorbel I, Khanfir M, Houman MH. Amyloidosis in adult onset Still's disease. Rev Med Interne. 2004;25(9):675–7.
- 91. Ishii T, Sasaki T, Muryoi T, Murai C, Hatakeyama A, Oosaki H, et al. Systemic amyloidosis in a patient with adult onset Still's disease. Intern Med. 1993;32(1):50–2.
- 92. Oh YB, Bae SC, Jung JH, Kim TH, Jun JB, Jung SS, et al. Secondary renal amyloidosis in adult onset Still's disease: case report and review of the literature. Korean J Intern Med. 2000;15(2):131–4.
- Rivera F, Gil CM, Gil MT, Batlle-Gualda E, Trigueros M, Olivares J. Vascular renal AA amyloidosis in adult Still's disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 1997;12(8):1714–6.
- 94. Fardet L, Galicier L, Lambotte O, Marzac C, Aumont C, Chahwan D, et al. Development and validation of the HScore, a score for the diagnosis of reactive hemophagocytic syndrome. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66(9):2613–20.
- Drepper M, Rubbia-Brandt L, Spahr L. Tocilizumab-induced acute liver injury in adult onset Still's disease. Case Rep Hepatol. 2013;2013:964828.
- Bianchi V, Robles R, Alberio L, Furlan M, Lämmle B. Von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease (ADAMTS13) in thrombocytopenic disorders: a severely deficient activity is specific for thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura. Blood. 2002;100(2):710–3.
- 97. Hirata S, Okamoto H, Ohta S, Kobashigawa T, Uesato M, Kawaguchi Y, et al. Deficient activity of von Willebrand factor-cleaving protease in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura in the setting of adult-onset Still's disease. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2006;45(8):1046–7.
- Gopal M, Cohn CD, McEntire MR, Alperin JB. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and adult onset Still's disease. Am J Med Sci. 2009;337(5):373–6.
- Huertas A, Perros F, Tu L, Cohen-Kaminsky S, Montani D, Dorfmüller P, et al. Immune dysregulation and endothelial dysfunction in pulmonary arterial hypertension: a complex interplay. Circulation. 2014;129(12):1332–40.
- 100. McLaughlin VV, Archer SL, Badesch DB, Barst RJ, Farber HW, Lindner JR, et al. ACCF/ AHA 2009 expert consensus document on pulmonary hypertension: a report of the American College of Cardiology Foundation Task Force on Expert Consensus Documents and the American Heart Association: developed in collaboration with the American College of Chest Physicians, American Thoracic Society, Inc., and the Pulmonary Hypertension Association. Circulation. 2009;119(16):2250–94.
- 101. Galiè N, Humbert M, Vachiery J-L, Gibbs S, Lang I, Torbicki A, et al. 2015 ESC/ERS Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of pulmonary hypertension: The Joint Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Pulmonary Hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Respiratory Society (ERS): Endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC), International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT). Eur Respir J. 2015;46(4):903–75.
- 102. Pouchot J, Sampalis JS, Beaudet F, Carette S, Décary F, Salusinsky-Sternbach M, et al. Adult Still's disease: manifestations, disease course, and outcome in 62 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1991;70(2):118–36.
- 103. Reginato AJ, Schumacher HR, Baker DG, O'Connor CR, Ferreiros J. Adult onset Still's disease: experience in 23 patients and literature review with emphasis on organ failure. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 1987;17(1):39–57.

- 104. Boki KA, Tsirantonaki MJ, Markakis K, Moutsopoulos HM. Thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura in adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1996;23(2):385–7.
- Cabane J, Lebas J, Wattiaux MJ, Imbert JC. Pseudo-Still disease and neoplasm. 2 cases. Rev Med Interne. 1988;9(1):81–4.
- 106. Sanmarti R, Cañete JD, Salvador G. Palindromic rheumatism and other relapsing arthritis. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2004;18(5):647–61.
- 107. Drenth JP, Haagsma CJ, van der Meer JW. Hyperimmunoglobulinemia D and periodic fever syndrome. The clinical spectrum in a series of 50 patients. International Hyper-IgD Study Group. Medicine (Baltimore). 1994;73(3):133–44.
- 108. Masson C, Simon V, Hoppé E, Insalaco P, Cissé I, Audran M. Tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): definition, semiology, prognosis, pathogenesis, treatment, and place relative to other periodic joint diseases. Joint Bone Spine. 2004;71(4):284–90.
- Yamaguchi M, Ohta A, Tsunematsu T, Kasukawa R, Mizushima Y, Kashiwagi H, et al. Preliminary criteria for classification of adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1992;19(3):424–30.
- 110. Ichida H, Kawaguchi Y, Sugiura T, Takagi K, Katsumata Y, Gono T, et al. Clinical manifestations of adult-onset Still's disease presenting with erosive arthritis: association with low levels of ferritin and interleukin-18. Arthritis Care Res. 2014;66(4):642–6.
- 111. Kim H-A, An J-M, Nam J-Y, Jeon J-Y, Suh C-H. Serum S100A8/A9, but not follistatin-like protein 1 and interleukin 18, may be a useful biomarker of disease activity in adult-onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2012;39(7):1399–406.
- 112. Kim HA, Han JH, Kim WJ, Noh HJ, An JM, Yim H, et al. TLR4 endogenous ligand S100A8/ A9 levels in adult-onset Still's disease and their association with disease activity and clinical manifestations. Int J Mol Sci. 2016;17(8) https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms17081342.
- 113. Scirè CA, Cavagna L, Perotti C, Bruschi E, Caporali R, Montecucco C. Diagnostic value of procalcitonin measurement in febrile patients with systemic autoimmune diseases. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2006;24(2):123–8.
- 114. Kawashima M, Yamamura M, Taniai M, Yamauchi H, Tanimoto T, Kurimoto M, et al. Levels of interleukin-18 and its binding inhibitors in the blood circulation of patients with adultonset Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44(3):550–60.
- 115. Chen D-Y, Lan J-L, Lin F-J, Hsieh T-Y. Proinflammatory cytokine profiles in sera and pathological tissues of patients with active untreated adult onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2004;31(11):2189–98.
- 116. Choi J-H, Suh C-H, Lee Y-M, Suh Y-J, Lee S-K, Kim S-S, et al. Serum cytokine profiles in patients with adult onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2003;30(11):2422–7.
- 117. Priori R, Colafrancesco S, Alessandri C, Minniti A, Perricone C, Iaiani G, et al. Interleukin 18: a biomarker for differential diagnosis between adult-onset Still's disease and sepsis. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(6):1118–23.
- 118. Rooney T, Murphy E, Benito M, Roux-Lombard P, FitzGerald O, Dayer J-M, et al. Synovial tissue interleukin-18 expression and the response to treatment in patients with inflammatory arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2004;63(11):1393–8.
- 119. Conigliaro P, Priori R, Bombardieri M, Alessandri C, Barone F, Pitzalis C, et al. Lymph node IL-18 expression in adult-onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2009;68(3):442–3.
- Priori R, Barone F, Alessandri C, Colafrancesco S, McInnes IB, Pitzalis C, et al. Markedly increased IL-18 liver expression in adult-onset Still's disease-related hepatitis. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50(4):776–80.
- 121. Kawaguchi Y, Terajima H, Harigai M, Hara M, Kamatani N. Interleukin-18 as a novel diagnostic marker and indicator of disease severity in adult-onset Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44(7):1716–7.
- 122. Jung K-H, Kim J-J, Lee J-S, Park W, Kim T-H, Jun J-B, et al. Interleukin-18 as an efficient marker for remission and follow-up in patients with inactive adult-onset Still's disease. Scand J Rheumatol. 2014;43(2):162–9.

- 123. Sugiura T, Kawaguchi Y, Harigai M, Terajima-Ichida H, Kitamura Y, Furuya T, et al. Association between adult-onset Still's disease and interleukin-18 gene polymorphisms. Genes Immun. 2002;3(7):394–9.
- 124. Maruyama J, Inokuma S. Cytokine profiles of macrophage activation syndrome associated with rheumatic diseases. J Rheumatol. 2010;37(5):967–73.
- 125. Rau M, Schiller M, Krienke S, Heyder P, Lorenz H, Blank N. Clinical manifestations but not cytokine profiles differentiate adult-onset Still's disease and sepsis. J Rheumatol. 2010;37(11):2369–76.
- 126. Bae C-B, Suh C-H, An J-M, Jung J-Y, Jeon J-Y, Nam J-Y, et al. Serum S100A12 may be a useful biomarker of disease activity in adult-onset Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(12):2403–8.
- 127. Han JH, Suh C-H, Jung J-Y, Nam J-Y, Kwon JE, Yim H, et al. Association of CXCL10 and CXCL13 levels with disease activity and cutaneous manifestation in active adult-onset Still's disease. Arthritis Res Ther. 2015;17:260.
- 128. Bleesing J, Prada A, Siegel DM, Villanueva J, Olson J, Ilowite NT, et al. The diagnostic significance of soluble CD163 and soluble interleukin-2 receptor alpha-chain in macrophage activation syndrome and untreated new-onset systemic juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(3):965–71.
- 129. Colafrancesco S, Priori R, Alessandri C, Astorri E, Perricone C, Blank M, et al. sCD163 in AOSD: a biomarker for macrophage activation related to hyperferritinemia. Immunol Res. 2014;60(2–3):177–83.
- 130. Zou Y-Q, Lu L-J, Li S-J, Zeng T, Wang X-D, Bao C-D, et al. The levels of macrophage migration inhibitory factor as an indicator of disease activity and severity in adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Biochem. 2008;41(7–8):519–24.
- 131. Chen D-Y, Lan J-L, Lin F-J, Hsieh T-Y. Association of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 with clinical manifestations and interleukin-18 in patients with active, untreated adult-onset Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;53(3):320–7.
- 132. Efthimiou P, Kontzias A, Ward CM, Ogden NS. Adult-onset Still's disease: can recent advances in our understanding of its pathogenesis lead to targeted therapy? Nat Clin Pract Rheumatol. 2007;3(6):328–35.
- 133. Masson C, Le Loët X, Lioté F, Renou P, Dubost JJ, Boissier MC, et al. Adult Still's disease. Part II. Management, outcome, and prognostic factors. Rev Rhum Engl Ed. 1995;62(11):758–65.
- 134. Medsger TA, Christy WC. Carpal arthritis with ankylosis in late onset Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 1976;19(2):232–42.
- 135. Sampalis JS, Esdaile JM, Medsger TA, Partridge AJ, Yeadon C, Senécal JL, et al. A controlled study of the long-term prognosis of adult Still's disease. Am J Med. 1995;98(4):384–8.
- 136. Fujii T, Akizuki M, Kameda H, Matsumura M, Hirakata M, Yoshida T, et al. Methotrexate treatment in patients with adult onset Still's disease—retrospective study of 13 Japanese cases. Ann Rheum Dis. 1997;56(2):144–8.
- 137. Aydintug AO, D'Cruz D, Cervera R, Khamashta MA, Hughes GR. Low dose methotrexate treatment in adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1992;19(3):431–5.
- 138. Fautrel B, Borget C, Rozenberg S, Meyer O, Le Loët X, Masson C, et al. Corticosteroid sparing effect of low dose methotrexate treatment in adult Still's disease. J Rheumatol. 1999;26(2):373–8.
- Fitzgerald AA, LeClercq SA, Yan A, Homik JE, Dinarello CA. Rapid responses to anakinra in patients with refractory adult-onset Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2005;52(6):1794–803.
- 140. Naumann L, Feist E, Natusch A, Langen S, Krause A, Buttgereit F, et al. IL1-receptor antagonist anakinra provides long-lasting efficacy in the treatment of refractory adult-onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2010;69(2):466–7.
- 141. Kalliolias GD, Georgiou PE, Antonopoulos IA, Andonopoulos AP, Liossis S-NC. Anakinra treatment in patients with adult-onset Still's disease is fast, effective, safe and steroid sparing: experience from an uncontrolled trial. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;66(6):842–3.
- 142. Lequerre T, Quartier P, Rosellini D, Alaoui F, De Bandt M, Mejjad O, et al. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) treatment in patients with systemic-onset juvenile idiopathic

arthritis or adult onset Still disease: preliminary experience in France. Ann Rheum Dis. 2007;67(3):302–8.

- 143. Giampietro C, Ridene M, Lequerre T, Costedoat Chalumeau N, Amoura Z, Sellam J, et al. Anakinra in adult-onset Still's disease: long-term treatment in patients resistant to conventional therapy. Arthritis Care Res. 2013;65(5):822–6.
- 144. Ortiz-Sanjuán F, Blanco R, Riancho-Zarrabeitia L, Castañeda S, Olivé A, Riveros A, et al. Efficacy of anakinra in refractory adult-onset Still's disease: multicenter study of 41 patients and literature review. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015;94(39):e1554.
- 145. Kontzias A, Efthimiou P. The use of canakinumab, a novel IL-1β long-acting inhibitor, in refractory adult-onset Still's disease. Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2012;42(2):201–5.
- 146. Lo Gullo A, Caruso A, Pipitone N, Macchioni P, Pazzola G, Salvarani C. Canakinumab in a case of adult onset Still's disease: efficacy only on systemic manifestations. Joint Bone Spine. 2014;81(4):376–7.
- 147. Barsotti S, Neri R, Iacopetti V, d'Ascanio A, Talarico R, Tripoli A, et al. Successful treatment of refractory adult-onset still disease with canakinumab: a case report. J Clin Rheumatol. 2014;20(2):121.
- Petryna O, Cush JJ, Efthimiou P. IL-1 Trap rilonacept in refractory adult onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2012;71(12):2056–8.
- 149. Husni ME, Maier AL, Mease PJ, Overman SS, Fraser P, Gravallese EM, et al. Etanercept in the treatment of adult patients with Still's disease. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(5):1171–6.
- 150. Kiyonaga Y, Maeshima K, Imada C, Haranaka M, Ishii K, Shibata H. Steroid-sparing effects of etanercept in a patient with steroid-dependent adult-onset Still's disease. Intern Med. 2014;53(11):1209–13.
- 151. Kaneko K, Kaburaki M, Muraoka S, Tanaka N, Yamamoto T, Kusunoki Y, et al. Exacerbation of adult-onset Still's disease, possibly related to elevation of serum tumor necrosis factoralpha after etanercept administration: exacerbation of AOSD after etanercept. Int J Rheum Dis. 2010;13(4):e67–9.
- 152. Kraetsch HG, Antoni C, Kalden JR, Manger B. Successful treatment of a small cohort of patients with adult onset of Still's disease with infliximab: first experiences. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001;60(Suppl 3):iii55–7.
- 153. Cavagna L, Caporali R, Epis O, Bobbio-Pallavicini F, Montecucco C. Infliximab in the treatment of adult Still's disease refractory to conventional therapy. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2001;19(3):329–32.
- 154. Fautrel B, Sibilia J, Mariette X, Combe B, Club Rhumatismes et Inflammation. Tumour necrosis factor alpha blocking agents in refractory adult Still's disease: an observational study of 20 cases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(2):262–6.
- 155. Puéchal X, DeBandt M, Berthelot J-M, Breban M, Dubost J-J, Fain O, et al. Tocilizumab in refractory adult Still's disease: refractory ASD and tocilizumab. Arthritis Care Res. 2011;63(1):155–9.
- 156. Elkayam O, Jiries N, Dranitzki Z, Kivity S, Lidar M, Levy O, et al. Tocilizumab in adultonset Still's disease: the Israeli experience. J Rheumatol. 2014;41(2):244–7.
- 157. Cipriani P, Ruscitti P, Carubbi F, Pantano I, Liakouli V, Berardicurti O, et al. Tocilizumab for the treatment of adult-onset Still's disease: results from a case series. Clin Rheumatol. 2014;33(1):49–55.
- 158. Thonhofer R, Hiller M, Just H, Trummer M, Siegel C, Dejaco C. Treatment of refractory adult-onset Still's disease with tocilizumab: report of two cases and review of the literature. Rheumatol Int. 2011;31(12):1653–6.
- 159. Li T, Gu L, Wang X, Guo L, Shi H, Yang C, et al. A pilot study on tocilizumab for treating refractory adult-onset Still's disease. Sci Rep [Internet]. 2017. [cited 2018 Feb 4];7(1). Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-017-13639-y.
- 160. Song ST, Kim JJ, Lee S, Kim H-A, Lee EY, Shin KC, et al. Efficacy of tocilizumab therapy in Korean patients with adult-onset Still's disease: a multicentre retrospective study of 22 cases. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34(6. Suppl 102):S64–71.

- 161. Ma Y, Wu M, Zhang X, Xia Q, Yang J, Xu S, et al. Efficacy and safety of tocilizumab with inhibition of interleukin-6 in adult-onset Still's disease: a meta-analysis. Mod Rheumatol. 2018;28(5):849–57.
- 162. Nishina N, Kaneko Y, Kameda H, Takeuchi T. The effect of tocilizumab on preventing relapses in adult-onset Still's disease: a retrospective, single-center study. Mod Rheumatol. 2015;25(3):401–4.
- 163. Gabay C, Fautrel B, Rech J, Spertini F, Feist E, Kötter I, et al. Open-label, multicentre, doseescalating phase II clinical trial on the safety and efficacy of tadekinig alfa (IL-18BP) in adult-onset Still's disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):840–7.
- 164. Belfeki N, Smiti Khanfir M, Said F, Hamzaoui A, Ben Salem T, Ben Ghorbel I, et al. Successful treatment of refractory adult onset Still's disease with rituximab. Reumatismo. 2016;68(3):159–62.
- 165. Ostrowski RA, Tehrani R, Kadanoff R. Refractory adult-onset still disease successfully treated with abatacept. J Clin Rheumatol. 2011;17(6):315–7.
- 166. Quartuccio L, Maset M, De Vita S. Efficacy of abatacept in a refractory case of adult-onset Still's disease. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2010;28(2):265–7.
- 167. US National Library of Medicine. ClinicalTrials.gov, https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/ study/NCT03265132 (2017). [Internet]. Available from: https://clinicaltrials.gov/show/ NCT03265132.
- US National Library of Medicine. ClinicalTrialsgov. 2017. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/ show/NCT02204293.
- 169. Junge G, Mason J, Feist E. Adult onset Still's disease—the evidence that anti-interleukin-1 treatment is effective and well-tolerated (a comprehensive literature review). Semin Arthritis Rheum. 2017;47(2):295–302.



Recurrent Pericarditis

Antonio Brucato, Anna Valenti, and Silvia Maestroni

Abbreviations

AHA	Anti-heart antibodies
AIDA	Anti-intercalated-disk antibodies
AIRTRIP	The Anakinra-Treatment of Recurrent Idiopathic Pericarditis
ANAs	Antinuclear antibodies
AP-1	Activator protein-1
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
ASA	Acetylsalicylic acid
CEACAM1	Carcinoembryonic antigen cell adhesion molecule 1
CMR	Cardiac magnetic resonance
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CRP	C-reactive protein
CT	Computerized tomography
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular patterns
EBV	Epstein-Barr virus
ECG	Electrocardiogram
ESC	European Society of Cardiology
ESR	Erythrocyte sedimentation rate
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigens
HSV-1	Herpes simplex virus

A. Brucato

Dipartimento di Scienze Biomediche e Cliniche Università degli Studi di Milano, Ospedale Fatebenefratelli, Milano, Italy e-mail: antonio.brucato@asst-fbf-sacco.it

A. Valenti · S. Maestroni (⊠)

Medicina Interna Ospedale Papa Giovanni XXIII, Bergamo, Italy e-mail: avalenti@asst-pg23.it; smaestroni@asst-pg23.it 7

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_7

IL	Interleukin
INF	Interferony
IRP	Idiopathic recurrent pericarditis
IVIg	Intravenous immunoglobulins
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MICA	MHC class I chain-related protein A
NF-kB	Nuclear factor-kappa B
NSAIDs	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PPS	Postpericardiotomy syndrome
STIR	Short-tau inverted recovery
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAPS	TNF receptor-associated periodic fever syndrome

Chapter Overview

- Idiopathic recurrent pericarditis may have an autoinflammatory pathogenesis.
- Idiopathic recurrent pericarditis is a diagnosis of exclusion.
- Inflammatory markers and imaging can support the diagnosis and management.
- Interleukin-1 antagonists are effective in difficult-to-treat patients.

Pericarditis is an entity characterized by similar clinical pictures sustained by different pathways. The spectrum of possible causes is broad: in about 70% of children and more than 80% of adults, a specific etiology cannot be detected, and pericarditis is therefore labeled idiopathic [1, 2], even if the etiopathogenesis is suspected to be viral- or immune-mediated. Idiopathic forms typically have a good prognosis with often a full recovery within several weeks. However, pericarditis may recur in about 20–40% of the cases, and recurrences are the most challenging common management issue and a frequent reason of concern for both the physician and the patient. Recently, idiopathic recurrent pericarditis (IRP) has been considered to be sustained by an autoinflammatory pathway. The spectacular effect of the interleukin (IL)-1 receptor antagonist anakinra has reinforced this notion and has led to the consideration of a new pathogenetic mechanism [3, 4].

7.1 Definitions

The European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines define acute pericarditis as an inflammatory pericardial syndrome with specific manifestations, including chest pain (85–90% of cases), typically sharp, improved by sitting up and leaning forward; pericardial friction rub (30% of cases); electrocardiogram (ECG) changes (60% of cases)—with new widespread ST elevation or PR depression or nonspecific repolarization abnormalities; and pericardial effusion (60% of cases in the first attack and

50% in the recurrences) assessed by echocardiography [2]. Confirmatory findings include elevation of C-reactive protein (CRP), erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), and the white blood cell count or evidence of pericardial inflammation with computerized tomographic (CT) scan or cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR) [2]. Recurrent pericarditis is defined as a relapse after a first acute episode followed by a symptom-free interval of at least 4 weeks, corresponding to the usual duration of anti-inflammatory therapy in noncomplicated cases [2]. Recurrent pericarditis Recurrent pericarditis

may be differentiated from *incessant* pericarditis, in which symptoms persist for more than 4–6 weeks but less than 3 months, and from *chronic* pericarditis, in which the symptoms last longer than 3 months [2].

7.2 Epidemiology

Limited data describe the incidence of IRP. Acute pericarditis is common. The incidence was 27.7 cases per 100,000 population per year in an Italian community [2], but a study from Denmark reported a higher incidence (168 cases per 100,000 population per year) [5]. The Italian paper evaluated only data from emergency rooms and hospital admissions, and the diagnosis was confirmed by the investigators, while the Danish study included also outpatients and pericardial effusions not due to acute pericarditis; this probably explains the observed discrepancy between the two studies. The rate of recurrences varied in studies between 20% and 30% after the first episode and between 20% and 50% after the first recurrence [2]. Recurrences may be related to an inadequate treatment of the previous attack. Familiarity has been reported in 10% of the patients with IRP [6].

7.3 Etiology

The etiology of pericarditis is heterogeneous. Several nonspecific triggers may activate the inflammatory cascade. Two major categories are recognized: infectious (viruses, mycobacteria, other bacteria) and noninfectious (neoplastic, autoimmune, traumatic, metabolic, iatrogenic, drug-related) [2]. In 70% of pediatric patients and more than 80% of adult patients, a definite etiology cannot be recognized, and pericarditis is therefore labeled idiopathic.

7.4 Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of IRP is not known. Infectious (mainly viral), autoimmune, or autoinflammatory pathways have been suggested.

An infectious mechanism is proposed by molecular analysis on epicardial biopsies and pericardial fluid that identified a virus in approximately 20% of cases [1]. However, standard techniques are not diagnostic in the vast majority of cases. Recurrences may theoretically result from inability to clear the virus. This might explain the increased risk of relapse in patients treated with corticosteroids, even if too rapid, corticosteroid tapering is often the more probable cause of most of these cases. Overall, antiviral therapy is usually not considered.

Some observations suggest an autoimmune pathogenesis: antinuclear antibodies (ANAs) [7] are present in about 40% of the patients with IRP as well as anti-heart and anti-intercalated-disk antibodies, in 50% and 25% of IRP patients, respectively [8]. Other supportive observations for an autoimmune mechanism include the presence of cytokines, such as interferon (INF)-γ, IL-8, and IL-6, in the pericardial fluid, and the association of IRP with human leukocyte antigen (HLA) DQB1*0202A*02, Cw*07, and in a lower frequency DQB1*0302 [9]. Moreover, pericarditis is common in systemic autoimmune disease, such as systemic lupus erythematosus (20-50% of patients), systemic sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, and Sjögren's syndrome, usually during a flare [1, 9]. Post-cardiac injury syndrome is sometimes considered a model of autoimmune pericarditis, triggered by damage to pericardium or blood in the pericardial space, due to open heart surgery or other invasive procedures or after myocardial infarction. The exposure of pericardial antigens may induce an autoimmune response activating B- and T lymphocytes [10]. On the other hand, an autoinflammatory pathogenesis may also be involved (production of massive amount of damage-associated molecular patterns [DAMP]).

ANAs may be positive in patients with IRP, even if generally at low titers ($\leq 1/80$); they are not specific and have low clinical significance [11], since they are equally positive in patients with recurrent pericarditis associated or not with a definite rheumatologic disease.

The last and more recent hypothesis suggests the involvement of the innate immune system. The demonstration of the spectacular effect of anakinra in refractory recurrent pericarditis was a sort of proof of concept [3, 4, 12]. Pericarditis may be observed in many monogenic autoinflammatory diseases such as familial Mediterranean fever, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor–associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS), and Hyper IgD syndrome (mevalonate kinase deficiency) [13]. We published that 6% of IRP patients carried a mutation in the *TNFRSF1A* gene (in most cases, the nonspecific R92Q mutation) [14]. The spectacular effect of anakinra suggests a pivotal role for the inflammasome in the pathogenesis of this condition [15].

In conclusion, the initial trigger of pericarditis may be different, while the pathway that sustains the recurrences is autoinflammatory in nature, with a pivotal role for IL-1 (Fig. 7.1).

7.5 Clinical Manifestations

The almost universal symptom of pericarditis is chest pain, worsened by lying supine and improved by leaning forward; the patients recognize it as similar to previous attacks. In addition, at least one objective finding should be present (ECG changes, pericardial rub, and pericardial effusions) [2]. Symptoms are usually milder during recurrences, particularly when appropriate treatment is begun. In patients with a more intensely inflammatory phenotype fever, strikingly elevated


Fig. 7.1 General scheme of the supposed pathogenetic mechanisms of acute idiopathic recurrent pericarditis. *PAMP* pathogens-associated molecular patterns, *DAMPs* damage-associated molecular patterns, *TLR* toll-like receptors, *NLR* NOD-like receptors, *AHA* anti-heart antibodies, *AIDA* anti-intercalated-disk antibodies, *IL-1* interleukin-1, *NSAIDs* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, *APC* antigen-presenting cells (from Ref. [16])

CRP, involvement of other serosal membranes (pleuropulmonary involvement in 55% of children, 36% of adults, and peritoneal involvement in 5%), and elevation of liver enzymes (8% in adult) can be recorded [17].

In the pediatric patients, the clinical picture is generally more inflammatory, with more common pleuropulmonary and systemic involvement. Accordingly, ANAs are less frequently positive in children. The autoinflammatory phenotype is clearer in children, with elevated CRP, fever, and pleural involvement [3, 18] (Table 7.1).

7.6 Laboratory Testing

There is no specific biomarker diagnostic for pericarditis. In the management of pericardial syndromes, a major controversy is the role of an extensive etiological search and admission for all patients with pericarditis or pericardial effusion [2]. The epidemiological background is essential to develop a rational cost-effective management program, and the clinician should especially identify causes that require targeted therapies. The diagnosis of "idiopathic cases" is essentially an exclusion diagnosis, supported by a typical clinical course. The ESC has proposed a diagnostic algorithm [2]. Auscultation, ECG, echocardiography, chest X-ray,

	Raatikka [19]	Imazio [18]	Finetti [3]	CORP2 [20]
	(<i>n</i> = 15	(<i>n</i> = 110	(<i>n</i> = 15	(n = 240)
Feature	Children)	Children)	Children)	Adults)
Fever	12 (80%)	84 (76%)	8 (53%)	73 (30%)
Chest pain	15 (100%)	103 (93.6%)	13 (87%)	239 (100%)
Pericardial rub	n/a	31 (28%)	5 (33%)	82 (34%)
ECG	10/13 (77%)	49 (44%)	13 (87%)	25% [21]
Pericardial effusion	15 (100%)	86 (78%)	13 (87%)	138 (57%)
Elevated CRP	14 (93%)	102 (93%)	13 (87%)	174 (72%)
Tamponade	1 (7%)	15 (14%)	n/a	2 (1%)
No specific etiology	8 (53%)	98 (89%)	13 (87%)	198 (82%)
PPS	7 (47%)	10 (9%)	n/a	21 (9%)
ANA positivity	1 (N = 14) (7%)	18 (16%)	n/a	43% [7]
ASA/NSAIDs	4 (27%)	89 (81%)	13 (87%)	240 (100%)
Colchicine	4 (27%)	68 (62%)	14 (93%)	120 (50%)
Corticosteroids	11 (73%)	70 (65%)	15 (100%)	16 (7%)
Anakinra	0	12 (17.1%)	13 (87%)	0
Constriction (transient)	0 (0.0%)	3 (3%)	n/a	4 (7%)
Pleuropulmonary	10 (67%)	54%	n/a	36% [17]
involvement				
Liver involvement	n.a.	9 (8%)	n.a	8% [17]

Table 7.1 Comparison of clinical features, etiologies, and outcomes in the largest published studies in pediatric (Raatikka, Imazio, Finetti) and adults (CORP2) patients with recurrent pericarditis

CRP C-reactive protein, *ECG* electrocardiogram, *PPS* postpericardiotomy syndrome, *ANA* antinuclear antibodies, *NSAIDs* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, *ASA* acetylsalicylic acid

routine blood tests-including markers of inflammation (i.e., CRP and/or ESR)and myocardial lesion (troponins) are recommended in all cases of suspected pericarditis. Additional testing should be related to the suspected origin and clinical presentation. The major specific causes to be ruled out are bacterial pericarditis (especially tuberculosis), neoplastic pericarditis, and pericarditis associated with a systemic disease (generally an autoimmune disease). Each of these specific causes has a frequency of about 5% of all unselected cases of pericarditis from developed countries, while frequencies increase in moderate to large pericardial effusions [2]. Certain clinical features at presentation may be associated with an increased risk of specific etiologies (nonviral or nonidiopathic) and complications during follow-up (recurrences, tamponade, constriction), and are suggested as "high risk features" useful for the triage of pericarditis, to establish the need for a full etiological search, and admission in the single patient [2]. Factors indicated as "major" have been validated by multivariate analysis, while factors indicated as "minor" are based on experts opinion and literature review: they are essentially theoretical risk factors for complications and suggest the indication for admission and close monitoring of the evolution. Major risk factors include fever >38 °C (hazard ratio [HR], 3.56), subacute course (symptoms developing over several days or weeks; HR, 3.97), large pericardial effusion (diastolic echo-free space >20 mm in width) or cardiac tamponade (HR, 2.15), and failure of aspirin or NSAIDs (HR, 2.50) [2]. Large effusion and tamponade (HR, 2.51) and aspirin or NSAIDs failure (HR, 5.50) also identify an increased risk of complications during follow-up (recurrences, constriction). Minor risk factors are pericarditis associated with myocarditis, immunodepression, trauma, and oral anticoagulant therapy.

For adult patients with predictors of poor prognosis, major or minor hospitalization and a full etiologic search are recommended by ESC [2]. On the contrary, when these negative predictors are absent, patients are at a low risk of specific causes and complications, and outpatient management may be considered. With a clear diagnosis of idiopathic origin and a recurrence course with complete symptom-free periods between the episodes, it is also unnecessary to repeat a new etiological search at each recurrence unless new clinical features become evident. Notably, viral serological tests are considered futile, since they have no impact on therapy and prognosis. Possible exceptions are those for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV). If a viral etiology is strongly suspected, generally in the first attack, a genome search with PCR is preferred for most viruses to serology, including cytomegalovirus (CMV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), parvovirus, adenovirus, and enteroviruses (echo and Coxsackie viruses), herpes simplex virus-1 and -2 (HSV 1 and 2) [2].

In case of a positive family history for pericarditis or periodic fever, genetic tests for monogenic syndromes may be considered [13, 14].

CRP and ESR are not specific but are important to guide the management of the disease [22]. A small study suggested that the carcinoembryonic antigen cell adhesion molecule 1 (CEACAM1) and the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I chain-related protein A (MICA) are possible biomarkers for IRP, but further investigations are warranted [23].

7.7 Imaging

Transthoracic echocardiography is the imaging modality of choice for the diagnosis of pericarditis [2]. It is a simple, low-cost, and noninvasive technique, easily performed at the bedside. It is safe and can be repeated without risks. It confirms the diagnosis by identifying a pericardial effusion and can demonstrate complications such as ventricular dysfunction, tamponade, constriction, etc. On the other hand, echocardiography hyperechogenicity or increased thickness of the pericardium are often limited by artifacts and are not specific.

CMR is a second-level technique that may be helpful to study pericardium and myocardium [2, 24]. On T1-weighted imaging, the normal pericardium appears like a thin hypo-intense ("dark") curvilinear structure surrounded by hyper-intense ("bright") epicardial and mediastinal fat. CMR may assess pericardial thickness (normal value < 4 mm) and edema. Pericardial edema appears bright on T2-weighted short-tau inverted recovery (STIR) fast spin-echo sequences. The tissue edema is not well delineated if there is a concomitant effusion, which appears as bright as the edema. Following intravenous paramagnetic gadolinium, enhancement may

demonstrate inflammation into the surrounding epicardial fat, which suggests severe inflammation. CMR is useful also in assessing myocardial edema, and fibrosis. It may also suggest evolving constrictive pericarditis. CMR is indicated also in patients in whom the presence of active pericardial inflammation is uncertain: delayed pericardial enhancement at CMR may favor continued or intensified antiinflammatory treatment. On the other hand, if CMR does not show delayed pericardial enhancement, then tapering of medications may continue, and other diagnoses may be considered. CMR has some disadvantages, such as its limited availability and costs, and also the need of breath-holding and regular heart rhythms to get good picture quality. Contraindications include claustrophobia, pacemakers, and renal insufficiency.

CT scanning is a complementary imaging technique. It is important to evaluate presence of calcifications and anatomic features [2, 25]. The normal pericardium appears as a thin curvilinear structure surrounded by the hypodense mediastinal and epicardial fat on CT. CT can assess localized effusions, may quantify the amount of fluid and can give information about the nature of the effusion depending on attenuation values of fluid (HU). Low attenuation values (e.g., 0–20 HU) indicate a transudate, intermediate values (e.g., 20–60 HU) suggest exudative effusions, while high attenuation values (>60 HU) indicate hemorrhage. Intravenous administration of iodinated contrast may detect pericardial inflammation because of the enhancement of the inflamed pericardium after contrast injection. CT is generally considered mandatory in the preoperative work-up before pericardiectomy, to assess calcification and the anatomy of the pericardium. It is also very important to exclude important etiologies, such as neoplastic disease or tuberculosis [25].

7.8 Treatment

The treatment of patients with recurrences is not very different form the treatment of a first episode of acute pericarditis. Aspirin or NSAIDs remain the mainstay of therapy. Colchicine is recommended on top of standard anti-inflammatory therapy in order to improve remission rates and prevent recurrences. In case of incomplete response to NSAIDs and colchicine, corticosteroids may be used, but they should be added at low-to-moderate doses [2] (Tables 7.2 and 7.3).

7.9 Aspirin and Nonsteroidal Anti-inflammatory Drugs

Aspirin and NSAIDs remain the mainstay of treatment [2]. The specific drug selected is not important: the choice should be based on the physician's experience as well as on the history of efficacy and tolerability in the single patient. An NSAID that was effective in a previous attack should be the favorite drug of choice. Ibuprofen and aspirin are the most used. Indomethacin is perhaps the most powerful. Comorbidities are also important: for example, aspirin is generally not used in children, but it is the favored choice in patients with ischemic heart disease or when

Drug	Dose	Length of Treatment	Tapering
Ibuprofen	600–800 mg every 8 h	First attack: 2–6 weeks Recurrences: several weeks to months The optimal length of treatment is debatable, and CRP should probably be used as a marker of disease activity to guide management and treatment length. Gradual tapering	Decrease the total daily dose by 200–400 mg every 2–4 weeks
Aspirin	500–1000 mg every 6–8 h		Decrease the total daily dose by 250–500 mg every 2–4 weeks
Indomethacin	25–50 mg every 8 h	(every 2–4 weeks and only if the patient is asymptomatic and CRP is normal), is recommended	Decrease the total daily dose by 25 mg every 2–4 weeks
Naproxen	250–500 mg every 12 h; maximal daily dose 1500 mg for limited time period (<6 months). Dosage expressed as naproxen base; 200 mg naproxen base is equivalent to 220 mg naproxen sodium		Decrease the total daily dose by 125–250 mg every 1–2 weeks

Table 7.2 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and aspirin in the treatment of pericarditis: recommended regimens in adults

The dosage ranges are based on weight, age, severity of the attack, and subjective tolerability Adapted and reproduced by permission of Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology. Please visit: https://imsva91-ctp.trendmicro.com:443/wis/clicktime/v1/ query?url=www.escardio.org%2fGuidelines%2fClinical%2dPractice%2d&umid=775C782A-8734-FC05-A3F7-3C21B0DF777E&auth=1672efde352f31fd9986d5d28427f9ed7cb3c597-5f579d0d418f10a9aaa1fb328d053f7e4c4c78c4

Guidelines/Pericardial-Diseases-Guidelines-on-the-Diagnosis-and-Management-of v1.4 According to local availability of the different agents, we recommend intravenous use of NSAIDs in hospitalized symptomatic patients. Start at the lower end of dosing range and titrate upward *Renal impairment dosing*: CrCl <30 mL/min: NSAIDs use is not recommended (for aspirin: use is not recommended if CrCl <10 mL/min)

Hepatic impairment dosing: use with caution; dose adjustment may be required [2] *CRP* C-reactive protein, *NSAIDs* nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs

Geriatric dosing: Refer to adult dosing. Use lowest recommended dose and frequency

a patient is already on aspirin or needs antiplatelet treatment. Naproxen is an alternative. Indomethacin and other NSAIDs should be avoided in patients with coronary artery disease.

During an acute attack, a practical tip in a hospitalized patient is the administration of aspirin or NSAIDs intravenously, above all, if the patient has intensive pain, high fever with associated nausea, or vomiting. Particular attention should be paid in using the highest well-tolerated dose of each medication and to obtain a continuous anti-inflammatory coverage throughout the day. A common mistake is to use too low doses. Aspirin should be used at the dose of 1.5–4 g/day; ibuprofen at 1200– 3200 mg/day; and indomethacin at 75–150 mg/day (Table 7.2). The administration

Drug	Dose	Length of Treatment and Tapering
Ibuprofen	30–50 mg/kg/24 h divided every 8 h	First attack: 2–6 weeks. Recurrences: several weeks to months
Indomethacin	Children ≥2 years: oral: 1–2 mg/ kg/day in 3–4 divided doses; maximum dose: 4 mg/kg/day; not to exceed 150–200 mg/day	The optimal length of treatment is debatable, and CRP should probably be used as a marker of disease activity to guide management and treatment length. A gradual tapering (every 2–4 weeks and only if the patient is asymptomatic and CRP is normal) should be considered
Naproxen	Children >2 years: oral suspension is recommended: 10 mg/kg/day in two divided doses (up to 20 mg/kg/day if tolerated)	

 Table 7.3
 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: recommended doses in children with pericarditis

Adapted and reproduced by permission of Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Cardiology. Please visit: https://imsva91-ctp.trendmicro.com:443/wis/clicktime/v1/query?url=www.escardio.org%2fGuidelines%2fClinical%2dPractice%2d&umid=775C782A-8734-FC05-A3F7-3C21B0DF777E&auth=1672efde352f31fd9986d5d28427f9ed7cb3c597-5f579d0d418f10a9aaa1fb328d053f7e4c4c78c4

Guidelines/Pericardial-Diseases-Guidelines-on-the-Diagnosis-and-Management-of v1.4 Aspirin is generally considered contraindicated in children due to the associated risk of Reye's syndrome and hepatotoxicity

Start at the lower end of dosing range and titrate upward

CRP C-reactive protein

of NSAIDs should be well distributed during the day. For example, with regard to aspirin, ibuprofen, or indomethacin, each dose should be taken precisely in order to guarantee a full 24-h coverage [2].

7.10 Colchicine

Colchicine is recommended to be used in weight-adjusted doses (i.e., 0.5 mg once daily if body weight is <70 kg or 0.5 mg twice daily if it is \geq 70 kg, for \geq 6 months) in adults, to improve remission rates and prevent recurrences [2, 21]; similar approach is to start with 0.5 mg once daily and then, if tolerated, increase the dose to 0.5 mg twice daily or 1 mg daily, depending on compliance and tolerability. A loading dose is no more used, to avoid side effects and related early discontinuation. In children with IRP, frequently used doses are 0.5 mg/day *in children younger than* 5 years and 1–1.5 mg/day in older children [2]. Side effects are gastrointestinal (up to 10% of cases), including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, and abdominal pain, usually being a common cause of drug withdrawal; generally mild, they may resolve with dose reduction. The duration of therapy is at least 6 months, but, if recurrences are frequent and colchicine is well tolerated, the duration can reach some years. At this point, discontinuation is discussed with the patient, and we prefer to taper it slowly.

7.11 Corticosteroids

Only after the use of high dosages of NSAIDs, corticosteroids may be added to aspirin/NSAIDs and colchicine as a triple therapy in cases of incomplete clinical control of the disease, particularly in adults, but at low to moderate doses (i.e., prednisone 0.2–0.5 mg/kg/day in adults) [2].

Corticosteroids block transcription factors such as nuclear factor-kappa B (NF-kB) and activator protein-1 (AP-1) which are involved in the transcription of many inflammatory mediators.

Although corticosteroids provide rapid control of symptoms, they favor chronicity, more recurrences, and side effects [2, 17, 18, 20, 24]. If corticosteroids are used, their tapering should be particularly slow. A critical threshold for recurrences is a 10–15 mg/day dose of prednisone or equivalent. At this threshold, very slow decrements as small as 1.0–2.5 mg at intervals of 2–6 weeks are useful. In cases of recurrence, every effort should be made not to increase the dose or to reinstate corticosteroids [2].

Corticosteroids should be used only in selected patients with specific indications (i.e., impending cardiac tamponade, pregnancy, systemic inflammatory diseases, some patients with postpericardiotomy syndromes), intolerance or resistance to standard therapy, and NSAID contraindications (renal insufficiency, true allergy, high risk of bleeding) [2]. Every decrease in corticosteroid dose should be done only if the patient is asymptomatic and CRP is normal. Calcium intake (supplement plus oral intake) of 1200–1500 mg/day and vitamin D supplementation of 800–1000 IU/day should be offered to all adult patients receiving glucocorticoids. Moreover, bisphosphonates are recommended to prevent bone loss in all men \geq 50 years and postmenopausal women in whom long-term treatment with glucocorticoids is initiated at a dose \geq 5.0–7.5 mg/day of prednisone or equivalent.

The increased risk of recurrences in patients treated with corticosteroids may well be due to too rapid tapering, not driven by symptoms and CRP values. Longterm corticosteroid use is particularly worrisome in pediatric patients due to their multiple side-effects, including growth impairment.

7.12 Tapering

After obtaining a complete response, tapering should be done with a single class of drug at a time, and finally, colchicine is gradually discontinued (over several months in the most difficult cases). Recurrences are possible after discontinuation of each drug. Each tapering should be attempted only if symptoms are absent and CRP is normal. For these reasons, the length of therapy may extend for months or even years in the more difficult cases.

7.13 Immunotherapy and IL-1 Inhibition

Immunotherapy is an alternative approach to treat refractory IRP [2]. Three drugs have been proposed: azathioprine, intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIg), and anakinra.

Azathioprine has been used in case reports or case series of adults and one retrospective cohort study [26].

IVIgs have been used in two small case series and one retrospective analysis describing only 14 cases [2]. IVIgs can be used as a corticosteroid-sparing agents and have a rapid onset of action; however, they are rarely used, probably due to the high cost and lack of good evidence.

Anakinra is a recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist; it inhibits the action of IL-1. The IL-1 intracellular signaling pathway is involved in the prostaglandin release by macrophages and in chemotaxis of monocytes, lymphocytes, and polymorphonuclear leukocytes, in the activation of T cells, and in the stimulation of metalloproteinases. Anakinra was initially registered for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, but it has found its niche in the treatment of several rare autoinflammatory diseases. Its spectacular effect in IRP was first recognized in the pediatric population [3, 18], and this was a proof of concept. Other case reports, cohort studies, one retrospective analysis, and a meta-analysis confirmed these findings. Finally, a double-blind randomized controlled trial (AIRTRIP-The Anakinra-Treatment of Recurrent Idiopathic Pericarditis) formally demonstrated the efficacy of anakinra in 21 patients with corticosteroid-dependent and colchicine-resistant recurrent pericarditis with elevated CRP [4]. Anakinra obtained quick symptom relief in a few days and allowed steroid discontinuation in all patients within 6 weeks. It was administered as a once daily subcutaneous injection at the dose of 100 mg in adults (1-2 mg/kg/day in children) for 6 months [4]. Recurrences can occur if tapering is too rapid. Tapering regimes are not established, and it is very difficult to propose a universal tapering regimen (as it would very difficult to propose a similar tapering regimen for corticosteroids for instance). A possible scheme might be to withdraw a dose every month after a full control of the disease has been reached: for example, first step, 100 mg/ day, every day for 6 months; second step, in the 7th month, 100 mg/day, six times per week; third step, 100 mg/day, five times per week for 1 month, and so on until the seventh step, 100 mg once per week, in the 14th month. A critical point for recurrence might be at the dose of two doses weekly. A similar approach would be the following: when the patient reaches the three dose/weekly regimen, the following tapering may be done not considering the week but considering the interval between two consecutive doses, for instance, one dose every third day, then every fourth day, and so on.

The drug is generally well tolerated. The most common adverse events are skin reactions at the site of injection, neutropenia, and mild elevation of transaminases.

In children, anakinra might now be considered prior to corticosteroids, to avoid their side effects in the growing child. There are only few case reports on the use of other anti-IL1 antagonists such as canakinumab in IRP [27].

7.14 Outcome and Prognosis

Severe complications are rare in IRP [2]. Cardiac tamponade is uncommon and usually occurs at the beginning of the disease. A small risk to evolve in constrictive pericarditis exists after the first episode of acute pericarditis (less than 1%) [28], but on the other hand, constrictive pericarditis has never been reported in IRP, in spite of numerous recurrences [17, 29]. Thus, it is important to reassure patients about their prognosis, explaining the likely course and the nature of the disease. Drug treatment should take into account this favorable outcome to avoid iatrogenic damages, particularly due to corticosteroids, particularly in the pediatric patients. However, the quality of life can be severely impaired due to repeated recurrences, frequent hospitalizations, and corticosteroid dependence [2]. IRP may last for years if not properly treated. IL-1-inhibitors have proved to be quick and highly efficient, also in refractory cases, and their role is becoming more prominent. In our experience, most patients continue treatment with anakinra for 1–3 years, at low doses. At present, approximately 40% have discontinued treatment. In case of recurrence during anakinra tapering, NSAIDs may be useful to control mild recurrences [4].

References

- 1. Maestroni S, Di Corato PR, Cumetti D, et al. Recurrent percarditis; autoimmune or autoinflammatory? Autoimmun Rev. 2012;12:60–5.
- Adler Y, Charron P, Imazio M, et al. 2015 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and management of pericardial diseases: The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Management of Pericardial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) endorsed by: the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS). Eur Heart J. 2015;36:2921–64.
- Finetti M, Insalaco A, Cantarini L, Meini A, Breda L, Alessio M, D'Alessandro M, Picco P, Martini A, Gattorno M. Long-term efficacy of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (anakinra) in corticosteroid-dependent and colchicine-resistant recurrent pericarditis. J Pediatr. 2014;164:1425–31.
- Brucato A, Imazio M, Gattorno M, et al. Effect of anakinra on recurrent pericarditis among patients with colchicine resistance and corticosteroid dependence—The AIRTRIP Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA. 2016;316:1906–12.
- Kobberoe Sogard K, Farkas Kormendine D, Ehrenstein V, Bhaskaran K, Botker HE, Sorenson HT. Pericarditis as a marker of occult cancer and a prognostic factor for cancer mortality. Circulation. 2017;136(11):996–1006. (Epub ahead of print).
- 6. Brucato A, Brambilla G. Recurrent idiopathic pericarditis: familial occurrence. Int J Cardiol. 2005;102:529.
- Imazio M, Brucato A, Doria A, et al. Antinuclear antibodies in recurrent idiopathic pericarditis: prevalence and clinical significance. Int J Cardiol. 2009;136:289–93.
- Caforio AL, Brucato A, Doria A, et al. Anti-heart and anti-intercalated diskautoantibodies: evidence for autoimmunity in idiopathic recurrent acute pericarditis. Heart. 2010;96:779–84.
- Lazaros G, Karavidas A, Spyropoulou M, et al. The role of the immunogenetic background in the development and recurrence of acute idiopathic pericarditis. Cardiology. 2011;118:55e62.
- Hoffman M, Fried M, Jabareen F, et al. Anti-heart antibodies in postpericardiotomy syndrome: cause or epiphenomenon? A prospective, longitudinal pilot study. Autoimmunity. 2002;35:241–5.
- 11. Imazio M. Pericardial involvement in systemic inflammatory diseases. Heart. 2011;97:1882–92.

- Picco P, Brisca G, Martini A, et al. Successful treatment of idiopathic recurrent pericarditis in children with interleukin-1β receptor antagonist (anakinra). Arthritis Rheum. 2009;60:264–8.
- Rigante D, Cantarini L, Imazio M, et al. Autoinflammatory diseases and cardiovascular manifestations. Ann Med. 2011;43:341–6.
- Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Brucato A, et al. Clues to detect tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated periodic syndrome (TRAPS) among patients with idiopathic recurrent acute pericarditis: results of a multicentre study. Clin Res Cardiol. 2012;101:525–31.
- Xu B, Harb SC, Cremer PC. New insights into pericarditis: mechanisms of injury and therapeutic targets. Curr Cardiol Rep. 2017;19:60.
- Brucato A, Emmi G, Cantarini L, Di Lenarda A, Gattorno M, Lopalco G, Marcolongo R, Imazio M, Martini A, Prisco D. Management of idiopathic recurrent pericarditis in adults and in children: a role for IL-1 receptor antagonism. Intern Emerg Med. 2018;13(4):475–89. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11739-018-1842-x.
- 17. Brucato A, Brambilla G, Moreo A, et al. Long-term outcomes in difficult-to-treat patients with recurrent pericarditis. Am J Cardiol. 2006;98:267–71.
- 18. Imazio M, Brucato A, Pluymaekers N, et al. Recurrent pericarditis in children and adolescents: a multicentre cohort study. J Cardiovasc Med (Hagerstown). 2016;17:707–12.
- Raatikka M, Pelkonem PM, Karjalainen J, et al. Recurrent pericariditis in children and adolescents. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;42:759–64.
- Imazio M, Belli R, Brucato A, et al. Efficacy and safety of colchicine for treatment of multiple recurrences of pericarditis (CORP-2): a multicentre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. Lancet. 2014;383:2232–7.
- Imazio M, Brucato A, Cemin R, et al. A randomized trial of colchicine for acute pericarditis. N Engl J Med. 2013;369:1522–8.
- 22. Imazio M, Brucato A, Maestroni S, et al. Prevalence of C-reactive protein elevation and time course of normalization in acute pericarditis: implications for the diagnosis, therapy, and prognosis of pericarditis. Circulation. 2011;123:1092–7.
- Markel G, Imazio M, Koren-Morag N, et al. CEACAM1 and MICA as novel serum biomarkers in patients with acute and recurrent pericarditis. Oncotarget. 2016;7:17885–95.
- Cremer PC, Kumar A, Kontzias A, et al. Complicated pericarditis: understanding risk factors and pathophysiology to inform imaging and treatment. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2016;68:2311–28.
- 25. Maggiolini S, De Carlini CC, Ferri LA, et al. The role of early contrast-enhanced chest computed tomography in the aetiological diagnosis of patients presenting with cardiac tamponade or large pericardial effusion. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging. 2016;17:421–8.
- Vianello F, Cinetto F, Cavraro M, et al. Azathioprine in isolated recurrent pericarditis; a single centre experience. Int J Cardiol. 2011;147:477–8.
- Kougkas N, Fanouriakis A, Papalopoulos I, Bertsias G, Avgoustidis N, Repa A, Sidiropoulos P. Canakinumab for recurrent rheumatic disease associated-pericarditis: a case series with long-term follow-up. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018;57(8):1494–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/ rheumatology/key077.
- Imazio M, Brucato A, Maestroni S, et al. Risk of constrictive pericarditis after acute pericarditis. Circulation. 2011;124:1270–5.
- Imazio M, Brucato A, Adler Y, et al. Prognosis of idiopathic recurrent pericarditisas determined from previously published reports. Am J Cardiol. 2007;100:1026–8.

Chronic Nonbacterial Osteomyelitis

Andrea Taddio and Serena Pastore

8.1 Introduction

Chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis (CNO is a rare inflammatory disorder (OMIM 259680) not related to infectious diseases that affect children and adolescents and more frequently females than males (4:1) [1]. It was first described in 1972 by Giedion et al. [2] as unusual symmetric multifocal bone lesions due to sub-acute or chronic osteomyelitis. Later, in 1980, Bjorksten and Boquist [3] first used the term CNO. Its hallmark is recurring episodes of sterile osteomyelitis [4–9].

Multiple names are used in the literature to describe this disorder; these include chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO) in cases with extended multifocal involvement (often symmetric) and synovitis, acne, pustulosis, hyperostosis, and osteitis syndrome (SAPHO), which usually manifests in adolescent and adult patients. In the pediatric literature, the terms CRMO and CNO are often used interchangeably and will be used as such in this chapter. It is still unclear if SAPHO and CNO are different diseases presenting in different age groups or if they represent the spectrum of the same disease.

Although CNO is still considered a rare disorder with a prevalence between 1/160,000 and 1/2,000,000 and an incidence between 1/250,000 and 1/1,000,000, the disease is probably underestimated.

A. Taddio (🖂)

Institute for Maternal and Child Health-IRCCS Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy

University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy

S. Pastore

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020



8

Institute for Maternal and Child Health—IRCCS Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy e-mail: serena.pastore@burlo.trieste.it

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_8

8.2 Pathogenesis

The etiology of CNO is still unclear. The hypothesis of a disorder sustained by infections was not confirmed by extensive microbiological analyses. Bacterial cultures from the lesions are negative as well as the search for pathogens from the blood or joint fluids [10]. Moreover, antibiotics do not alter the course of disease [4]. Some authors classified CNO as a variant of juvenile spondyloar-thropathy [5] because of its association with sacroiliitis [6] and Crohn's disease [7]; however, the detection rate of HLA-B27 [8] was inconsistent, and the distinctive clinical features, characterized by the presence of aseptic osteomyelitis, do not fit with spondyloarthropathies. Recent findings indicate that an imbalance between pro- (IL-6 and TNF-a) and anti-inflammatory (IL-10) cytokines may be centrally involved in the molecular pathogenesis of CNO [4]. Another study has recently demonstrated increased IL-1 β secretion by peripheral blood mononuclear cells of CNO [11].

In the past few years, the hypothesis that CNO might be a genetic disease in the spectrum of autoinflammatory disorders has acquired even more importance. The strongest evidence comes from the so-called syndromic forms of CNO such as Majeed syndrome, Cherubism, and primary hypertrophic osteoarthropathy (PHO).

Majeed syndrome is the most known and the first disease associated with CNO. It is characterized by recurrent episodes of fever and is associated with congenital dyserythropoietic anemia and a febrile neutrophilic dermatosis, characterized by the onset of painful erythematous-violaceous lesions (Sweet syndrome-like) [12]. Majeed syndrome results from mutations in the LPIN2 gene. This gene provides instructions for synthesizing a protein called lipin-2. This protein seems to play a role in the processing of fatty acids at different levels. However, no lipid abnormalities have been found in Majeed syndrome. Lipin-2 also may be involved in controlling inflammation and in cell division. It is unclear how these genetic changes lead to bone disease, anemia, and inflammation of the skin [13]. Cherubism is a rare, benign, dominantly inherited, non-neoplastic bone disease. It is characterized by bilateral bone enlargement of the jaw in childhood leading to a full round face and an upward cast of the eyes in patients. The disease is related to the mutation in the gene SH3BP2 in chromosome 4p16.3 [14]. Primary hypertrophic osteoarthropathy also known as pachydermoperiostosis and Touraine-Solente-Golé syndrome, is a very rare disease characterized by the presence of pachydermia, digital clubbing, and periostosis. Its pathogenesis involves genes related to prostaglandin E2 metabolism. Cases have been reported with an autosomal recessive inheritance pattern, with pathogenic variants in HPGD and SCLCO2A1 genes responsible for pachydermoperiostosis types 1 and 2, respectively [15].

In addition, chronic osteomyelitis is a typical feature of two monogenic diseases caused by mutations of genes involved in the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome or in the homeostasis of IL-1, namely pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, and acne (PAPA) syndrome [16] and deficiency of IL-1 receptor antagonist (DIRA) [17], respectively. There is also some evidence for a genetic basis in nonsyndromic or sporadic CNO. Golla et al. [18] reported a susceptibility locus on human chromosome 18q21.3–18q22 in a small German CNO cohort.

Moreover, in large cohorts of CNO patients, the prevalence of the disease among patients' relatives varied between 12% and 32% [19]. Several reports have described families with multiple affected members [20] or have reported a high incidence of psoriasis, inflammatory bowel disease, and other chronic inflammatory conditions in first-degree family members of individuals with CNO, which suggests that there is a significant genetic component to disease susceptibility [3, 5, 18]. Additional evidence of a possible genetic contribution to disease comes from studying the role of interleukin-10 in disease pathogenesis. One small study reported the association of CNO with polymorphism of the IL-10 promoter, and functional data suggest that IL-10 deregulation may play a role in disease pathogenesis [21]. Recently, it has been demonstrated that impaired MAPK signaling, reducing H3S10 phosphorylation, and Sp1 recruitment to the IL10 promoter, may lead to an impaired gene expression confirming a role of IL-10 [22].

It is also interesting to underline that murine models of the disease have also been described. Homozygous mutation of the *pstpip2* gene in mice results in an autoinflammatory disease very similar to CNO [23, 24]. Other candidate genes including *PSTPIP1*, *FBLIM1*, *CARD15/NOD2*, and *IL1RN* have been analyzed in small CNO cohorts [6, 7, 25, 26] with negative results.

Finally, it has been demonstrated that intestinal microbiota of diseased *pstpip2* mice was characterized by an outgrowth of Prevotella. *Pstpip2* mice that were fed with a diet rich in fat and cholesterol maintained a normal body weight but were markedly protected against inflammatory bone disease and bone erosions; diet-induced protection against osteomyelitis was accompanied by marked reductions in intestinal Prevotella levels and significantly reduced pro-IL-1 β expression in distant neutrophils. Furthermore, pro-IL-1 β expression was also decreased in *pstpip2* mice treated with antibiotics and in wild-type mice that were kept under germ-free conditions, suggesting that diet-associated changes in the intestinal microbiome could be a crucial factor in regulating inflammasome [27].

8.3 Clinical Manifestations

The clinical manifestations of CNO are highly variable. CNO typically presents with bone pain that is worse at night and can occur in the presence or absence of fever [6, 7, 28]. The onset is typically insidious, and most children appear well.

Swelling and warmth of the involved bone are not necessarily always present. In 30% of cases, CNO involves the adjacent joint with the presence of exudate, synovial thickening, and/or damage to the articular cartilage. The lesions may affect any bone segment. One to 20 sites can be affected at one time. The main sites of involvement in the order of decreasing frequency are the lower extremities, pelvis, clavicle, and spine [1, 6–8]. Involvement of clavicle, mandible, and sternum is particularly suggestive of CNO [9]. The skull involvement has been described in the occipital

bone in only one case. In this patient, however, the lesion was not present at the time of diagnosis but developed after 1 year from diagnosis [29].

Systemic symptoms are subtle and may be present in the form of low-grade fever, malaise, or poor growth. Current estimates suggest that approximately 25% of individuals with CNO have manifestations involving organ/systems other than bone [8]. The extra-articular manifestations include the skin (especially psoriasis, palmoplantar pustulosis, acne, pyoderma gangrenosum, and Sweet syndrome) and the bowel (Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, and celiac disease) [6]. Renal involvement has been demonstrated in almost 10% of patients (personal data). The combination of synovitis, acne, palmoplantar pustulosis, hyperostosis, and osteitis configures the SAPHO syndrome and, as reported above, seems to be the most severe form of CNO with, in particular, systemic clinical features.

The disease may follow a chronic or recurrent disease course, but often, the course is prolonged over several years with periodic exacerbations [1-6, 10]. The prognosis is generally good and provides self-resolution in a time ranging from months to years. However, recently variable complications from mild to incapacitating have been described in a considerable percentage of cases (30–50%). In particular, asymmetries of limb length, kyphosis, chronic spondyloarthropathy, vertebral collapse, and stunted growth for early closure of the growth of cartilage have been reported [6, 8, 9].

Monophasic disease is usually less severe, and prognosis is excellent, being, in most cases, almost a cosmetic problem.

8.4 Diagnosis

CNO is a diagnosis of exclusion [8, 19, 30]. Differential diagnoses include infections (septic osteomyelitis, typical and atypical mycobacterial infections, etc.), malignancies (primary bone tumors and leukemia/lymphoma), benign bone tumors (osteoid osteoma), trauma, metabolic disorders (including hypophosphatasia), other autoinflammatory disorders (DIRA, PAPA, Cherubism, etc.), osteonecrosis, and osteopetrosis. Laboratory investigations may reveal mild elevation in white blood cell count and in inflammatory parameters (C-reactive protein; erythrocyte sedimentation rate), but often, these abnormalities are absent in CNO patients [8, 19, 30]. Cultures of blood and bone are invariably negative, and sophisticated assays to identify evidence of a microbial etiology have been unsuccessful. Autoantibodies (antinuclear antibodies and rheumatoid factor), as well as carriage of the HLAB27 allele, have the same prevalence in CNO patients as in healthy individuals. At present, no specific biomarkers are available for the diagnosis or prediction of flares in CNO patients. In 2007, Jansson et al. [8] proposed diagnostic criteria for CNO according to which diagnosis could be formulated in the presence of two major and one minor criteria or one major and three minor criteria. Major criteria are the following: radiologic osteolytic/sclerotic bone lesion, multifocal bone lesions, palmo plantar pustulosis or psoriasis, and sterile bone biopsy with signs of inflammation, sclerosis, and/or fibrosis. Minor criteria are normal blood count and general

well-being, CRP and ESR mild to moderate and elevated, observation longer than 6 months, hyperostosis, association of other autoimmune diseases and first- or second-degree relatives with autoimmune or autoinflammatory disease or with CNO. However, these criteria are not still validated and accepted so far. A crucial role in the diagnosis of this condition is provided by imaging.

8.4.1 The Role of Radiology

Standard radiography of bones could not reveal characteristic changes in early CNO, while the presence of osteolytic lesions with a sclerotic edge on X-ray imaging is the key feature later. Clavicular and mandibular lesions often have a more prominent sclerotic appearance [31].

Cortical bone is usually unaffected and thickened, but there are also reports of cortical defects mimicking tumor; the involvement of the mandible is often associated with mandibular nerve canal enlargement (Fig. 8.1). Since CNO is a systemic disorder that can affect multiple skeletal sites, whole-body imaging techniques provide major contribution to the initial diagnostic approach, as well as during follow-up. Isotopic bone scan and/or whole-body magnetic resonance (MR) is the cornerstone for confirming the multifocal pattern of CNO. However, if bone scan may just confirm the presence of one or more foci of inflammation, MRI may also add more information concerning the type of lesions being the more sensitive and accurate radiological test for CNO diagnosis (Fig. 8.2). It also avoids the administration of radiations as for the case of traditional radiology, scintigraphy, or computerized tomography (CT). Similar to the X-ray technique, the typical findings at MR



Fig. 8.1 (a) Spine CT. Coronal plane reconstruction. Well-defined lytic lesion of left inferior articular facet of T10, without clear signs of reactive sclerosis. The inferior articular facet of T9 appears normal. (b) Spine MRI. STIR sequence (Short-Time Inversion Recovery) in the coronal plane. Focal area of hyperintensity of the left T9–T10 facet joint, for bone marrow edema, without thecal sac compression signs



Fig. 8.2 Ankle section of T2-STIR wholebody MRI of a patient with CRMO. The arrow shows hyperintensity of bone with edema of soft tissues. The patient presented a clinical involvement of both mandible and ankle

are the presence of bone cortical thickening, lytic lesions with sclerosis, and bone edema. Moreover, MR is particularly important in the early stages of the disease for its ability to detect bone edema and asymptomatic bone lesions [32] before osteolysis and/or sclerosis can be detected, and it is useful for the identification of lesions at multiple sites. On the other hand, it should be mentioned that, due to its high sensitivity, this technique might lead to an over-interpretation of some bone lesions that, especially in pediatric age, can be related to normal bone growth or accidental traumatic events. This issue should be taken into careful consideration if the site of the bone biopsy is chosen on the basis of the MR images.

Due to the lack of ionizing radiation, whole-body MRI (with STIR sequences) is currently used to monitor the evolution of the bone lesions during the follow-up. Again, due to its high sensitivity, MRI might provide signs of possible bone activity in a subgroup of patients who do not complain of any clinical manifestation or bone pain and could be considered in clinical remission [33]. For this reason, it is not clear if the evidence of radiological disease activity in spite of a persistent clinical and laboratory remission should be taken into consideration for treatment decisions. For this reason, serial MRI scan can be useful in particular among patients with a more severe disease course and resistant to ongoing treatments, and in case of the involvement of some specific sites, such as the mandible or the spine, which is traditionally characterized by a higher rate of complications such as scoliosis or kyphosis.

8.4.2 The Role of Biopsy

Although no formal guidelines are so far available, a biopsy of the bone lesion is usually performed, mainly to exclude other causes. In CNO, bone biopsy shows signs of inflammation in the absence of infection. The composition of cellular infiltrates at the sites of inflammation is strictly correlated to the "age" of biopsied lesions. Neutrophils are predominant in early lesions, whereas lymphocytes, macrophages, and plasma cells can be detected during the later course of the inflammatory process.

Immunohistochemistry studies show T CD8+ cells, CD3+ and CD45RO+, CD20+ B cells, and CD68+ macrophages [3]. The final stage of the lesion is characterized by the predominance of fibrosis. The cultures of the biopsy are always negative [7].

Although histological findings are nonspecific, the main role of the biopsy is to rule out malignancy such as histiocytosis, Ewing sarcoma, osteosarcoma, and lymphoma. All these disorders should be considered in the differential diagnosis of persistent bone pain in all age groups.

A young female with migratory large joint polyarthralgias and bone pain, mimicking CNO, who finally received the diagnosis of T-cell rich B-cell lymphoma has been reported [34]. Primary lymphoma of the bone (PLB) is rare, comprising 5% of all primary malignant bone tumors and 2% of all extranodal non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. The diagnosis of PLB requires a bone lesion with unequivocal histological evidence of lymphoma. Unfortunately, there are no PLB pathognomonic radiographic findings; however, in this case, the clinical picture was characterized by a relapsing/remitting bone pain, which is not typical of CNO, and by the presence of skull involvement, which, as already said, is not classically associated with the disease.

Recently, [8] have proposed a clinical score that could facilitate the diagnosis and treatment process, particularly with respect to the decision on whether to carry out invasive procedures required for the diagnosis of these diseases [8]. The clinical score, derived using quantitative statistical techniques, includes many of the factors previously associated with diagnosis, such as the number, location, and symmetry of radiologically proven lesions; the presence of marginal sclerosis; body temperature; blood cell count; and CRP level. Using this tool, CNO was not probable with a clinical score of 0–28, uncertain (positive predictive value of 80%) with a clinical score equal to or greater than 39. In the study by Wipff et al. [19], which applies this tool, biopsies would have been avoided for 27 out of 110 patients.

In conclusion, there is not a general agreement on the usefulness of biopsy for the diagnosis. Even if the Jansson Score is not still widely validated, it is suggested that patients with a score >39 may not undergo biopsy. Our practical approach is to perform a biopsy in all patients with poor general conditions, persistent and significant elevation of acute phase reactants, and/or hematological abnormalities (anemia, alteration in leukocyte or platelet counts) and in all those patients with unifocal or atypical (i.e., skull) bone involvement. On the contrary, the decision to perform a biopsy can be postponed in patients in general good conditions, with slight elevation of acute phase reactants, involvement of multiple and/or typical bone sites, typical radiological findings and favorable response to treatment with nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). In any case, further studies are needed to clarify the role of biopsy; up to now, the decision to perform a biopsy remains a physician-related decision based on his expertise and knowledge of CNO diagnosis.

8.5 Treatment

No guidelines exist on CRMO treatment, and most evidence comes from small case series or retrospective cohorts. No randomized clinical trial on CRMO treatment has been published until now. The drugs used are summarized in Table 8.1.

	Dosage	Time of treatment
First-line treatment		
NSAIDs (nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs)		
– Ibuprofen	30–40 mg/kg/die in three to four divided doses	1–3 months
- Indomethacin	1–2 mg/kg twice daily	1–3 months
– Naproxen	5–7.5 mg/kg twice daily	1–3 months
- Diclofenac	2–3 mg/kg in three divided doses	1–3 months
Corticosteroids		
– Prednisolone	1–2 mg/kg once daily	15–30 days then tapering
Second-line treatment		
Sulfasalazine	10–15 mg/kg four times daily	1–3 months
Methotrexate	15–20 mg/msq once weekly s.c.	6 months
Bisphosphonates		
– Pamidronate	1–3 mg/kg/day for 3 consecutive days every 3 months ^a	9 months
	or	
	1 mg/kg/day for 1 day every month	6 months
Anti-TNFα		
– Infliximab	5 mg/kg/dose. Infusions at time 0, 2 weeks, 6 weeks, then every 8 weeks	12 months
– Etanercept	0.8 mg/kg/dose/week	6 months
– Adalimumab	24 mg/mcq/2 weeks	6 months

 Table 8.1
 Most common treatment options used in chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis patients

Time of treatment is intended as the minimum time to treat the patients, but therapy can be prolonged according to clinical status

Table from Ref. [35]

^aFirst infusion: 0.5 mg/kg

8.5.1 NSAIDs

The first-line treatment is considered to be nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), with reported good response in small case series [36], even if clinical remission is not always achieved.

Their main role is pain control, but they may also prevent bone damage being involved in prostaglandin control [32]. Studies have demonstrated that the rate of clinical remission with NSAIDs is variable, ranging from 27% [37] to 80% [15, 29]. Their mechanism of action is mostly due to an anti-inflammatory effect on the bone; however, it is not clear which NSAIDs should be considered the best treatment option, and most NSAIDs are used interchangeably. The most commonly used NSAIDs for CRMO are ibuprofen, diclofenac [38], indomethacin [39], and naproxen.

The only NSAID evaluated prospectively is naproxen. In a study on 37 CRMO patients, a good response was shown in 43% of cases at 1 year of follow-up; improvement was demonstrated clinically as well as radiologically and with improved quality of life as well [40].

NSAID action starts after at least 4 weeks of therapy, so it is important to maintain the treatment for at least 1 month before declaring a failure [38].

8.5.2 Corticosteroids

Corticosteroids are the most effective anti-inflammatory drugs; their effects are mediated either by direct binding of the glucocorticoid/glucocorticoid receptor complex to glucocorticoid responsive elements in the promoter region of genes or by an interaction of this complex with other transcription factors, in particular activating protein-1 or nuclear factor-kappa B. These drugs inhibit many inflammation-associated molecules such as cytokines, chemokines, arachidonic acid metabolites, and adhesion molecules [41].

Oral corticosteroids have been proposed for those patients with CRMO who failed to respond to NSAIDs, as well as a first-line treatment choice, with a very good response rate [42]. The most used corticosteroid preparation is prednisolone.

8.5.3 Sulfasalazine and Methotrexate

Sulfasalazine is usually used in patients with associated inflammatory bowel disease but has not been reported to work better than NSAIDs.

Methotrexate (MTX) is a well-known treatment for rheumatologic conditions, especially in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. The drug inhibits purine and pyrimidine synthesis, accounting for its efficacy in the therapy of cancer, but many studies have focused on the adenosine-mediated anti-inflammatory effects of methotrexate as well. MTX has also been used in CRMO; however, in this clinical setting, it does not seem to be very effective [43]. In a cohort of 70 children with CRMO [44], only 20% of patients treated with MTX had clinical remission.

For those patients who do not respond to first-line treatment, bisphosphonate and/or TNF- α blockers have been used with variable effects.

8.5.4 Bisphosphonates

Although it is not clear how bisphosphonates exert their anti-inflammatory effect, it has been suggested that they may modify the release of proinflammatory cytokines acting on local effector cells, such as resident macrophages, osteoclasts, and fibroblasts [45].

Bisphosphonates have been used in CRMO since 2001 with good clinical effects and durable response [46]. Later, Simm and Miettunen treated five and nine CRMO patients, respectively, with bisphosphonate infusions, which led to pain decrease, symptomatic improvement, and radiologic improvement of bone lesions [47, 48]. Even though it is still unclear which subset of patients could benefit more from bisphosphonate treatment, studies suggest that they are more effective in those patients with multifocal lesions [15], spinal involvement [49], and, interestingly, mandible involvement [50]. Pamidronate is the most used bisphosphonate, but neridronate has been demonstrated to be effective as well [51]. A randomized trial on the use of pamidronate in CRMO patients is ongoing, and results are not yet available (NCT02594878).

In our and others' opinion, bisphosphonates should be used in patients when NSAIDs and corticosteroids have failed if no systemic feature is present and possibly as first-line treatment in those patients with spine involvement [10, 52, 53].

8.5.5 TNF Inhibitors

TNF- α is considered a key protein in inflammation, and its blockade is used in many autoinflammatory and autoimmune disorders. Moreover, TNF has been implicated in pathological bone resorption, activating osteoblasts and tissue stromal cells to express receptor activator of NF-kB (RANK) ligand (RANKL). In addition, TNF can act directly on osteoclast precursors, often in synergy with RANKL, to promote osteoclastogenesis [54].

Anti-TNF- α agents have been used in CRMO patients. Infliximab was the first biologic used [55], but etanercept and adalimumab have also been demonstrated to be effective [56, 57]. Their use has usually been for those patients, usually <10%, who did not achieve clinical remission with previous treatment. In these patients, benefit was observed [15]. In our opinion, TNF- α blockers should be considered when bisphosphonates failed, or as an alternative when systemic features (e.g., fever) are present.

8.5.6 Anti-IL1β

In consideration of the fact that CRMO is considered an autoinflammatory disease, some authors suggest that IL1 blockade could be a useful therapeutic approach also for those patients with the sporadic form of CNO other than in those with inflammatory osteitis secondary to autoinflammatory syndromes [58].

Recently, three consensus treatment plans (CTPs) have been developed for the first 12 months of therapy for CNO patients refractory to NSAID monotherapy and/ or with active spinal lesions. The three CTPs are methotrexate or sulfasalazine, tumor necrosis factor inhibitors with optional methotrexate, and bisphosphonates. Short courses of glucocorticoids and continuation of NSAIDs are permitted for all regimens. Consensus was achieved on these CTPs among CARRA members [59].

References

- Solheim LF, Paus B, Liverud K, Støen E. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. A new clinical-radiological syndrome. Acta Orthop Scand. 1980;51(1):37–41.
- Giedion A, Holthusen W, Masel LF, Vischer D. Subacute and chronic "symmetrical" osteomyelitis. Ann Radiol (Paris). 1972;15(3):329–42.
- Bjorksten B, Boquist L. Histopathological aspects of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. J Bone Joint Surg Br. 1980;62:376–80.
- Gamble JG, Rinsky LA. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: a distinct clinical entity. J Pediatr Orthop. 1986;6(5):579–84.
- Robertson LP, Hickling P. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis is a differential diagnosis of juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2001;60(9):828–31.
- Huber AM, Lam PY, Duffy CM, Yeung RS, Ditchfield M, Laxer D, Cole WG, Kerr Graham H, Allen RC, Laxer RM. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: clinical outcomes after more than five years of follow-up. J Pediatr. 2002;141(2):198–203.
- Bousvaros A, Marcon M, Treem W, Waters P, Issenman R, Couper R, Burnell R, Rosenberg A, Rabinovich E, Kirschner BS. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis associated with chronic inflammatory bowel disease in children. Dig Dis Sci. 1999;44(12):2500–7.
- Jansson A, Renner ED, Ramser J, Mayer A, Haban M, Meindl A, Grote V, Diebold J, Jansson V, Schneider K, Belohradsky BH. Classification of non-bacterial osteitis: retrospective study of clinical, immunological and genetic aspects in 89 patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(1):154–60.
- Beretta-Piccoli BC, Sauvain MJ, Gal I, Schibler A, Saurenmann T, Kressebuch H, Bianchetti MG. Synovitis, acne, pustulosis, hyperostosis, osteitis (SAPHO) syndrome in childhood: a report of ten cases and review of the literature. Eur J Pediatr. 2000;159(8):594–601.
- Pelkonen P, Ryoppy S, Jaaskelainen J, Rapola J, Repo H, Kaitila I. Chronic osteomyelitis like disease with negative bacterial cultures. Am J Dis Child. 1988;142(11):1167–73.
- Scianaro R, Insalaco A, Bracci Laudiero L, De Vito R, Pezzullo M, Teti A, De Benedetti F, Prencipe G. Deregulation of the IL-1β axis in chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2014;12:30.
- Majeed HA, Kalaawi M, Mohanty D, Teebi AS, Tunjekar MF, al-Gharbawy F, Majeed SA, al-Gazzar AH. Congenital dyserythropoietic anemia and chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis in three related children and the association with Sweet syndrome in two siblings. J Pediatr. 1989;115(5 Pt 1):730–4.
- Ferguson PJ, Chen S, Tayeh MK, Ochoa L, Leal SM, Pelet A, Munnich A, Lyonnet S, Majeed HA, El-Shanti H. Homozygous mutations in LPIN2 are responsible for the syndrome of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis and congenital dyserythropoietic anaemia (Majeed syndrome). J Med Genet. 2005;42(7):551–7.
- 14. Papadaki ME, Lietman SA, Levine MA, Olsen BR, Kaban LB, Reichenberge EJ. Cherubism: best clinical practice. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2012;7(1):S6.
- Castori M, Sinibaldi L, Mingarelli R, Lachman RS, Rimoin DL, Dallapiccola B. Pachydermoperiostosis: an update. Clin Genet. 2005;68:6477–86.

- Smith EJ, Allantaz F, Bennett L, Zhang D, Gao X, Wood G, Kastner DL, Punaro M, Aksentijevich I, Pascual V, Wise CA. Clinical, molecular, and genetic characteristics of PAPA syndrome: a review. Curr Genomics. 2010;11(7):519–27.
- 17. Aksentijevich I, Masters SL, Ferguson PJ, Dancey P, Frenkel J, van Royen-Kerkhoff A, Laxer R, Tedgård U, Cowen EW, Pham TH, Booty M, Estes JD, Sandler NG, Plass N, Stone DL, Turner ML, Hill S, Butman JA, Schneider R, Babyn P, El-Shanti HI, Pope E, Barron K, Bing X, Laurence A, Lee CC, Chapelle D, Clarke GI, Ohson K, Nicholson M, Gadina M, Yang B, Korman BD, Gregersen PK, van Hagen PM, Hak AE, Huizing M, Rahman P, Douek DC, Remmers EF, Kastner DL, Goldbach-Mansky R. An autoinflammatory disease with deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(23):2426–37.
- Golla A, Jansson A, Ramser J, Hellebrand H, Zahn R, Meitinger T, Belohradsky BH, Meindl A. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO): evidence for a susceptibility gene located on chromosome 18q21.3-18q22. Eur J Hum Genet. 2002;10:217–21.
- Wipff J, Costantino F, Lemelle I, Pajot C, Duquesne A, Lorrot M, Faye A, Bader-Meunier B, Brochard K, Despert V, Jean S, Grall-Lerosey M, Marot Y, Nouar D, Pagnier A, Quartier P, Job-Deslandre C. A large national cohort of French patients with chronic recurrent multifocal osteitis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2015;67(4):1128–37.
- Ben Becher S, Essaddam H, Nahali N, Ben Hamadi F, Mouelhi MH, Hammou A, Hadj Romdhane L, Ben Cheikh M, Boudhina T, Dargouth M. Recurrent multifocal periostosis in children. Report of a familial form. Ann Pediatr (Paris). 1991;38:345–9.
- Hamel J, Paul D, Gahr M, Hedrich CM. Pilot study: possible association of IL10 promoter polymorphisms with CRMO. Rheumatol Int. 2012;32(2):555–6.
- Hofmann SR, Morbach H, Schwarz T, Rösen-Wolff A, Girschick HJ, Hedrich CM. Attenuated TLR4/MAPK signaling in monocytes from patients with CRMO results in impaired IL-10 expression. Clin Immunol. 2012;145(1):69–76.
- Ferguson PJ, Bing X, Vasef MA, Ochoa LA, Mahgoub A, Waldschmidt TJ, Tygrett LT, Schlueter AJ, El-Shanti H. A missense mutation in pstpip2 is associated with the murine autoinflammatory disorder chronic multifocal osteomyelitis. Bone. 2006;38(1):41–7.
- 24. Grosse J, Chitu V, Marquardt A, Hanke P, Schmittwolf C, Zeitlmann L, Schropp P, Barth B, Yu P, Paffenholz R, Stumm G, Nehls M, Stanley ER. Mutation of mouse Mayp/Pstpip2 causes a macrophage autoinflammatory disease. Blood. 2006;107(8):3350–8.
- Beck C, Girschick HJ, Morbach H, Schwarz T, Yimam T, Frenkel J, van Gijn ME. Mutation screening of the IL-1 receptor antagonist gene in chronic non-bacterial osteomyelitis of childhood and adolescence. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2011;29(6):1040–3.
- 26. Cox AJ, Darbro BW, Laxer RM, Velez G, Bing X, Finer AL, Erives A, Mahajan VB, Bassuk AG, Ferguson PJ. Recessive coding and regulatory mutations in FBLIM1 underlie the pathogenesis of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO). PLoS One. 2017;12:e0169687.
- Lukens JR, Gurung P, Vogel P, Johnson GR, Carter RA, McGoldrick DJ, Bandi SR, Calabrese CR, Vande Walle L, Lamkanfi M, Kanneganti TD. Dietary modulation of the microbiome affects autoinflammatory disease. Nature. 2014;516:246–9.
- El-Shanti HI, Ferguson PJ. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: a concise review and genetic update. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2007;462:11–9.
- Watanabe T, Ono H, Morimoto Y, Otsuki Y, Shirai M, Endoh A, Naito M, Inoue Y, Hongo T. Skull involvement of a pediatric case of chronic recurrent multifocal ostemyelitis. Nagoya J Med Sci. 2015;77(3):493–500.
- Girschick HJ, Raab P, Surbaum S, Trusen A, Kirschner S, Schneider P, Papadopoulos T, Müller-Hermelink HK, Lipsky PE. Chronic non-bacterial osteomyelitis in children. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(2):279–85.
- Khanna G, Sato TS, Ferguson P. Imaging of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. Radiographics. 2009;29:1159–77.
- Fritz J, Tzaribatchev N, Claussen CD, Carrino JA, Horger MS. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: comparison of whole-body MR imaging with radiography and correlation with clinical and laboratory data. Radiology. 2009;252:842–51.

- 33. Voit AM, Arnoldi AP, Douis H, Bleisteiner F, Jansson MK, Reiser MF, Weckbach S, Jansson AF. Whole-body magnetic resonance imaging in chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: clinical longterm assessment may underestimate activity. J Rheumatol. 2015;42(8):1455–62.
- 34. Haque SA, Shad A, Ozdemirli M, et al. A thirteen year old female with primary T-cell rich B-cell lymphoma of bone masquerading as chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. Pediatr Rep. 2009;8(1):e3.
- Taddio A, Zennaro F, Pastore S, Cimaz R. An update on the pathogenesis and treatment of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis in children. Paediatr Drugs. 2017;19(3):165–72.
- Handrick W, Hörmann D, Voppmann A, Schille R, Reichardt P, Tröbs RB, et al. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis—report of eight patients. Pediatr Surg Int. 1998;14:195–8.
- Pastore S, Ferrara G, Monasta L, Meini A, Cattalini M, Martino S, et al. Chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis may be associated with renal disease and bisphosphonates are a good option for the majority of patients. Acta Paediatr. 2016;105:e328–33.
- Job-Deslandre C, Krebs S, Kahan A. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis: five-year outcomes in 14 pediatric cases. Joint Bone Spine. 2001;68:245–51.
- Abril JC, Ramirez A. Successful of treatment of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis with indomethacin. J Pediatr Orthop. 2007;27:587–91.
- 40. Beck C, Morbach H, Beer M, Stenzel M, Tappe D, Gattenlöhner S, et al. Chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis in childhood: prospective follow-up during the first year of anti-inflammatory treatment. Arthritis Res Ther. 2010;12:R74.
- 41. Van der Velden VH. Glucocorticoids: mechanism of action and anti-inflammatory potential in asthma. Mediat Inflamm. 1998;7:229–37.
- 42. Ishikawa-Nakayama K, Sugiyama E, Sawazaki S, Taki H, Kobayashi M, Koizumi F, et al. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis showing marked improvement with corticosteroid treatment. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:1318–9.
- 43. Kaiser D, Bolt I, Hofer M, Relly C, Berthet G, Bolz D, et al. Chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis in children: a retrospective multicenter study. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2015;13:25.
- 44. Borzutzky A, Stern S, Reiff A, Zurakowski D, Steinberg EA, Dedeoglu F, et al. Pediatric chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis. Pediatrics. 2012;130:e1190–7.
- 45. Iannitti T, Rosini S, Lodi D, Frediani B, Rottigni V, Palmieri B. Bisphosphonates: focus on inflammation and bone loss. Am J Ther. 2012;19:228–46.
- Coinde E, David L, Cottalorda J, Allard D, Bost M, Lucht F, et al. Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis in children: report of 17 cases. Arch Pediatr. 2001;8:577–83.
- Simm PJ, Allen RC, Zacharin MR. Bisphosphonate treatment in chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. J Pediatr. 2008;152:571–5.
- Miettunen PM, Wei X, Kaura D, Reslan WA, Aguirre AN, Kellner JD. Dramatic pain relief and resolution of bone inflammation following pamidronate in 9 pediatric patients with persistent chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2009;7:2.
- 49. Hospach T, Langendoerfer M, von Kalle T, Maier J, Dannecker GE. Spinal involvement in chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO) in childhood and effect of pamidronate. Eur J Pediatr. 2010;169:1105–11.
- Compeyrot-Lacassagne S, Rosenberg AM, Babyn P, Laxer RM. Pamidronate treatment of chronic noninfectious inflammatory lesions of the mandible in children. J Rheumatol. 2007;34:1585–9.
- De Cunto A, Maschio M, Lepore L, Zennaro F. A case of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis successfully treated with neridronate. J Pediatr. 2009;154:154–5.
- Hedrich CM, Hofmann SR, Pablik J, Morbach H, Girschick HJ. Autoinflammatory bone disorders with special focus on chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CRMO). Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2013;11:47.
- Hofmann SR, Schnabel A, Rösen-Wolff A, Morbach H, Girschick HJ, Hedrich CM. Chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis: pathophysiological concepts and current treatment strategies. J Rheumatol. 2016;43:1956–64.
- Zhao B, Grimes SN, Li S, Hu X, Ivashkiv LB. TNF-induced osteoclastogenesis and inflammatory bone resorption are inhibited by transcription factor RBP-J. J Exp Med. 2012;209:319–34.

- Deutschmann A, Mache CJ, Bodo K, Zebedin D, Ring E. Successful treatment of chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis with tumor necrosis factor-alpha blockage. Pediatrics. 2005;116:1231–3.
- Eisenstein EM, Syverson GD, Vora SS, Williams CB. Combination therapy with methotrexate and etanercept for refractory chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis. J Rheumatol. 2011;38:782–3.
- 57. Barral Mena E, Freire Gómez X, Enríquez Merayo E, Casado Picón R, Bello Gutierrez P, de Inocencio Arocena J. Non-bacterial chronic osteomyelitis: experience in a tertiary hospital. An Pediatr (Barc). 2016;85:18–25.
- Pardeo M, Pires Marafon D, MEssia V, Garganese MC, De Benedetti F, Insalaco A. Anakinra in a cohort of children with chronic nonbacterial osteomyelisitis. J Rheumatol. 2017;44:1231–8.
- 59. Zhao Y, Wu WY, Oliver MS, Cooper AM, Basiaga ML, Vora SS, Lee TC, Fox EM, Amarilyo G, Stern SM, Dvergsten JA, et al. Consensus treatment plans for chronic nonbacterial osteomyelitis refractory to nonsteroidal antiinfiammatory drugs and/or with active spinal lesions. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2018;70:1228–37.



Behçet Disease

Erdal Sag, Yelda Bilginer, and Seza Ozen

9.1 Behçet Disease

Behçet disease (BD) is a vasculitis that can affect arteries or veins of any size; thus, it was recently reclassified as a variable vessel vasculitis. BD is characterized by recurrent oral and/or genital ulcers accompanied by ocular, cutaneous, articular, gastrointestinal, and/or central nervous system inflammatory lesions [1]. Hulusi Behçet, a Turkish dermatologist, had described three major signs (oral aphthae, genital ulcerations, and uveitis) of BD in 1937 and defined it as a "triple symptom complex" [2]. There are also reports about BD description in the fifth century BC in the "*Third Book of Endemic Diseases* [3]."

9.2 Classification

Definition of Behçet disease is based on clinical features. As it shares overlap features with other autoinflammatory diseases, a number of classification criteria have been proposed. The main purpose of these classification criteria is to reach some uniformity. However, the heterogeneity of the disease poses problems, and it may be difficult to apply them to children.

Several sets of diagnostic criteria have been proposed so far. The most widely used diagnostic criteria for adults is the criteria of the International Study Group (ISG) (Table 9.1) with a specificity of 96% and sensitivity of 91% [4]. Recently, a large cohort of pediatric BD patients from both European and non-European countries was evaluated, and the first classification criteria of pediatric BD—PEDBD— (Table 9.2) was proposed with a sensitivity of 77% and specificity of 88% [5]. A multicenter study comparing PEDBD and ISG criteria with 68 pediatric BD patients

161

E. Sag \cdot Y. Bilginer \cdot S. Ozen (\boxtimes)

Department of Pediatric Rheumatology, Hacettepe University Faculty of Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_9

Criterion	Description
Recurrent oral	Minor aphthous, major aphthous, or herpetiform ulceration recurring at least
ulceration	three times in one 12-month period, observed by physician or patient
Plus two of the f	ollowing:
Recurrent genital ulcers	Aphthous ulceration or scarring observed by physician or patient
Eye lesions	Anterior uveitis, posterior uveitis, or cells in vitreous on slit-lamp examination or retinal vasculitis observed by an ophthalmologist
Skin lesions	Erythema nodosum observed by physician or patient; pseudofolliculitis or papulopustular lesions; and acneiform nodules observed by physician in postadolescent patient not on corticosteroids
Pathergy	Erythema nodosum observed by physician or patient; pseudofolliculitis or papulopustular lesions; and acneiform nodules observed by physician in postadolescent patient not on corticosteroids

Table 9.1 Criteria of the International Study Group for the diagnosis of Behçet disease [4]

From Criteria for diagnosis of Behçet disease. International Study Group for Behçet disease. Lancet, 1990. 335(8697): p. 1078–80

Table 9.2 PEDBD pediatric Behçet classification [5]

Item	Description
Recurrent oral aphthosis	At least three attacks/year
Genital ulceration or aphthosis	Typically with scar
Ocular involvement	Anterior uveitis, posterior uveitis, and retinal vasculitis
Skin involvement	Necrotic folliculitis, acneiform lesions, and erythema nodosum
Vascular signs	Venous thrombosis, arterial thrombosis, and arterial aneurysm
Neurological signs	With the exception of isolated headaches

Three of six items are required to classify a patient as having pediatric BD (all having the same value)

From Kone-Paut, I., et al., Consensus classification criteria for pediatric Behçet disease from a prospective observational cohort: PEDBD. Ann Rheum Dis, 2016. 75(6): p. 958–64

and 90 controls also supports that PEDBD had a higher sensitivity (73.5% vs. 52.9%) but slightly lower specificity (97.7% vs. 100%) than ISG criteria [6].

9.3 Epidemiology

Behçet disease is very common in countries located along the "silk route" from the Far East to the Mediterranean basin. As a result, the highest prevalence has been reported in Northern China, Iran, Korea, and Turkey [7–9]. In Turkey, the overall prevalence is 1 in 250 persons [10]. The countries with the lowest prevalence are the UK, Portugal, Sweden, and the United States [11]. The usual age of onset is around 30 years. The prevalence of BD among children is low, and it has been proposed that it is not more than ten cases per 100,000 in Turkey [12]. The mean age at diagnosis is 7.8 \pm 4.3 years in the International PEDBD cohort study of 156 patients [5].

9.4 Etiology and Pathogenesis

The pathogenesis of BD is still not clear. BD is an inflammatory disease where both the innate immune system and possibly the adaptive immune system are involved.

There is evidence supporting the genetic influence in the pathogenesis of BD. The frequency of familial cases is reported to be as high as 10–50% [13, 14]. The human leukocyte antigen HLA-B*5101 has the strongest genetic association with BD [15]. Besides HLA-B51, other HLA class I alleles such A26, B15, B27, and B56 represent independent risk factors for BD [16]. Recent genome-wide association studies have identified nearly 20 loci, most of which are involved in both innate and acquired immune systems. Among them, interleukin (IL)-10, IL-23 receptor, C-C chemokine receptor 1, and IL-12 receptor beta genes have been proposed as candidate genes involved in the pathogenesis [16–19]. Furthermore, the Mediterranean fever gene (MEFV) and Toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 have been found to be associated with BD, suggesting the role of innate immune responses against bacterial components in the pathogenesis of the disease [20]. Epigenetic influences are particularly important in the pathogenesis as studies point to DNA methylation and microRNAs altering TH17 cells [21, 22].

The genetic findings provide new insights into the pathogenesis of the disease. The HLA-B51 gene, which is a major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I allele, was shown to have an epistatic interaction with endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase 1 (ERAP1) [23]. It has been shown that a hypoactive ERAP-1 allotype contributes to Behçet disease risk by altering the peptides available for binding to HLA-B51 [24]. ERAP-1 is a molecule in the endoplasmic reticulum that prepares peptides to effector cells by MHC class I molecules [23]. Polymorphisms in ERAP-1 have also been reported in ankylosing spondylitis or psoriatic arthritis. Altered preparation of peptides by ERAP-1 variants might play a role in the disease pathogenesis [25, 26]. On the other hand, a growing number of studies have reported that Th-17-associated cytokines are found in increased volumes in BS, emphasizing the role of IL-17/IL-23 axis and hence the adaptive immune system in the pathogenesis of the disease [27, 28].

On the other hand, BD has also been classified as a polygenic autoinflammatory disease because of the clinical features, the role of the innate immune system in the inflammatory process, and the recurrent nature of the disease. Although microbial agents have been proposed as a causative factor in the disease pathogenesis, thus far, no single pathogen has emerged a likely candidate [29]. Although microbial studies have shown distinct oral or intestinal microbiota, whether the changes in microbiota are a causative factor or a consequence of this condition is not clear [30, 31].

Haploinsufficiency of A20 may mimic Behçet disease. Thus, mutations in the relevant genes should be sought for if the medical history suggests inherited disease with early-onset systemic inflammation [32].

9.5 Clinical Manifestations

The clinical presentation of BD is quite heterogeneous: features may differ among different regions over the world. In Far East, gastrointestinal disease is seen more

frequently, while in the Eastern Mediterranean region and Middle East, vascular involvement is more common. Pathergy positivity and HLA-B51 carrier rate are also more frequently encountered in the countries on Silk Road than in the United States and Europe [33].

The course of the disease is characterized by exacerbations and remissions, with a more severe course in the first years after diagnosis. Skin and mucocutaneous symptoms are the most common and usually are the presenting manifestations, while vascular, neurological, and eye involvement are less common but are associated with morbidity and even mortality. It is not easy to diagnose BD in childhood, as the major manifestations that are needed to classify BD may not be seen at disease onset. The mean interval between the initial and the second major manifestations was 2.9 years, while the third and the fourth features may develop more rapidly [5, 34].

9.5.1 Fever

Recurrent fever is not a common finding in the adult BD cohorts (22%), but it correlates with vascular, neurological, and joint involvement [35]. In the largest pediatric BD cohort, recurrent fever was seen in 44% of patients, without any significant association with other major manifestations [5].

9.5.2 Mucocutaneous Lesions

Oral ulceration is the most frequently seen (present nearly in all patients) and usually the presenting symptom (81%) in pediatric BD [5]. Oral ulcers in BD resemble recurrent aphthous stomatitis; however, they tend to be multiple, extremely painful, and more frequent (Fig. 9.1). Mucosal ulcers are generally located at the lip, tongue, palate, and anywhere in the gastrointestinal tract. They tend to last around 7–10 days (major ulcers may heal over weeks), recur at different intervals during the disease course, and totally recover without scarring. As they are very painful, they cause difficulty in eating, speaking, and even swallowing and interfere with the quality of life. Oral ulcers are generally the only manifestation in pediatric BD for a long time before the next manifestation appears.

Genital ulcers are painful recurrent ulcers, usually located at vulva and vagina in females and at glans penis and scrotum in males. They are seen in nearly 55–83% of the patients with a female predominance and heal with scarring. [5, 36] They are deeper and larger than oral ulcers and tend to have an irregular margin [37].

Other skin manifestations are also frequently seen in pediatric BD [38]. Typical skin lesions include erythema nodosum (more common in females), folliculitis, acneiform (papulopustular) lesions (more common in males), skin nodules, and ulcers [5]. These lesions generally appear after oral ulcers [5]. The skin of BD patients is sensitive to trauma and puncture. This skin hypersensitivity, pathergy, is a cutaneous pustular reaction occurring 24–48 h after a 24-G needle puncture. It is a highly specific but not pathognomonic feature of the disease. **Fig. 9.1** Oral aphthous lesion in a girl with Behçet disease



Pathergy positivity was formerly a diagnostic criterion; however, it varies from 40% to 80% of the patients; thus, it is not a criterion in newly formed PEDBD classification criteria [5, 36].

9.5.3 Eye Involvement

Ocular lesions occur in about 30–45% of pediatric BD patients [5, 39]. The ocular disease may start unilaterally; however, the typical involvement is recurrent bilateral uveitis, which is characteristically nongranulomatous and affects anterior, posterior, or both segments [40]. Anterior uveitis is more common before 10 years of age, while bilateral panuveitis with retinal vasculitis and/or retinitis is the most common form of the ocular disease in patients older than 10 years [41]. In the latter form, patients tend to have a painless decrease in the visual acuity [37]. In anterior uveitis, blurred vision, redness, periorbital or global pain, and photophobia can be seen [40]. Hypopyon may also occur, and severe uveitis can cause loss of vision [40]. Complications such as posterior synechia, cystoid macular edema, glaucoma, and cataract may occur [40, 42]. Other rare ocular manifestations are corneal ulcerations, retinal detachment, and optic nerve involvement. Ocular disease is reported to be more serious and more frequent in males [5, 43].

9.5.4 Vascular Involvement

BD is classified as variable vessel vasculitis in the latest Chapel Hill Consensus Conference (CHCC) 2012 criteria [1]. It is a very peculiar disease affecting any size and any type (arterial and venous system) of vessel. BD is characterized by arterial or venous thrombosis and aneurysms or occlusions of the arterial systems. The main pathogenetic mechanism is the inflammation of the vessel wall leading to thrombus formation. Activated neutrophils produce excessive superoxide radicals and lyso-somal enzymes that damage the vessel wall [42]. Endothelial damage with aneurysm formation causes local blood flow abnormalities. The thrombus is usually adherent and does not generate secondary embolism [42].

Vascular involvement is seen in 10-20% of BD patients, generally occurs about 3–5 years after the disease onset, and is more common among males [5, 36, 44]. Superficial or deep thrombophlebitis (generally of the lower extremities) and Budd-Chiari syndrome are the most common vascular manifestations in adults, while venous thrombosis of the lower extremities and cerebral sinus thrombosis are the most common vascular disease in children [29, 44-47]. Arterial complications including aneurysm and thrombosis may also occur [47], as well as pulmonary and central retinal artery involvement [48-50]. Although rare, pulmonary artery aneurysm/thrombosis is a very severe form of vascular BD, presenting with dyspnea, hemoptysis, and chest pain [51, 52]. Pulmonary artery aneurysms, typically involving main pulmonary arteries and their lobar branches in a young man, are almost exclusively due to BD [53]. Among 47 patients with pulmonary arterial involvement, peripheral venous thrombosis (77%) was also present [52]. In a study of 21 pediatric BD patients with thrombosis, four had anticardiolipin antibodies and two had Protein C deficiency, suggesting that the presence of thrombophilic markers could increase the risk of thrombosis in BD [45].

9.5.5 Neuro-Behçet

Neurological involvement is one of the most severe causes of long-term morbidity and mortality in BD [54]. Central nervous system involvement occurs in 5–10% of patients [55]. The frequency of neurological involvement in children ranges from 15% to 30% [5]. Central nervous system is the major target of neurological involvement. The two major forms of neurological involvement in BD are parenchymal and nonparenchymal involvement [56].

- *Parenchymal involvement*: Subacute meningoencephalitis occurs in 75% of cases. Onset is commonly subacute, and headache is common before and during attacks [56]. Different presentations can be seen.
 - Brain stem involvement: ophthalmoparesis, cranial neuropathy, and cerebellar or pyramidal dysfunction
 - Cerebral hemispheric involvement: encephalopathy, hemiparesis, hemisensory loss, seizures, dysphasia, and mental changes (cognitive dysfunction and psychosis)



Fig. 9.2 Dural sinus thrombosis (red arrows)

- Spinal cord involvement: pyramidal signs in the limbs, sensory-level dysfunction, sphincter dysfunction [56]
- *Nonparenchymal involvement*: Main structures of the central nervous system are involved. The nature and severity of the clinical syndrome depend on the structure involved.
 - Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (Fig. 9.2) occurs in 10–20% of BD patients with neurological involvement [54]. Clinical onset is subacute or chronic in most patients. Patients present with severe headache, mental changes, and motor ocular cranial nerve palsies (sixth or less often third cranial nerve) [57]
 - Intracranial aneurysms
 - Extracranial aneurysms/dissection

Peripheral nervous system involvement, psychiatric symptoms, and optic neuropathy are seldom observed [54].

The main manifestations in the pediatric age group is cerebral venous thrombosis and cranial nerve palsy (especially sixth) rather than parenchymal lesions [42].

9.5.6 Musculoskeletal Involvement

Poly- or oligoarthritis is seen in nearly half of pediatric BD patients [5, 36]. It generally affects knees, elbows, ankles, and wrists; however, any joint can be involved. Recurrent nonerosive peripheral arthritis (47%) is the most common involvement, but axial arthritis (16%) and, very rarely, HLA-B27-related spondyloarthropathy (2%) can also occur [5].

Besides arthritis, acute localized myositis has been reported in a very few pediatric BD patients [58].

9.5.7 Gastrointestinal Involvement

Gastrointestinal (GI) involvement in BD is very challenging due to the similarities to inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs). It is more frequent in Japan and France, with a more severe course [33]. Abdominal pain (26-41%) and diarrhea (13%) are the most common symptoms. Although very rare, there may be ulcers (5-15%), bleeding (2-5%), and perforation (1-2%) [5, 44, 46]. Ulcers in BD are round/oval; usually deep, large, and single; mostly located in the ileocecal region; and very fragile with a tendency to perforate [59]. Chronic active inflammation, crypt distortion, and, rarely, vasculitis can be seen in the biopsies taken from these ulcers [59]. In 20% of patients, the ulcers relapse even with appropriate treatment [59]. GI involvement has a more severe course in juvenile-onset BD patients [59].

9.5.8 Renal Involvement

Kidney involvement is relatively more frequent than has been recognized, but it is generally mild in nature. Glomerulonephritis (most commonly as crescentic GN and IgA nephropathy) and secondary amyloidosis are the most common features, while renal artery aneurysm, renal vein thrombosis, and, very rarely, tubulointerstitial lesions may also be seen [60].

9.5.9 Other Organ Involvements

Pulmonary artery involvement is the primary pulmonary involvement; however, parenchymal lesions (nodules and cavities), pleural effusions, and mediastinal lymphadenopathy have also been reported [52]. Cardiac complications (6–7%) include pericarditis, endocardial lesions (aortic regurgitation and, less often, mitral insufficiency), myocardial lesions (myocardial infarction, myocarditis, and endomyocardial fibrosis), and intracardiac thrombosis (right ventricle and atrium) [61, 62].

9.6 Diagnosis

There is no specific laboratory test to diagnose Behçet disease. Autoantibodies are not expected to be present. Acute-phase reactants are increased with active disease.

The histopathology of the pathergy test shows mixed inflammatory cell infiltration, endothelial swelling and thickening, erythrocyte extravasation, perivascular cell infiltration, lymphocytic vascular reaction, lymphocytic vasculitis, and leukocytoclastic vasculitis [63].

Inflammation in the synovium is usually nonspecific. Synovial fluid analysis is characterized by a predominance of neutrophils and low glucose [64]. Metabolomic evaluation of Behçet arthritis revealed increased oxidative stress, providing a potential link to BD-associated neutrophil hyperactivity [65].

HLA-B51/B5 carriage predominates in males and is associated with moderately higher prevalence of genital ulcers and ocular and skin manifestations and a decreased prevalence of gastrointestinal involvement [66]. Although it is not a diagnostic criterion, the strength of the association between BD and HLA-B51/B5 and its consistency across populations of various ethnicities further support that this allele is a primary and causal risk determinant for BD [67].

9.7 Differential Diagnosis

The differential diagnosis is usually challenging and depends on the main clinical manifestation. Oral ulcers can be seen in recurrent aphthous stomatitis or a number of other diseases; however, ulcers in Behçet disease are more painful, usually multiple, and more frequent.

Gastrointestinal involvement should be differentiated from inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Bowel lesions of Behçet disease are usually located in the ileocecal region and tend to be single, large, and deep; however, the differentiation is very challenging.

Thrombotic manifestations including sinus thrombosis or any type of arterial and venous thrombosis can be seen in diseases with genetic predisposition to thrombosis.

BD mimics all vasculitides, as it can affect any type of vessel, but the involvement of venous system inflammation is quite specific for BD.

9.8 Treatment

Treatment of BD depends on the site and severity of specific organ-system involvements. There are no controlled studies for the treatment of pediatric BD patients; thus, the treatment strategies mostly rely on studies in adults. Very recently, the new European League Against Rheumatism (EULAR) recommendations for adult BD have been proposed [68].

9.8.1 Mucocutaneous Lesions

Topical treatments like corticosteroids are generally used as the first-line treatment for oral and genital ulcers. Colchicine can be used to prevent recurrent oral and genital ulcers. Papulopustular or acne-like lesions are treated in a similar approach used in acne vulgaris [68]. If the mucocutaneous lesions recur despite colchicine treatment, other immunomodulatory agents such as azathioprine, thalidomide, dapsone, interferon-alpha, and anti-tumor necrosis alpha (anti-TNF) agents can be used [69–73]. Apremilast, an oral phosphodiesterase-4 inhibitor, has been suggested as a promising agent for active mucocutaneous lesions and had very good results in a recent adult phase 2 trial [74].

Interleukin-1 (IL-1) blockade with anakinra and canakinumab and IL-23 blockade with ustekinumab provide partial benefit, while IL-17 blockade with secukinumab was ineffective and IL-6 blockade with tocilizumab worsened the mucocutaneous lesions [75–78].

9.8.2 Eye Involvement

Eye involvement should be managed with an experienced ophthalmologist. Isolated anterior uveitis can be treated with topical steroids, while systemic immunomodulatory agents such as azathioprine should be used in patients with poor prognostic factors such as young age, male gender, and early disease onset. Any BD patient with posterior eye involvement should be treated with azathioprine, cyclosporine A, interferon-alpha, or anti-TNF agents (infliximab or adalimumab). Systemic corticosteroids can also be added to these drugs [68]. During an acute attack, high-dose systemic corticosteroids, anti-TNF agents, or interferon-alpha can be used. In patients with unilateral exacerbation, intravitreal corticosteroid injection may also be added [68]. In an open-label randomized controlled trial (RCT), the IL-1-beta antibody gevokizumab reduced uveitis severity, decreased macular edema, and preserved visual acuity but did not affect the risk of ocular exacerbations [79]. There are also a few case series that show beneficial effect of tocilizumab in patients refractory to azathioprine, interferon-alpha, and anti-TNF agents [80, 81].

9.8.3 Vascular Involvement

For the management of acute deep vein thrombosis in BD, glucocorticoids and immunosuppressives such as azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, or cyclosporine A are recommended [68]. Since venous thrombosis in BD is due to inflammation on the vessel wall rather than to a procoagulant state, the use of anticoagulants is still controversial [82]. For the management of pulmonary artery aneurysms, high-dose glucocorticoids and cyclophosphamide are recommended. Anti-TNF agents should be considered in refractory cases. For patients who have or who are at high risk of major bleeding, embolization should be preferred to open surgery [68]. For both aortic and peripheral artery aneurysms, medical treatment with cyclophosphamide and corticosteroids is necessary before surgical intervention, but surgery or stenting should not be delayed if the patient is symptomatic [68].

9.8.4 Neuro-Behçet

High-dose glucocorticoids followed by slow tapering together with immunosuppressives such as azathioprine are recommended for the treatment of acute attacks of parenchymal involvement. Monoclonal anti-TNF antibodies should be started in patients who have severe parenchymal involvement or have persistent or relapsing disease despite corticosteroids and azathioprine and in patients with chronic progressive nervous system involvement [68]. Cyclosporine A can cause an increased risk of nervous system involvement and thus should be avoided in patients with neuro-BD even if CNS involvement is no longer active [68]. Acute venous thrombosis should be treated with high-dose corticosteroids and a short course of anticoagulants (especially in patients with additional thrombotic conditions). The addition of immunosuppressives is still controversial [68].

9.8.5 Other Organ Involvements

Initial treatment for GI involvement is 5-aminosalicylic acid derivatives, while corticosteroids, azathioprine, and anti-TNF agents are needed for more severe and refractory GI disease [29]. Surgical consultation is needed in case of perforation, bleeding, and obstruction [68]. Anti-TNF agents may be added in refractory cases.

Colchicine should be the first-line treatment in BD patients with arthritis. Intraarticular corticosteroids may provide relief in acute attacks, even if this may not be necessary, as the arthritis in BD is usually self-remitting. In recurrent and/or chronic cases, azathioprine, interferon-alpha, or anti-TNF agents can be used [68].

In a systematic review of BD patients, hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, either due to refractory major organ involvement or due to a comorbid hematological condition, was successful in inducing remission in 18 of 19 patients. However, potential adverse events and fatal complications must be kept in mind [83].

9.9 Prognosis

The long-term outcome usually depends on the specific organ involvement. Young age, male sex, and early disease onset are the major poor prognostic factors. Mucocutaneous lesions tend to relapse and remit and do not cause mortality but impair quality of life. Eye involvement, which may lead to total loss of vision, is one of the major causes of morbidity. GI involvement has a remission rate of around 80% and usually can be managed without major treatment options [59]. Neuro-BD is one of the major causes of morbidity and mortality: in a long-term study in adults, 32% of the patients had a progressive course with a 5-year event-free survival rate of 65% [84].

Large vessel involvement, especially bleeding from pulmonary artery aneurysm, is the most common and the main cause of mortality. In a recent series of BD patients with pulmonary artery aneurysms, 26% of the patients were dead 7 years after onset in spite of treatment with corticosteroids and cyclophosphamide or azathioprine [52]. In a long-term follow-up study of 101 BD patients with vascular lesions, only 38% of them achieved complete remission. The 20-year survival rate was significantly lower in BD patients with arterial involvement (73%) than in those without arterial lesions (89%). Prognosis was even worse in patients with arterial occlusive lesions and in those associated with venous involvement [85].

References

- 1. Jennette JC, et al. 2012 revised international Chapel Hill consensus conference nomenclature of vasculitides. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(1):1–11.
- 2. Behcet H. Über rezidivierende, aphtöse, durch ein Virus verursachte Geschwüre am Mund, am Auge und an den Genitalien. Dermatol Wochenschr. 1937;105:1152–63.
- Feigenbaum A. Description of Behcet's syndrome in the Hippocratic third book of endemic diseases. Br J Ophthalmol. 1956;40(6):355–7.
- 4. International Study Group for Behcet's Disease. Criteria for diagnosis of Behcet's disease. Lancet. 1990;335(8697):1078–80.
- Kone-Paut I, et al. Consensus classification criteria for paediatric Behcet's disease from a prospective observational cohort: PEDBD. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(6):958–64.
- Batu ED, et al. The performance of different classification criteria in paediatric Behcet's disease. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35 Suppl 108(6):119–23.
- 7. Davatchi F, et al. Behcet's disease in Iran: analysis of 6500 cases. Int J Rheum Dis. 2010;13(4):367–73.
- 8. Davatchi F, et al. Behcet's disease: epidemiology, clinical manifestations, and diagnosis. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. 2017;13(1):57–65.
- 9. Mahr A, et al. Population-based prevalence study of Behcet's disease: differences by ethnic origin and low variation by age at immigration. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(12):3951–9.
- 10. Hatemi G, Yazici Y, Yazici H. Behcet's syndrome. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2013;39(2):245-61.
- 11. Leccese P, Yazici Y, Olivieri I. Behcet's syndrome in nonendemic regions. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2017;29(1):12-6.
- 12. Ozen S, et al. Childhood vasculitides in Turkey: a nationwide survey. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(2):196–200.
- 13. Kone-Paut I, et al. Familial aggregation in Behcet's disease: high frequency in siblings and parents of pediatric probands. J Pediatr. 1999;135(1):89–93.
- 14. Gul A, et al. Familial aggregation of Behcet's disease in Turkey. Ann Rheum Dis. 2000;59(8):622–5.
- 15. Barnes CG, Yazici H. Behcet's syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 1999;38(12):1171-4.
- Remmers EF, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies variants in the MHC class I, IL10, and IL23R-IL12RB2 regions associated with Behcet's disease. Nat Genet. 2010;42(8):698–702.
- Morton LT, Situnayake D, Wallace GR. Genetics of Behcet's disease. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2016;28(1):39–44.
- 18. Nakano H, et al. GWAS-identified CCR1 and IL10 loci contribute to M1 macrophagepredominant inflammation in Behcet's disease. Arthritis Res Ther. 2018;20(1):124.
- 19. Mizuki N, et al. Genome-wide association studies identify IL23R-IL12RB2 and IL10 as Behcet's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010;42(8):703–6.
- 20. Kirino Y, et al. Targeted resequencing implicates the familial Mediterranean fever gene MEFV and the toll-like receptor 4 gene TLR4 in Behcet disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110(20):8134–9.
- 21. Hughes T, et al. Epigenome-wide scan identifies a treatment-responsive pattern of altered DNA methylation among cytoskeletal remodeling genes in monocytes and CD4+ T cells from patients with Behcet's disease. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66(6):1648–58.
- 22. Coit P, Direskeneli H, Sawalha AH. An update on the role of epigenetics in systemic vasculitis. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2018;30(1):4–15.
- Kirino Y, et al. Genome-wide association analysis identifies new susceptibility loci for Behcet's disease and epistasis between HLA-B*51 and ERAP1. Nat Genet. 2013;45(2):202–7.
- Takeuchi M, et al. A single endoplasmic reticulum aminopeptidase-1 protein allotype is a strong risk factor for Behcet's disease in HLA-B*51 carriers. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(12):2208–11.
- 25. Evans DM, et al. Interaction between ERAP1 and HLA-B27 in ankylosing spondylitis implicates peptide handling in the mechanism for HLA-B27 in disease susceptibility. Nat Genet. 2011;43(8):761–7.
- Genetic Analysis of Psoriasis Consortium, et al. A genome-wide association study identifies new psoriasis susceptibility loci and an interaction between HLA-C and ERAP1. Nat Genet. 2010;42(11):985–90.
- 27. Hatemi G, et al. One year in review 2017: Behcet's syndrome. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35 Suppl 108(6):3–15.
- Deniz R, et al. Th17-inducing conditions lead to in vitro activation of both Th17 and Th1 responses in Behcet's disease. Immunol Investig. 2017;46(5):518–25.
- 29. Yazici H, et al. Behcet syndrome: a contemporary view. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2018;14(2):107-19.
- 30. Seoudi N, et al. The oral mucosal and salivary microbial community of Behcet's syndrome and recurrent aphthous stomatitis. J Oral Microbiol. 2015;7:27150.
- Shimizu J, et al. Bifidobacteria abundance-featured gut microbiota compositional change in patients with Behcet's disease. PLoS One. 2016;11(4):e0153746.
- 32. Zhou Q, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in TNFAIP3 leading to A20 haploinsufficiency cause an early-onset autoinflammatory disease. Nat Genet. 2016;48(1):67–73.
- Yazici H, Ugurlu S, Seyahi E. Behcet syndrome: is it one condition? Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2012;43(3):275–80.
- Kim DK, et al. Clinical analysis of 40 cases of childhood-onset Behcet's disease. Pediatr Dermatol. 1994;11(2):95–101.
- 35. Seyahi E, et al. Fever in Behcet's syndrome. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2013;31(3 Suppl 77):64-7.
- 36. International Team for the Revision of the International Criteria for Behcet's Disease. The international criteria for Behcet's disease (ICBD): a collaborative study of 27 countries on the sensitivity and specificity of the new criteria. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2014;28(3):338–47.
- 37. Sakane T, et al. Behcet's disease. N Engl J Med. 1999;341(17):1284-91.
- 38. Kone-Paut I, et al. Registries in rheumatological and musculoskeletal conditions. Paediatric Behcet's disease: an international cohort study of 110 patients. One-year follow-up data. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2011;50(1):184–8.
- 39. Atmaca L, et al. Behcet disease in children. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2011;19(2):103-7.
- Reiff A, Kadayifcilar S, Ozen S. Rheumatic inflammatory eye diseases of childhood. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 2013;39(4):801–32.
- 41. Sungur GK, et al. Clinical and demographic evaluation of Behcet disease among different paediatric age groups. Br J Ophthalmol. 2009;93(1):83–7.
- 42. Kone-Paut I. Behcet's disease in children, an overview. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2016;14(1):10.
- Tugal-Tutkun I, et al. Uveitis in Behcet disease: an analysis of 880 patients. Am J Ophthalmol. 2004;138(3):373–80.
- 44. Gallizzi R, et al. A national cohort study on pediatric Behcet's disease: cross-sectional data from an Italian registry. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2017;15(1):84.
- 45. Krupa B, et al. Pediatric Behcet's disease and thromboses. J Rheumatol. 2011;38(2):387–90.
- 46. Nanthapisal S, et al. Paediatric Behcet's disease: a UK tertiary centre experience. Clin Rheumatol. 2016;35(10):2509–16.
- Kone-Paut I, et al. Clinical features of Behcet's disease in children: an international collaborative study of 86 cases. J Pediatr. 1998;132(4):721–5.

- Vivante A, et al. Intracardiac thrombus and pulmonary aneurysms in an adolescent with Behcet disease. Rheumatol Int. 2009;29(5):575–7.
- Ozdal PC, et al. Central retinal artery occlusion associated with ocular Behcet's disease. Eur J Ophthalmol. 2002;12(4):328–30.
- 50. Willerding G, et al. Acute central retinal artery occlusion in Adamantiades-Behcet disease. Eye (Lond). 2007;21(7):1006–7.
- Esatoglu SN, et al. Bronchial artery enlargement may be the cause of recurrent haemoptysis in Behcet's syndrome patients with pulmonary artery involvement during follow-up. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34(6 Suppl 102):92–6.
- 52. Seyahi E, et al. Pulmonary artery involvement and associated lung disease in Behcet disease: a series of 47 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2012;91(1):35–48.
- Melikoglu M, et al. The unique features of vasculitis in Behcet's syndrome. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2008;35(1–2):40–6.
- 54. Kural-Seyahi E, et al. The long-term mortality and morbidity of Behcet syndrome: a 2-decade outcome survey of 387 patients followed at a dedicated center. Medicine (Baltimore). 2003;82(1):60–76.
- Siva A, Saip S. The spectrum of nervous system involvement in Behcet's syndrome and its differential diagnosis. J Neurol. 2009;256(4):513–29.
- Al-Araji A, Kidd DP. Neuro-Behcet's disease: epidemiology, clinical characteristics, and management. Lancet Neurol. 2009;8(2):192–204.
- 57. Akman-Demir G, Saip S, Siva A. Behcet's disease. Curr Treat Options Neurol. 2011;13(3):290–310.
- 58. Ogose T, et al. A case of recurrent myositis as the main manifestation of Behcet disease. Pediatr Int. 2010;52(2):e101–4.
- 59. Hatemi I, et al. Characteristics, treatment, and long-term outcome of gastrointestinal involvement in Behcet's syndrome: a strobe-compliant observational study from a dedicated multidisciplinary center. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(16):e3348.
- 60. Ozen S. The "other" vasculitis syndromes and kidney involvement. Pediatr Nephrol. 2010;25(9):1633–9.
- 61. Desbois AC, et al. Cardiovascular involvement in Behcet's diseaseRev Med Interne. 2014;35(2):103–11.
- 62. Demirelli S, et al. Cardiac manifestations in Behcet's disease. Intractable Rare Dis Res. 2015;4(2):70–5.
- 63. Ozluk E, et al. Histopathologic study of pathergy test in Behcet's disease. Indian J Dermatol. 2014;59(6):630.
- 64. Yurdakul S, et al. The arthritis of Behcet's disease: a prospective study. Ann Rheum Dis. 1983;42(5):505–15.
- 65. Ahn JK, et al. A comparative metabolomic evaluation of Behcet's disease with arthritis and seronegative arthritis using synovial fluid. PLoS One. 2015;10(8):e0135856.
- Maldini C, et al. Relationships of HLA-B51 or B5 genotype with Behcet's disease clinical characteristics: systematic review and meta-analyses of observational studies. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012;51(5):887–900.
- 67. de Menthon M, et al. HLA-B51/B5 and the risk of Behcet's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control genetic association studies. Arthritis Rheum. 2009;61(10):1287–96.
- Hatemi G, et al. 2018 update of the EULAR recommendations for the management of Behcet's syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(6):808–18.
- 69. Yazici H, et al. A controlled trial of azathioprine in Behcet's syndrome. N Engl J Med. 1990;322(5):281–5.
- Hamuryudan V, et al. Thalidomide in the treatment of the mucocutaneous lesions of the Behcet syndrome. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Ann Intern Med. 1998;128(6):443–50.
- Melikoglu M, et al. Short-term trial of etanercept in Behcet's disease: a double blind, placebo controlled study. J Rheumatol. 2005;32(1):98–105.

- Alpsoy E, et al. Interferon alfa-2a in the treatment of Behcet disease: a randomized placebocontrolled and double-blind study. Arch Dermatol. 2002;138(4):467–71.
- Sharquie KE, Najim RA, Abu-Raghif AR. Dapsone in Behcet's disease: a double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over study. J Dermatol. 2002;29(5):267–79.
- Hatemi G, et al. Apremilast for Behcet's syndrome—a phase 2, placebo-controlled study. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(16):1510–8.
- 75. Emmi G, et al. Efficacy and safety profile of anti-interleukin-1 treatment in Behcet's disease: a multicenter retrospective study. Clin Rheumatol. 2016;35(5):1281–6.
- 76. Mirouse A, et al. Ustekinumab for Behcet's disease. J Autoimmun. 2017;82:41-6.
- Dick AD, et al. Secukinumab in the treatment of noninfectious uveitis: results of three randomized, controlled clinical trials. Ophthalmology. 2013;120(4):777–87.
- 78. Cantarini L, et al. Paradoxical mucocutaneous flare in a case of Behcet's disease treated with tocilizumab. Clin Rheumatol. 2015;34(6):1141–3.
- Tugal-Tutkun I, et al. Use of gevokizumab in patients with Behcet's disease uveitis: an international, randomized, double-masked, placebo-controlled study and open-label extension study. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2018;26(7):1023–33.
- Atienza-Mateo B, et al. Anti-interleukin 6 receptor tocilizumab in refractory uveitis associated with Behcet's disease: multicentre retrospective study. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018;57(5):856–64.
- Eser Ozturk H, Oray M, Tugal-Tutkun I. Tocilizumab for the treatment of Behcet uveitis that failed interferon alpha and anti-tumor necrosis factor-alpha therapy. Ocul Immunol Inflamm. 2017;26(7):1005–14.
- Seyahi E, Yazici H. To anticoagulate or not to anticoagulate vascular thrombosis in Behcet's syndrome: an enduring question. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2016;34(1 Suppl 95):S3–4.
- 83. Soysal T, et al. Bone marrow transplantation for Behcet's disease: a case report and systematic review of the literature. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2014;53(6):1136–41.
- Noel N, et al. Long-term outcome of neuro-Behcet's disease. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2014;66(5):1306–14.
- Saadoun D, et al. Long-term outcome of arterial lesions in Behcet disease: a series of 101 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2012;91(1):18–24.



Extraintestinal Manifestations of Inflammatory Bowel Disease

10

Skirmante Rusoniene, Vaidotas Urbonas, and Tadej Avcin

Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) are chronic inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract, which include Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). IBD should be regarded as systemic disorders which involve multiple organ systems and could present with various extraintestinal symptoms [1]. Extraintestinal symptoms can be in general divided into two groups: extraintestinal manifestations (EIMs) and extraintestinal complications. Almost every organ system may be affected in IBD including the musculoskeletal system, skin, eyes, hepatobiliary system, lungs, kidneys, immune system, hematologic system, and cardiovascular system [2]. Extraintestinal complications are mainly caused by the disease itself or IBD drug-related side effects [3].

Autoinflammation is becoming increasingly recognized as an important component in the pathogenesis of IBD, especially CD. The new knowledge in the pathogenesis of CD suggests that this multifactorial disease could be classified within the group of autoinflammatory diseases.

Clinic for Children's Diseases, Faculty of Medicine, Vilnius University, Vilnius, Lithuania

Children Hospital, Affiliate of Vilnius University Hospital Santaros Clinics, Vilnius, Lithuania

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

S. Rusoniene · V. Urbonas

T. Avcin (🖂)

Department of Allergology, Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Children's Hospital, University Medical Center Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia e-mail: tadej.avcin@kclj.si

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_10

10.1 Epidemiology of Extraintestinal Manifestations

Extraintestinal manifestations may develop in up to 47% of patients with IBD, and some large studies suggest that the prevalence of EIM is higher in CD compared to UC [4, 5]. Extraintestinal manifestations were reported in 25–29% of children and in 6–47% of adult patients with IBD [3, 6].

In the general IBD population, the peak incidence of the disease is in the third decade, but about 25-30% of patients with CD and 20% of patients with UC present before the age of 20 years [3].

In the pediatric population, the peak age of onset is during late adolescence, and 4% of the pediatric IBD is diagnosed before the age of 5 years [7].

Some studies reported more frequent EIM before the diagnosis of IBD in children older than 5 years at the time of diagnosis. In a large cohort of pediatric IBD patients, there were no difference in the risk of development of EIM among different ethnincitis but was found slightly higher risk among girls [8].

10.2 Autoinflammation in the Pathogenesis of Inflammatory Bowel Disease

The etiopathogenesis of IBD is complex and includes interaction between environmental factors and immune system in genetically susceptible individuals. The disease onset is triggered by environmental factors that perturb the mucosal barrier, alter the healthy balance of the gut microbiota, and abnormally stimulate gut immune responses. These three main factors (genetics, gut immune response, and the microbiota) are influenced by the individual's environmental exposures or triggers (the "exposome") to engage different submechanisms [9].

Overall, 163 IBD loci that meet genome-wide significance thresholds were discovered, which is substantially more than in other complex diseases. Most genetic associations are shared between CD and UC (110 loci), and 30 loci were specifically associated with CD. These most strongly and consistently implicate themes involving defective intracellular bacteria killing and innate immunity (CARD15/NOD2, IRGM, IL23R, LRRK2, and ATG16L1) and de-regulated adaptive immune responses, namely, the interleukin-23 (IL-23) and T helper 17 (Th17) cell pathways (IL23R, IL12B (encoding IL-12p40), STAT3, JAK2, and TYK2) [10]. Dendritic cells (DCs) followed by CD4 T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, and NKT cells showed the highest enrichment of these susceptibility gene sets when tested in a panel of immune cell subsets, indicating a major role for these cells in CD pathogenesis [11].

NOD2, autophagy, and Th17 immune responses are three areas most strongly implicated in CD pathogenesis. NOD2 is a cytosolic pattern recognition receptor (PRR) that controls immunity against intracellular bacteria. Three polymorphisms in this gene (amino acid substitutions Arg702Trp and Gly908Arg and the frameshift FS1007insC) are present in 40% of Western patients with CD [12]. NOD2 is expressed in a limited number of tissues that include intestinal epithelial cells (mainly Paneth cells) and monocyte-derived immune cells residing in the lamina propria [13, 14]. In both human and murine studies, defects in NOD2 function can

affect microbial sensing [15], Paneth cell function and antimicrobial peptide production [16], antigen presentation [17], intracellular bacterial killing [18], and innate immune signaling, such as Toll-like receptor (TLR) function [19]. NOD2 activation after recognition of muramyl dipeptide (MDP) triggers nuclear factor kappa-B (NF-kB)-dependent signaling [20] but is relatively weak in this respect compared with other PRRs, such as the TLRs [21]. Deficiency in NOD2 results in enhanced innate TLR signaling. In mice, TLR-mediated IL-12 production is increased in macrophages and DCs deficient in NOD2 [22].

NOD2 gene is causative of Blau syndrome, a granulomatous inflammatory disorder affecting the eyes, skin, and joints [23]. However, in CD NOD2 mutations act as a risk factor, being more common among patients with CD than the background population, while in Blau's disease NOD2 mutations are linked directly to this syndrome. Furthermore, even though inflammation is a common theme in both diseases, CD is associated with chronic granulomatous inflammation of various intestinal segments, often the distal part of ileum including extraintestinal manifestations such as arthritis, uveitis, and skin lesions, whereas Blau's disease is characterized by more diffuse chronic inflammation [24].

Another important pathogenetic mechanism of CD is autophagy. It is a lysosomal degradation pathway that is essential for cell survival, differentiation, development, and homeostasis [25]. Beyond xenophagy, autophagy regulates quality control apparatus, including those involved in control of cell growth, the cell cycle, DNA and membrane repair, and intracellular organelles, such as mitochondria [26]. Defective autophagy can influence cellular homeostasis at the epithelial barrier level in particular and, therefore, represents a crucial component of disease initiation. Polymorphisms in the autophagy genes (ATG16L1, IRGM, and LRRK2) and defective autophagic response to bacteria can contribute to CD [9]. Deficiencies in ATG16L1 protein which is among the highest susceptibility markers could lead to impaired Paneth cell secretions of antibacterial peptides, hyperactivation of the inflammasome, and impaired antigen presentation by antigen-presenting cells [27].

Unresolved endoplasmic reticulum stress in intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) has also emerged as an important factor that initiates gut inflammation relevant to CD [9].

10.3 Musculoskeletal Manifestations

Musculoskeletal manifestations are the most frequent EIM in CD and UC [2, 4, 28–30]. Articular involvement occurs in almost 40% of patients suffering from IBD [2, 30]. Arthropathies in IBD are often associated with increased morbidity resulting in a worse quality of life in comparison to IBD patients without arthropathies [2, 4, 28–33].

10.3.1 Pathogenesis

The mechanism of the development of arthritis in IBD remains to be defined. There are several theories that try to explain the pathogenesis of arthropathy in the setting of IBD [34, 35]. The first theory includes translocation of bacteria across the

disturbed intestinal barrier and adaptive immune response. Translocated bacteria trigger an adaptive response which due to shared epitopes is incapable to distinguish between epitopes of bacteria and epitopes of synovia leading to an autoimmune process [34-39]. The second theory involves intestinal lymphocytes and their migration to various tissues which depends on various receptors and adhesion molecules. Binding of intestinal lymphocytes to synovial tissue vessels is based on vascular adhesion protein-1 (VAP-1) that supports the binding of all leukocytes. This means that gut lymphocytes might migrate to the synovium and cause inflammatory arthritis. According to one study, not only intestinal lymphocytes but also macrophages expressing the scavenger receptor CD163 were found in the gut and in synovia in IBD patients. Another study reported that mesenchymal cells of intestines and joints may be targets for TNF-mediated inflammation [40-45]. The HLA-B27/human 62-microglobulin transgenic rat model demonstrated that intestinal bacteria are necessary for the development of B27-associated gut and joint inflammation. This animal model showed that rats developed chronic inflammation of both the stomach and colon. The rats also developed an axial and peripheral arthritis, which was similar to human spondyloarthropathy. Intestinal and synovial inflammation did not appear in B27 transgenic rats kept in environment without bacterial exposure. The gut and joint inflammation reappeared after exposure to normal intestinal bacteria. This rat model suggests that intestinal bacteria play a role in the development of spondyloarthropathies in proper genetic background [39, 46].

10.3.2 Clinical Manifestations

10.3.2.1 Peripheral Arthritis

Peripheral arthritis in patients with IBD manifests typically as a seronegative arthritis. It is known that peripheral arthritis occurs more frequently in patiens with CD than in those with UC. IBD patients with colon involvement have a higher risk for peripheral arthritis [47]. Peripheral arthritis is divided into two main groups: type I or pauciarticular arthritis and type II or polyarticular arthritis [48, 49]. Type I arthritis affects fewer than five joints and usually affects large joints such as the hips, knees, ankles, shoulders, elbows, and wrists. Symptoms of joint inflammation in type I arthritis are usually acute, asymmetrical, and self-limiting and resolve in maximum duration of 10 weeks. Frequently pauciarticular arthritis does not damage joints permanently and mostly appears during exacerbations of IBD activity [3, 50–52].

Type II arthritis affects more than five joints and usually involves small joints of upper limbs in a symmetrical distribution. Type II arthritis does not correlate with IBD activity and may precede the intestinal symptoms. It may last for months to years [3, 50-52].

The diagnosis of type I and type II arthropathies in IBD is based on clinical manifestations. The two types of arthropathies are seronegative but might be related to immunogenetical entities. Type I arthropathy is more associated with HLA-B27, HLA-B35, and HLA-DR103. Type II arthropathy is associated with HLA-B44.

Imaging studies are usually with no significant evidence of inflammation or joint destruction [3, 48–52].

10.3.2.2 Axial Arthropathies

Axial arthropathies include ankylosing spondylitis and sacroiliitis. If compared to peripheral arthropathies, axial arthropathies are less frequent and appear in up to 5% of IBD patients. The course of axial arthropathies does not correlate with that of IBD [3, 53].

Ankylosing spondylitis (AS) is a chronic inflammation of the axial skeleton. AS appears in up to 10% of patients suffering from IBD. Usually AS in IBD patients is HLA-B27 positive. AS starts at young age and manifests as severe lower back pain and morning stiffness. AS diagnosis is supported by radiographs which show vertebral sclerosis [3, 53]. Sacroiliitis (SI) is an inflammation of the sacroiliac joints. SI might occur in up to 32% of patients with IBD and could be unilateral or bilateral. SI is usually asymptomatic and HLA-B27 negative. IBD patients with SI usually present with pelvic pain and might have decreased spinal mobility. Sacroiliitis is diagnosed by magnetic resonance imaging or at a later stage by radiographs which show sclerosis and erosions of sacroiliac joints [3, 53].

10.3.3 Treatment

Type I peripheral arthropathy is associated with the activity of IBD course. Therefore, the treatment of type I arthropathy is based on the anti-inflammatory treatment of IBD. The course of type II peripheral arthropathy is independent from the activity of IBD. Consequently, the treatment of type II arthropathy is based on nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, selective cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 inhibitors, or analgesics. Other treatment options include local steroid injection into the joints and physiotherapy. The treatment of axial arthropathies includes 5-ASA medications, methotrexate (MTX), azathioprine, and antitumor necrosis factor- α (anti-TNF α) therapy. Anti-TNF- α antibodies might be used in refractory cases [54–60].

10.4 Skin Involvement

Cutaneous manifestations are also one of the most common EIMs with reported prevalence between 22% and 75% for CD and between 5% and 11% for UC [61].

The most frequent skin manifestations are erythema nodosum (EN), pyoderma gangrenosum (PG), and aphthous stomatitis (oral ulceration).

During the course of the disease, a great variety of skin lesions may develop, many of which are secondary to granulomatous cutaneous disease, reactive skin eruptions, nutritional deficiency, and other associated conditions [62, 63].

Some extraintestinal skin manisfestations correlate with the disease activity of IBD (e.g., erythema nodosum, Sweet's syndrome), while others (e.g., pyoderma gangrenosum) are independent of intestinal manifestations.

10.4.1 Pathogenesis

Mucosal T cells are important in maintaining intestinal homeostasis defined as the balance between the mucosal epithelium, intestinal microbes, and host immune response. Abnormal T-cell response to the microbial antigens can disrupt this equilibrium and is believed to be the mechanism that triggers the chronic inflammation and excessive secretion of cytokines that lead to the development of IBD [7].

10.4.2 Clinical Manifestations

According to the pathogenesis, cutaneous manifestations of IBD can be classified into the following four categories:

- Specific cutaneous manifestations or granulomatous cutaneous lesions with the same histological features as the underlying bowel disease
- Reactive cutaneous manifestations of IBD with immunological mechanisms triggered by common antigens shared by the gut bacteria and skin
- · Cutaneous disorders or dermatosis associated with IBD
- Secondary cutaneous manifestations either due to the complications of IBD or adverse effects of IBD treatments

10.4.2.1 Cutaneous Manifestations with the Same Histological Features as the Underlying Bowel Disease

Cutaneous Crohn's Disease

Cutaneous or metastatic CD is a rare complication of IBD. Cutaneous lesions are characterized by the presence of specific noncaseating granulomas with multinucleated giant cells in the dermis surrounded by lymphocytes, plasma cells, and eosinophils similar as the intestinal lesions [64]. It occurs more frequently in adult females with established intestinal CD [64].

Clinically, skin lesions present as subcutaneous nodules (Fig. 10.1) or nonhealing ulcers in the lower extremities with rare localization to the genital (vulvar or testicular) area [64, 65].

Cutaneous CD can be divided into two clinical forms [66]: the genital form (56%) which occurs more frequently in children (characterized by edema, erythema, fissures or ulcers of the labia, scrotum, or penis) and the non-genital form (44%), which most commonly affects the lower extremities (38%), abdomen and trunk (24%), upper extremities (15%), face and lips (11%), and intertriginous areas (8%).

These cutaneous lesions are not associated with activity of the bowel disease or its response to the IBD treatment [67].

Various treatment modalities have been tried, such as steroids (topical, intralesional, or systemic), sulfasalazine, metronidazole, azathioprine, MTX, hyperbaric oxygen, and anti-TNF- α antibodies [67]. In cases with severe cutaneous ulcers



unresponsive to medical treatment, surgical resection under oral administration of zinc sulfate may be indicated [64].

Perianal Manifestations

Fig. 10.1 Subcutaneous nodules and maculopapules

Perianal CD includes erythema, abscesses, ulcers, fissures. and fistulas, which occur in approximately 50% of CD patiens [5, 68].

Perianal fissures and fistulas are one of the most common skin lesions of IBD and occur mainly in CD (20–60%) and rarely in UC [68]. Perianal fissures and fistula are due to direct involvement of skin and mucosa via similar mechanisms as the bowel disease and may antedate the signs and symptoms of IBD by several years [68]. Fissures are usually painless and located posteriorly, whereas fistulas manifest either as a cryptoglandular infection or as a secondary complication of anal fissures [5].

The most suitable treatment of perianal fissures and fistulas are combined medical and surgical therapies. Medical treatment include topical applications of glyceryl trinitrate (nitroglycerine) ointment, antibiotics (metronidazole, ciprofloxacinum), immunosuppressants (azathioprine, 6-MP, cyclosporine, tacrolimus), and anti-TNF α drugs [68].

Orofacial Manifestations

Orofacial involvement occurs in 5–20% of CD patients and can present as aphthous stomatitis, pyostomatitis vegetans, angular cheilitis and ulceration, mucosal nodularity (cobblestoning of the buccal mucosa), nodules of gingival and alveolar mucosa, and indurated fissuring of lower lips [64, 68].

10.4.2.2 Reactive Cutaneous Manifestations of Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Erythema Nodosum

Erythema nodosum is the most common skin lesion and correlates with symptoms of active bowel disease [19]. Erythema nodosum occurs in up to 15% of patients with CD and 10% of patients with UC [4, 69]. It is most common in females and

frequently associated with large-intestine involvement and eye and peripheral arthritis involvement [3].

This manifestation tends to present during the first 2 years of the clinical course of the disease and may reocurr in approximately one-half of cases [62].

Histological examination of the lower dermis in these patients may reveal a moderate lymphohistiocytic infiltrate, and direct immunofluorescence for immunoglobulins and complement may reveal perivascular deposits [70].

Erythema nodosum is usually easily recognized as raised, tender, red, or violet inflammatory subcutaneous nodules of 1–5 cm in diameter, typically on the anterior extensor surface of the lower extremities but rarely on the face and trunk [4]. The nodules tend to persist for several weeks to months. As they heal, they frequently leave pigmented areas (Fig. 10.2) that persist for many months. Microscopic examination shows lesions characterized by lymphohistiocytic infiltrate of the lower derma, defined as septal panniculitis.

The diagnosis is established based on clinical judgment, and skin biopsies are rarely required [3].

Erythema nodosum usually heals without scars. Its onset coincides with acute flares of IBD and is frequently self-limiting or improves with treatment of the underlying IBD [3, 33].

Mild cases may be treated with leg elevation, use of analgesics, potassium iodine and compression stockings [1].

Erythema nodosum lesions respond well to treatment with corticosteroids, but severe or refractory cases may require anti-TNF α therapy [71].

In severe or refractory cases, alternative causes of erythema nodosum should be investigated such as infections with *Streptococcus*, *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis*, *Yersinia enterocolitica*, syphilis, sarcoidosis, Behcet's disease, and use of oral contraceptives or other medication. After exclusion of other causes, severe cases may require systemic corticosteroids, immunosuppressive therapy, or anti-TNFα

Fig. 10.2 Erythema nodosum resolves to pigmented areas



antibodies. Only a few case reports highlight the benefit of infliximab and adalimumab for erythema nodosum [70, 72].

Pyoderma Gangrenosum

Pyoderma gangrenosum is a much rarer, but more severe and more common in UC than in CD [3]. It is the second most common dermatologic manifestation of IBD.

It affects women more frequently than men [73] and is associated with black African origin, familial history of UC, and pancolitis as the initial location of IBD, permanent stoma, eye involvement, and erythema nodosum [69].

The prevalence of pyoderma gangrenosum in IBD is 0.4–2% [1, 2, 28, 74].

On the contrary, up to 50% of patients with pyoderma gangrenosum have underlying IBD [4]. The lesions are usually preceded by a trauma (even many years earlier) through a phenomenon known as pathergy. This trauma can even be minimal such as venous puncture or biopsy [75].

Patients with severe disease and colonic involvement are most likely to develop this complication. The disease course is unpredictable. Pyoderma gangrenosum usually begins as an erythematous pustule or nodule that spreads rapidly to the adjacent skin and develops into a burrowing ulcer with irregular violaceous edges [76].

The deep ulcerations often contain purulent material, which is sterile on culture (Fig. 10.3). These ulcers can be solitary or multiple, unilateral, or bilateral and can range in size from several centimeters to an entire limb. The most common sites includes extensor surfaces of the legs (shins) and adjacent to a postsurgical stoma but can occur anywhere on the body including the genitalia [76].

There are no pathognomonic histological features, generally revealing only diffuse neutrophil infiltration and dermolysis. Pyoderma gangrenosum has typically no association to the clinical activity of the underlying intestinal disease; however, pyoderma gangrenosum may resolve with treatment of the IBD [28].

Peristomal pyoderma gangrenosum is seen occasionally as a complication in patients with IBD.



Fig. 10.3 Pyoderma gangrenosum

Mild cases usually respond to local and topical therapy, including intralesional corticosteroid injections, moist treatment with hydroactive dressings, and topical sodium cromoglycate [3, 76, 77].

Effective systemic agents include oral sulfasalazine, dapsone, corticosteroids, and immunomodulators such as azathioprine, cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine, methotrexate, tacrolimus, and mycophenolate mofetil [1, 3, 76, 77].

Intravenous cyclosporine and anti-TNF α drugs were tried in some of those patients with good clinical success.

Pyoderma gangrenosum is initially sometimes treated by surgical debridement. A surgical intervention typically worsens PG. If there is any doubt about the nature of an ulcer in patients with IBD, surgical debridement should be avoided until a PG is excluded. It has been discussed whether a maintenance treatment also is necessary for PG.

Sweet's Syndrome

Sweet's syndrome was first described by R. D. Sweet in 1964, when he reported a case of "an acute febrile neutrophilic dermatosis" [78]. It's a rare dermatologic manifestation characterized by the abrupt onset of tender and red to purple inflammatory nodules or papules that join to form plaques, affecting the upper limbs, face, or neck (Fig. 10.4) [68]. In addition to painful and edematous nodules and plaques, vesicles, bullae, or pustules may also be present [64].

This manifestation is rare in children. Sweet's syndrome may be associated with systemic manifestations—arthritis, fever, and ocular symptoms, such as conjunctivitis or episcleritis. Patients may also experience fatigue, headache, and other non-specific constitutional symptoms.

Skin lesions are tender and nonpruritic in nature but can be difficult to distinguish from erythema nodosum when they affect the lower extremities [79]. Skin biopsy can help to establish the correct diagnosis; it shows neutrophilic infiltrates in the reticular dermis without evidence of vasculitis [1, 79, 80].

Fig. 10.4 Red inflammatory nodules and papules



Table 10.1	Diagnostic	criteria for	r Sweet's s	yndrome ^a	[85]
------------	------------	--------------	-------------	----------------------	------

1. Abrupt onset of painful erythematous plaques or nodules
2. Histopathologic evidence of a dence neutrophylic infiltrate without evidence of
leukocytoclastic vasculitis

3. Pyrexia >38

4. Association with an underlying hematologic or visceral maligancy, inflammatory disease, and pregnancy or preceded by an upper respiratory or gastrointestinal infection or vaccination

5. Excellent response to treatment with systemic corticosteroids or potassium iodide

 Abnormal laboratory values at presentation (three out of four): erythocyte sedimentation rate > 20 mm/h, positive C-reactive protein, and >8000 leukocytes and >70% neutrophilis

^aThe presence of both major criteria (1 and 2) and two minor criteria (3, 4, 5, and 6) is required to establish the diagnosois of classical Sweet's syndrome.

Although the pathogenesis is unclear, Sweet's syndrome usually develops as a reactive response and may be associated with other systemic diseases, such as infection, malignancy, medications, or IBD [81].

Pathogenesis of Sweet's syndrome has been hypothesized to be related to an altered immune response to common antigens in the skin and gut bacteria [82]. Furthermore, ANCA and G-CSF or other cytokines have been proposed to play a pathogenetic role in activation, maturation, and chemotaxis of neutrophils in Sweet's syndrome [47].

At first diagnostic criteria for Sweet's syndrome were proposed by Su and Liu in 1986 [83, 84]. In 1994 they were modified by von den Driesch (Table 10.1) [85].

When dealing with localized disease, topical or intralesional steroids are sometimes used with good effects [1]. Skin lesions that have not been treated have been documented to heal on their own but can leave behind scars [1]. Most cases of Sweet's syndrome respond to topical or systemic corticosteroid therapy and heal without scarring.

Other first-line options for treatment include colchicine and potassium iodide. Other agents such as indomethacin and clofazimine can be used if first-line agents are ineffective or cannot be tolerated [78, 86]. Treatments with immunosuppressants and anti-TNF- α have been reported to be successful in Sweet's syndrome [86, 87].

Bowel-Associated Dermatosis-Arthritis Syndrome (BADAS)

The origin of BADAS is postulated as bowel bypass syndrome as it was originally reported to occur in up to 20% of patients after laparoscopic jejunoileal bypass surgery for obesity. It can also occur as a complication after various intestinal surgeries, in patients with diverticulitis or appendicitis and in patients with IBD [64, 88, 89].

BADAS is neutrophilic dermatosis characterized by fever and/or flu-like symptoms, followed by myalgias, malaise, abdominal pain, arthritis, and polyarthralgias of the upper extremities involving the asymmetric large joints and interphalangeal joints of the fingers with accompanying tenosynovitis, and by the appearance of characteristic cutaneous lesions [88].

These cutaneous lesions consist of erythematous macules (3–10 mm in diameter) developing into edematous and painful papules with central aseptic vesicles or

pustules (2–4 mm in diameter) (Fig. 10.5), which are mostly located on the upper chest and arms (usually on the deltoid muscle region) and erythema nodosum-like lesions in the legs. These maculopapular rashes occur in crops, resolve within 1-2 weeks without leaving scars, and can recurr every 1-6 weeks [88, 89].

It has been hypothesized that BADAS occurs as an immune reaction to bacterial overgrowth in the bowel of patients with IBD, infection, or surgery. The reaction is in response to a bacterial antigen and manifests cutaneously [90]. The circulating immune complexes usually form due to an immunological response against antigenic bacterial peptidoglycans in the gut, with subsequent deposition in the skin and joints [89]. This same pathogenesis is thought to cause various other manifestations





of CD such as erythema nodosum. Bacteria that incite this immune response include *Bacteroides fragilis, Escherichia coli,* and *Streptococcus*.

Similar to pyoderma gangrenosum and Sweet's syndrome, BADAS has been classified in the spectrum of aseptic neutrophilic dermatoses with histopathology showing dense neutrophil infiltration and no destruction of vessel walls [89, 90].

The histology of BADAS shows perivascular neutrophilic, mononuclear, and eosinophilic (depending on the stage of the lesions) infiltrate with dermal edema, intraepidermal pustules, and minimal alterations of the walls of capillaries and venules without the features of leukocytoclastic vasculitis or fibrinoid necrosis [64, 91].

The management of the BADAS includes treatment of the underlying bowel disorder as well as the administration of systemic steroids and antibiotics for inhibition of bacteria overgrowth (tetracycline, metronidazole, ciprofloxacin) [80]. However, response to antibiotics often is variable [88, 91].

NSAIDs may be used to reduce arthralgias or arthritis, but the potential toxicity of NSAIDs on IBD should make the decision to use NSAIDs based on weighing the risk-benefit ratio for each individual patient [54]. Other drugs such as colchicine, dapsone, and sulfasalazine have been tried with variable successful rates [64].

Leukocytoclastic Vasculitis

Leukocytoclastic vasculitis is an uncommon EIM in patients with IBD.

This is an immune complex syndrome involving small vessels characterized by neutrophilic invasion, endothelial damage, and fibrinoid necrosis. Lesions are classically appearing as palpable purpura but may also develop as necrotic ulcers (Fig. 10.6).

Fig. 10.6 Leukocytoclastic vasculitis with necrotic ulcers



Similar to other reactive cutaneous manifestations of IBD, the pathogenesis of leukocytoclastic vasculitis is associated with hypersensitivity vasculitis of small vessels [92, 93].

In CD, leukocytoclastic vasculitis occurs not only during the onset of bowel disease but also during periods of exacerbation. On the other hand, in UC, leukocytoclastic vasculitis most commonly precedes the onset of bowel disease with a laging period from 1 month to 2 years [93, 94]. In most cases of leukocytoclastic vasculitis, treating the underlying IBD results in resolution of the lesions [94, 95].

10.4.2.3 Cutaneous Disorders or Dermatoses Associated with Inflammatory Bowel Disease

These disorders include hidradenitis suppurativa, phlebitis, erythema multiforme, urticaria, lichen planus, secondary amyloidosis, and various autoimmune skin disorders, such as acquired epidermolysis bullosa (blistering lesions of the knees, elbows, hands, and feet), bullous pemphigoid, linear IgA bullous dermatosis, vitiligo, and psoriasis [64, 68].

The most frequently associated cutaneous disease is psoriasis which occurs in 7-11% of the IBD population compared to 1-2% in the general population [5]. In one study, psoriasis was found to be more prevalent in CD (11.2%) than in UC (5.7%) [1, 96]. The association of IBD with psoriasis is believed to be both genetically and immunologically related [64]. Psoriatic skin lesions are pruritic and irritated scaly patches (Fig. 10.7), which can be associated with nail changes and arthritis. They most frequently occur on the elbows, kness, trunk but can occur anywhere.

Fig. 10.7 Irritated scaly patches



10.5 Oral Lesions

The prevalence rate of oral manifestations in IBD is estimated to be between 20% and 50% in most publications [97, 98]. In pediatric patients, the highest reported prevalence was 48% [98].

10.5.1 Indurated Tag-Like Lesions

Indurated tag-like lesions are specific for CD and are described as white reticular tags [99], mostly seen in the labial and buccal vestibules and in the retromolar regions [100]. In most cases, up to 75% noncaseating granulomas can be observed on histopathology [98].

10.5.2 Cobblestoning

Cobblestoning is another specific oral lesion for CD. Cobblestoning is described as fissured swollen buccal mucosa with corrugation and hyperplastic appearance of the mucosa [97, 101]. Usually, it is seen in the posterior buccal mucosa and may consist of mucosal-colored papules that produce firm plaques. Patient can present with pain of mucosa and could cause eating difficulties [102]. These lesions can be treated with topical steroids in addition to the main treatment of IBD. In severe cases, systemic steroids could be used [103].

10.5.3 Aphthous Stomatitis

Aphthae are shallow round ulcerations with central fibrinous exudate and erythematous border (Fig. 10.8) [77]. Aphthous stomatitis has been associated with other diseases such as ankylosing spondylitis, uveitis, peripheral arthritis, and erythema nodosum [31].

In the general population, these lesions may occur in 20-25% [50], in up to 10% of patients with UC, and in 20–30% of those with CD that have oral aphthosis [104]. The presence of aphthous stomatitis does not correlate with intestinal disease activity but may become more severe in active disease. Factors including geographic variation, gender, smoking, breastfeeding, and hormonal stress have been postulated to affect the disease [105].

Recurrent ulceration can clinically lead to significant odynophagia and dysphagia [100].

Aphthous eruptions are not specific to IBD and may be found in other diseases, such as Behçet's disease, Reiter's syndrome, HIV/AIDS, and celiac sprue, as well as in apparently healthy population [77].



Fig. 10.8 Aphtous stomatitis and ulceration with central fibrinous exudate

Management of CD is usually sufficient for control of oral aphthosis. For control of pain, topical agents (such as lidocaine) and/or topical steroids (such as triamcinolone 0.1%) up to three times per day can be used. Dexamethasone elixir (0.5 mg/5 mL spit or swish) or ointment up to three times per day is also efficacious. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory pastes are effective in relieving pain and promoting healing. Systemic or intralesional steroids should be reserved for severe refractory and/or persistent cases [104, 106, 107].

10.5.4 Pyostomatitis Vegetans

Pyostomatitis vegetans was first described in 1949 [108]. These lesions are relatively rarely found, but are associated with IBD, and occurr more frequently in patients with UC than patients with CD [109].

There is a predilection for males with a male/female ratio of nearly 3:1. These lesions can occur at any age but are more prevalent in patients between 20 and 59 years of age with an average age of 34 years [110, 111].

Despite every effort, no bacterial, fungal, or viral causes have yet been found for this manifestation, and its pathogenesis remains obscure [112].

Histological features are intraepithelial and subepithelial microabscesses with large numbers of eosinophils and neutrophils. Hyperkeratosis and acanthosis can

also be present [109]. Direct immunofluorescence in pyostomatitis vegetans is negative for deposits of IgA, IgG, and C3, and this result is helpful in distinguishing pyostomatitis vegetans from pemphigus vulgaris [97, 113].

Patients may experience severe oral discomfort, which is not related to clinical activity of UC [114, 115]. Pain intensity is variable; some patients with extensive oral lesions may not have any pain. Other symptoms include fever, enlarged and tender submandibular lymph nodes, and pain [115]. Pyostomatitis vegetans can involve almost any part of the oral cavity but is most frequently observed on the labial attached gingiva (Fig. 10.9), soft and hard palate, buccal mucosa, and vestibular gingivae. The least common locations are the floor of the mouth and the tongue [110].

The diagnosis of pyostomatitis vegetans is based on a constellation of clinical features that include concurrent IBD, peripheral eosinophilia, histological study, and negative culture results of the lesion exudate. A negative immunofluorescence study is also helpful [97, 115]. Biopsies may show microabscesses below the epidermis with neutrophil and eosinophilic infiltrate [116]. Herpetic infections should be excluded by Tzanck smear, antigen detection, and the culture of the virus or PCR for HSV virus [77].

The main differential diagnoses of pyostomatitis vegetans include vesicular disorders involving both the skin and oral cavity, similar to pemphigus vulgaris in particular, as well as other diseases like bullous pemphigoid, acquired epidermolysis bullosa, bullous drug eruptions, herpetic infection, Behçet's disease, and erythema multiforme [97, 112].

The mainstay in the management of pyostomatitis vegetans is the treatment of underlying IBD. Topical steroids and antiseptic mouthwashes alone are effective in only a few instances. Systemic steroids are usually prescribed for these patients and are considered as the treatment of choice. Azathioprine and sulfamethoxypyridazine can be used in parallel with steroids as sparing agents [112, 115, 117].

Fig. 10.9 Pyostomatitis vegetans



10.6 Ophthalmologic Manifestations

Ocular manifestations are among the most common EIMs. In adult population, uveitis and episcleritis were described as one of the most commonly reported conditions with a prevalence between 2% and 6% [118, 119], and even higher prevalence was reported when taking into account other ocular conditions [119, 120].

Overall prevalence of ocular EIMs in IBD at diagnosis ranged from 0.62% to 1.81%. Prevalence during follow-up ranged from 0.69% to 1.82% [121]. Children with CD were found to be at increased risk for developing ocular EIMs [121].

Pathophysiology of ocular EIMs remains unclear. Several studies suggested that local action of antigen-antibody complexes produced against the bowel wall vessels and transported via the bloodstream could be responsible for eye involvement [122, 123]. Also it has been suggested that there is a link between systemic disease and uveitis due to disturbance in physiological macrophage-mediated autophagy [124].

10.6.1 Episcleritis

Episcleritis is a benign inflammation of the episclera, which is a thin blood-rich layer of tissue that covers the sclera. It is the most common ophthalmological manifestation [125]. Clinically, episcleritis causes moderate discomfort and acute redness in one or both eyes [125]. Diffuse or localized episcleral edema can also be present [126]. Episcleritis commonly appears during the flares of IBD.

Slit-lamp examination is essential for diagnosis of episcleritis. Episcleral injection blanches with topical application of phenylephrine and softens with palpation [127].

Differential diagnosis should be made between uveitis and scleritis and is based on the absence of moderate to severe eye pain, photophobia, blurring, and low vision in the former [128]. Differentiation with conjunctivitis may be difficult [5].

Usually it is a benign condition and treatment is not always necessary. In some cases cool compresses, lubricant eye drops, topical nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and topical corticosteroids can be prescribed [128, 129].

10.6.2 Scleritis

Scleritis is an inflammation of the sclera, the opaque, and the protective outer layer of the eye [125]. If left untreated scleritis, it can progress to permanent visual loss [128]. Scleritis is classified according to the location (anterior and posterior) and clinical presentation (diffuse, nodular, or necrotizing) [130]. The necrotizing anterior scleritis is classified according to etiology (vaso-occlusive, granulomatous, surgically induced, scleromalacia perforans).

Scleritis is much rarer than episcleritis and occurs in less than 1% of cases [128].

Clinically, scleritis manifests with ocular pain which radiates to the face and scalp. Usually it worsens at night and is associated with ocular hyperemia and visual loss [125]. Involvement of the anterior part of the sclera is more common; posterior scleritis is not associated with ocular hyperemia.

Scleritis should be investigated with caution, and systemic treatment is essential in all cases. Patient can be treated with oral nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. In severe cases, systemic steroids or immunosuppressive drugs may be prescribed. One of the most important aspects is control of the underlying bowel disease to prevent further recurrence [131].

Recurrent scleritis can lead to scleromalacia, retinal detachment, or optic nerve swelling [132].

10.6.3 Uveitis

Uveitis is defined as inflammation of the uveal tract, the middle layer of the eye, which includes the iris, ciliary body, and choroid. Uveitis is classified into anterior, intermediate, and posterior based on the affected coat. Anterior uveitis affects the iris and ciliary body. Intermediate uveitis affects the vitreous body, and posterior uveitis affects the chorioid or retina. The term panuveitis is used if inflammation involves all layers of the uvea of the eye. Uveitis can occur during active bowel disease and during relapses or may precede by years the diagnosis of IBD [133].

Anterior uveitis presents with acute onset of a red, painful eye, and variably blurriness in vision, and the main symptom is photophobia [133].

Slit-lamp examination confirms the diagnosis with findings of anterior chamber cells and keratic precipitates, which are inflammatory deposits on the endothelial surface of the cornea.

Initial treatment of uveitis includes the use of topical corticosteroids [133] to reduce inflammation and topical cycloplegics to prevent ciliary body and pupillary spasms related to ocular pain. Cycloplegics also prevent posterior synechiae [128]. In case of posterior uveitis, deeper penetration might be required. Systemic treatment is used only for refractory cases. In case of bilateral uveitis, oral steroids are indicated; other drugs such as methotrexate, mycophenolate mofetil, and cyclosporine might be used [134]. In case of refractory, sight-threatening uveitis, anti-TNF α agents such as adalimumab or infliximab should be considered [134].

Long-term complications of uveitis are intraocular adhesions due to chronic inflammation, which can lead to secondary glaucoma or cataract [133].

Ocular complications occur more frequently in patients with CD [120] than in patients with UC, and an association has been reported with female sex [135]. Exceptionally rare ocular manifestations of IBD include central artery occlusions, retinitis, optic neuritis, orbital inflammatory disease, keratitis and central retinal vein occlusion. Orbital myositis, with intermittent proptosis and periorbital swelling, has rarely been reported as the presenting symptom of CD [136].

1. Extraintestinal manifestations	Immune-related: Primary sclerosing cholangitis Autoimmune hepatitis Autoimmune sclerosing cholangitis Thrombotic disorders: Portal vein thrombosis Venous thromboembolism Hepatic vein thrombosis
2. Medication toxicity	 Glucocorticoids Sulfasalazine Thiopurines Methotrexate Anti-TNFs
3. Underlying hepatic disorder unrelated to IBD	 Cholelithiasis Viral hepatitis Transplant issues IgG4 cholangiopathy Granulomatous hepatitis Primary biliary cirrhosis Hepatic amyloidosis Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease/steatohepatitis

Table 10.2 Hepatobiliary issues to consider in patients with inflammatory bowel disease [121]

10.7 Hepatobiliary Manifestations of Inflammatory Bowel Disease

Hepatobiliary manifestations of IBD are common in children. Elevated liver enzymes episode was found in 43–58% of patients [137, 138]. The cause of these elevations falls into the three categories (Table 10.2) [139]:

- Extraintestinal manifestations of the IBD
- · Related to medication toxicity
- · The result of an underlying primary hepatic disorder unrelated to IBD

Most of the patients had hepatic (69%) and less frequently cholestatic (8%) or mixed character of elevated liver enzymes. Usually elevated liver enzymes episode is idiopathic (87%) and benign, transient finding with no significant differences in character, chronicity, or degree between CD and UC [137]. Among most common etiological factors of elevated liver enzymes are corticosteroids, antibiotics, and exclusive enteral nutrition which demonstrated strongly positive associations with the first development of abnormal elevated liver enzymes [138].

10.7.1 Immune-Related Manifestations

10.7.1.1 Primary Sclerosing Cholangitis

Primary sclerosing cholangitis (PSC) is a chronic, progressive, cholestatic liver disease with inflammation and fibrosis of the intrahepatic and extrahepatic bile ducts, with multifocal bile duct strictures [139]. Approximately 75% of children with primary sclerosing cholangitis also have IBD [140]. PSC is more prevalent in UC up to 50% and less frequent in CD (11%) [141]. There is a male predominance when PSC is associated with UC [142]. Among IBD patients, PSC occurs in 4% or less [143]. PSC may precede the onset of, coincide with, or follow the diagnosis of IBD. Intestinal inflammation in a patient with PSC may represent a unique phenotype of IBD, termed PSC-IBD, which is genetically and clinically distinct from IBD alone [141]. It is characterized by pancolitis, rectal sparing, and possibly backwash ileitis, as well as a threefold increased risk of colorectal dysplasia [144], but IBD is less severe than in UC alone [145]. Patients with colitis and PSC have increased risk of active and histologic disease in the absence of symptoms compared to individuals without PSC [140].

Clinical Presentation

PSC symptoms are secondary to cholestasis and progressive liver fibrosis, including jaundice, hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, recurrent cholangitis, and intractable pruritus [146].

The diagnosis of PSC is based on a cholestatic serum biochemical profile (gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT) of >252 U/L had sensitivity (99%) and specificity (71%) [138]) with characteristic changes on liver histology (fibro-obliterative cholangitis, periductal fibrosis) and/or cholangiography (multifocal bile duct strictures and segmental dilations) typically initially imaged by magnetic resonance cholangiopancreatography (MRCP) and confirmed by endoscopic retrograde cholangiopancreatography (ERCP) if needed [147].

Treatment

There is no drug which could alter the natural history of PSC. Liver transplantation remains the only option for progressive PSC.

Ursodeoxycholic acid has been extensively studied in adult PSC, and doses of 17–23 mg/kg/day will generally lead to improvement in liver biochemistries, but patient survival has not improved. The higher doses should be avoided in children due to adverse effects.

Antibiotic therapy is considered as experimental. Oral vancomycin completed normalization in ALT, GGT, and erythrocyte sedimentation rate in all noncirrhotic pediatric patients [138] and only in 0–40% of adults [146]. Some adult studies have shown positive effects on liver biochemistry with minocycline [141] and metronidazole [28].

Immunosuppressive and immunomodulatory drugs have not proven to be beneficial. Infliximab [148], budesonide [149], azathioprine, calcineurin inhibitors, and mechanistic target of rapamycin are ineffective [150]. There is a case report of succesful treatment of a 13-year-old boy with PSC and undetermined colitis with a combination of a steroid, salazosulfapyridine, and probiotic [151].

Chronic cholangitis may require biliary stent placement, balloon stricture dilation, and/or sphincterotomy to relieve an obstruction with brush cytology for evaluation of cholangiocarcinoma [152].

Liver transplantation is indicated in end-stage liver disease with decompensated cirrhosis, hilar cholangiocarcinoma, intractable pruritus, and chronic cholangitis

refractory to biliary stenting and/or stricture dilatation. The disease could recur in the graft in up to 20%. The graft survival was better in patients who underwent pre-/ peri-liver transplantation colectomy [153]. No medication has been proven to reduce the time from PSC diagnosis to liver transplant or the development of cholangiocarcinoma. Transaminases and γ GT should be monitored at least annually in all UC patients, to screen for PSC and autoimmune hepatitis. Chronic elevation of liver enzymes in the presence of cholestasis should be investigated with ultrasound followed by MR-cholangiopancreatography (MRCP), in addition to liver biopsy when indicated [154].

10.7.1.2 Autoimmune Hepatitis

Autoimmune hepatitis (AIH) is characterized by elevated serum transaminase levels, interface hepatitis on liver biopsy, increased levels of immunoglobulin G, and the presence of specific autoantibodies [155, 156]. AIH is five times less commonly associated with IBD than PSC [146].

There are two types of AIH. Autoimmune hepatitis type 1 is associated with positive antinuclear antibodies and/or smooth muscle antibodies (ANAs/SMAs—positive 1:20), while AIH type 2 is associated with postive antibodies to liver/kidney microsomal type 1 and/or anti-liver cytosol type 1 (positive 1:10) [155–157].

Clinical Presentation

The clinical symptoms of liver disease include jaundice, acute hepatitis, and nonspecific symptoms such as fatigue, nausea, abdominal pain, and arthralgia [157]. Liver biopsy is needed to confirm the diagnosis and to evaluate the severity of liver damage. AIH has characteristic histologic findings including dense portal tract inflammation, lobular activity, interface hepatitis, potential fibrosis [155, 156].

Treatment

Treatment of AIH should be started as soon as the diagnosis is made. The first-line treatment is prednisolone/prednisone (2 mg/kg/day, up to 60 mg/day), weaned down during 6–8 weeks to a maintenance dose of 5–7.5 mg/day, with monitoring of biochemical response alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase [158]. In the presence of inadequate biochemical response to steroids after 4–6 weeks, azathioprine should be added (0.5 mg/kg/day gradually increased to 2–2.5 mg/kg/ day) [158]. Budesonide is under investigation as alternative to prednisone for maintenance therapy. Second-line treatment options, if azathioprine fails to achieve normalization of liver function or is not tolerated, are mycophenolate mofetil, cyclosporine, and tacrolimus which should be administered only in specialized hepatology centers [158, 159].

Maintenance immunosuppressive treatment should continue for at least 2–3 years. The chances for successful withdrawal, however, remain between 20% and 40%. The patients after withdrawal of immunosuppression should continue to be monitored for AST/ALT/IgG/autoantibodies on a three-monthly basis for at least 5 years [158]. With appropriate treatment progression to end-stage liver disease is rare.

10.7.1.3 Autoimmune Sclerosing Cholangitis

Sclerosing cholangitis is a chronic inflammatory disorder that affects the intrahepatic and/or extrahepatic biliary tree leading to bile duct and liver fibrosis. The diagnosis is based on typical bile duct lesions being visualized on cholangiography [158]. Sclerosing cholangitis in children/adolescents is widely referred to as PSC, borrowing the adult definition. There are important differences, however, between adult PSC and juvenile sclerosing cholangitis [158]. ASC is an overlap syndrome between AIH (especially type 1) and PSC, occurring predominantly in children and young adults. IBD is more common in ASC (45%) than in AIH type 1 (20%) [160]. It has been suggested that the chronic IBD associated with ASC may represent a distinct nosologic entity, different from classic UC and CD, being characterized by right-sided colitis with frequent rectal sparing, and small bowel mucosal breaks on capsule enteroscopy [81].

Distinguishing factor between AIH and ASC is evidence of cholangiopathy and requires cholangiography [magnetic resonance colangiopancreatography (MRCP)] [158].

Virtually all ASC patients are seropositive for ANA and/or SMA. The difference between ASC amd AIH is in atypical p-ANCA antibodies which are more common in children with ASC than AIH type 1 (74% positivity, versus 45%), biliary disease on MRCP, and ductal involvement on the liver biopsy in ASC patients. There is a scoring system in distinguishing between AIH and ASC [158].

Treatment is based on the same immunosuppression as in AIH. Ursodeoxycholic acid (15–20 mg/kg/day) is often used to help with the biliary disease component, but as with PSC, it is unknown if this has any effect in slowing the progression of the disease.

Liver transplantation is needed in 10% of children with AIH and 20% with ASC [155].

The prognosis is worse in ASC compared to AIH

10.7.2 Thrombotic Disorders

Patients with inflammatory bowel disease are at increased risk of a first and recurrent venous thromboembolism (deep vein, especially thrombosis of the legs and pulmonary embolism, less common cerebral venous sinus thrombosis, hepatic, portal, and mesenteric vein thrombosis) [161, 162]. There is no increased risk of arterial thromboembolism (ischemic stroke, cardiac ischemia, peripheral vascular disease, and mesenteric ischemia) in IBD patients [162, 163]. The risk is much more prominent at the time of a flare [164] and in patients with extended disease (pancolitis in UC patients and extensive colonic involvement in CD) [165]. There is no significant difference linked to sex or the type of IBD [166].

In a Danish cohort study of venous thromboembolism in adults and children, patients with IBD had twice the incidence of deep venous thrombosis and pulmonary embolism as in the general population. Relative risks were particularly high at young ages, though actual incidence increased with age. Forty out of 5424 (0.7%) children with IBD had a venous thromboembolism [47].

10.7.2.1 Portal Vein Thrombosis

Recent abdominal and nonintestinal surgery, younger age, and female sex are associated with a higher incidence of portal vein thrombosis [162, 163].

Portal vein thrombosis may clinically present as an acute abdomen, chronic or insidious presentation. If the superior mesenteric vein is also occluded, then they may have nonbloody diarrhea and intermittent abdominal pain that can progress to possible bowel infarction, ascites, and hematochezia. Chronic portal vein thrombosis more commonly presents as an incidental finding on imaging or as a gastric or esophageal variceal bleed associated with portal hypertension [167, 168].

Diagnosis is made in most cases using color Doppler ultrasound, contrast-enhanced computerized tomography scanning, or magnetic resonance angiography [7].

In IBD patients with symptomatic acute splanchnic veint hrombosis (portal, mesenteric, and/or splenic vein thrombosis), it is recommended to use anticoagulant therapy. In patients with incidentally detected splanchnic vein thrombosis (portal, mesenteric, and/or splenic vein thromboses), the anticoagulation therapy is not recommended [169].

10.7.2.2 Venous Thromboembolism and Hepatic Vein Thrombosis (Budd-Chiari Syndrome)

Deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism are the main thromboembolic complications and were observed in up to 90.4% of IBD patients with a history of venous thrombosis. Cerebral, portal, mesenteric, splenic, or internal jugular vein thrombosis represents only 9.6% of venous thrombotic events in patients with IBD [93].

Prophylaxis of venous thromboembolism in IBD starts with the prevention and treatment of thrombosis risk factors. Hydration, correction of deficiencies in vitamins (particularly in vitamins B6 and B12 and folate) that can reduce homocysteine levels, graduated compression stockings or pneumatic devices, and early mobilization after surgery should always be considered, especially in hospitalized IBD patients [170].

Pharmacological prophylaxis with anticoagulants in IBD patients is recommended by several practice guidelines for conditions associated with a higher risk of venous thromboembolism, particularly in hospitalized patients with active disease. Low-molecular-weight heparin and unfractionated heparin are recommended for thromboprophylaxis in IBD patients [169].

The treatment of venous thromboembolism in children with clinically inactive IBD who are diagnosed with their first episode of venous thromboembolism in the presence of an unrelated reversible provoking factor is with anticoagulant therapy for a minimum of 3 months. For pediatric patients with IBD diagnosed with their first episode of venous thromboembolism in the presence of active disease, it has been suggested that anticoagulant therapy should be continued until the IBD is in remission for at least 3 months [169].

10.8 Lung Involvement

Pleural and pericardial manifestations of IBD are uncommon. Pulmonary involvement in IBD is often latent or subclinical and may be detected solely by laboratory or imaging techniques. Inflammatory bowel disease can affect the lung parenchyma and airways. Very rare it involves the pleural space and pericardium, causing inflammatory exudative pleural or pericardial effusions [171]. Lung diseases can develop at any time in the course of IBD, but usually after the onset of the bowel disease; however, they may emerge after colectomy and cessation of therapy [172].

Thoracic serositis in patients with IBD can cause pleuritis, pericarditis, pleuropericarditis, or myopericarditis. It is important to evaluate the pleural effusion and rule out other etiologies before making this diagnosis. Pleural or pericardial biopsies are rarely necessary and probably show nonspecific acute and chronic inflammatory changes. Although the specific pathophysiology of pleuropericardial disease in patients with IBD remains unclear, the response to systemic steroids is usually adequate [173, 174]. The true prevalence of lung involvement in IBD remains unknown, and it seems rather variable, because in some series only a few cases of respiratory complications have been found [171]. Data on CD-related pulmonary disease in children are insufficient.

10.8.1 Pathogenesis

The colonic and respiratory epithelia share an embryonic origin from the primitive foregut and have columnar epithelia with goblet cells and submucosal mucus glands. The lungs and gastrointestinal tract contain submucosal lymphoid tissue and play crucial roles in host mucosal defense [172, 175]. The similarity in the mucosal immune system causes the same pathogenic changes that may result from epithelial exposure to common antigens by inhalation and ingestion, leading to sensitization of the lymphoid tissue are capable of producing several circulating cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1, IL-2, and IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α . These and other mediators can regulate the endothelial cell adhesion molecules, alter leukocyte migration, increase production of damaging reactive oxygen metabolites, and induce damage of lung parenchyma [177, 178].

10.8.2 Airway Diseases

Airway involvement in IBD can develop from the trachea to the bronchioles [179–182].

Severe tracheal inflammation and obstruction are rare manifestations of IBD and correspond to the presence of irregularly friable and hemorrhagic tissue at endoscopy [183]. The tracheal epithelium is often ulcerated and is replaced by a thin layer of fibrin [174]. Upper airway involvement comprises glottic/subglottic stenosis, tracheal inflammation, and stenosis [88–90]. The main symptoms are coughing, dyspnea, stridor, and hoarseness [184]. It can be identified by history, chest radiographs, computed tomography, and pulmonary function testing. Laryngoscopic evaluation is necessary because airway compromise can occur [174].

Large airway disease involves bronchial inflammation and suppuration. These are the most common manifestations of pulmonary involvement in IBD.

Bronchiectasis is the most commonly reported entity, and it is noted in 66% of cases of IBD involving the large airways [176]. The majority of patients with bronchiectasis have UC.

The second most common large airway disease in IBD is chronic bronchitis, which is distinguished from bronchiectasis only by the degree and extent of pulmonary abnormality, and further abnormalities include suppurative large airway disease and acute bronchitis [185]. The main symptom is chronic cough with purulent sputum poorly responsive to antibiotics [186]. Bronchial biopsy shows similar features: squamous cell metaplasia in the mucosa that is sometimes infiltrated by neutrophils and a dense cuff of lymphocytes and plasma cells infiltrating the submucosa [187].

Small airway disease is less frequent and was described separate from large airway disease. These abnormalities seem to occur earlier in the course of the disease and at a younger age than large airway disease [182, 188–191]. Chest high-resolution computed tomography shows bronchiolar wall thickening, mucoid impaction, centrilobular ground-glass nodules, and mosaic attenuation because of air trapping, and some patients have normal pulmonary function test (PFT) findings [192].

Bronchiolitis is the most commonly reported disease involving the small airways in patients with IBD. Bronchiolitis in specific settings leads to bronchiolectasis, resulting in bronchiectasis. The respiratory alteration presented with nonproductive cough, progressive dyspnea, and chest pain. Histological samples from the open lung biopsy reveal fibrosing and stenosing bronchiolitis and inflammatory lesions [188, 193, 194]. Steroids are the major therapy although some patients do not require systemic therapy.

10.8.3 Lung Parenchymal Diseases

In contrast to other EIM, lung parenchymal disease associated with IBD is seen more commonly with UC than CD [187]. Age of onset varies, and there is a slight female predominance.

Bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia is the most commonly reported parenchymal manifestation of IBD [195, 196]. Bronchiolitis obliterans organizing pneumonia is often caused by inhalation injury or results from a postinfection origin or drugs and may present acutely or subacutely with fever, cough, dyspnea, and pleuritic chest pain [197, 198]. Dyspnea and cough are the most common presenting symptoms. Systemic steroids are recommended and effective for treatment of this complication [197].

Other forms of parenchymal disease that may be related to IBD or drug toxicity are eosinophilic pneumonia and nonspecific interstitial pneumonitis [174].

In patients with IBD, pulmonary nodules have been infrequently reported, which histologically appear to be necrobiotic (composed of sterile aggregates of neutrophils with necrosis), granulomatous, or otherwise [199]. Important is to distinguish an infectious origin, because necrobiotic nodules respond to steroids but not to antibiotics [174].

The manifestations of lung parenchymal disease in IBD usually respond dramatically to inhaled or systemic steroids. The addition of cyclophosphamide or anti-TNF α drug (e.g., infliximab, adalimumab) may show rapid clinical and radiological response and are well tolerated [200, 201].

10.8.4 Pleural Diseases

IBD involves the pleural space and pericardium and in rare cases causes inflammatory exudative pleural and/or pericardial effusions [202, 203]. Pleuropericardial inflammatory disease and effusion can be directly related to IBD, its complications, associated infections, or the medications used to treat IBD [204]. Pleural diseases can be classified as pneumothorax [205], pleural thickening, pleuritis, and pleural effusion [206].

Pleural fluid collection is usually unilateral, an exudate with neutrophils, and may be hemorrhagic. It is important to evaluate pleural effusion and rule out other etiologies before making this diagnosis. Mesalazine may also induce lupus-like symptoms, such as arthralgia, pericarditis, tamponade, and/or pleural effusion, with positive antinuclear antibody [174].

Pleural effusion associated with IBD is effectively treated with systemic steroids; however, pleural drainage may be required occasionally.

10.8.5 Enteric-Pulmonary Fistulas

Enteric-pulmonary fistulas such as colobronchial [207–210], ileobronchial [210], and esophagobronchial [211] fistulas are rare complications of IBD. Fistula formation occurs more frequently in CD and [212] develops primarily in the perineal area [212]. In most cases, colobronchial fistulas extend from the splenic flexure in the colon to the lower lobe of the left lung. This is likely due to the anatomical proximity between the two structures [174].

Recurrent pneumonia with feculent sputum in patients with CD should raise suspicion of colobronchial fistula. Once the abnormal connections between the bowel and respiratory tract are suspected, an enema using water-soluble contrast medium helps to confirm the presence of fistulas [208]. Colopleural fistula and fecopneumothorax are rare but life-threatening complications of CD. Surgical treatment is mandatory as soon as the diagnosis is established [213].

10.8.6 Pulmonary Function Test Abnormalities

Pulmonary function test abnormalities are found frequently in adult patients with IBD without presence of any respiratory symptoms and lung radiograph findings [174]. Functional and structural pulmonary involvement in children with IBD is qute uncommon.

Various studies testing pulmonary function in patients with IBD have revealed a spectrum of abnormalities including restrictive disease, obstructive disease, bronchial hyperresponsiveness and hyperinflation as, well as a decreased diffusion capacity of the lung [214].

References

- 1. Timani S, Mutasim DF. Skin manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Clin Dermatol. 2008;26:265–73.
- Vavricka SR, Brun L, Ballabeni P, et al. Frequency and risk factors for extraintestinal manifestations in the Swiss inflammatory bowel disease cohort. Am J Gastroenterol. 2011; 106:110.
- Vavricka SR, Schoepfer A, Scharl M, Lakatos PL, navarinis A, Rogler G. Extraintestinal manifestation of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21:1982–92.
- Greenstein AJ, Janowitz HD, Sachar DB. The extra-intestinal complications of Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: a study of 700 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1976;55:401–12.
- Danese S, Semeraro S, Papa A, Roberto I, Scaldaferri F, Fedeli G, Gasbarrini G, Gasbarrini A. Extraintestinal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2005;11:7227–36.
- Heyman MB. Development of extraintestinal manifestations in pediatric patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;15:63–8.
- Jose FA, Heyman MB. Extraintestinal manifestation of inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2008;46:124–33.
- Su CG, Judge TA, Lichtenstein GR. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Clin N Am. 2002;31:307–27.
- Boyapati R, Satsangi J, Ho GT. Pathogenesis of Crohn's disease. F1000Prime Rep. 2015;7:44. https://doi.org/10.12703/P7-44.
- Franke A, McGovern DP, Barrett JC, Wang K, Radford-Smith G, et al. Genome-wide metaanalysis increases to 71 the number of confirmed Crohn's disease susceptibility loci. Nat Genet. 2010;42:1118–25.
- 11. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. Nature. 2012;491:119–24.
- 12. Cuthbert AP, Fisher SA, Mirza MM, King K, Hampe J, Croucher PJ, et al. The contribution of NOD2 gene mutations to the risk and site of disease in inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterology. 2002;122:867–74.
- Kobayashi KS, Chamaillard M, Ogura Y, Henegariu O, Inohara N, Nuñez G, Flavell RA. Nod2dependent regulation of innate and adaptive immunity in the intestinal tract. Science. 2005;307:731–4.
- 14. Ogura Y, Lala S, Xin W, Smith E, Dowds TA, Chen FF, et al. Expression of NOD2 in Paneth cells: a possible link to Crohn's ileitis. Gut. 2003;52:1591–7.
- 15. Jiang W, Wang X, Zeng B, Liu L, Tardivel A, Wei H, et al. Recognition of gut microbiota by NOD2 is essential for the homeostasis of intestinal intraepithelial lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 2013;210:2465–76.

- Bevins CL, Stange EF, Wehkamp J. Decreased Paneth cell defensin expression in ileal Crohn's disease is independent of inflammation, but linked to the NOD2 1007fs genotype. Gut. 2009;58:882–3.
- 17. Cooney R, Baker J, Brain O, Danis B, Pichulik T, Allan P, et al. NOD2 stimulation induces autophagy in dendritic cells influencing bacterial handling and antigen presentation. Nat Med. 2010;16:90–7.
- Lapaquette P, Bringer M, Darfeuille-Michaud A. Defects in autophagy favour adherent-invasive Escherichia coli persistence within macrophages leading to increased pro-inflammatory response. Cell Microbiol. 2012;14:791–807.
- Mir-Madjlessi SH, Taylor JS, Farmer RG. Clinical course and evolution of erythema nodosum and pyoderma gangrenosum in chronic ulcerative colitis: a study of 42 patients. Am J Gastroenterol. 1985;80:615–20.
- 20. Ogura Y, Bonen DK, Inohara N, Nicolae DL, Chen FF, Ramos R, et al. A frameshift mutation in NOD2 associated with susceptibility to Crohn's disease. Nature. 2001;411:603–6.
- 21. Uehara A, Yang S, Fujimoto Y, Fukase K, Kusumoto S, Shibata K, et al. Muramyldipeptide and diaminopimelic acid-containing desmuramylpeptides in combination with chemically synthesized Toll-like receptor agonists synergistically induced production of interleukin-8 in a NOD2- and NOD1-dependent manner, respectively, in human monocytic cells in culture. Cell Microbiol. 2005;7:53–61.
- Watanabe T, Kitani A, Murray PJ, Wakatsuki Y, Fuss IJ, Strober W. Nucleotide binding oligomerization domain 2 deficiency leads to dysregulated TLR2 signaling and induction of antigenspecific colitis. Immunity. 2006;25:473–85.
- Miceli-Richard C, Lesage S, Rybojad M, Prieur AM, Manouvrier-Hanu S, Häfner R, et al. CARD15 mutations in Blau syndrome. Nat Genet. 2001;29:19–20.
- Ferrero-Miliani L, Nielsen OH, Andersen PS. Chronic inflammation: importance of NOD2 and NALP3 in interleukin-1 generation. Clin Exp Immunol. 2007;147(2):227–35.
- 25. Levine B, Kroemer G. Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. Cell. 2008;132:27-42.
- 26. Green DR, Levine B. To be or not to be? How selective autophagy and cell death govern cell fate. Cell. 2014;157:65–75.
- Ke P, Shao BZ, Xu ZQ, Chen XW, Liu C. Intestinal autophagy and its pharmacological control in inflammatory bowel disease. Front Immunol. 2016;7:695. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fimmu.2016.00695.
- Bernstein CN, Blanchard JF, Rawsthorne P, et al. The prevalence of extraintestinal diseases in inflammatory bowel disease: a population-based study. Am J Gastroenterol. 2001;96:1116–22.
- 29. Smale S, Natt RS, Orchard TR, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease and spondylarthropathy. Arthritis Rheum. 2001;44:2728–36.
- Gravallese EM, Kantrowitz FG. Arthritic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1988;83:703–9.
- 31. Lakatos L, Pandur T, David G, Balogh Z, Kuronya P, Tollas A, et al. Association of extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease in a province of western Hungary with disease phenotype: results of a 25-year follow-up study. World J Gastroenterol. 2003;9(10):2300–7.
- 32. Rankin GB, Watts HD, Melnyk CS, Kelley ML Jr. National cooperative Crohn's disease study: extraintestinal manifestations and perianal complications. Gastroenterology. 1979;77(4 Pt 2):914–20.
- Veloso FT, Carvalho J, Magro F. Immune-related systemic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. A prospective study of 792 patients. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1996;23(1):29–34.
- 34. Biancone L, Mandal A, Yang H, et al. Production of immunoglobulin G and G1 antibodies to cytoskeletal protein by lamina propria cells in ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 1995;109:3–12.
- Jacques P, Elewaut D. Joint expedition: linking gut inflammation to arthritis. Mucosal Immunol. 2008;1:364–71.
- 36. Das KM, Sakamaki S, Vecchi M, et al. The production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies to a human colonic antigen associated with ulcerative colitis: cellular localization of the antigen by using the monoclonal antibody. J Immunol. 1987;139:77–84.

- 37. Geng X, Biancone L, Dai HH, et al. Tropomyosin isoforms in intestinal mucosa: production of autoantibodies to tropomyosin isoforms in ulcerative colitis. Gastroenterology. 1998;114:912–22.
- 38. Bhagat S, Das KM. A shared and unique peptide in the human colon, eye, and joint detected by a monoclonal antibody. Gastroenterology. 1994;107:103–8.
- 39.Taurog JD, Richardson JA, Croft JT, et al. The germfree state prevents development of gut and joint inflammatory disease in HLA-B27 transgenic rats. J Exp Med. 1994;180:2359–64.
- 40. Salmi M, Jalkanen S. Human leukocyte subpopulations from inflamed gut bind to joint vasculature using distinct sets of adhesion molecules. J Immunol. 2001;166:4650–7.
- 41. May E, Märker-Hermann E, Wittig BM, et al. Identical T-cell expansions in the colon mucosa and the synovium of a patient with enterogenic spondyloarthropathy. Gastroenterology. 2000;119:1745–55.
- 42. Demetter P, De Vos M, Van Huysse JA, et al. Colon mucosa of patients both with spondyloarthritis and Crohn's disease is enriched with macrophages expressing the scavenger receptor CD163. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64:321–4.
- 43. Baeten D, Demetter P, Cuvelier CA, et al. Macrophages expressing the scavenger receptor CD163: a link between immune alterations of the gut and synovial inflammation in spondyloarthropathy. J Pathol. 2002;196:343–50.
- 44. Salmi M, Rajala P, Jalkanen S. Homing of mucosal leukocytes to joints. Distinct endothelial ligands in synovium mediate leukocyte subtype specific adhesion. J Clin Invest. 1997;99:2165–72.
- 45. Armaka M, Apostolaki M, Jacques P, et al. Mesenchymal cell targeting by TNF as a common pathogenic principle in chronic inflammatory joint and intestinal diseases. J Exp Med. 2008;205:331–7.
- 46. Hammer RE, Maika SD, Richardson JA, Tang JP, Taurog JD. Spontaneous inflammatory disease in transgenic rats expressing HLA-B27 and human beta 2m: an animal model of HLAB27associated human disorders. Cell. 1990;63(5):1099–112.
- 47. Diaz-Peromingo JA, Garcia-Suarez F, Sanchez-Leira J, Saborido Frojan J. Sweet's syndrome in a patient with acute ulcerative colitis: presentation of a case and review of the literature. Yale J Biol Med. 2001;74:165–8.
- Rothfuss KS, Stange EF, Herrlinger KR. Extraintestinal manifestations and complications in inflammatory bowel diseases. World J Gastroenterol. 2006;12:4819–31.
- 49. Lanna CC, Ferrari ML, Rocha SL, Nascimento E, de Carvalho MA, da Cunha AS. A crosssectional study of 130 Brazilian patients with Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis: analysis of articular and ophthalmologic manifestations. Clin Rheumatol. 2008;27(4):503–9.
- Mekhjian HS, Switz DM, Melnyk CS, Rankin GB, Brooks RK. Clinical features and natural history of Crohn's disease. Gastroenterology. 1979;77(4 Pt 2):898–906.
- 51. de Vlam K, Mielants H, Cuvelier C, de Keyser F, Veys EM, de Vos M. Spondyloarthropathy is underestimated in inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and HLA association. J Rheumatol. 2000;27(12):2860–5.
- 52. Palm O, Moum B, Jahnsen J, Gran JT. The prevalence and incidence of peripheral arthritis in patients with inflammatory bowel disease, a prospective population-based study (the IBSEN study). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2001;40(11):1256–61.
- Brakenhoff LKPM, van der Heijde DM, Hommes DW, Huizinga TWJ, Fidder HH. The joint– gut axis in inflammatory bowel diseases. J Crohns Colitis. 2010;4(3):257–68.
- 54. Singh S, Graff LA, Bernstein CN. Do NSAIDs, antibiotics, infections, or stress trigger flares in IBD? AmJ Gastroenterol. 2009;104:1298–313; quiz 1314.
- 55. Biancone L, Michetti P, Travis S, Escher JC, Moser G, Forbes A, et al. European evidencebased consensus on the management of ulcerative colitis: special situations. J Crohns Colitis. 2008;2(1):63–92.
- 56. Kefalakes H, Stylianides TJ, Amanakis G, Kolios G. Exacerbationof inflammatory bowel diseases associated with the use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: myth or reality? Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2009;65(10):963–70.

- 57. Van den Bosch F, Kruithof E, De Vos M, et al. Crohn's disease associated with spondyloarthropathy: effect of TNF-alpha blockade with infliximab on articular symptoms. Lancet. 2000;356:1821–2.
- 58. Ellman MH, Hanauer S, Sitrin M, et al. Crohn's disease arthritis treated with infliximab: an open trial in four patients. J Clin Rheumatol. 2001;7:67–71.
- 59. Zochling J, van der Heijde D, Dougados M, et al. Current evidence for the management of ankylosing spondylitis: a systematic literature review for the ASAS/EULAR management recommendations in ankylosing spondylitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65:423–32.
- 60. Vavricka SR, Scharl M, Gubler M, et al. Which extraintestinal manifestations of IBD respond to biologics? Curr Drug Targets. 2014;15:1064–73.
- 61. Ko JS, Uberti G, Napekoski K, Patil DT, Billings SD. Cutaneous manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease: a single institutional study of non-neoplastic biopsies over 13 yeras. J Cutan Pathol. 2016;43:946–55.
- 62. Tavarela Veloso F. Skin complications associated with inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2004;20(Suppl 4):50–3.
- Tavarela Veloso F, Carvalho S, Magro F. Immune-related systemic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. A prospective study of 792 patients. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1996;23:29–34.
- 64. Georgiou G, Pasmatzi E, Monastirli A, Tsambaos D. Cutaneous manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Hosp Chron. 2006;1:158–68.
- Larsen S, Bendtzen K, Nielsen OH. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease: epidemiology, diagnosis and management. Ann Med. 2010;42:97–114.
- 66. Ploysangam T, Heubi JE, Eisen D, Balistreri WF, Lucky AW. Cutaneous Crohn's disease in children. J Am Acad Dermatol. 1997;36:697–704.
- 67. Lestre S, Ramos J, Joao A, Serrao V. Cutaneous Crohn's disease presenting as genital warts: successful treatment with adalimumab. Eur J Dermatol. 2010;20:504–5.
- 68. Huang BL, Chandra S, Shih DQ. Skin manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Front Physiol. 2012;3:13.
- 69. Farhi D, Cosnes J, Zizi N, et al. Significance of erythema nodosum and pyoderma gangrenosum in inflammatory bowel diseases: a cohort study of 2402 patients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2008;87:281.
- Ortego-Centeno N, Callejas-Rubio JL, Sanchez-Cano D, et al. Refractory chronic erythema nodosum successfully treated with adalimumab. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2007;21:408–10.
- 71. Fleisher M, Rubin S, Levine A, et al. Infliximab in the treatment of steroid refractory erythema nodosum of IBD. Gastroenterology. 2002;122(Suppl. 1):A618 (Abstract).
- 72. Kugathasan S, Miranda A, Nocton J, et al. Dermatologic manifestations of Crohn disease in children: response to infliximab. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2003;37:150–4.
- 73. Bennett ML, Jackson JM, Jorizzo JL, et al. Pyoderma gangrenosum. A comparison of typical and atypical forms with an emphasis on time to remission. Case review of 86 patients from 2 institutions. Medicine. 2000;79:37–46.
- 74. Orchard TR, Chua CN, Ahmad T, et al. Uveitis and erythema nodosum in inflammatory bowel disease: clinical features and the role of HLA genes. Gastroenterology. 2002;123:714.
- 75. Orchard T. Extraintestinal complications of inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2003;5:512–7.
- 76. Callen JP. Pyoderma gangrenosum. Lancet. 1998;351:581-5.
- Trost L, McDonnell J. Important cutaneous manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Postgrad Med J. 2005;81(959):580–5.
- Cohen PR, Kurzrock R. Sweet's syndrome revisited: a review of disease concepts. Int J Dermatol. 2003;42:761–78.
- 79. Guhl G, Garcia-Diez A. Subcutaneous sweet syndrome. Dermatol Clin. 2008;26:541–51.
- Ardizzone S, Puttini PS, Cassinotti A, Porro GB. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Dig Liver Dis. 2008;40(Suppl. 2):S253–9.
- Vij A, Modi GM, Suwattee P, Cockerell CJ, Hsu S. Chronic, recurrent neutrophilic dermatosis: a case report. Dermatology. 2010;16:1.

- Ali M, Duerksen DR. Ulcerative colitis and Sweet's syndrome: a case report and review of the literature. Can J Gastroenterol. 2008;22:296–8.
- 83. Su WP, Liu HN. Diagnostic criteria for Sweet's syndrome. Cutis. 1986;37(3):167-74.
- Cohen PR. Sweet's syndrome a comprehensive review of an acute febrile neutrophilic dermatosis. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2007;2:34.
- Nofal A, Abdelmaksoud A, Amer H, et al. Sweet's syndrome: diagnsotic criteria revisited. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2017;15:1081–8.
- Cohen PR, Kurzrock R. Sweet's syndrome: a review of current treatment options. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2001;3:117–31.
- 87. Cohen PR. Neutrophilic dermatoses: a review of current treatment options. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2009;10:301–12.
- Ashok D, Kiely P. Bowel associated dermatosis–arthritis syndrome: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2007;1:81.
- Patton T, Jukic D, Juhas E. A typical histopathology in bowel associated dermatosis arthritis syndrome: a case report. Dermatol Online J. 2009;15:3.
- Truchuelo MT, Alcántara J, Vano-Galván S, et al. Bowel associated dermatosis-arthritis syndrome: another cutaneous manifestation of inflammatory intestinal disease. Int J Dermatol. 2013;52:1596–8.
- Nischal KC, Khopkar U. An approach to the diagnosis of neutrophilic dermatoses: a histopathological perspective. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol. 2007;73:222–30.
- Mackel SE, Jordon RE. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis. A cutaneous expression of immune complex disease. Arch Dermatol. 1982;118:296–301.
- Iannone F, Scioscia C, Musio A, Piscitelli D, Lapadula G. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis as onset symptom of ulcerative colitis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2003;62:785–6.
- Akbulut S, Ozaslan E, Topal F, Albayrak L, Kayhan B, Efe C. Ulcerative colitis presenting as leukocytoclastic vasculitis of skin. World J Gastroenterol. 2008;14:2448–50.
- Tsiamoulos Z, Karamanolis G, Polymeros D, Triantafyllou K, Oikonomopoulos T. Leukocytoclastic vasculitis as an onset symptom of Crohn's disease. Case Rep Gastroenterol. 2008;2:410–4.
- 96. Das KM, Vecchi M, Sakamaki S. A shared and unique epitope(s) on human colon, skin and biliary epithelium detected by a monoclonal antibody. Gastroenterology. 1990;98:464.
- Lourenço S, Hussein T, Bologna S, Sipahi A, Nico M. Oral manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease: a review based on the observation of six cases. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2010;24(2):204–7.
- Pittock S, Drumm B, Fleming P, McDermott M, Imrie C, Flint S, et al. The oral cavity in Crohn's disease. J Pediatr. 2001;138(5):767–71.
- Michailidou E, Arvanitidou S, Lombardi T, Kolokotronis A, Antoniades D, Samson J. Oral lesions leading to the diagnosis of Crohn disease: report on 5 patients. Quintessence Int. 2009;40(7):581–8.
- 100. Zbar AP, Ben-Horin S, Beer-Gabel M, Eliakim R. Oral Crohn's disease: is it a separable disease from orofacial granulomatosis? A review. J Crohns Colitis. 2012;6(2):135–42.
- 101. Harty S, Fleming P, Rowland M, Crushell E, McDermott M, Drumm B, et al. A prospective study of the oral manifestations of Crohn's disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2005;3(9):886–91.
- 102. Halme L, Meurman JH, Laine P, von Smitten K, Syrjänen S, Lindqvist C, et al. Oral findings in patients with active or inactive Crohn's disease. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol. 1993;76(2):175–81.
- Williams A, Wray D, Ferguson A. The clinical entity of orofacial Crohn's disease. Q J Med. 1991;79(2):451–8.
- 104. Trikudanathan G, Venkatesh PG, Navaneethan U. Diagnosis and therapeutic management of extra-intestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Drugs. 2012;72(18): 2333–49.
- 105. McCullough MJ, Abdel-Hafeth S, Scully C. Recurrent aphthous stomatitis revisited; clinical features, associations, and new association with infant feeding practices? J Oral Pathol Med. 2007;36(10):615–20.

- 106. Liu C, Zhou Z, Liu G, Wang Q, Chen J, Wang L, et al. Efficacy and safety of dexamethasone ointment on recurrent aphthous ulceration. Am J Med. 2012;125(3):292–301.
- 107. McBride DR. Management of aphthous ulcers. Am Fam Physician. 2000;62(1):149–54, 60.
- 108. McCarthy FP. Pyostomatitis vegetans: report of three cases. Arch Dermatol Syphilol. 1949;60(5_PART_I):750–64.
- 109. Field E, Allan R. Oral ulceration–aetiopathogenesis, clinical diagnosis and management in the gastrointestinal clinic. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2003;18(10):949–62.
- 110. Lankarani KB, Sivandzadeh GR, Hassanpour S. Oral manifestation in inflammatory bowel disease: a review. World J Gastroenterol. 2013;19(46):8571.
- 111. Daley TD, Armstrong JE. Oral manifestations of gastrointestinal diseases. Can J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2007;21(4):241–4.
- 112. Mijandrušić-Sinčić B, Licul V, Gorup L, Brnčić N, Glažar I, Lučin K. Pyostomatitis vegetans associated with inflammatory bowel disease–report of two cases. Coll Antropol. 2010;34(2):279–82.
- 113. Matias FA, Rosa DJ, Carvalho MT, Castañon MC. Pyodermatitis-pyostomatitis vegetans: case report and review of medical literature. An Bras Dermatol. 2011;86(4):137–40.
- Jurge S, Hegarty AM, Hodgson T. Orofacial manifestations of gastrointestinal disorders. Br J Hosp Med. 2014;75(9):497–501.
- 115. Femiano F, Lanza A, Buonaiuto C, Perillo L, Dell'Ermo A, Cirillo N. Pyostomatitis vegetans: a review of the literature. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2009;14(3):E114–7.
- 116. Ficarra G, Cicchi P, Amorosi A, Piluso S. Oral Crohn's disease and pyostomatitis vegetans. An unusual association. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol. 1993;75(2):220–4.
- 117. Thrash B, Patel M, Shah KR, Boland CR, Menter A. Cutaneous manifestations of gastrointestinal disease: Part II. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2013;68(2):211.e1–211.e33.
- 118. Karmiris K, Avgerinos A, Tavernaraki A, Zeglinas C, Karatzas P, Koukouratos T, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of extra-intestinal manifestations in a large cohort of Greek patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(4):429–36.
- 119. Cury DB, Moss AC. Ocular manifestations in a community-based cohort of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2009;16(8):1393–6.
- 120. Felekis T, Katsanos K, Kitsanou M, Trakos N, Theopistos V, Christodoulou D, et al. Spectrum and frequency of ophthalmologic manifestations in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective single-center study. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2008;15(1):29–34.
- 121. Ottaviano G, Salvatore S, Salvatoni A, Martelossi S, Ventura A, Naviglio S. Ocular manifestations of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Crohns Colitis. 2018;12(7):870–9.
- 122. Karlinger K, Györke T, Makö E, Mester Á, Tarján Z. The epidemiology and the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. Eur J Radiol. 2000;35(3):154–67.
- 123. Das KM. Relationship of extraintestinal involvements in inflammatory bowel disease (new insights into autoimmune pathogenesis). Digest Dis Sci. 1999;44(1):1–13.
- 124. Santeford A, Wiley LA, Park S, Bamba S, Nakamura R, Gdoura A, et al. Impaired autophagy in macrophages promotes inflammatory eye disease. Autophagy. 2016;12(10):1876–85.
- 125. Levine JS, Burakoff R. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2011;7(4):235.
- Generali E, Cantarini L, Selmi C. Ocular involvement in systemic autoimmune diseases. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2015;49(3):263–70.
- 127. Mady R, Grover W, Butrus S. Ocular complications of inflammatory bowel disease. ScientificWorldJournal. 2015;2015:438402.
- 128. Harbord M, Annese V, Vavricka SR, Allez M, Barreiro-de Acosta M, Boberg KM, et al. The first European evidence-based consensus on extra-intestinal manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. 2016;10(3):239–54.
- 129. Evans PE, Pardi DS. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease: focus on the musculoskeletal, dermatologic, and ocular manifestations. Medscape Gen Med. 2007;9(1):55.
- 130. Watson PG, Young RD. Scleral structure, organisation and disease. A review. Exp Eye Res. 2004;78(3):609–23.
- 131. Williams H, Walker D, Orchard TR. Extraintestinal manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2008;10(6):597–605.
- 132. Mintz R, Feller ER, Bahr RL, Shah SA. Ocular manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2004;10(2):135–9.
- 133. Group SoUNW. Standardization of uveitis nomenclature for reporting clinical data. Results of the First International Workshop. Am J Ophthalmol. 2005;140(3):509–16.
- 134. Bodaghi B, Quoc EB, Wechsler B, Tran T, Cassoux N, Huong DLT, et al. Therapeutic use of infliximab in sight threatening uveitis: retrospective analysis of efficacy, safety, and limiting factors. Ann Rheum Dis. 2005;64(6):962–4.
- 135. Troncoso LL, Biancardi AL, de Moraes HV Jr, Zaltman C. Ophthalmic manifestations in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: a review. World J Gastroenterol. 2017;23(32):5836–48.
- 136. Durno CA, Ehrlich R, Taylor R, Buncic JR, Hughes P, Griffiths AM. Keeping an eye on Crohn's disease: orbital myositis as the presenting symptom. Can J Gastroenterol. 1997;11(6):497–500.
- 137. Pusateri AJ, Kim SC, Dotson JL, et al. Incidence, pattern, and etiology of elevated liver enzymes in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2015;60:592–7.
- Valentino PL, Feldman BM, Walters TD, et al. Abnormal liver biochemistry is common in pediatric inflammatory bowel disease: prevalence and associations. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2015;21:2848–56.
- 139. Saubermann LJ, Deneau M, Falcone RA, et al. Hepatic issues and complications associated with inflammatory bowel disease: a clinical report from the NASPGHAN Inflammatory Bowel Disease and Hepatology Committees. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;64:639–52.
- 140. Ricciuto A, Fish J, Carman N, et al. Symptoms do not correlate with findings from colonoscopy in children with inflammatory bowel disease and primary sclerosing cholangitis. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2018;16(7):1098–105.
- 141. Loftus EV Jr, Harewood GC, Loftus CG, et al. PSC-IBD: a unique form of inflammatory bowel disease associated with primary sclerosing cholangitis. Gut. 2005;54:91–6.
- 142. Sinakos E, Samuel S, Enders F, Loftus EV Jr, Sandborn WJ, Lindor KD. Inflammatory bowel disease in primary sclerosing cholangitis: a robust yet changing relationship. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2013;19:1004–9.
- 143. Dotson JL, Hyams JS, Markowitz J, et al. Extraintestinal manifestations of pediatric inflammatory bowel disease and their relation to disease type and severity. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2010;51:140–5.
- 144. Ricciuto A, Kamath BM, Griffiths AM. The IBD and PSC phenotypes of PSC-IBD. Curr Gastroenterol Rep. 2018;20(4):16. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11894-018-0620-2.
- 145. Shiau H, Ihekweazu FD, Amin M, et al. Unique inflammatory bowel disease phenotype of pediatric primary sclerosing cholangitis: a single-center study. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2017;65:404–9.
- 146. Deneau M, Jensen MK, Holmen J, et al. Primary sclerosing cholangitis, autoimmune hepatitis, and overlap in Utah children: epidemiology and natural history. Hepatology. 2013;58:1392–400.
- 147. Chapman R, Fevery J, Kalloo A, et al. Diagnosis and management of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:660–78.
- 148. Hommes DW, Erkelens W, Ponsioen C, et al. A double-blind, placebo controlled, randomized study of infliximab in primary sclerosing cholangitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2008;42: 522–6.
- Angulo P, Batts KP, Jorgensen RA, et al. Oral budesonide in the treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Am J Gastroenterol. 2000;95:2333–7.
- Cullen SN, Chapman RW. Review article: current management of primary sclerosing cholangitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2005;21:933–48.
- Shimizu M, Iwasaki H, Mase S, Yachie A. Successful treatment of primary sclerosing cholangitis with a steroid and a probiotic. Case Rep Gastroenterol. 2012;6(2):249–53.

- 152. Stiehl A, Rudolph G, Kloters-Plachky P, et al. Development of dominant bile duct stenoses in patients with primary sclerosing cholangitis treated with ursodeoxycholic acid: outcome after endoscopic treatment. J Hepatol. 2002;36:151–6.
- 153. Alabraba E, Nightingale P, Gunson B, et al. A re-evaluation of the risk factors for the recurrence of primary sclerosing cholangitis in liver allografts. Liver Transpl. 2009;15:330–40.
- 154. Turner D, Ruemmele FM, Orlanski-Meyer E, et al. Management of paediatric ulcerative colitis, Part 1: Ambulatory care - an evidence-based guideline from ECCO and ESPGHAN. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1097/MPG.00000000002035.
- 155. Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D. Paediatric autoimmune liver disease. Arch Dis Child. 2013;98:1012–7.
- 156. Floreani A, Liberal R, Vergani D, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis: contrasts and comparisons in children and adults a comprehensive review. J Autoimmun. 2013;46:7–16.
- 157. Manns MP, Czaja AJ, Gorham JD, et al. Diagnosis and management of autoimmune hepatitis. Hepatology. 2010;51:2193–213.
- 158. Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D, Baumann U, et al. Diagnosis and management of pediatric autoimmune liver disease: ESPGHAN Hepatology Committee position statement. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2018;66:345–60.
- 159. Mieli-Vergani G, Vergani D, Czaja AJ, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;4:18017. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrdp.2018.17.
- 160. Gregorio GV, Portmann B, Karani J, et al. Autoimmune hepatitis/sclerosing cholangitis overlap syndrome in childhood: a 16-year prospective study. Hepatology. 2001;33:544–53.
- 161. Novacek G, Weltermann A, Sobala A, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease is a risk factor for recurrent venous thromboembolism. Gastroenterology. 2010;139(3):779–87.
- 162. Sridhar AR, Parasa S, Navaneethan U, et al. Comprehensive study of cardiovascular morbidity in hospitalized inflammatory bowel disease patients. J Crohns Colitis. 2011;5:287–94.
- 163. Fumery M, Xiaocang C, Dauchet L, et al. Thromboembolic events and cardiovascular mortality in inflammatory bowel diseases: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Crohns Colitis. 2014;8(6):469–79.
- 164. Grainge MJ, West J, Card TR. Venous thromboembolism during active disease and remission in inflammatory bowel disease: a cohort study. Lancet. 2010;375:657–63.
- Solem CA, Loftus EV, Tremaine WJ, Sandborn WJ. Venous thromboembolism in inflammatory bowel disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004;99(1):97–101.
- 166. Yuhara H, Steinmaus C, Corley D, Koike J, Igarashi M, Suzuki T, Mine T. Meta-analysis: the risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther. 2013;37(10):953–62.
- 167. DeLeve LD, Valla DC, Garcia-Tsao G, et al. Vascular disorders of the liver. Hepatology. 2009;49:1729–64.
- 168. Senzolo M, Riggio O, Primignani M, et al. Vascular disorders of the liver: recommendations from the Italian Association for the Study of the Liver (AISF) ad hoc committee. Dig Liver Dis. 2011;43(7):503–14.
- 169. Nguyen GC, Bernstein CN, Bitton A, et al. Consensus statements on the risk, prevention, and treatment of venous thromboembolism in inflammatory bowel disease: Canadian Association of Gastroenterology. Gastroenterology. 2014;146:835–48.
- 170. Papa A, Gerardi V, Marzo M, Felice C, Rapaccini GL, Gasbarrini A. Venous thromboenbolism in patients with inflammatory bowel disease: focus on prevention and treatment. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(12):3173–9.
- 171. Rogers BH, Clark LM, Kirsner JB. The epidemiologic and demographic characteristics of inflammatory bowel disease: an analysis of a computerized file of 1400 patients. J Chronic Dis. 1971;24:743–73.
- 172. Betancourt SL, Palacio D, Jimenez CA, Martinez S, Marom EM. Thoracic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011;197:W452–6.
- 173. Abu-Hijleh M, Bassam SE. Pleuropericarditis in a patient with inflammatory bowel disease: a case presentation and review of the literature. Lung. 2010;188(6):505–10.

- 174. Ji X-Q, Wang L-X, Lu D-G. Pulmonary manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. 2014;20(37):13501–11.
- 175. Calder CJ, Lacy D, Raafat F, Weller PH, Booth IW. Crohn's disease with pulmonary involvement in a 3 year old boy. Gut. 1993;34:1636–8.
- 176. Black H, Mendoza M, Murin S. Thoracic manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Chest. 2007;131:524–32.
- 177. Marvisi M, Fornasari G. Is the lung a target organ in inflammatory bowel disease? Recenti Prog Med. 2001;92:774–7.
- 178. MacDermott RP, Schloemann SR, Bertovich MJ, Nash GS, Peters M, Stenson WF. Inhibition of antibody secretion by 5-aminosalicylic acid. Gastroenterology. 1989;96:442–8.
- 179. Higenbottam T, Cochrane GM, Clark TJ, Turner D, Millis R, Seymour W. Bronchial disease in ulcerative colitis. Thorax. 1980;35:581–5.
- Moles KW, Varghese G, Hayes JR. Pulmonary involvement in ulcerative colitis. Br J Dis Chest. 1988;82:79–83.
- 181. Garg K, Lynch DA, Newell JD. Inflammatory airways disease in ulcerative colitis: CT and high-resolution CT features. J Thorac Imaging. 1993;8:159–63.
- 182. Wilcox P, Miller R, Miller G, Heath J, Nelems B, Muller N, Ostrow D. Airway involvement in ulcerative colitis. Chest. 1987;92:18–22.
- Karasalihoğlu A, Kutlu K, Yilmaz T. Laryngotracheal obstruction in ulcerative colitis (apropos of a case). Rev Laryngol Otol Rhinol (Bord). 1988;109:469–71.
- 184. Vasishta S, Wood JB, McGinty F. Ulcerative tracheobronchitis years after colectomy for ulcerative colitis. Chest. 1994;106:1279–81.
- Foster RA, Zander DS, Mergo PJ, Valentine JF. Mesalamine-related lung disease: clinical, radiographic, and pathologic manifestations. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2003;9:308–15.
- 186. Cohen M, Sahn SA. Bronchiectasis in systemic diseases. Chest. 1999;116:1063-74.
- Camus P, Piard F, Ashcroft T, Gal AA, Colby TV. The lung in inflammatory bowel disease. Medicine (Baltimore). 1993;72:151–83.
- Desai SJ, Gephardt GN, Stoller JK. Diffuse panbronchiolitis preceding ulcerative colitis. Chest. 1989;95:1342–4.
- Ward H, Fisher KL, Waghray R, Wright JL, Card SE, Cockcroft DW. Constrictive bronchiolitis and ulcerative colitis. Can Respir J. 1999;6:197–200.
- Veloso FT, Rodrigues H, Aguiar MM. Bronchiolitis obliterans in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 1994;19:339–41.
- 191. Bentur L, Lachter J, Koren I, Ben-Izhak O, Lavy A, Bentur Y, Rosenthal E. Severe pulmonary disease in association with Crohn's disease in a 13-year-old girl. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2000;29:151–4.
- 192. Mahadeva R, Walsh G, Flower CD, Shneerson JM. Clinical and radiological characteristics of lung disease in inflammatory bowel disease. Eur Respir J. 2000;15:41–8.
- 193. Papiris SA, Malagari K, Manali ED, Kolilekas L, Triantafillidou C, Baou K, Rontogianni D, Bouros D, Kagouridis K. Bronchiolitis: adopting a unifying definition and a comprehensive etiological classification. Expert Rev Respir Med. 2013;7:289–306.
- 194. Vandenplas O, Casel S, Delos M, Trigaux JP, Melange M, Marchand E. Granulomatous bronchiolitis associated with Crohn's disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 1998;158:1676–9.
- 195. Heatley RV, Thomas P, Prokipchuk EJ, Gauldie J, Sieniewicz DJ, Bienenstock J. Pulmonary function abnormalities in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. Q J Med. 1982;51:241–50.
- 196. Haralambou G, Teirstein AS, Gil J, Present DH. Bronchiolitis obliterans in a patient with ulcerative colitis receiving mesalamine. Mt Sinai J Med. 2001;68:384–8.
- 197. Storch I, Sachar D, Katz S. Pulmonary manifestations of inflammatory bowel disease. Inflamm Bowel Dis. 2003;9:104–15.
- 198. Carratú P, Dragonieri S, Nocerino MC, Trabucco SM, Lacedonia D, Parisi G, Resta O. A case of cryptogenic organizing pneumonia occurring in Crohn's disease. Can Respir J. 2005;12:437–9.
- 199. Hardarson S, Labrecque DR, Mitros FA, Neil GA, Goeken JA. Antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibody in inflammatory bowel and hepatobiliary diseases. High prevalence in ulcer-

ative colitis, primary sclerosing cholangitis, and autoimmune hepatitis. Am J Clin Pathol. 1993;99:277–81.

- 200. Krishnan S, Banquet A, Newman L, Katta U, Patil A, Dozor AJ. Lung lesions in children with Crohn's disease presenting as nonresolving pneumonias and response to infliximab therapy. Pediatrics. 2006;117:1440–3.
- 201. Freeman HJ, Davis JE, Prest ME, Lawson EJ. Granulomatous bronchiolitis with necrobiotic pulmonary nodules in Crohn's disease. Can J Gastroenterol. 2004;18:687–90.
- 202. Patwardhan RV, Heilpern RJ, Brewster AC, Darrah JJ. Pleuropericarditis: an extraintestinal complication of inflammatory bowel disease. Report of three cases and review of literature. Arch Intern Med. 1983;143:94–6.
- 203. Orii S, Chiba T, Nakadate I, Fujiwara T, Ito N, Ishii M, Oana S, Chida T, Kudara N, Terui T, et al. Pleuropericarditis and disseminated intravascular coagulation in ulcerative colitis. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;32:251–4.
- 204. Abu-Hijleh M, Evans S, Aswad B. Pleuropericarditis in a patient with inflammatory bowel disease: a case presentation and review of the literature. Lung. 2010;188:505–10.
- 205. Smith PA, Crampton JR, Pritchard S, Li C. Pneumothorax as a presenting feature of granulomatous disease of the lung in a patient with Crohn's disease. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2009;21:237–40.
- Desai D, Patil S, Udwadia Z, Maheshwari S, Abraham P, Joshi A. Pulmonary manifestations in inflammatory bowel disease: a prospective study. Indian J Gastroenterol. 2011;30:225–8.
- Karmy-Jones R, Chagpar A, Vallieres E, Hamilton S. Colobronchial fistula due to Crohn's disease. Ann Thorac Surg. 1995;60:446–8.
- Domej W, Kullnig P, Petritsch W, Melisch B, Schaffinger E, Smolle-Jüttner FM, Schalk V, Ratschek M. Colobronchial fistula: a rare complication of Crohn's colitis. Am Rev Respir Dis. 1990;142:1225–7.
- Flueckiger F, Kullnig P, Melzer G, Posch E. Colobronchial and gastrocolic fistulas: rare complication of Crohn's disease. Gastrointest Radiol. 1990;15:288–90.
- 210. Mera A, Sugimoto M, Fukuda K, Tanaka F, Imamura F, Matsuda M, Ando M, Shima K. Crohn's disease associated with colo-bronchial fistula. Intern Med. 1996;35:957–60.
- Gumbo T, Rice TW, Mawhorter S. Recurrent pneumonia from an ileobronchial fistula complicating Crohn's disease. J Clin Gastroenterol. 2001;32:365–7.
- Singh D, Cole JC, Cali RL, Finical EJ, Proctor DD. Colobronchial fistula: an unusual complication of Crohn's disease. Am J Gastroenterol. 1994;89:2250–2.
- Barisiae G, Krivokapiae Z, Adziae T, Pavloviae A, Popoviae M, Gojniae M. Fecopneumothorax and colopleural fistula - uncommon complications of Crohn's disease. BMC Gastroenterol. 2006;6:17.
- 214. Pasquis P, Colin R, Denis P, Baptiste P, Galmiche JP, Hecketsweiler P. Transient pulmonary impairment during attacks of Crohn's disease. Respiration. 1981;41:56–9.



Castleman Disease

Dale M. Kobrin and David C. Fajgenbaum

11.1 Introduction

Castleman disease (CD) refers to a group of rare immunologic disorders defined by a spectrum of characteristic histopathologic features present in enlarged lymph nodes. Patients across the CD spectrum often exhibit fevers and other constitutional symptoms throughout their disease course. Dr. Benjamin Castleman first described the disease in 1954 [1] and then subsequently published a case series of 13 patients in 1956 [2]. In this initial case series, the solitary masses were found to be hyperplastic lymph nodes with similar histopathologic features across patients, including hyperplastic lymphoid follicles and marked capillary proliferation. These patients were largely asymptomatic, lacked significant laboratory abnormalities, and had a common pattern of histopathologic features [2].

Over time, patients with multiple regions of enlarged lymph nodes that demonstrated histopathological changes consistent with the CD spectrum were reported [3]. These "multicentric" CD (MCD) cases experienced more severe clinical and laboratory abnormalities, such as constitutional symptoms, cytopenias, and severe organ dysfunction, due to a cytokine storm often including interleukin-6 (IL-6) [4]. These cases have worse outcomes than the localized or "unicentric" CD (UCD) cases and require different treatments [5]. It has also become clear that CD-like histopathologic lymph node features are not specific to Castleman disease and can

D. M. Kobrin

Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

11

D. C. Fajgenbaum (\boxtimes)

Division of Translational Medicine & Human Genetics, Department of Medicine, Hospital of the University of Pennsylvania, Perelman School of Medicine at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, USA e-mail: davidfa@pennmedicine.upenn.edu

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_11

Autoimmune	Malignancy	Infectious
Systemic lupus erythematosus	Lymphoma	Human immunodeficiency virus
Rheumatoid arthritis	Follicular dendritic cell sarcoma	Epstein-Barr virus
Adult-onset still disease	Multiple myeloma	Cytomegalovirus
Juvenile idiopathic arthritis		Toxoplasmosis
Autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome		Tuberculosis

Table 11.1 Castleman disease mimics

be seen in a number of malignancies and autoimmune diseases [6]. Thus, it is essential that CD be appropriately classified into subtypes and that diagnostic criteria exclude histopathologic mimics (Table 11.1).

11.2 Classification

CD is first divided based on the number of regions of enlarged lymph nodes with characteristic histopathological changes. UCD often presents with a single enlarged lymph node but may present with multiple enlarged lymph nodes in a *single* region of the body [7]. In MCD, enlarged lymph nodes must be present in multiple regions of the body.

UCD is not further divided into clinical subtypes, as there are no features that have a material impact on treatment or prognosis. However, MCD is further classified into subtypes based on known and suspected etiologies, which have significant implications for treatment and prognosis. Human herpes virus-8 (HHV-8)-associated MCD is caused by uncontrolled Kaposi sarcoma-associated herpesvirus (KSHV)/human herpesvirus-8 (HHV-8)) infection [8] while MCD diagnosed in patients with polyneuropathy, organomegaly, endocrinopathy, monoclonal plasma cell disorder, and skin changes (POEMS) syndrome (POEMS-associated MCD) is thought to be caused by cytokine production by the monoclonal plasma cells underlying the coexisting POEMS syndrome [9]. The remainder of MCD cases fall into the heterogeneous "idiopathic MCD" (iMCD category. Within iMCD, at least one distinct clinical subtype has been described, which involves thrombocytopenia, anasarca, fever/myelofibrosis, renal dysfunction, organomegaly, and normal or mildly elevated gamma globulin levels. This subtype is referred to as iMCD -thrombocytopenia, anasarca, fever, reticulin fibrosis, and organomegaly (TAFRO) and seems to demonstrate a more severe clinical course [4]. The remainder of iMCD cases, which often demonstrate thrombocytosis and severe hypergammaglobulinemia, are referred to as iMCD not otherwise specified (iMCD-NOS) [10].

This chapter will provide a summary of the clinical features and pathogenesis of the various subtypes of CD (Fig. 11.1).



Fig. 11.1 Castleman disease classification

11.2.1 Unicentric Castleman Disease

11.2.1.1 Clinical Features and Management

Diagnosis of UCD requires enlarged lymph nodes to be contained to a single lymph node region, histopathologic features consistent with CD on biopsy of an enlarged lymph node, and the exclusion of histopathologic mimics; no abnormal clinical or laboratory parameters are needed [7]. Histopathology of UCD is more commonly the hyaline vascular pattern, but plasmacytic and mixed histopathological subtypes can also be seen (see Sect. 11.2.2 for descriptions of histopathology) [11].

UCD patients are commonly asymptomatic with normal laboratory testing. Enlarged lymph nodes in UCD can be found anywhere in the body and may be incidentally discovered by unrelated imaging studies [11]. When UCD patients do report symptoms, they may be due to compression of local structures by the enlarged lymph node (e.g., pain or pressure in the chest or abdomen, shortness of breath, or urinary obstruction) or due to systemic cytokine production [11]. Systemic inflammatory signs and symptoms, such as constitutional symptoms, extravascular fluid accumulation, and laboratory abnormalities, can be seen in UCD; however, they are more commonly seen in MCD (see Sect. 11.2.2) [12]. Of note, paraneoplastic pemphigus, a life-threatening autoimmune blistering disorder, is sometimes associated with UCD and can present prior to the diagnosis of UCD [13]. UCD patients generally have a good prognosis, but may suffer severe complications. In particular, paraneoplastic pemphigus and follicular dendritic cell (FDC) sarcoma are the two most frequently observed life-limiting sequelae of UCD based on anecdotal report [14].

Surgical removal of the enlarged node or region of nodes is the treatment of choice for UCD. Complete surgical excision in UCD is almost always curative and almost always induces a complete remission of symptoms and laboratory abnormalities associated with the disease [15]. According to anecdotal report, patients with unresectable UCD due to neighboring vital structures are often given medications used for MCD with variable success. Recurrences of UCD after complete excision are very uncommon but have been reported [5]. As a result, it is thought that the pathological cell types in UCD are contained in the excised lymph node. No cases of UCD have ever been reported to transition into MCD.

11.2.1.2 Pathogenesis

Proposed mechanisms for UCD include viral, neoplastic, and reactive inflammatory processes. No mechanism has been exhaustively investigated, but current evidence best supports a neoplastic process.

The strongest support for a neoplastic process comes from a study done by Chang et al. [16] on female UCD patients, which used a human androgen receptor gene (HUMARA) assay to demonstrate monoclonality in the lymphoid tissue of 19 of 25 UCD patients and 0 of 20 control cases of lymphoid hyperplasia. Testing for T and B cell monoclonality in this sample was negative, leading the authors to speculate that the monoclonal cell population was likely stromal in origin [16]. Additional support for a neoplastic process comes from several case reports describing cytogenetic anomalies in cultured lymph node stromal cells [17–20] and a case series of 11 UCD patients, which demonstrated mutations in known cancer-causing genes in two of nine cases that underwent next-generation sequencing [21]. Furthermore, UCD is associated with paraneoplastic pemphigus, which commonly occurs secondary to non-Hodgkin lymphoma and other hematologic neoplasia [22]. Rare reports of UCD running in families do exist, but genetic sequencing on these cases has not been performed [23, 24].

Despite evidence of a neoplastic process in UCD, the underlying cell type driving UCD pathogenesis has not been conclusively demonstrated. The previously described studies suggest that the neoplastic cells driving UCD are stromal cells, specifically FDCs, rather than lymphocytes [16, 17, 19, 20]. This is supported by commonly seen histopathologic lymph node features in UCD—such as stromal cell overgrowth, FDC prominence, and FDC dysplasia—and reports of patients developing FDC sarcoma in a region of lymph nodes previously harboring UCD [25–27]. FDCs are involved in germinal center formation, directing lymphocyte migration within lymph nodes, and promoting B cell survival; disruption of these functions may underlie the pathogenesis and histopathologic features of UCD [28].

Identifying effector cytokines has been an active research focus in MCD, as a cytokine storm is thought to be responsible for the constitutional symptoms and organ dysfunction present in the disease. While systematic investigation of effector cytokines has not been performed in UCD, it is suspected that similar effector cytokines to those involved in MCD are involved in the small portion of UCD cases with constitutional symptoms and organ dysfunction. In particular, IL-6 is likely to be involved based on case report data [29]; however, it is unclear if IL-6 plays a role in cases of UCD that present without symptoms and organ dysfunction. Interestingly, FDCs' role in coordinating migration of lymphocytes is largely mediated through secretion of chemokine ligand (C-X-C motif) 13 (CXCL13). Dysplastic FDCs in UCD lymph nodes strongly express this chemokine [27], and proteomics data in iMCD patients found that CXCL13 was the most significantly upregulated cytokine during disease flares [30]. Unfortunately, CXCL13 levels have not been systematically studied in UCD.

Although significant work is still needed to determine the etiology and pathogenesis of UCD, research to date supports a clonal proliferation of FDCs, likely due to acquired mutations, as the etiological driver of the disease.

11.2.2 Multicentric Castleman Disease

Although UCD and MCD share common histopathological features, the diseases differ significantly in clinical presentation, treatments, and outcomes. Diagnosis of the different MCD subtypes requires enlarged lymph nodes in multiple lymph node regions, histopathologic findings compatible with Castleman disease, and exclusion of histopathologic mimics; full consensus diagnostic criteria have been established only for iMCD [6]. The iMCD diagnostic criteria define a histopathological spectrum ranging from hypervascular (similar to the previously described hyaline vascular variant observed in UCD) to plasmacytic. Hypervascular histopathological features include regressed germinal centers, FDC prominence, hypervascularization, and expanded mantle zones with cells organized in a concentric "onion skinning" appearance. Plasmacytic histopathological features include sheet-like plasmacytosis and increased numbers of follicles with large hyperplastic germinal centers. A "mixed" pattern containing histopathologic features of both hypervascular and plasmacytic also exists [6].

Regardless of subtype, MCD patients typically present with constitutional symptoms, such as fever, fatigue, and weight loss; lymphadenopathy and organomegaly; extravascular fluid accumulation; and laboratory abnormalities, including anemia, thrombocytosis or thrombocytopenia, elevated ESR and CRP, hypergammaglobulinemia, and hypoalbuminemia [12]. As noted earlier, MCD is categorized into subtypes based on known etiologic drivers and treatment approaches. While the above features are often found across MCD subtypes, there are also unique clinical features and aspects of pathogenesis that will be discussed for each subtype later.

11.2.2.1 Human herpes virus-8-Associated Multicentric Castleman Disease

Uncontrolled infection with HHV-8 is the well-established etiology of HHV-8associated MCD [31]. HHV-8 infection was first associated with MCD in 1994, and following this discovery [32], the MCD research field shifted focus toward this subtype. As a result, the etiology and pathogenesis of HHV-8-associated MCD are better understood than other subtypes of CD.

HHV-8-associated MCD is most commonly diagnosed in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-positive patients but is also seen in patients with other forms of immunodeficiency [33]. HHV-8-associated MCD is often associated with other disorders caused by the HHV-8 virus, such as Kaposi sarcoma [34]. Consensus diagnostic criteria for HHV-8-associated MCD have not been established, but diagnosis of the disease is commonly based on compatible clinical presentation, lymph node biopsy demonstrating histopathologic features consistent with CD, and detection of the HHV-8 virus either by lymph node immunohistochemical staining for latency-associated nuclear antigen-1 (LANA-1) or by HHV-8 polymerase chain reaction (PCR) of peripheral blood samples during disease flare. Unlike other subtypes of Castleman disease, which may demonstrate hypervascular, plasmacytic, or mixed pattern of histopathologic features, HHV-8-associated MCD is only associated with a plasmablastic histopathologic pattern [35]. This plasmablastic pattern is similar to the plasmacytic pattern seen in other subtypes of CD but includes increased numbers of plasmablasts in the outer mantle zones of follicles [35].

The HHV-8 virus primarily infects B cells and plasmablasts. When HHV-8 escapes from host immune control, it is able to lytically replicate in lymph node plasmablasts and signal for the release of cytokines that drive clinical and pathological symptoms [33, 36]. The critical role of B cells in HHV-8-associated MCD is evidenced by the high success rate of treatment with rituximab, a B-cell–depleting therapy [37]. In addition to B cells, the role of peripheral T cells, including polyfunctional effector memory CD8⁺ T cells, has also been explored and may be associated with the pathogenesis of HHV-8-associated MCD [38].

Viral infection of host immune cells by HHV-8 causes a number of disruptions to normal biologic pathways and cytokine production leading to B-cell and plasma cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and an acute-phase reaction [39]. Latently expressed viral-FLICE inhibitory protein (vFLIP) upregulates nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) leading to increased production of human IL-6 [40], while a viral G-protein-coupled receptor may lead to the upregulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and other factors implicated in HHV-8associated MCD pathogenesis [39, 41]. In addition to increasing levels of hIL-6, HHV-8 also drives pathogenesis through a viral variant of the cytokine IL-6 (vIL-6) [42]. Human IL-6 operates through the IL-6 receptor (IL-6R) and gp130, a transmembrane protein that forms a complex with IL-6 and IL-6R, leading to downstream signaling [43]. Unlike human IL-6, which must bind to membrane-bound or serum IL-6R in order to form a functional complex with gp130, vIL-6 can complex with gp130 without IL-6R. As a result, vIL-6 is able to activate cells that express only gp130 rather than gp130 and membrane-bound IL-6R [44]. Consequently, it is possible that vIL-6 effects are present in a wider range of cell types than human IL-6.

11.2.2.2 Polyneuropathy, Organomegaly, Endocrinopathy, Monoclonal Plasma Cell Disorder, and Skin Changes-Associated Multicentric Castleman Disease

Compared to HHV-8-associated MCD, HHV-8-negative MCD subtypes such as POEMS-associated MCD and iMCD have historically received less research attention, despite epidemiologic data suggesting that HHV-8-negative MCD subtypes have similar, if not greater, incidence than HHV-8-associated MCD [4]. While the etiology of most cases of HHV-8-negative MCD is not known, in patients presenting with MCD and concurrent POEMS syndrome, both diseases are thought to be driven by a population of monoclonal plasma cells. Case series estimate

POEMS-associated MCD to be present in approximately 15% of patients with POEMS syndrome [45]. Interestingly, patients with POEMS-associated MCD have been reported to have evidence of previous exposure to HHV-8 by viral serology and PCR of tissue [46]; however, positive LANA-1 lymph node staining, which would suggest a pathogenic role of the virus, has not been reported in POEMS-associated MCD.

The pathophysiology of POEMS syndrome and POEMS-associated MCD is unclear, but increased levels of cytokines secreted by monoclonal plasma cells are thought to drive both diseases. VEGF is the cytokine that best correlates with POEMS syndrome acuity [47]; however, mixed results with VEGF blockade suggest that additional cytokines are involved [48]. Other cytokines implicated in POEMS syndrome include IL-6, IL-12, transforming growth factor (TGF)-1 β , and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α [49]. The cells responsible for producing these particular cytokines have not been definitively identified, but monoclonal plasma cells that have undergone genomic events are suspected. Highlighting the primary role of the monoclonal plasma cell population in POEMS pathogenesis, radiation to an isolated plasmacytoma is often curative [9].

11.2.2.3 Idiopathic Multicentric Castleman Disease (Idiopathic Multicentric Castleman Disease and Idiopathic Multicentric Castleman Disease-Thrombocytopenia, Anasarca, Fever, Reticulin Fibrosis, and Organomegaly)

The iMCD subtype of CD is idiopathic, and is associated with a variety of clinical and histopathologic features. It is divided into at least two distinct subtypes based on clinical findings, iMCD-TAFRO and iMCD-not otherwise specified (iMCD-NOS).

Patients with iMCD-NOS often present similarly to POEMS-associated MCD, whereas patients with iMCD-TAFRO present with more severe disease characterized by thrombocytopenia (as opposed to thrombocytosis), anasarca, fever/reticulin fibrosis on bone marrow biopsy, renal dysfunction, and organomegaly [10]. Patients with iMCD-TAFRO typically have normal or mildly elevated gammaglobulins (as opposed to the higher levels of gammaglobulins seen in iMCD-NOS and POEMS-associated MCD) [4]. iMCD-TAFRO patients can suffer acute, rapidly progressive multisystem organ failure and frequently require support in an intensive care unit.

Although the etiology of iMCD remains unknown, the clinical manifestations of the disease are thought to be caused by elevated cytokines such as IL-6, which appears to be a primary driver of iMCD in some patients. However, the heterogeneity of the disease and inconsistent response to specific treatments, including anti-IL-6 therapies, suggest that dysregulation of multiple immune processes may be involved [50]. The CD research community, led by the Castleman Disease Collaborative Network (CDCN), has focused on four hypothesized candidate etiologic drivers of iMCD pathogenesis.

Etiology: Autoimmune Hypothesis

An autoimmune process involving self-reactive antibodies or T cells may drive iMCD. Support for an autoimmune etiology includes overlapping clinical and histopathological features between iMCD and known autoimmune diseases. Nearly all lymph node biopsies from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and 15–30% of those from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus display CD-like histopathological features [51, 52]. Furthermore, approximately 30% of reported cases of iMCD have auto-antibodies or autoimmune hemolytic anemia [4]. It is unclear if autoantibodies and autoimmunity in iMCD are etiologic drivers, propagators of inflammation, or arise secondary to another process.

Etiology: Autoinflammatory Hypothesis

iMCD may be caused by abnormal immune activation and regulation due to germline mutations in genes regulating inflammation. A number of interesting observations support this hypothesis, but no large series demonstrating common mutations specific to iMCD have been reported. Homozygous mutations in Cat eye syndrome critical region protein 1 (CECR1), encoding for adenosine deaminase 2, ADA2, which may lead to increased IL-6 activity through a deficiency of ADA2, were described in a child with an MCD-like syndrome [53, 54]. Additionally, in a study performed by Stone et al. [55] on iMCD patients and healthy controls, iMCD patients were somewhat more likely (49% vs. 33%) to harbor a polymorphism in the IL-6R gene. Measured levels of soluble IL-6R (sIL-6R) were significantly higher in individuals with this polymorphism, either with or without iMCD, which may contribute to increased IL-6 activity through a trans-signaling pathway [55]. Further research is needed to explore these findings and delineate their roles in iMCD pathogenesis.

Etiology: Neoplastic Hypothesis

A neoplastic cell population that has acquired oncogenic mutations may drive iMCD pathogenesis. Such a process is suggested by the significant clinical and histopathologic overlap between iMCD and lymphoma as well as iMCD patients' increased rate of malignancy compared to age-matched controls [4]. A small study of iMCD patients found monoclonality in the lymph nodes of four out of four cases [16]. Similar to UCD, it is thought that these monoclonal cells were stromal in origin, as this study and others found lymphocytes to be polyclonal [56]. Recently, next-generation sequencing of 405 cancer genes identified a somatic DNA (cytosine-5)-methyltransferase 3A—DNMT3A (L295Q) mutation in the lymph node tissue of an iMCD-TAFRO patient [57]. While this result is promising, further research is needed to explore the role of this mutation in iMCD pathogenesis.

Etiology: Pathogen Hypothesis

Lastly, iMCD has significant clinical and histopathologic overlap with HHV-8associated MCD, suggesting that iMCD may be due to previously undetected HHV-8 infection, infection with a different known pathogen, or infection with a novel pathogen. Several cases have reported evidence of infectious pathogens present in iMCD patient samples, including Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), HHV-6, hepatitis B virus, *cytomegalovirus*, toxoplasma, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [58–63]. To test all aspects of the pathogen hypothesis, a recent study used VirCapSeq [64] technology to look for pathogens in iMCD and UCD cases compared to HHV-8-associated MCD and lymphoma controls. No evidence of HHV-8 infection or novel pathogens was discovered in the iMCD cases; however, Herpesviridae and non-Herpesviridae viruses were inconsistently present in iMCD cases [65]. It is unclear if these infections are involved in iMCD pathogenesis.

Dysregulated Cell Types

Research into iMCD has also sought to identify cell types responsible for driving iMCD pathogenesis. T cells, B cells, plasma cells, monocytes, endothelial cells, and FDCs have been suspected of driving iMCD pathogenesis and/or producing IL-6 [66–70]. Although reports have been inconsistent, evidence for a pathogenic role of B cells in some patients does exist. Proliferation and secretion of autoantibodies by CD5⁺ mantle zone B cell in HIV-negative (HHV-8-unknown) MCD cases and successful treatment of a subset of iMCD patients with B-cell depletion with rituximab support a role for B cells in disease pathogenesis [4, 25]. However, many patients do not respond to rituximab, suggesting other cell types must also be involved [4]. Evidence implicating T cells comes from a review reporting elevated serum soluble IL-2 receptor (sIL2R), which is shed by activated T cells, in 20 of 21 published cases of iMCD; furthermore, iMCD patients have responded to treatment with cyclosporine and sirolimus, immunosuppressants thought to target T cells [4].

Effector Cytokines and Signaling Pathways

A number of cytokines have been implicated in iMCD pathogenesis, particularly IL-6, which was first associated with iMCD in 1989 [69]. IL-6 is the established driver of iMCD pathogenesis in a subset of patients and is important for a number of immune system functions and clinical features observed in iMCD, including increased VEGF secretion, B-cell and plasma-cell maturation, plasmacytosis, hypergammaglobulinemia, and thrombocytosis [31]. Hyper-IL-6-secreting mouse models demonstrate an iMCD-like syndrome, and anti-IL-6 therapy is an effective treatment for these mice [71, 72]. In iMCD patients, symptoms have been shown to be correlated with IL-6 levels [73]; the administration of recombinant IL-6 to cancer patients in a phase I–II trial resulted in iMCD-like clinical features [74]; and treatment with siltuximab, an anti-IL6 monoclonal antibody, is effective in approximately one-third of iMCD patients [75].

While siltuximab is the only Food and Drug Administration (FDA)-approved therapy for iMCD, a significant proportion of patients fail to respond to the drug, suggesting that other cytokines are likely to be involved in the pathogenesis of these cases. Recent serum proteomic analysis of iMCD patients has identified several cytokines of interest beyond IL-6. In a study by Iwaki et al. in 2017, of 16 iMCD patients in flare (11 iMCD-TAFRO and five iMCD-NOS) and 21 healthy controls, there was no statistical difference in IL-6 levels across all three groups. Significant elevations were found in several of the other cytokines assayed, including IL-10, IL-23, and VEGF, which were elevated in both iMCD groups relative to controls, and CXCL10, which was significantly elevated in the iMCD-TAFRO subjects relative to both the iMCD-NOS and healthy control groups [76]. VEGF is of particular interest, as a systematic review of iMCD case reports found elevated VEGF in 16 of 20 cases [4]. Furthermore, elevated VEGF levels may play a role in the capillary

leak syndrome, eruptive cherry hemangiomatosis, and lymph node hypervascularity observed in some iMCD cases [77].

Building on prior proteomics work, Pierson et al. recently performed systematic analysis of 1129 serum analytes in six iMCD patients using paired flare and remission samples. This study found that cytokine and chemokine signaling were the most upregulated pathways during disease flares, with significantly more upregulated chemokines than interleukins and other cytokines. CXCL13 (B lymphocyte chemoattractant) was found to be the most upregulated cytokine across all patients in flare, and lymph node CXCL13 immunohistochemistry demonstrated increased germinal center staining in a mesh-like pattern in iMCD subjects compared to controls. This mesh-like pattern of germinal center staining may represent FDCs, which produce CXCL13 to attract B cells to germinal centers as part of B cell maturation [30].

Serum proteomics has also helped to identify intracellular signaling pathways potentially involved in iMCD, with the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt/mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) signaling pathways being enriched among the most up and downregulated plasma proteins during iMCD flares [30]. Of particular interest for treatment, many of the compounds expected to counteract the most upregulated proteins observed in iMCD target PI3K and/or mTOR. A role for the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway in iMCD pathogenesis and its potential as a therapeutic target is suggested by a case report of a treatment refractory iMCD-TAFRO patient who has experienced prolonged remission with the mTOR inhibitor sirolimus [78]. Additional work is needed to uncover the etiology and pathogenesis of iMCD and to identify effective treatments for siltuximab-refractory patients.

11.2.3 Future Directions

This chapter presents our current understanding of the clinical features and pathogenesis for each subtype of CD as of 2018. CD is a poorly understood inflammatory disorder that can often present with fevers and other systemic symptoms. We anticipate significant progress to be made thanks to the pipeline of research studies being led by the CDCN (www.cdcn.org/research-pipeline), including the ACCELERATE Natural History Registry (www.CDCN.org/ACCELERATE), which is open for patient self-enrollment.

Disclosure D.F. received research funding from Janssen Pharmaceuticals. D.K. has nothing to disclose.

References

- 1. Castleman B. CASE records of the Massachusetts General Hospital weekly clinicopathological exercises: case 40011. N Engl J Med. 1954;250:26–30.
- Castleman B, Iverson L, Menendez VP. Localized mediastinal lymphnode hyperplasia resembling thymoma. Cancer. 1956;9:822–30.

- Gaba AR, Stein RS, Sweet DL, Variakojis D. Multicentric giant lymph node hyperplasia. Am J Clin Pathol. 1978;69:86–90.
- Liu AY, Nabel CS, Finkelman BS, Ruth JR, Kurzrock R, van Rhee F, Krymskaya VP, Kelleher D, Rubenstein AH, Fajgenbaum DC. Idiopathic multicentric Castleman's disease: a systematic literature review. Lancet Haematol. 2016;3:e163–75.
- Talat N, Schulte K-M. Castleman's disease: systematic analysis of 416 patients from the literature. Oncologist. 2011;16:1316–24.
- Fajgenbaum DC, Uldrick TS, Bagg A, et al. International, evidence-based consensus diagnostic criteria for HHV-8-negative/idiopathic multicentric Castleman disease. Blood. 2017;129:1646–57.
- Casper C. The aetiology and management of Castleman disease at 50 years: translating pathophysiology to patient care. Br J Haematol. 2005;129:3–17.
- Oksenhendler E, Duarte M, Soulier J, Cacoub P, Welker Y, Cadranel J, Cazals-Hatem D, Autran B, Clauvel JP, Raphael M. Multicentric Castleman's disease in HIV infection: a clinical and pathological study of 20 patients. AIDS. 1996;10:61–7.
- Dispenzieri A. POEMS syndrome and Castleman's disease. In: Zimmerman T, Kumar S, editors. Biology and management of unusual plasma cell dyscrasias. New York, NY: Springer; 2017. p. 41–69.
- Iwaki N, Fajgenbaum DC, Nabel CS, et al. Clinicopathologic analysis of TAFRO syndrome demonstrates a distinct subtype of HHV-8-negative multicentric Castleman disease. Am J Hematol. 2016;91:220–6.
- 11. Szalat R, Munshi NC. Diagnosis of Castleman disease. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. 2018;32:53–64.
- 12. Waterston A, Bower M. Fifty years of multicentric Castleman's disease. Acta Oncol. 2004;43:698–704.
- Kaplan I, Hodak E, Ackerman L, Mimouni D, Anhalt GJ, Calderon S. Neoplasms associated with paraneoplastic pemphigus: a review with emphasis on non-hematologic malignancy and oral mucosal manifestations. Oral Oncol. 2004;40:553–62.
- Dong Y, Wang M, Nong L, et al. Clinical and laboratory characterization of 114 cases of Castleman disease patients from a single centre: paraneoplastic pemphigus is an unfavourable prognostic factor. Br J Haematol. 2015;169:834–42.
- Talat N, Belgaumkar AP, Schulte K-M. Surgery in Castleman's disease: a systematic review of 404 published cases. Ann Surg. 2012;255:677–84.
- Chang K-C, Wang Y-C, Hung L-Y, Huang W-T, Tsou J-H, M Jones D, Song H-L, Yeh Y-M, Kao L-Y, Medeiros LJ. Monoclonality and cytogenetic abnormalities in hyaline vascular Castleman disease. Mod Pathol. 2014;27:823–31.
- Chen W-C, Jones D, Ho C-L, Cheng C-N, Tseng J-Y, Tsai H-P, Chang K-C. Cytogenetic anomalies in hyaline vascular Castleman disease: report of two cases with reappraisal of histogenesis. Cancer Genet Cytogenet. 2006;164:110–7.
- Cokelaere K, Debiec-Rychter M, De Wolf-Peeters C, Hagemeijer A, Sciot R. Hyaline vascular Castleman's disease with HMGIC rearrangement in follicular dendritic cells: molecular evidence of mesenchymal tumorigenesis. Am J Surg Pathol. 2002;26:662–9.
- Pauwels P, Dal Cin P, Vlasveld LT, Aleva RM, van Erp WF, Jones D. A chromosomal abnormality in hyaline vascular Castleman's disease: evidence for clonal proliferation of dysplastic stromal cells. Am J Surg Pathol. 2000;24:882–8.
- Reichard KK, Robinett S, Foucar MK. Clonal cytogenetic abnormalities in the plasma cell variant of Castleman disease. Cancer Genet. 2011;204:323–7.
- Legras A, Tallet A, Didelot A, et al. Clinical and molecular characteristics of unicentric mediastinal Castleman disease. J Thorac Dis. 2018;10:2079–88.
- 22. Lehman VT, Barrick BJ, Pittelkow MR, Peller PJ, Camilleri MJ, Lehman JS. Diagnostic imaging in paraneoplastic autoimmune multiorgan syndrome: retrospective single site study and literature review of 225 patients. Int J Dermatol. 2015;54:424–37.
- Leslie C, Shingde M, Kwok F, Platten M, Tesfai Y, Amanuel B, Spagnolo DV. T-lymphoblastic proliferation and florid multifocal follicular dendritic cell proliferation occurring in hyaline-

vascular Castleman disease in a patient with a possible familial predisposition. J Hematopathol. 2013;6:237–44.

- Martin C, Peña ML, Angulo F, García F, Vaca D, Serrano R. Castleman's disease in identical twins. Virchows Arch A Pathol Anat Histol. 1982;395:77–85.
- 25. Menke DM, Tiemann M, Camoriano JK, Chang SF, Madan A, Chow M, Habermann TM, Parwaresch R. Diagnosis of Castleman's disease by identification of an immunophenotypically aberrant population of mantle zone B lymphocytes in paraffin-embedded lymph node biopsies. Am J Clin Pathol. 1996;105:268–76.
- Sun X, Chang K-C, Abruzzo LV, Lai R, Younes A, Jones D. Epidermal growth factor receptor expression in follicular dendritic cells: a shared feature of follicular dendritic cell sarcoma and Castleman's disease. Hum Pathol. 2003;34:835–40.
- Vermi W, Lonardi S, Bosisio D, et al. Identification of CXCL13 as a new marker for follicular dendritic cell sarcoma. J Pathol. 2008;216:356–64.
- Aguzzi A, Kranich J, Krautler NJ. Follicular dendritic cells: origin, phenotype, and function in health and disease. Trends Immunol. 2014;35:105–13.
- Vinzio S, Ciarloni L, Schlienger J-L, Rohr S, Méchine A, Goichot B. Isolated microcytic anemia disclosing a unicentric Castleman disease: the interleukin-6/hepcidin pathway? Eur J Intern Med. 2008;19:367–9.
- 30. Pierson SK, Stonestrom AJ, Shilling D, et al. Plasma proteomics identifies a "chemokine storm" in idiopathic multicentric Castleman disease. Am J Hematol. 2018;93:902–12.
- 31. Kishimoto T. IL-6: from its discovery to clinical applications. Int Immunol. 2010;22:347-52.
- Chang Y, Cesarman E, Pessin MS, Lee F, Culpepper J, Knowles DM, Moore PS. Identification of herpesvirus-like DNA sequences in AIDS-associated Kaposi's sarcoma. Science. 1994;266:1865–9.
- Dossier A, Meignin V, Fieschi C, Boutboul D, Oksenhendler E, Galicier L. Human herpesvirus 8-related Castleman disease in the absence of HIV infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56:833–42.
- 34. Mylona EE, Baraboutis IG, Lekakis LJ, Georgiou O, Papastamopoulos V, Skoutelis A. Multicentric Castleman's disease in HIV infection: a systematic review of the literature. AIDS Rev. 2008;10:25–35.
- 35. Dupin N, Diss TL, Kellam P, Tulliez M, Du MQ, Sicard D, Weiss RA, Isaacson PG, Boshoff C. HHV-8 is associated with a plasmablastic variant of Castleman disease that is linked to HHV-8-positive plasmablastic lymphoma. Blood. 2000;95:1406–12.
- Suda T, Katano H, Delsol G, Kakiuchi C, Nakamura T, Shiota M, Sata T, Higashihara M, Mori S. HHV-8 infection status of AIDS-unrelated and AIDS-associated multicentric Castleman's disease. Pathol Int. 2001;51:671–9.
- Bower M, Newsom-Davis T, Naresh K, Merchant S, Lee B, Gazzard B, Stebbing J, Nelson M. Clinical features and outcome in HIV-associated multicentric Castleman's disease. J Clin Oncol. 2011;29:2481–6.
- Guihot A, Oksenhendler E, Galicier L, et al. Multicentric Castleman disease is associated with polyfunctional effector memory HHV-8-specific CD8+ T cells. Blood. 2008;111:1387–95.
- Uldrick TS, Polizzotto MN, Yarchoan R. Recent advances in Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirusassociated multicentric Castleman disease. Curr Opin Oncol. 2012;24:495–505.
- 40. An J, Sun Y, Sun R, Rettig MB. Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus encoded vFLIP induces cellular IL-6 expression: the role of the NF-kappaB and JNK/AP1 pathways. Oncogene. 2003;22:3371–85.
- 41. Punj V, Matta H, Schamus S, Chaudhary PM. Integrated microarray and multiplex cytokine analyses of Kaposi's sarcoma associated herpesvirus viral FLICE inhibitory protein K13 affected genes and cytokines in human blood vascular endothelial cells. BMC Med Genet. 2009;2:50.
- Polizzotto MN, Uldrick TS, Wang V, et al. Human and viral interleukin-6 and other cytokines in Kaposi sarcoma herpesvirus-associated multicentric Castleman disease. Blood. 2013;122:4189–98.
- 43. Mihara M, Hashizume M, Yoshida H, Suzuki M, Shiina M. IL-6/IL-6 receptor system and its role in physiological and pathological conditions. Clin Sci. 2012;122:143–59.

- Suthaus J, Adam N, Grötzinger J, Scheller J, Rose-John S. Viral interleukin-6: structure, pathophysiology and strategies of neutralization. Eur J Cell Biol. 2011;90:495–504.
- Dispenzieri A, Kyle RA, Lacy MQ, et al. POEMS syndrome: definitions and long-term outcome. Blood. 2003;101:2496–506.
- 46. Bélec L, Mohamed AS, Authier FJ, Hallouin MC, Soe AM, Cotigny S, Gaulard P, Gherardi RK. Human herpesvirus 8 infection in patients with POEMS syndrome-associated multicentric Castleman's disease. Blood. 1999;93:3643–53.
- 47. D'Souza A, Hayman SR, Buadi F, et al. The utility of plasma vascular endothelial growth factor levels in the diagnosis and follow-up of patients with POEMS syndrome. Blood. 2011;118:4663–5.
- Sekiguchi Y, Misawa S, Shibuya K, et al. Ambiguous effects of anti-VEGF monoclonal antibody (bevacizumab) for POEMS syndrome. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2013;84:1346–8.
- Warsame R, Yanamandra U, Kapoor P. POEMS syndrome: an enigma. Curr Hematol Malig Rep. 2017;12:85–95.
- Fajgenbaum DC, van Rhee F, Nabel CS. HHV-8-negative, idiopathic multicentric Castleman disease: novel insights into biology, pathogenesis, and therapy. Blood. 2014;123:2924–33.
- Kojima M, Motoori T, Asano S, Nakamura S. Histological diversity of reactive and atypical proliferative lymph node lesions in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. Pathol Res Pract. 2007;203:423–31.
- Kojima M, Motoori T, Nakamura S. Benign, atypical and malignant lymphoproliferative disorders in rheumatoid arthritis patients. Biomed Pharmacother. 2006;60:663–72.
- 53. Van Eyck L, Liston A, Wouters C. Mutant ADA2 in vasculopathies. N Engl J Med. 2014;371:480.
- Dai Y, Zhang W, Wen J, Zhang Y, Kellems RE, Xia Y. A2B adenosine receptor-mediated induction of IL-6 promotes CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2011;22:890–901.
- 55. Stone K, Woods E, Szmania SM, et al. Interleukin-6 receptor polymorphism is prevalent in HIV-negative Castleman disease and is associated with increased soluble interleukin-6 receptor levels. PLoS One. 2013;8:e54610.
- 56. Al-Maghrabi J, Kamel-Reid S, Bailey D. Immunoglobulin and T-cell receptor gene rearrangement in Castleman's disease: molecular genetic analysis. Histopathology. 2006;48:233–8.
- 57. Nagy A, Bhaduri A, Shahmarvand N, Shahryari J, Zehnder JL, Warnke RA, Mughal T, Ali S, Ohgami RS. Next-generation sequencing of idiopathic multicentric and unicentric Castleman disease and follicular dendritic cell sarcomas. Blood Adv. 2018;2:481–91.
- Chen C-H, Liu H-C, Hung T-T, Liu T-P. Possible roles of Epstein-Barr virus in Castleman disease. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2009;4:31.
- Barozzi P, Luppi M, Masini L, Marasca R, Savarino M, Morselli M, Ferrari MG, Bevini M, Bonacorsi G, Torelli G. Lymphotropic herpes virus (EBV, HHV-6, HHV-8) DNA sequences in HIV negative Castleman's disease. Clin Mol Pathol. 1996;49:M232–5.
- 60. Bowne WB, Lewis JJ, Filippa DA, Niesvizky R, Brooks AD, Burt ME, Brennan MF. The management of unicentric and multicentric Castleman's disease: a report of 16 cases and a review of the literature. Cancer. 1999;85:706–17.
- Jones EL, Crocker J, Gregory J, Guibarra M, Curran RC. Angiofollicular lymph node hyperplasia (Castleman's disease): an immunohistochemical and enzyme-histochemical study of the hyaline-vascular form of lesion. J Pathol. 1984;144:131–47.
- 62. Yuan X-G, Chen F-F, Zhu Y-M, Hu W, Zhao X-Y, Jin J. High prevalence of hepatitis B virus infection in HIV-negative Castleman's disease. Ann Hematol. 2012;91:857–61.
- 63. Murray PG, Deacon E, Young LS, Barletta JM, Mann RB, Ambinder RF, Rowlands DC, Jones EL, Ramsay AD, Crocker J. Localization of Epstein-Barr virus in Castleman's disease by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. Hematol Pathol. 1995;9:17–26.
- 64. Briese T, Kapoor A, Mishra N, Jain K, Kumar A, Jabado OJ, Lipkin WI. Virome capture sequencing enables sensitive viral diagnosis and comprehensive virome analysis. MBio. 2015;6:e01491–15.

- 65. Nabel CS, Sameroff S, Shilling D, et al. Virome capture sequencing in Castleman disease identifies associations with Herpesviridae family members but no novel viruses. Blood. 2017;130:3589.
- 66. Post GR, Bell RC, Rjoop A, Lobo RH, Yuan Y, Post SR. Diagnostic utility of interleukin-6 expression by immunohistochemistry in differentiating Castleman disease subtypes and reactive lymphadenopathies. Ann Clin Lab Sci. 2016;46:474–9.
- 67. Lai Y, Li M, Liu C, Huang X, Yu G, Wang X, Sun L, Chen J, Gao Z. Expression of interleukin-6 and its clinicopathological significance in Castleman's disease. Zhonghua Xue Ye Xue Za Zhi. 2013;34:404–8.
- Leger-Ravet MB, Peuchmaur M, Devergne O, Audouin J, Raphael M, Van Damme J, Galanaud P, Diebold J, Emilie D. Interleukin-6 gene expression in Castleman's disease. Blood. 1991;78:2923–30.
- Yoshizaki K, Matsuda T, Nishimoto N, Kuritani T, Taeho L, Aozasa K, Nakahata T, Kawai H, Tagoh H, Komori T. Pathogenic significance of interleukin-6 (IL-6/BSF-2) in Castleman's disease. Blood. 1989;74:1360–7.
- Yu L, Tu M, Cortes J, et al. Clinical and pathological characteristics of HIV- and HHV-8negative Castleman disease. Blood. 2017;129:1658–68.
- Alonzi T, Gorgoni B, Screpanti I, Gulino A, Poli V. Interleukin-6 and CAAT/enhancer binding protein beta-deficient mice act as tools to dissect the IL-6 signalling pathway and IL-6 regulation. Immunobiology. 1997;198:144–56.
- Brandt SJ, Bodine DM, Dunbar CE, Nienhuis AW. Dysregulated interleukin 6 expression produces a syndrome resembling Castleman's disease in mice. J Clin Invest. 1990;86:592–9.
- 73. van Rhee F, Stone K, Szmania S, Barlogie B, Singh Z. Castleman disease in the 21st century: an update on diagnosis, assessment, and therapy. Clin Adv Hematol Oncol. 2010;8:486–98.
- 74. van Gameren MM, Willemse PH, Mulder NH, Limburg PC, Groen HJ, Vellenga E, de Vries EG. Effects of recombinant human interleukin-6 in cancer patients: a phase I–II study. Blood. 1994;84:1434–41.
- 75. van Rhee F, Wong RS, Munshi N, et al. Siltuximab for multicentric Castleman's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014;15:966–74.
- 76. Iwaki N, Gion Y, Kondo E, et al. Elevated serum interferon γ-induced protein 10 kDa is associated with TAFRO syndrome. Sci Rep. 2017;7:42316.
- 77. Fajgenbaum DC, Fajgenbaum D, Rosenbach M, van Rhee F, Nasir A, Reutter J. Eruptive cherry hemangiomatosis associated with multicentric Castleman disease: a case report and diagnostic clue. JAMA Dermatol. 2013;149:204–8.
- Fajgenbaum DC, Shilling D, Partridge HL, et al. Prolonged remission achieved in a relapsing idiopathic multicentric Castleman disease patient with a novel, targeted treatment approach. Blood. 2017;130:3593.



Mevalonate Kinase Deficiency

12

Brigitte Bader-Meunier

Mevalonate kinase deficiency is a rare autosomal recessive autoinflammatory disease caused by loss-of-function mutations in the mevalonate kinase (*MVK*) gene. It consists of an inborn error of cholesterol biosynthesis and comprises a continuous spectrum of clinical manifestations ranging from recurring febrile attacks associated with inflammatory symptoms, known as hyperimmunoglobulinemia D syndrome (HIDS; MIM 260920), to a more severe form, known as mevalonic aciduria (MVA; MIM 251170), presenting with psychomotor retardation, facial dysmorphia, cataract, and failure to thrive in addition to these febrile episodes [1]. Considering that serum levels of immunoglobulin D are not always increased in these diseases, the name "mevalonate kinase deficiency (MKD)" should now be preferred to "HIDS."

12.1 Pathogenesis

Mevalonate kinase deficiency (MKD) results from loss-of-function mutations in the MVK gene [2]. The encoded protein mevalonate kinase (MVK) is a key enzyme in the mevalonate pathway, producing cholesterol and a number of nonsterol isoprenoids, including geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate. The deficiency of mevalonate kinase results in the depletion of geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate, which has been reported to induce IL-1 β release in myeloid cells [3]. Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that the depletion in geranylgeranyl pyrophosphate leads to RhoA inactivation, which induces pyrin inflammasome activation [4]. Thus, the role of the pyrin inflammasome is essential in the pathogenesis of MKD and results in a constitutive IL-1 β

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

229

B. Bader-Meunier (⊠)

Department of Paediatric Immunology-Haematology and Rheumatology, Necker University Hospital – AP-HP, Paris, France e-mail: brigitte.bader-meunier@aphp.fr

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_12

release from peripheral blood mononuclear cells patients. IL1 β is a potent inflammatory cytokine that is produced in a two-step process: induction of pro-IL1B and activation of the inflammasome, which is necessary for the conversion of pro-caspase-1 to caspase-1 that cleaves pro-IL1 β into its mature form. The increased production of interleukin-1 β in patients with MKD represents a putative link between mevalonate kinase deficiency and inflammation [5].

12.2 Clinical Manifestations

The main clinical characteristics of febrile attacks have been reported in three large series of HIDS patients [6–8]. The majority of reported patients are European or of European ancestry with the largest cluster in the Netherlands and Western Europe. However, MKD may also occur in patients from Arab descent [7]. The median age at disease onset is about 6 months, and MKD manifests usually within the first 2 years of life. Hydrops fetalis may be the revealing manifestation in neonates [9]. Attacks usually last 4–7 days and are often precipitated by vaccination, infections, minor physical trauma, or stress. Fever is mostly recurrent but may be also continuous in the most severe forms of the disease. Lymphadenopathy (generalized enlargement, cervical lymphadenopathy sometimes painful), mucocutaneous (aphthous stomatitis, exudative pharyngitis, maculopapular, erythematous nodules, or urticarial rash), gastrointestinal (GI) (abdominal pain, diarrhea, and vomiting), and joint (arthralgia, arthritis, and myalgia) symptoms are some more common manifestations during febrile attacks. Skin biopsy may show mild features of vasculitis, and nonspecific findings such as Sweet-like or cellulitis-like features. Neurological (headaches, irritability, cerebellar syndrome, mental retardation, or aseptic meningitis) and ocular involvement (uveitis, conjunctivitis, and cataract), hepatomegaly, splenomegaly, and pericarditis may also occur. Some additional severe manifestations are also reported. Severe GI manifestations consist in aseptic peritonitis, gastrointestinal bleeding, intestinal occlusion, gut perforation, abdominal adhesions, gastrointestinal ulcers, and perianal ulcers. MKD was also described in two patients with neonatal-onset severe ulcerative colitis and in older children or adults presenting with inflammatory bowel disease [7, 10]. Thus, IBD-like symptoms seem to be part of the clinical phenotype of MKD. Severe musculoskeletal manifestations comprise flexion contractures, bone deformity, bone erosion, persistent arthritis, osteitis, or osteolytic lesions [7, 8]. Fatal ischemic stroke and cerebral hemorrhage of unknown origin were also reported in adults [6, 11]. Retinitis pigmentosa has been described previously as a rare and severe complication of MKD. In a large cohort of adults with isolated retinitis pigmentosa, three patients had homozygous mutations in the MVK gene [12]. However, two of these patients reported recurrent febrile episodes during childhood and had current mild symptoms that could be related to MKD. Finally, MKD may be complicated by a macrophage activation syndrome [7, 8, 13], a life-threatening complication requiring an urgent treatment.

MKD leads to chronic involvement in a few patients: cholestatic liver disease [7, 14], dyserythropoiesis [14], glomerular disease (crescentic glomerulonephritis and

membranoproliferative nephritis) [7], interstitial pneumonitis [7], and chronic polyarthritis [15]. The reports of severe and/or recurrent bacterial infections, especially pneumococcal infections in the French series [7], of death of one patient among the cohort of van der Hilst et al. due to pneumococcal sepsis [6], and of recurrent pneumonia and fatal meningococcal sepsis in two out of 15 MKD Italian patients [16] support a possible link between MKD and immunodeficiencies. The mevalonate pathway is essential for the survival of *Streptococcus pneumoniae* in the lungs and serum, and the increase in mevalonate content of plasma resulting from MKD might favor the persistence of *S. pneumoniae* in patients with MKD. As a result, from these findings, immunization against *Streptococcus pneumoniae* has to be strongly recommended in patients with MKD.

12.3 Diagnosis

During febrile attacks, nonspecific elevated white blood cell (WBC) count, C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations, and erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) were reported. Immunoglobulin A level is also often elevated. Urinary mevalonic acid levels are increased during febrile attacks in most of the patients with MKD and generally correlate with disease severity. MKD seems very unlikely in patients with normal mevalonic acid excretion, but it cannot be excluded completely [17]. However, given the possibility of false-negative results (due to inherent variation in the sensitivity of different assay methodologies), experts concluded that detection of urinary mevalonic acid is not mandatory before genetic testing [18]. The diagnostic value of IgD was assessed in a prospective cohort of patients with recurrent fever and symptoms suggestive of MKD and was found to be disappointing: sensitivity 79%, specificity 27%, positive predictive value 50%, and negative predictive value 58% [19]. Thus, serum IgD is not a reliable diagnostic marker for MKD and therefore should not be used to determine the need for genetic testing for MVK mutations [18]. In all the cases, genetic testing for MVK mutation must confirm the diagnosis of MKD. The Infevers database (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/) was established in 2002 to provide investigators with access to a central source of information about all sequence variants associated with genes connected with autoinflammatory diseases (AID). An experts' consensus was obtained in 2018 on the clinical significance of MVK gene variants [20]. p.Val3771le is the most frequent mutation [6-8]. There is no clear correlation between genotype and phenotype [7].

12.4 Treatment

The objectives of treatment of the AID are to control the disease activity early and rapidly, to prevent any disease- and treatment-related damage, to enable participation in daily activities, and to improve health-related quality of life [18]. Management of patients with AID should ideally be guided by a multidisciplinary team in a tertiary center with expertise in AID, with access to genetic counseling.

Recommendations for the management of patients with MKD have been published in 2015 [18].

Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) may provide symptom relief during inflammatory attacks. Short-term glucocorticoids, with or without NSAIDs, may be effective for alleviating inflammatory attacks in mild MKD. On-demand IL-1 blockade by anakinra may be effective for decreasing the duration and severity of fever attacks and should be considered to limit or prevent steroid side effects [21]. With frequent attacks and/or subclinical inflammation between attacks, maintenance therapy with IL-1 blockade [6-8, 22-25] or etanercept [5–7, 26, 27] is recommended and may limit corticosteroid exposure. Canakinumab has been shown to be effective and well tolerated in controlling and preventing flares in patients with MKD in a randomized trial (canakinumab versus placebo) [24]: 57% of the 72 patients with MKD enrolled in the trial had a complete response [defined as resolution of the baseline flare at day 15 (Physician Global Assessment (PGA)) score of <2 plus CRP level of $\leq 10 \text{ mg/L}$ or a reduction by $\geq 70\%$ from baseline] and no new flare (PGA score of ≥ 2 and CRP level of ≥ 30 mg/L) until week 16. If one IL-1 blocking agent at adequate dose is ineffective or intolerable, a switch to another IL-1 blocking agent or another biological agent (including TNF-α blockade or IL-6 blockade) should be considered [18]. Likewise, if TNF- α blockade is ineffective or intolerable, a switch to another biological agent (including an IL-1 or IL-6 blocking agent) should be considered. In selected cases with severe refractory disease with poor quality of life, referral to a specialist center for consideration of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation is recommended [28, 29]. Colchicine or statins are not efficacious.

Anti-IL1 blockade may be effective for treating some chronic MKD-associated manifestations, such as erosive polyarthritis [14] and inflammatory bowel disease [10]. Finally, the possibility of macrophage activation syndrome and of severe infections, requiring urgent treatments, should be kept in mind by physicians.

Monitoring in all patients with MKD should include general physical examination with growth and development charts, complete blood count, and inflammatory parameters, such as CRP and serum amyloid protein (SAA), urinalysis for proteinuria and hematuria, ophthalmological examination, and a tool impact of disease on well-being, functioning, and social participation [18].

12.5 Outcome

The incidence of AA amyloidosis is lower than that of other autoinflammatory syndromes. However, it may develop in a few patients [8, 30] and must be regularly searched for. In the Eurofever registry, AA amyloidosis was diagnosed in five out of 114 patients with a median disease duration before the diagnosis of amyloidosis of 23 years (range 8–37 years) [7].

In a subset of patients, the frequency of recurrent febrile attacks gradually decreases with time [6-8, 31]. However, disease activity remained high in other

patients either because of frequent febrile attacks or because of persistent organ involvement, such as polyarthritis and inflammatory bowel disease. In the French series, no significant difference was found between the group with persistently high disease activity or death as compared to the group whose disease activity decreased over time, regarding mean age at disease onset (8.2 months versus 12.2 months), and percentages of patients carrying the p.Val377Ile mutation. MKD-related death has been reported in three patients at the age of 2–3 years—two patients died of multiple organ failure and one patient died of staphylococcal sepsis associated with macrophage activation syndrome [31].

In conclusion, MKD has a broad spectrum of manifestations. It is not only an autoinflammatory syndrome but also a multisystemic inflammatory disorder and a possible immunodeficiency.

References

- Haas D, Hoffmann GF. Mevalonate kinase deficiencies: from mevalonic aciduria to hyperimmunoglobulinemia D syndrome. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2006;1:13–7.
- Drenth JP, Cuisset L, Grateau G, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding mevalonate kinase cause hyper-IgD and periodic fever syndrome. International Hyper-IgD Study Group. Nat Genet. 1999;22(2):178–81.
- Kuijk LM, Beekman JM, Koster J, et al. HMG-CoA reductase inhibition induces IL-1beta release through Rac1/PI3K/PKB-dependent caspase-1 activation. Blood. 2008;112(9):3563–73.
- 4. Park YH, Wood G, Kastner DL, et al. Pyrin inflammasome activation and RhoA signaling in the autoinflammatory diseases FMF and HIDS. Nat Immunol. 2016;17(8):914–21.
- Normand S, Massonnet B, Delwail A, et al. Specific increase in caspase-1 activity and secretion of IL-1 family cytokines: a putative link between mevalonate kinase deficiency and inflammation. Eur Cytokine Netw. 2009;20(3):101–7.
- van der Hilst JC, Bodar EJ, Barron KS, et al. Long-term follow-up, clinical features, and quality of life in a series of 103 patients with hyperimmunoglobulinemia D syndrome. Medicine (Baltimore). 2008;87(6):301–10.
- Bader-Meunier B, Florkin B, Sibilia J, et al. Mevalonate kinase deficiency: a survey of 50 patients. Pediatrics. 2011;128(1):e152–7.
- TerHaar NM, Jeyaratnam J, Lachmann HJ, et al. The phenotype and genotype of mevalonate kinase deficiency: a series of 114 cases from the Eurofever Registry. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2016;68(11):2795–805.
- 9. Peciuliene S, Burnyte B, Gudaitiene R, et al. Perinatal manifestation of mevalonate kinase deficiency and efficacy of anakinra. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2016;14(1):19.
- Levy M, Arion A, Berrebi D, et al. Severe early-onset colitis revealing mevalonate kinase deficiency. Pediatrics. 2013;132(3):e779–83.
- Simon A, Kremer HP, Wevers RA, et al. Mevalonate kinase deficiency: evidence for a phenotypic continuum. Neurology. 2004;62(6):994–7.
- Siemiatkowska AM, van den Born LI, van Hagen PM, et al. Mutations in the mevalonate kinase (MVK) gene cause nonsyndromic retinitis pigmentosa. Ophthalmology. 2013;120(12):2697–705.
- Rigante D, Capoluongo E, Bertoni B, et al. First report of macrophage activation syndrome in hyperimmunoglobulinemia D with periodic fever syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(2):658–61.
- Hinson DD, Rogers ZR, Hoffmann GF, et al. Hematological abnormalities and cholestatic liver disease in two patients with mevalonate kinase deficiency. Am J Med Genet. 1998;78(5):408–12.

- 15. Lequerré T, Vittecoq O, Pouplin S, et al. Mevalonate kinase deficiency syndrome with structural damage responsive to anakinra. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(12):1860–2.
- 16. D'Osualdo A, Picco P, Caroli F, et al. MVK mutations and associated clinical features in Italian patients affected with autoinflammatory disorders and recurrent fever. Eur J Hum Genet. 2005;13(3):314–20.
- Jeyaratnam J, Ter Haar NM, de Sain-van der Velden MG, et al. Diagnostic value of urinary mevalonic acid excretion in patients with a clinical suspicion of mevalonate kinase deficiency (MKD). JIMD Rep. 2016;27:33–8.
- terHaar NM, Oswald M, Jeyaratnam J, et al. Recommendations for the management of autoinflammatory diseases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(9):1636–4.
- Ammouri W, Cuisset L, Rouaghe S, et al. Diagnostic value of serum immunoglobulinaemia D level in patients with a clinical suspicion of hyper IgD syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(10):1597–600.
- Van Gijn ME, Ceccherini I, Shinar Y, et al. New workflow for classification of genetic variants' pathogenicity applied to hereditary recurrent fevers by the International Study Group for Systemic Autoinflammatory Diseases (INSAID). J Med Genet. 2018;55(8):530–7.
- Bodar EJ, Kuijk LM, Drenth JP, et al. On-demand anakinra treatment is effective in mevalonate kinase deficiency. Ann Rheum Dis. 2011;70(12):2155–8.
- Galeotti C, Meinzer U, Quartier P, et al. Efficacy of interleukin-1-targeting drugs in mevalonate kinase deficiency. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2012;51(10):1855–9.
- 23. Deshayes S, Georgin-Lavialle S, Hot A, et al. Efficacy of continuous interleukin 1 blockade in mevalonate kinase deficiency: a multicenter retrospective study in 13 adult patients and literature review. J Rheumatol. 2018;45(3):425–42.
- 24. De Benedetti F, Gattorno M, Anton J, Ben-Chetrit E, et al. Canakinumab for the treatment of autoinflammatory recurrent fever syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(20):1908–19.
- 25. Arostegui JI, Anton J, Calvo I, et al. Open-label, phase II study to assess the efficacy and safety of canakinumab treatment in active hyperimmunoglobulinemia D with periodic fever syndrome. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2017;69(8):1679–88.
- 26. Takada K, Aksentijevich I, Mahadevan V, et al. Favorable preliminary experience with etanercept in two patients with the hyperimmunoglobulinemia D and periodic fever syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(9):2645–51.
- Demirkaya E, Caglar MK, Waterham HR, et al. A patient with hyper-IgD syndrome responding to anti-TNF treatment. Clin Rheumatol. 2007;26(10):1757–9.
- Neven B, Valayannopoulos V, Quartier P, et al. Allogeneic bone marrow transplantation in mevalonic aciduria. N Engl J Med. 2007;356(26):2700–3.
- 29. Giardino S, Lanino E, Morreale G, Madeo A, Di Rocco M, Gattorno M, Faraci M. Longterm outcome of a successful cord blood stem cell transplant in mevalonate kinase deficiency. Pediatrics. 2015;135(1):e211–5.
- Lachmann HJ, Goodman HJ, Andrews PA, et al. AA amyloidosis complicating hyperimmunoglobulinemia D with periodic fever syndrome: a report of two cases. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(6):2010–4.
- Zhang S. Natural history of mevalonate kinase deficiency: a literature review. Pediatr Rheumatol Online J. 2016;14(1):30.



Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor-Associated Periodic Syndrome (TRAPS)

13

Charalampia Papadopoulou and Helen J. Lachmann

13.1 Introduction

Tumor necrosis factor receptor periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS) is an autosomal dominant autoinflammatory syndrome. It is rare with an estimated prevalence of 1–2 per million and an estimated incidence of 1/1,785,000 in children aged 16 years in Germany [1, 2]. It was first described in 1982 as familial Hibernian fever, as the first reported cases were predominantly of Irish ancestry [3]. Since then, it has been reported in multiple ethnic groups, although the reported cases remain largely Caucasian. The name TRAPS was coined with the discovery that mutations in the *tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily 1A (TNFRSF1A)* gene, encoding the TNF receptor 1 are causative [4]. Nonfamilial cases have been reported [5], and genetic studies of families of affected individuals have detected asymptomatic carriers, suggesting variable penetrance [6].

Both sexes are affected with a reported male-to-female ratio of 3:2 [7]. The age of disease onset ranges widely from the neonatal period to adults over the sixth decade of age [8]. The median age of disease onset is 3 years [9], while onset in adult life is reported in about 20% in some studies [8, 10]. Lachmann et al., in a large series of 158 cases, reported a median age of diagnosis of 25.9 years with a median delay in diagnosis of 10.3 years, reflecting the diversity of clinical symptoms and diagnostic challenges [9].

C. Papadopoulou

235

Infection, Inflammation and Rheumatology Section, UCL Great Ormond Street Institute of Child Health, London, UK

Great Ormond Street Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, London, UK e-mail: sejjcp6@ucl.ac.uk

H. J. Lachmann (🖂)

National Amyloidosis Centre and Centre for Acute Phase Proteins, Division of Medicine, Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust, University College London, London, UK e-mail: h.lachmann@ucl.ac.uk

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_13

13.2 Genetics

TRAPS is caused by a mutation in the *tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily IA* (TNFRSF1A) gene (OMIM*191190) located on chromosome 12. It encodes for the TNF receptor 1 (=55 kDa TNF receptor) and was identified in 1999 [4]. The disease is inherited in an autosomal dominant mode, although the variable penetrance and de novo mutations often complicate the pattern of inheritance. More than 140 different disease-causing mutations have been found in TRAPS (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infever). Approximately 40% of mutations are specific to an individual or family with TRAPS, and with advances in genetic testing techniques, new variants are constantly found. A recent consensus paper looked at 147 reported gene variants in TNFRSF1A and concluded that only 29% were clearly disease causing, 1% were benign, and the others were much more challenging to interpret [11]. Two low penetrance mutations, c.362G>A (R92Q) and c.224C>T (P46L), can be associated with symptoms, usually with a milder phenotype and low risk of developing amyloidosis. Interpretation of the significance of these variants needs to be done in clinical context, as they are extremely common and observed in 2% and 10% of Caucasians and Africans, respectively, and the vast majority carriers are healthy [12]. Most of the known pathogenic mutations are single-nucleotide missense mutations occurring within exons 2–4 [9] and 6; deletions and deletion/insertion variants have also been reported in the extracellular domain [13]. Mutations resulting in the substitution of a cysteine in TNFR1, which accounts for approximately 50% of reported mutations, have been suggested to be associated with more severe clinical symptoms and increased risk of AA amyloidosis [5]. Other genetic variants affect proline residues (P46L, L67P, S86P, and R92P) or hydrogen bonding within the receptor (T50M, I170N) [14]. Recently, two cases of TNFRSF1A mosaicism have been described [15, 16]. Interestingly, when patients with high-penetrance mutations were compared with patients with low-penetrance mutations, a delay in disease onset along with the absence of the commonest TRAPS manifestations was observed [17].

13.3 Pathogenesis

TNF- α binds to both TNF receptors I and II and is a key player in TNF mediated diseases [18]. TNFRI is expressed in most cell types while TNFRII is typically found on immune and endothelial cells [19]. When TRAPS was first described, reduced cleavage of the extracellular domain of the TNF receptor was found leading to decreased concentration of soluble TNF receptor in serum [4]. However, it is now known that this occurs in only some of the TRAPS mutations and thus cannot fully explain the disease pathogenesis. More recent theories focus on aberrant folding of the extracellular domain of the mutant TNF receptor 1 leading to retention within the endoplasmic reticulum [20] causing intracellular stress, overproduction of reactive oxygen species, and hyper-responsiveness to LPS [21]. Enhanced generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species might then stimulate the inflammatory cascade by activating the NLRP3 inflammasome and generating IL-1 [22]. Gene

expression studies suggest that active diseases is associated with increased expression of TNFRSF1A itself, MAPK14, NFKB1, MMP9, and IL-1 beta, as well as genes involved in the TLR signaling pathway. Effective treatment with canakinumab resulted in a dramatic change toward expression patterns seen in healthy controls and induction of neutrophil apoptosis [2]. Despite the recent advances in understanding the pathogenesis of TRAPS, diseases associated with common polymorphisms and mutation negative cases with symptoms highly suggestive of TRAPS highlight that other as-yet known mechanisms may be involved into disease pathogenesis and need to be further elucidated [23].

13.4 Clinical Manifestations

TRAPS is characterized by a wide and heterogeneous range of clinical manifestations. Age of disease onset, attack severity and duration, and accompanied symptoms differ substantially between patients. There is little evidence of robust genotype–phenotype correlation, perhaps reflecting the broad range of identified mutations and their penetrance. The largest published series found no difference in clinical manifestations between patients with childhood or adulthood disease onset and little difference between disease in the pediatric and adult age groups, with only cervical lymphadenopathy, abdominal pain, and periorbital edema more commonly reported in children and chest pain in adults [9].

13.4.1 Systemic Symptoms

In contrast to the other hereditary autoinflammatory syndromes, TRAPS is characterized by long episodes (usually >1 week) of fever accompanied by fatigue, irritability, anorexia, weight loss, and poor growth [9]. The attack duration ranges from few days to over a month with a reported average length of 10 days [9]. Fever attacks tend to recur after minor triggers (i.e., physical trauma and physical and emotional stress) or spontaneously [7]. The frequency of attacks ranged from every few weeks up to 10 years between episodes, although some patients are suffering from continuous symptoms with varying intensity. Fever is commonly present in pediatric cases, while there are adult cases reported without febrile episodes [24].

13.4.2 Cutaneous Manifestations

TRAPS skin manifestations are numerous and varied. The most typical presentation is that of a centrifugal erythematous migratory rash accompanied by significant myalgia underlying the affected area. It often starts as painful, warm macules and papules, progressively forming large patches [7, 25]. Other reported skin lesions include erysipelas-like erythema, edematous plaques, and urticaria type of rash [26]. Skin biopsies of TRAPS cases have demonstrated monocytic and lymphocytic

perivascular infiltrate [26], while cases of small vessel vasculitis have also been reported [27].

13.4.3 Musculoskeletal Manifestations

Myalgia is a very common feature of TRAPS, with some reports suggesting its presence in up to 100% of the reported cases [7]. It usually migrates peripherally in conjunction with the skin lesions and is considered to be due to fasciitis, while underlying muscles are not usually affected [28]. During the migration course, joints can be involved with limitation of the joint movement. Arthralgia is one of the major characteristics of TRAPS attacks present in about 75% of the cases. Arthritis is less commonly observed [25, 29] and nonerosive with large joints more commonly affected. Fasciitis is a rare but dramatic manifestation of attacks [30].

13.4.4 Ocular Manifestations

Ocular manifestations are frequent and vary within cases. Conjunctivitis and periorbital edema are frequently seen, while, in contrast with other autoinflammatory syndromes, intraocular inflammation has not been reported [31].

13.4.5 Gastrointestinal Manifestations

Abdominal pain is one of the main characteristics of TRAPS attacks. It may be the result of sterile peritonitis or can reflect inflammation of the abdominal wall muscles [7]. It can be associated with anorexia, nausea, vomiting, constipation, or diarrhea. Owing to the severity of abdominal symptoms, there is an increased rate of acute abdomen misdiagnosis and unnecessary laparotomy/appendectomy [7]. Oral ulceration is reported in approximately 10% of the affected cases [29].

13.4.6 Cardiorespiratory Involvement

Recurrent pericarditis is a common feature of TRAPS reported in about 25% cases in a European cohort of TRAPS patients [9], but it rarely occurs alone [32, 33]. TRAPS should thus be added to the list of potential causes of recurrent pericarditis of undetermined origin [34]. Cantarini et al. [35] reported a 6% presence of *TNFRSF1A* gene mutations in patients with recurrent pericarditis and suggested that a positive family history of periodic fever syndrome, recurrences of pericarditis episodes, poor colchicine response, and the need for immunosuppressive treatment are clues to prompt a search for *TNFRSF1A* gene mutations [35]. Myocarditis can be another presenting symptom [36]. TRAPS patients are thought to be at increased risk of cardiovascular events (i.e., early-onset atherosclerosis, thrombosis, and myocardial infarction) [37] that could be the result of chronic inflammatory process [38]. Further studies are needed to assess the actual risk of cardiovascular complications. Chest pain and difficulty in breathing can be related to musculoskeletal involvement or can be the result of pleurisy. It is reported in 17–53% in different cohorts [7, 9].

13.4.7 Other Manifestations

A broad spectrum of clinical manifestations have been reported in TRAPS patients in a variety of cohorts. Lymphadenopathy, hepatomegaly, and splenomegaly [7, 29] are observed infrequently. Testicular pain and scrotal swelling due to inflammation of the tunica vaginalis testis can mimic testicular torsion and epididymitis [7, 34, 39]. Headache and seizures have also been reported [9]. Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH) is a very rare disease manifestation and can be the presenting feature [40].

13.5 AA Amyloidosis

Ten to 15% of TRAPS patients are at risk of developing AA amyloidosis [7, 29, 41]. Kidneys are most commonly involved with progressive proteinuric renal dysfunction, but the liver and spleen, and gastrointestinal tract can also be affected. The period between disease onset and development of amyloidosis is variable and averages 20 years. The signs and symptoms of amyloidosis include proteinuric renal dysfunction, hepatomegaly, deranged liver enzymes, diarrhea and weight loss, thyroidomegaly, and, eventually, cardiac failure. Patients with mutations affecting cysteine residues are at higher risk of AA amyloidosis [5, 7] but environmental and other genetic factors also contribute to the increased risk [6].

13.6 Diagnosis

After exclusion of infectious and neoplastic causes of recurrent fever, the possibility of an autoinflammatory syndrome should be investigated. The diagnosis of TRAPS should be considered in the presence of recurrent fever and one or more of the above-mentioned clinical manifestations. Key symptoms include the long duration of attacks and the presence of myalgia, rash, and ocular involvement. A positive family history further supports the diagnosis, although it must be recognized that family members can be completely symptomatic. Careful evaluation of clinical manifestations and genetic testing for mutations in the *TNFRSF1A* gene can establish the diagnosis. In 2015, a validated evidence-based tool either for indication for molecular analysis or for clinical classification of patients with suspected autoinflammatory periodic fevers was proposed by the Paediatric Rheumatology International Trials Organisation (PRINTO) [42]. Based on these criteria, the presence of periorbital edema, duration of episodes >6 days, migratory rash (centrifugal migratory, erythematous patches most typically overlying a local area of myalgia, usually on the limbs or trunk), myalgia, family history and the absence of vomiting, and aphthous stomatitis were classified as TRAPS with 59% sensitivity and 84% specificity [42]. There is still a lot of debate on how to interpret patients in whom the R92Q and P46L variants have been detected in the genetic testing.

13.7 Laboratory Findings

During an acute episode, the following blood tests abnormalities are usually observed: increased neutrophil count, significant increase in acute phase reactants including erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR), C-reactive protein (CRP), serum A amyloid (SAA), fibrinogen, ferritin, and serum complement components. A nonspecific polyclonal increase in immunoglobulins (especially IgA) can also be observed. Microcytic anemia of chronic disease can also be present. Reduced soluble TNF receptor levels are seen in many but not all patients. Acute phase reactants may continue to be elevated even between attacks, demonstrating subclinical inflammation. Monitoring of SAA levels throughout the disease course is of high utility, as elevated levels are associated with an increased risk of AA amyloidosis. Moreover, SAA levels can serve as a very good biomarker to monitor disease activity and response to treatment. Finally, frequent monitoring with urine analysis for proteinuria in combination with assessment of the renal function is crucial for early detection of renal amyloidosis.

13.8 Treatment

To date, treatment approaches of TRAPS cases have been mainly based on retrospective cohorts, as only a few placebo-controlled studies exist to guide that decision [43]. In an attempt to standardize treatment strategies, consensus-based recommendations for the management of TRAPS were published in 2015 by a European initiative called Single Hub and Access point for paediatric Rheumatology in Europe (SHARE) [44]. Management of TRAPS cases remains challenging due to the heterogeneity of the genotype and phenotype. The main aim of the therapeutic management is to control the clinical symptoms, improve quality of life, and prevent long-term complications.

Some patients have symptomatic relief with the use of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). Data from an International registry for autoinflammatory diseases (EUROFEVER) published in 2013 where 113 TRAPS patients were included suggested that NSAIDs were prescribed in 48 patients with mainly partial response [43]. Corticosteroids are more effective in treating TRAPS attacks, but unacceptably high doses may be required when attacks are too frequent or there is evidence of continuous subclinical inflammation. Moreover, the effect tends to wean over time [45]. Colchicine has been used to control symptoms with overall disappointing results [34, 46]. In contrast to those reports, TRAPS cases included in the EUROFEVER registry were prescribed colchicine with a beneficial effect in 21 of 39 patients [43].

Etanercept, a TNF- α blockade agent, has been used with modest success, although the therapeutic effect seems to decline over time [43, 47–49]. In contrast, infliximab, a chimeric human-murine IgG1 monoclonal antibody, and adalimumab, a recombinant IgG1 human monoclonal antibody, seem to be ineffective, and paradoxical inflammatory reactions have been observed [46, 49–51].

IL-1 blocking agents are the current treatment of choice in patients requiring biologics [43] either given on demand or given continuously to control the symptoms [52]. An open-labeled study with canakinumab, a monoclonal antibody directed against IL-1-beta, in which 20 TRAPS patients were included, demonstrated a 95% efficacy in achieving a complete or almost complete response at day 15 [2]. The median time of clinical remission was 4 days [2]. A placebo-controlled study that used canakinumab in TRAPS, mevalonate kinase deficiency, and colchicine-resistant familial Mediterranean fever confirmed the findings [53], leading to US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the European Medicine Agency approval of the drug for the treatment of TRAPS in 2017. A potentially alternative to canakinumab is anakinra, the recombinant IL-1 receptor antagonist. Anakinra has been demonstrated to be effective in controlling TRAPS symptoms [52], while its short half-life offers the possibility to be used on demand only during TRAPS attacks [54].

Finally, tocilizumab, a humanized monoclonal antibody to IL-6 receptor, may have a role in anti-IL1-resistant cases. Levels of IL-6 are elevated in patients with TRAPS; thus, suppressing IL-6 levels may help to control the inflammatory attacks. Several case reports support the efficacy of tocilizumab in TRAPS patients who have failed other biologic treatments [55–57].

13.9 Conclusion

TRAPS is a rare, autosomal dominant autoinflammatory syndrome caused by mutations in the *TNFRSF1A* gene. Penetrance is variable. Distinctive features include prolonged fever, myalgias, ocular involvement, and centrifugal migratory rash. Elevated inflammatory markers are noted during and between episodes. Persistent disease activity may result in secondary amyloidosis. Once other causes of prolonged fever have been excluded, the diagnosis of TRAPS may be suspected on the basis of clinical symptoms, increased inflammatory markers, and positive family history. Genetic testing is necessary for confirmation of TRAPS diagnosis. NSAIDs and corticosteroids are the first-line treatment with variable outcomes. The major revolution in managing TRAPS has been the advent of biological therapies, developed to block specific targets of the inflammatory response. Long-term IL-1 blockade appears highly effective in controlling both acute disease manifestations and preventing long-term complications in patients with severe disease.

References

- Lainka E, Neudorf U, Lohse P, Timmann C, Stojanov S, Huss K, et al. Incidence of TNFRSF1A mutations in German children: epidemiological, clinical and genetic characteristics. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2009;48(8):987–91.
- Gattorno M, Obici L, Cattalini M, Tormey V, Abrams K, Davis N, et al. Canakinumab treatment for patients with active recurrent or chronic TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): an open-label, phase II study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76(1):173–8.
- 3. Williamson LM, Hull D, Mehta R, Reeves WG, Robinson BH, Toghill PJ. Familial Hibernian fever. Q J Med. 1982;51(204):469–80.
- McDermott MF, Aksentijevich I, Galon J, McDermott EM, Ogunkolade BW, Centola M, et al. Germline mutations in the extracellular domains of the 55 kDa TNF receptor, TNFR1, define a family of dominantly inherited autoinflammatory syndromes. Cell. 1999;97(1):133–44.
- Aksentijevich I, Galon J, Soares M, Mansfield E, Hull K, Oh HH, et al. The tumor-necrosisfactor receptor-associated periodic syndrome: new mutations in TNFRSF1A, ancestral origins, genotype-phenotype studies, and evidence for further genetic heterogeneity of periodic fevers. Am J Hum Genet. 2001;69(2):301–14.
- Aganna E, Hammond L, Hawkins PN, Aldea A, McKee SA, van Amstel HK, et al. Heterogeneity among patients with tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome phenotypes. Arthritis Rheum. 2003;48(9):2632–44.
- Hull KM, Drewe E, Aksentijevich I, Singh HK, Wong K, McDermott EM, et al. The TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): emerging concepts of an autoinflammatory disorder. Medicine (Baltimore). 2002;81(5):349–68.
- Cantarini L, Vitale A, Lucherini OM, Muscari I, Magnotti F, Brizi G, et al. Childhood versus adulthood-onset autoinflammatory disorders: myths and truths intertwined. Reumatismo. 2013;65(2):55–62.
- Lachmann HJ, Papa R, Gerhold K, Obici L, Touitou I, Cantarini L, et al. The phenotype of TNF receptor-associated autoinflammatory syndrome (TRAPS) at presentation: a series of 158 cases from the Eurofever/EUROTRAPS international registry. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(12):2160–7.
- Hernandez-Rodriguez J, Ruiz-Ortiz E, Tome A, Espinosa G, Gonzalez-Roca E, Mensa-Vilaro A, et al. Clinical and genetic characterization of the autoinflammatory diseases diagnosed in an adult reference center. Autoimmun Rev. 2016;15(1):9–15.
- 11. Van Gijn ME, Ceccherini I, Shinar Y, Carbo EC, Slofstra M, Arostegui JI, et al. New work-flow for classification of genetic variants' pathogenicity applied to hereditary recurrent fevers by the International Study Group for Systemic Autoinflammatory Diseases (INSAID). J Med Genet. 2018; https://doi.org/10.1136/jmedgenet-2017-105216.
- 12. Ravet N, Rouaghe S, Dode C, Bienvenu J, Stirnemann J, Levy P, et al. Clinical significance of P46L and R92Q substitutions in the tumour necrosis factor superfamily 1A gene. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(9):1158–62.
- Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Muscari I, Frediani B, Galeazzi M, Brizi MG, et al. Tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): state of the art and future perspectives. Autoimmun Rev. 2012;12(1):38–43.
- 14. Rebelo SL, Bainbridge SE, Amel-Kashipaz MR, Radford PM, Powell RJ, Todd I, et al. Modeling of tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily 1A mutants associated with tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome indicates misfolding consistent with abnormal function. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(8):2674–87.
- Rowczenio DM, Trojer H, Omoyinmi E, Aróstegui JI, Arakelov G, Mensa-Vilaro A, et al. Brief report: association of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome with gonosomal mosaicism of a novel 24-nucleotide TNFRSF1A deletion. Arthritis Rheum. 2016;68(8):2044–9.
- Kontzias A, Calabrese C, Cheng Y. FRI0594 A case of mosaicism in TNF associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2017;76:713–4.

- Martorana D, Bonatti F, Mozzoni P, Vaglio A, Percesepe A. Monogenic autoinflammatory diseases with Mendelian inheritance: genes, mutations, and genotype/phenotype correlations. Front Immunol. 2017;8:344.
- 18. Hehlgans T, Pfeffer K. The intriguing biology of the tumour necrosis factor/tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily: players, rules and the games. Immunology. 2005;115(1):1–20.
- Wajant H, Pfizenmaier K, Scheurich P. Tumor necrosis factor signaling. Cell Death Differ. 2003;10(1):45–65.
- Lobito AA, Kimberley FC, Muppidi JR, Komarow H, Jackson AJ, Hull KM, et al. Abnormal disulfide-linked oligomerization results in ER retention and altered signaling by TNFR1 mutants in TNFR1-associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS). Blood. 2006;108(4):1320–7.
- Harrison SR, Scambler T, Oubussad L, Wong C, Wittmann M, McDermott MF, et al. Inositolrequiring enzyme 1-mediated downregulation of MicroRNA (miR)-146a and miR-155 in primary dermal fibroblasts across three TNFRSF1A mutations results in hyperresponsiveness to lipopolysaccharide. Front Immunol. 2018;9(173):1–10.
- Bulua AC, Simon A, Maddipati R, Pelletier M, Park H, Kim KY, et al. Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species promote production of proinflammatory cytokines and are elevated in TNFR1associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). J Exp Med. 2011;208(3):519–33.
- 23. Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Cimaz R, Rigante D, Baldari CT, Laghi Pasini F, et al. Typical and severe tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome in the absence of mutations in the TNFRSF1A gene: a case series. Rheumatol Int. 2012;32(12):4015–8.
- 24. Kallinich T, Haffner D, Rudolph B, Schindler R, Canaan-Kuhl S, Keitzer R, et al. "Periodic fever" without fever: two cases of non-febrile TRAPS with mutations in the TNFRSF1A gene presenting with episodes of inflammation or monosymptomatic amyloidosis. Ann Rheum Dis. 2006;65(7):958–60.
- 25. Magnotti F, Vitale A, Rigante D, Lucherini OM, Cimaz R, Muscari I, et al. The most recent advances in pathophysiology and management of tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): personal experience and literature review. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2013;31(3 Suppl 77):141–9.
- Schmaltz R, Vogt T, Reichrath J. Skin manifestations in tumor necrosis factor receptorassociated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Dermatoendocrinol. 2010;2(1):26–9.
- Lamprecht P, Moosig F, Adam-Klages S, Mrowietz U, Csernok E, Kirrstetter M, et al. Small vessel vasculitis and relapsing panniculitis in tumour necrosis factor receptor associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Ann Rheum Dis. 2004;63(11):1518–20.
- Hull KM, Wong K, Wood GM, Chu WS, Kastner DL. Monocytic fasciitis: a newly recognized clinical feature of tumor necrosis factor receptor dysfunction. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(8):2189–94.
- 29. Lachmann HJ, Papa R, Gerhold K, Obici L, Touitou I, Cantarini L, et al. The phenotype of TNF receptor-associated autoinflammatory syndrome (TRAPS) at presentation: a series of 158 cases from the Eurofever/EUROTRAPS international registry. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;71(12):2035–43.
- 30. Ida H, Aramaki T, Arima K, Origuchi T, Kawakami A, Eguchi K. Successful treatment using tacrolimus (FK506) in a patient with TNF receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS) complicated by monocytic fasciitis. Rheumatology. 2006;45(9):1171–3.
- Tarabishy AB, Hise AG, Traboulsi EI. Ocular manifestations of the autoinflammatory syndromes. Ophthalmic Genet. 2012;33(4):179–86.
- 32. Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Cimaz R, Baldari CT, Bellisai F, Rossi Paccani S, et al. Idiopathic recurrent pericarditis refractory to colchicine treatment can reveal tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 2009;22(4):1051–8.
- Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Baldari CT, Laghi Pasini F, Galeazzi M. Familial clustering of recurrent pericarditis may disclose tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2010;28(3):405–7.

- 34. Dode C, Andre M, Bienvenu T, Hausfater P, Pecheux C, Bienvenu J, et al. The enlarging clinical, genetic, and population spectrum of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2002;46(8):2181–8.
- 35. Cantarini L, Lucherini OM, Brucato A, Barone L, Cumetti D, Iacoponi F, et al. Clues to detect tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS) among patients with idiopathic recurrent acute pericarditis: results of a multicentre study. Clin Res Cardiol. 2012;101(7):525–31.
- Trost S, Rose CD. Myocarditis and sacroiliitis: 2 previously unrecognized manifestations of tumor necrosis factor receptor associated periodic syndrome. J Rheumatol. 2005;32(1):175–7.
- 37. Stojanov S, Dejaco C, Lohse P, Huss K, Duftner C, Belohradsky BH, et al. Clinical and functional characterisation of a novel TNFRSF1A c.605T>A/V173D cleavage site mutation associated with tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS), cardiovascular complications and excellent response to etanercept treatment. Ann Rheum Dis. 2008;67(9):1292–8.
- Chia S, Qadan M, Newton R, Ludlam CA, Fox KA, Newby DE. Intra-arterial tumor necrosis factor-alpha impairs endothelium-dependent vasodilatation and stimulates local tissue plasminogen activator release in humans. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2003;23(4):695–701.
- 39. Bodar EJ, Drenth JP, van der Meer JW, Simon A. Dysregulation of innate immunity: hereditary periodic fever syndromes. Br J Haematol. 2009;144(3):279–302.
- 40. Youngstein T, Koh MBC, Soto JR, Rowczenio D, Trojer H, Lachmann HJ, et al. Adult-onset tumour necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome presenting as transfusiondependent refractory haemophagocytosis. Rheumatology. 2017;57(3):582–3.
- Lane T, Loeffler JM, Rowczenio DM, Gilbertson JA, Bybee A, Russell TL, et al. AA amyloidosis complicating the hereditary periodic fever syndromes. Arthritis Rheum. 2013;65(4):1116–21.
- 42. Federici S, Sormani MP, Ozen S, Lachmann HJ, Amaryan G, Woo P, et al. Evidence-based provisional clinical classification criteria for autoinflammatory periodic fevers. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(5):799–805.
- Ter Haar N, Lachmann H, Ozen S, Woo P, Uziel Y, Modesto C, et al. Treatment of autoinflammatory diseases: results from the Eurofever registry and a literature review. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(5):678–85.
- 44. Ter Haar NM, Oswald M, Jeyaratnam J, Anton J, Barron KS, Brogan PA, et al. Recommendations for the management of autoinflammatory diseases. Ann Rheum Dis. 2015;74(9):1636–44.
- 45. McDermott EM, Smillie DM, Powell RJ. Clinical spectrum of familial Hibernian fever: a 14-year follow-up study of the index case and extended family. Mayo Clin Proc. 1997;72(9):806–17.
- 46. Drewe E, McDermott EM, Powell PT, Isaacs JD, Powell RJ. Prospective study of anti-tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily 1B fusion protein, and case study of anti-tumour necrosis factor receptor superfamily 1A fusion protein, in tumour necrosis factor receptor associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS): clinical and laboratory findings in a series of seven patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2003;42(2):235–9.
- Church LD, Churchman SM, Hawkins PN, McDermott MF. Hereditary auto-inflammatory disorders and biologics. Springer Semin Immunopathol. 2006;27(4):494–508.
- Drewe E, Powell RJ, McDermott EM. Comment on: Failure of anti-TNF therapy in TNF receptor 1-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(12):1865–6.
- 49. Bulua AC, Mogul DB, Aksentijevich I, Singh H, He DY, Muenz LR, et al. Efficacy of etanercept in the tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome: a prospective, openlabel, dose-escalation study. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(3):908–13.
- Jacobelli S, Andre M, Alexandra JF, Dode C, Papo T. Failure of anti-TNF therapy in TNF receptor 1-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Rheumatology (Oxford). 2007;46(7):1211–2.
- 51. Nedjai B, Hitman GA, Yousaf N, Chernajovsky Y, Stjernberg-Salmela S, Pettersson T, et al. Abnormal tumor necrosis factor receptor I cell surface expression and NF-kappaB activation in tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58(1):273–83.

- Gattorno M, et al. Persistent efficacy of anakinra in patients with tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2008;58:1516–20.
- 53. De Benedetti F, Gattorno M, Anton J, Ben-Chetrit E, Frenkel J, Hoffman HM, Koné-Paut I, et al. Canakinumab for the treatment of autoinflammatory recurrent fever syndromes. N Engl J Med. 2018;378(20):1908–19.
- 54. Grimwood C, Despert V, Jeru I, Hentgen V. On-demand treatment with anakinra: a treatment option for selected TRAPS patients. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2015;54(9):1749–51.
- Akasbi N, Soyfoo MS. Successful treatment of tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS) with tocilizumab: a case report. Eur J Rheumatol. 2015;2(1):35–6.
- 56. Vaitla PM, Radford PM, Tighe PJ, Powell RJ, McDermott EM, Todd I, et al. Role of interleukin-6 in a patient with tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome: assessment of outcomes following treatment with the anti-interleukin-6 receptor monoclonal antibody tocilizumab. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(4):1151–5.
- La Torre F, Muratore M, Vitale A, Moramarco F, Quarta L, Cantarini L. Canakinumab efficacy and long-term tocilizumab administration in tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated periodic syndrome (TRAPS). Rheumatol Int. 2015;35(11):1943–7.



Type I Interferonopathies

Cécile Frachette, Rolando Cimaz, and Alexandre Belot

14.1 Introduction

Among causes of recurrent fevers, a new chapter of autoinflammatory diseases has emerged, the so-called "interferonopathies."

14.1.1 History

Isaacs and Lindenmann described in 1957 a soluble factor capable of interfering with viral agents and called it "interferon" (IFN) [1]. Interferons are part of the first antiviral defense and display key regulatory function in innate and adaptive immune response. Type I IFN represents the largest family of IFNs, comprising IFN- α , which comprises 13 subsets in humans, and IFN- β . IFN can be produced by all nucleated cells in response to viral infection thanks to innate immune sensors (also called *pattern recognition receptors*), which recognize nucleic acids from conserved regions of the viral genome. This first line of protection allows infected cells to produce IFN in response to the presence of exogen nucleic acids in excess.

C. Frachette

R. Cimaz Department of Clinical Sciences and Community Health, University of Milano,

Milano, Italy

ASST-Gaetano Pini, Milano, Italy e-mail: rolando.cimaz@unimi.it

A. Belot (🖂)

Pediatric Nephrology, Rheumatology, Dermatology Unit, Hospital Femme Mère Enfant, Hospices Civils de Lyon, University of Lyon, Lyon, France

Innate Immunity in Infectious and Autoimmune Diseases, INSERM, U1111, Lyon, France e-mail: alexandre.belot@chu-lyon.fr

Pediatric Nephrology, Rheumatology, Dermatology Unit, Hospital Femme Mère Enfant, Hospices Civils de Lyon, University of Lyon, Lyon, France

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_14
Type I interferonopathies refer to a group of diseases encompassing Mendelian and complex diseases associated with an upregulation of type I interferon. Systemic lupus erythematosus was the first noninfectious disease associated with high levels of type I interferon in the serum. Later, Jean Aicardi and Françoise Goutières described a progressive neonatal encephalopathy with genetic transmission mimicking a neonatal infection [2], wherein high levels of type I interferon were found in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid [3]. Since then, numerous monogenic diseases with inflammatory phenotypes and uncontrolled activation of interferon signaling have been described. Considering that type I interferon plays a primary pathogenic role in these disorders, Crow and colleagues proposed to name them "Type I interferonopathies" [4].

14.1.2 Innate Immune Response Sensors

Several distinct receptors can detect nucleic acids and lead to the activation of IFN signaling pathways.

Endosomal Toll-like receptors (TLR)-7 and 9 for B lymphocytes and plasmacytoid dendritic cells and TLR3 and TLR8 for myeloid dendritic cells are involved in extracellular virus detection. Indeed, TLR3 detects double-stranded DNA, and TLR 7 and 8 can recognize single-stranded DNA stemming from viral RNA and nonmethylated cytosine-guanine (CpG) islets, and TLR 9 can recognize RNA–DNA hybrids [5, 6].

Nucleic acids can also be detected in the cytoplasm by RIG-I-like receptors (RLR) and intracellular DNA sensors. The RLR family includes RIG-I and MDA5 encoded by *DDX58* and *IFIH1* genes. RIG-I and MDA5 are activated by an intracy-toplasmic RNA pattern and lead to type I interferon production [7, 8].

Finally, cytoplasmic DNA sensors can also induce interferon production (cGAS, cyclic-GMP-AMP synthase) [9]. In this pathway, the transmembrane protein from the endoplasmic reticulum STING activates IRF3 and NF-κb leading to proinflammatory cytokines and type I interferon production. This pathway is downregulated by TREX1 exonuclease. Other cytoplasmic DNA sensors exist as DAI (dependent activator of IRF), DNA-PK, and IFI16.

The detection of nucleic acids through these different pathways leads to type I interferon production in response to the activation of regulation factors IRF (IFN regulatory factors).

Type I interferon then links up to the heterodimeric receptor (IFNAR 1 and IFNAR 2) and activates the JAK-STAT signaling pathway, leading to the induction of hundreds of ISG (interferon-stimulated genes) [4, 10].

Interferon production is regularly triggered by the detection of exogenous nucleic acids from viruses, but in some pathological cases, the production is triggered by endogenous nucleic acids derived from endogenous retrovirus sequences present in our genome (HERV). Regulatory mechanisms normally prevent the accumulation of nucleic acids by the presence of exonucleases in the cytoplasm or by keeping innate immune receptors in the endosome, but mutations of these proteins can be responsible of an excessive type I interferon production.

14.2 Pathogenesis of Type I Interferonopathies

Type I interferonopathies are due to aberrant stimulation or unregulated control of the type I interferon system. The excessive production of interferon can appear through three different pathways:

- Nuclease defect (*TREX1*, *SAMHD1*, *ADAR1*, *RNASEH2*, *RNASEH2B*, and *RNASEH2C*) leading to the accumulation of endogenous nucleic acids
- Constitutive activation or enhanced sensitivity of an innate immune sensor, for example, MDA5 (*IFIH* and *DDX58* mutations) and RIG-I, or adaptive molecules (*TMEM173* encoding for STING)
- Defective feedback of the interferon pathway (ISG15 mutations).

14.3 Clinical Features of Interferonopathies

Type I interferonopathies-associated features are very heterogeneous and comprise overlapping phenotypes. Here we expose the typical features and some specificity associated to the causal gene (Table 14.1).

	-		
Gene name (protein name)	Inheritance	Phenotype	Protein function
TREX1	AR or AD	AGS, FCL, SLE, RVCL	3'-5' exonuclease
RNASEH2A	AR	AGS	Catalytic component of the RNase H2 complex
RNASEH2B	AR	AGS and spastic paraparesis	Noncatalytic component of the RNase H2 complex
RNASEH2C	AR	AGS	Noncatalytic component of the RNase H2 complex
SAMHD1	AR	AGS, FCL, CLL	dNTP triphosphohydrolase triphosphatase and ribonuclease activity
ADAR	AR or AD	AGS, DSH, BSN, and spastic paraparesis	Hydrolytic deamination of adenosine to inosine in dsRNA
<i>IFIH1</i> (MDA5) from Crow and Manel, Aicardi-Goutières syndrome, and type I interferonopathies, 2015	AD	AGS, spastic paraparesis, SMS	Cytosolic sensor of dsRNA

Table 14.1 Type I interferonopathies

(continued)

Gene name (protein	T 1 .		
name)	Inheritance	Phenotype	Protein function
DDX58 (RIGI)	AD	Atypical SMS	A 5'-triphosphate and 5'-diphosphate dsRNA cytosolic sensor
<i>TMEM173</i> (STING)	AD	SAVI	An adaptor molecule involved in transducing cytosolic DNA-induced signaling to IFN production
ISG15	AR	Susceptibility to mycobacterial diseases and intracranial calcifications	A negative regulator of type I IFN production by stabilization of USP18
PSMB8	AR	JMP, NNS, JASL, or CANDLE	Part of a multisubunit protease complex responsible for regulating proteolysis in eukaryotic cells
ACP5 (TRAP)	AR	SPCEND, autoimmune phenotypes (SLE)	Lysosomal acid phosphatase activity
SKIV2L	AR	Trichohepatoenteric syndrome	RNA helicase
POLA1	X-linked recessive	XLRPD	Catalytic subunit of the DNA polymerase-α
DNASE2	AR	Pancytopenia, liver fibrosis, membranoproliferative glomerulonephritis, recurrent fevers, anti- dsDNA antibodies	Endonuclease activity

Table 14.1 (continued)

Adapted from Crow and Manel, Aicardi-Goutières syndrome and type I interferonopathies, 2015 [11] *AD* autosomal dominant, *AGS* Aicardi-Goutières syndrome, *AR* autosomal recessive, *BSN* bilateral striata necrosis, *CANDLE* chronic atypical neutrophilic dermatosis with lipodystrophy and elevated temperature, *CLL* chronic lymphocytic leukemia, *DSH* dyschromatosis symmetrica hereditaria, *FCL* familial chilblain lupus, *IFN* interferon, *JASL* Japanese autoinflammatory syndrome with lipodystrophy, *JMP* joint contractures, muscle atrophy, microcytic anemia, panniculitis, and lipodystrophy, *NNS* Nakajo-Nishimura syndrome, *RVCL* retinal vasculopathy with cerebral leukodystrophy, *SAVI* STING-associated vasculopathy with onset in infancy, *SLE* systemic lupus erythematosus, *SMS* Singleton-Merten syndrome, *SPENCD* spondylochondromatosis, *XLRPD* X-linked reticulate pigmentary disorder

14.3.1 Central Nervous System Involvement

Aicardi-Goutières syndrome (AGS) is a neonatal leukoencephalopathy mimicking an infectious neonatal disease (pseudo-TORCH). Patients present an early-onset encephalopathy accompanied to some extent by cerebral atrophy, leukodystophy, and calcifications. Cerebral spinal fluid analysis usually finds lymphocytosis, and all the infectious explorations remain negative, while IFN activity can be increased [3]. The clinical course evolves into severe neurological involvement with microcephaly, spasticity, psychomotor delay, and early death. Patients can also present other involvements such as chilblain or sometimes glaucoma, hypothyroidism, and cardiomyopathy. AGS is an autosomal disorder. Eight mutations have been reported in this syndrome, and all genes are implicated in nucleic acid metabolism. Most of these mutations are of loss-of-function type, but few are gain-of-function mutations. The mutation of the ubiquitous endonuclease TREX1 results in the accumulation of nucleic acids and in the activation of the STING-dependent interferon pathway [12]. The mutation of RNASEH2 subunits (RNASEH2A, RNASEH2B, and RNASEH2C) leads to a defect in RNA degradation [13]. *ADAR1* and *IFH1* encode proteins implicated in RNA metabolism: ADAR (adenosine deaminase acting on RNA) is involved in RNA editing, and its mutation leads to RNA accumulation and activation of RLR. *IFIH1* encodes MDA5 whose mutations lead to decreased threshold activation in response to double-stranded RNA [14].

SAMHD1 mutations are responsible for a cerebrovascular disease with large vessels aneurysms and early-onset strokes, glaucoma, panniculitis, and nonerosive arthritis. *SAMHD1* mutations are also reported on mild forms of AGS and in familial chilblain lupus without neurological involvement.

Very recently, another mutation has been described in *ISG15*, with patients presenting cerebral calcifications and susceptibility to mycobacterial infections. ISG15 stabilizes the USP18 protein, which is implicated in the negative feedback of interferon signaling [15].

14.3.2 Pulmonary Involvement

Gain-of-function mutations in the *TMEM173* gene encoding the STING protein are responsible for SAVI (STING-associated Vasculopathy with onset in Infancy) with autosomal dominant inheritance. This disease is characterized by early-onset systemic inflammation, severe skin vasculitis leading to extensive tissue loss (chilblain), and severe lung fibrosis [16]. There is a phenotype overlap regarding the vasculitis lesions between SAVI and AGS, but some clinical features are distinct: pulmonary involvement is seen only in SAVI, and SAVI patients do not show neurological symptoms. Importantly, lung disease can be inaugural without additional systemic symptoms [17].

14.3.3 Bone and Vascular Involvement

Mutations in *ACP5* encoding Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase type 5 (TRAP) are transmitted in an autosomal recessive mode and are responsible for spondyloenchondrodysplasia (SPENCD) with skeletal dysplasia, growth retardation, neurological involvement, and systemic autoimmunity. This latter condition represents an increased susceptibility for Sjögren's syndrome, systemic lupus erythematosus, hemolytic anemia, thrombocytopenia, hypothyroidism, inflammatory myositis, Raynaud's syndrome, and vitiligo [18]. TRAP is expressed in osteoclasts, macrophages, and dendritic cells, thus explaining both skeletal and autoimmune involvements in SPENCD patients.

Singleton-Merten syndrome (SMS) is an autosomal dominant disorder characterized by aortic and valvular calcifications, dental abnormalities, osteopenia, acroosteolysis, psoriasis, and glaucoma. Several *IFIH1* mutations and mutations in *DDX58* encoding RIG-I have been reported in this syndrome. The interferon signature is positive in these patients classifying SMS among the interferonopathies [19].

14.3.4 Skin Lesions

Chilblain-like skin lesions can be observed in familial chilblain lupus related to mutations in *TREX1*, *SAMHD1*, and *TMEM173*. They are seen in AGS, SPENCD, and SAVI. These chilblain are evocative for type I interferonopathies (Fig. 14.1). Concerning other skin lesions, telangiectasias are reported in SAVI patients, and psoriasis is seen in Singleton-Merten syndrome.

Fig. 14.1 Antihelix chilblain in a patient with AGS (TREX1 mutation)



14.3.5 Autoimmunity

Type I interferonopathies can be associated with autoimmunity, in particular with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). SLE was the first disease described with high interferon levels, and more than 90% of juvenile SLE patients have a positive interferon signature [20]. SLE is a multifactorial disease involving hormonal, environmental, and genetic factors. Juvenile SLE seems to rely more on genetic factors since a Mendelian transmission has been observed in some families. Some monogenic forms of lupus were associated with mutations causing AGS as *TREX1*, *SAMHD1*, *ACP5*, and *RNASEH2*.

DNase II deficiency due to biallelic loss-of-function mutations has been described recently. DNase II digests DNA of apoptotic cells from nuclei extruded from erythroid precursors, so DNase II deficiency leads to the accumulation of DNA in the lysosomes and to the production of type I interferon. Patients present severe neonatal anemia with membranous glomerulonephritis, liver fibrosis, deforming arthropathy, and anti-DNA antibodies [21].

14.3.6 Gastrointestinal Involvement

Tricho-hepato-enteric syndrome is caused by *SKIV2L* mutation and is responsible for severe diarrhea and liver dysfunction [22, 23]. Loss-of-function mutations of this RNA helicase lead to an aberrant activation of the RLRs. It is interesting to notice that patients can present the same phenotype with a different genetic background and a negative interferon signature, suggesting that the symptoms are not related to type I interferon production.

14.3.7 Other Type I Interferonopathies

Proteasome-associated autoinflammatory syndrome (PRAAS) is an autoinflammatory disease consisting in recurrent fever, panniculitis, and lipodystrophy and has been found with positive interferon signature. *PSMB8* encodes a proteasome subunit, and its mutation leads to proteasome dysfunction, accumulation of ubiquitinylated proteins, and autoinflammation [24].

The X-linked reticulate pigmentary disorder (XLRPD) is a genodermatosis with autoinflammatory features linked to the intronic mutation of *POLA1*, which encodes a catalytic subunit of the DNA polymerase- α .

14.4 Laboratory Tests

No test assessing type I interferon status is currently available in routine medical practice. Indeed, type I interferon level is very low and difficult to measure in the serum of patients. Therefore, it is not a reliable biomarker since it falls with age after an early peak during the acute phase in children affected by AGS.

However, Rice et al. showed that the type I interferon upregulation was correlated with the increased expression of a subset of six genes "interferon signature genes" (IFI27, IFI44L, IFIT1, ISG15, RSAD2, and SIGLEC1) in AGS patients, the so-called "interferon signature" [25]. Interferon signature can be used both for the diagnosis of type I interferonopathies and to follow disease activity.

Recently, a new interferon score has been published using Nanostring technology. Kim et al. developed a 28 interferon-response-gene (IRG) scoring system to quantify the expression of putative IRGs selected in a patient with the IFN-mediated disease chronic atypical neutrophilic dermatosis with lipodystrophy and elevated temperature (CANDLE) and another patient receiving pegylated-IFN α 2 for chronic hepatitis C [26]. The score was validated in SAVI patients as positive controls and neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease (NOMID) patients and in healthy donors for negative controls [26].

This score allows the diagnosis of type I interferonopathy, but genetic analysis is required for precise diagnosis of the mutation. In the case of high clinical suspicion of type I interferonopathy for a patient with negative interferon score, genetic testing remains mandatory.

14.5 Therapeutic Options

Type I interferonopathies are a heterogeneous group of diseases, but they share a common pathogenesis with an excessive type I interferon production. This excess of IFN is supposed to be causal of the main features [27]. Therefore, the blockade of the interferon signaling pathway seems to be logical in this context.

JAK inhibitors are particularly promising because they block the signaling downstream the activation of the IFN receptor. Baricitinib and ruxolitinib are both JAK1/2 inhibitors and have shown interesting preliminary results for their safety and efficacy in SAVI and CANDLE [28, 29], although the IFN score was not abrogated in SAVI patients.

Monoclonal antibodies targeting IFN α (sifalimumab) and IFNAR (anifrolumab) have been tested in SLE and are promising therapeutic options for type I interferonopathies [30]. Finally, as the HERV is supposed to be partially responsible for the increase of intracytoplasmic nucleic acids in AGS with enzymatic defect, it is supposed that reverse transcriptase inhibitors used for patients with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) may represent an option in the future by targeting the endogenous retroviruses and decreasing IFN signature [31].

14.6 Conclusions

Next-generation sequencing allowed us to define new inherited inflammatory disorders by the discovery of new actors and inflammatory pathways involved in type I IFN homeostasis. Furthermore, the measurement of selected IFN-stimulated genes can strengthen the diagnosis of type-I interferonopathies. Drugs blocking type I IFN itself, the receptor, or the downstream signaling represent promising strategies to improve patient care and our understanding of the role of IFN in the disease pathogenesis.

References

- 1. Isaacs A, Lindenmann J. Virus interference. I. The interferon. By A. Isaacs and J. Lindenmann, 1957. J Interf Res. 1987;7(5):429–38.
- Aicardi J, Goutières F. A progressive familial encephalopathy in infancy with calcifications of the basal ganglia and chronic cerebrospinal fluid lymphocytosis: Aicardi and Goutieres: basal ganglia calcifications. Ann Neurol. 1984;15(1):49–54.
- Lebon P, Badoual J, Ponsot G, Goutières F, Hémeury-Cukier F, Aicardi J. Intrathecal synthesis of interferon-alpha in infants with progressive familial encephalopathy. J Neurol Sci. 1988;84(2–3):201–8.
- Crow YJ. Type I interferonopathies: a novel set of inborn errors of immunity: type I interferonopathies. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2011;1238(1):91–8.
- 5. Kawai T, Akira S. The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update on Toll-like receptors. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(5):373–84.
- Rigby RE, Webb LM, Mackenzie KJ, Li Y, Leitch A, Reijns MAM, et al. RNA:DNA hybrids are a novel molecular pattern sensed by TLR9. EMBO J. 2014;33(6):542–58.
- Wu J, Chen ZJ. Innate immune sensing and signaling of cytosolic nucleic acids. Annu Rev Immunol. 2014;32(1):461–88.
- 8. Kato H, Takahasi K, Fujita T. RIG-I-like receptors: cytoplasmic sensors for non-self RNA: RIG-I-like receptors. Immunol Rev. 2011;243(1):91–8.
- 9. Sun L, Wu J, Du F, Chen X, Chen ZJ. Cyclic GMP-AMP synthase is a cytosolic DNA sensor that activates the type I interferon pathway. Science. 2013;339(6121):786–91.
- Picard C, Belot A. Les interféronopathies de type I. Mise au point et revue de la littérature. Rev Médecine Interne. 2018;39(4):271–8.
- Crow YJ, Manel N. Aicardi-Goutières syndrome and the type I interferonopathies. Nat Rev Immunol. 2015;15(7):429–40.
- 12. Lee-Kirsch MA, Gong M, Chowdhury D, Senenko L, Engel K, Lee Y-A, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the 3'-5' DNA exonuclease TREX1 are associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. Nat Genet. 2007;39(9):1065–7.
- Crow YJ, Leitch A, Hayward BE, Garner A, Parmar R, Griffith E, et al. Mutations in genes encoding ribonuclease H2 subunits cause Aicardi-Goutières syndrome and mimic congenital viral brain infection. Nat Genet. 2006;38(8):910–6.
- Ahmad S, Mu X, Yang F, Greenwald E, Park JW, Jacob E, et al. Breaching self-tolerance to Alu duplex RNA underlies MDA5-mediated inflammation. Cell. 2018;172(4):797–810.e13.
- 15. François-Newton V, Magno de Freitas Almeida G, Payelle-Brogard B, Monneron D, Pichard-Garcia L, Piehler J, et al. USP18-based negative feedback control is induced by type I and type III interferons and specifically inactivates interferon α response. PLoS One. 2011;6(7):e22200.
- Crow YJ, Casanova J-L. STING-associated vasculopathy with onset in infancy—a new interferonopathy. N Engl J Med. 2014;371(6):568–71.
- 17. Picard C, Thouvenin G, Kannengiesser C, Dubus J-C, Jeremiah N, Rieux-Laucat F, et al. Severe pulmonary fibrosis as the first manifestation of interferonopathy (TMEM173 mutation). Chest. 2016;150(3):e65–71.
- Briggs TA, Rice GI, Daly S, Urquhart J, Gornall H, Bader-Meunier B, et al. Tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase deficiency causes a bone dysplasia with autoimmunity and a type I interferon expression signature. Nat Genet. 2011;43(2):127–31.
- Rutsch F, MacDougall M, Lu C, Buers I, Mamaeva O, Nitschke Y, et al. A specific IFIH1 gain-offunction mutation causes Singleton-Merten syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 2015;96(2):275–82.

- Pascual V, Allantaz F, Arce E, Punaro M, Banchereau J. Role of interleukin-1 (IL-1) in the pathogenesis of systemic onset juvenile idiopathic arthritis and clinical response to IL-1 blockade. J Exp Med. 2005;201(9):1479–86.
- Rodero MP, Tesser A, Bartok E, Rice GI, Della Mina E, Depp M, et al. Type I interferonmediated autoinflammation due to DNase II deficiency. Nat Commun. 2017;8(1):2176.
- Eckard SC, Rice GI, Fabre A, Badens C, Gray EE, Hartley JL, et al. The SKIV2L RNA exosome limits activation of the RIG-I-like receptors. Nat Immunol. 2014;15(9):839–45.
- Fabre A, Charroux B, Martinez-Vinson C, Roquelaure B, Odul E, Sayar E, et al. SKIV2L mutations cause syndromic diarrhea, or trichohepatoenteric syndrome. Am J Hum Genet. 2012;90(4):689–92.
- 24. Liu Y, Ramot Y, Torrelo A, Paller AS, Si N, Babay S, et al. Mutations in proteasome subunit β type 8 cause chronic atypical neutrophilic dermatosis with lipodystrophy and elevated temperature with evidence of genetic and phenotypic heterogeneity: mutations in *PSMB8* cause Candle syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(3):895–907.
- 25. Rice GI, Forte GMA, Szynkiewicz M, Chase DS, Aeby A, Abdel-Hamid MS, et al. Assessment of interferon-related biomarkers in Aicardi-Goutières syndrome associated with mutations in TREX1, RNASEH2A, RNASEH2B, RNASEH2C, SAMHD1, and ADAR: a case-control study. Lancet Neurol. 2013;12(12):1159–69.
- Kim H, de Jesus AA, Brooks SR, Liu Y, Huang Y, VanTries R, et al. Development of a validated interferon score using NanoString technology. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 2018;38(4):171–85.
- Picard C, Belot A. Does type-I interferon drive systemic autoimmunity? Autoimmun Rev. 2017;16(9):897–902.
- Frémond M-L, Rodero MP, Jeremiah N, Belot A, Jeziorski E, Duffy D, et al. Efficacy of the Janus kinase 1/2 inhibitor ruxolitinib in the treatment of vasculopathy associated with TMEM173-activating mutations in 3 children. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;138(6):1752–5.
- 29. Winthrop KL. The emerging safety profile of JAK inhibitors in rheumatic disease. Nat Rev Rheumatol. 2017;13(4):234–43.
- 30. Khamashta M, Merrill JT, Werth VP, Furie R, Kalunian K, Illei GG, et al. Sifalimumab, an anti-interferon-α monoclonal antibody, in moderate to severe systemic lupus erythematosus: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2016;75(11):1909–16.
- Rice GI, Meyzer C, Bouazza N, Hully M, Boddaert N, Semeraro M, et al. Reverse-transcriptase inhibitors in the aicardi–goutières syndrome. N Engl J Med. 2018;379(23):2275–7. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMc1810983.



Rare Monogenic Causes of Periodic Fevers

15

Serife Gulmus, Roberta Berard, and Erkan Demirkaya

15.1 Haploinsufficiency of A20 (HA20)-AISBL

15.1.1 Introduction: Definition

Haploinsufficiency of A20 (HA20) is an autoinflammatory disorder, which is inherited autosomal dominantly and known as a familial Behçet-like autoinflammatory syndrome (AISBL). This molecular diagnostic term was described in patients who have been diagnosed as either classical Behçet Disease or other common disorders such as JIA, RA, SLE, type 1 diabetes, psoriasis, celiac disease, and coronary arterial disease. There are some similarities and differences between classical Behçet Disease (BD) and this genetic autoinflammatory Behçet-like disease [1]. The disease was first described in 2016 by Zhou et al. in 11 patients from six distinct families [2]. Currently, 45 cases have been described in the literature [1, 2–5].

Haploinsufficiency of A20 is twice as prevalent in females as that in males. The characteristic features of the disease are recurrent fevers; Behçet-like oral and genital ulcers; arthritis; uveitis; gastrointestinal symptoms such as abdominal pain, digestive ulcers, or diarrhea; and skin lesions such as erythema nodosum [1]. One of the differences of this syndrome from classical BD is the onset of the disease reported in childhood instead of mostly adulthood (BD), with the symptoms starting between 1 and 10 years of age; furthermore, recurrent fever is a more common feature. Detection of the HLA B51 antigen is unusual, and gastrointestinal symptoms are over-represented compared to classical BD [1]. Clinical manifestations and disease course may vary

S. Gulmus

R. Berard · E. Demirkaya (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

Division of Rheumatology, The Hospital for Sick Children, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: serife.gulmus@sickkids.ca

Division of Paediatric Rheumatology, Department of Paediatrics, Schulich School of Medicine & Dentistry, University of Western Ontario, London, ON, Canada e-mail: Roberta.Berard@lhsc.on.ca; Erkan.Demirkaya@lhsc.on.ca

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_15

even among patients with the same mutation in TNFAIP3 [3]. This suggests a role for modifying alleles in the disease progression and possible contribution of environmental factors. Currently, this newly described disease's clinical manifestations, disease progression, severity of symptoms, and complications are not well characterized in the literature. Because the targeted therapies may alter disease course and improve the outcome, early recognition and diagnosis are critical.

15.1.2 Etiology: Pathogenesis

This is an autosomal dominant inherited autoinflammatory disease considered as a monogenic form of BD due to highly penetrant novel germline mutations in TNFAIP3 and earlier onset symptoms [3]. The disease's first described series, one single mutation in the TNFAIP3 gene, was found as a cause of functional A20 enzymatic pool decline, which is called haploinsufficiency of A20 [1, 2]. The TNFAIP3 protein includes 790 amino acids; it is also known as A20 and encoded by the TNFAIP3 gene located on chromosome 6q23.3, and it plays a critical role in the negative regulation of inflammation and immunity [1, 3]. A20 is an ubiquitin-editing (deubiquitinase; DUB) enzyme that has crucial function in the inhibition of key proinflammatory molecules, including inhibitor of nuclear factor kappa B kinase subunit gamma (IKKy (NEMO)) and receptor-interacting protein kinase 1 (RIPK1), in the canonical NF-kB and other signaling pathways. The enzyme has dual activities that remove K63-linked ubiquitin chains with N-terminal ovarian tumor domain-mediated deubiquitinase activity from key adaptor proteins, replacing them with K48-linked polyubiquitin chains with C-terminal zinc finger-mediated E3 ubiquitin ligase activity, to mark them for proteasomal degradation and termination of the NF-kB activation cascade [4].

HA20 was described as an autoinflammatory disease caused by heterozygous loss-of-function mutations in TNFAIP3 [2]. These mutations lead to insufficient DUB activity of TNFAP3 (A20) and cause amplified NF-kB signaling and phosphorylation of c-Jun N-terminal kinase and p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPKs). Mutant A20 cells lose the hydrolyzing function of K63 ubiquitin chains from NEMO/IKK, RIPK1, and TNF Receptor 1 (TNFR1). Production of proinflammatory cytokines including IL-1, IL-6, IL-9, IL-17, TNF, IP-10/CXCL10, and IFNγ increases excessively with the activity of the NF-kB, and MAPK pathways and NLRP3 inflammasome by the accumulation of K63 ubiquitin proteins. In wild-type models, NLRP3 inflammasome activity is downregulated by A20; consequently, in HA20 patients, there is increased NLRP3 activity.

Multiple autoimmune diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, systemic lupus erythematosus, type 1 diabetes mellitus, inflammatory bowel disease, Sjogren's syndrome, and psoriasis have been associated with common low-penetrance coding and noncoding variants in the TNFAIP3 gene. Identification of additional HA20-associated mutations is essential to better recognize the full spectrum of phenotypes associated with the distribution of pathogenic mutations in A20 [3]. Also suggested as a tumor suppressor gene, A20's somatic inactivating mutations have been identified in B cell lymphomas; however, none of the patients developed lymphoma or malignancy in the literature [3, 6]. Duncan et al. reported a case of early-onset autoimmune disease (insulin-dependent diabetes, hepatitis, enteropathy, and interstitial lung disease), and Takagi et al. presented a case with autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome-like phenotype, and both cases had germline mutations in the TNFAIP3 gene [7, 8]. In one study, five patients developed autoantibodies; however, only one patient was diagnosed with an overt autoimmune disease [2]. In heterozygous murine models, partial deficiency in the gene causes the existence of auto-antibodies combined with symptoms remarkably similar to human diseases. A complete deficiency in the protein has never been described in humans [1]. The spectrum of reported clinical phenotypes associated with TNFAIP3 gene mutations reminds us of the importance of A20 in immune regulation and autoimmune pathogenesis.

15.1.3 Epidemiology

According to the last published review by Berteau et al. in 2018, there are 45 cases of AISBL in the literature reported since its discovery in 2016. Compared to classical BD, there is a reversal of the sex ratio to 1:2 with 15 men and 30 women, respectively [1]. Distribution of the disease is global with affected probands from Caucasian origin to Middle or Far East.

15.1.4 Clinical Manifestations

The first onset of the clinical manifestations occurs with an interquartile range of 1–10 years and a median age of 5.5 years [1]. Sixty-nine percent of patients meet the criteria of Behçet disease according to ICBD 2016. The most common manifestations were oral (87%) and genital (67%) ulcers, fever episodes (62%), gastrointestinal features (60%), skin involvement (53%), of which 13% was erythema nodosum or pseudo folliculitis (Fig. 15.1) as described by Davatchi [9]. Forty-two percent of patients had musculoskeletal involvement including arthritis (11%). Some patients experienced ophthalmological features different from classical BD. Recurrent upper respiratory tract infections, thyroiditis, neurological manifestations, and vascular features such as CNS vasculitis were rarely noticed (Table 15.1).

15.1.5 Diagnosis

AISBL should be considered in cases of early childhood-onset Behçet-like phenotype and in familial BD patients. Sequencing of the TNFAIP3 gene is required to confirm diagnosis. Unlike BD, HLA B51 antigen and pathergy testing is rarely positive. Laboratory tests demonstrate high acute phase reactants. In the cohort of Berteau et al., 16 patients had autoantibodies such as ANA, lupus anticoagulant, and anti-TPO [1].



Fig. 15.1 (a, b) One of the first patients in the literature. Folliculitis is described in patients with AISBL. Hirsutism is one of the numerous potential side effects of excessive corticosteroid treatment, which can be seen in a and b

Table 15.1 Clinical manifestations in patients with AISBL associated with TNFAIP3 mutations

Clinical manifestation	Range
Oral ulcers	39/45
Genital ulcers	30/45
Recurrent fevers	28/45
Skin features (erythematous papules, erythema nodosum,	24/45
folliculitis, skin abscesses)	
Gastrointestinal (ulcers, colitis, digestive hemorrhages,	27/45
hepatitis)	
Musculoskeletal (polyarthritis, arthralgia, myalgia)	19/45
Eye (uveitis, retinal vasculitis)	6/45

Differential diagnosis includes other monogenic autoinflammatory disorders such as mevalonate kinase deficiency (MKD), Blau syndrome/early-onset sarcoidosis, familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), and pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum and acne syndrome (PAPA), which are presenting with combinations of recurrent fevers, orogenital aphthosis, arthritis, skin lesions, and uveitis. It is important to be aware of patients who have destructive gastrointestinal manifestations such as inflammatory bowel disease at an early age, a diagnosis of AISBL should be considered. Prospective evaluation of a larger cohort of AISBL cases is necessary to characterize the full clinical spectrum of this disease [1].

15.1.6 Management

Colchicine has been effective in the control of orogenital ulcers and skin lesions in some patients [4, 5, 7, 10].

Various immunosuppressive treatments have been given to this group of patients. Glucocorticoids have been found to be a potent inhibitor of the NF-kB pathway. Because of the wide systemic inflammation, cytokine inhibitors such as TNF alpha antagonists (infliximab, adalimumab, etc.), IL-1 blockers (anakinra and canakinumab), anti-IL-6 (tocilizumab), and immunosuppressive agents such as methotrexate and cyclosporine have been used to control the disease activity. No mortality has been reported to date among genetically identified patients in the literature [3, 8, 11]. Clinical progression and response to treatment is unpredictable; therefore, future studies are required to understand treatment response, prognosis, and long-term morbidity and mortality required to optimally manage this rare auto-inflammatory disease.

15.2 Otulipenia

15.2.1 Definition

Otulipenia is a systemic autoinflammatory disease caused by a loss-of-function mutation in the OTULIN (FAM105B) gene, encoding a deubiquitinase (DUB) with linear linkage specificity [12]. OTULIN has a part in adapting innate immune signaling complexes. Excessive linear ubiquitination of target proteins such as NEMO, RIPK1, TNFR1, and ASC in OTULIN-deficient patients leads to severe inflammation and clinical symptoms. As discussed in Haploinsufficiency A20 disease, the discovery of DUB activity adds to the growing collection of human diseases caused by defects in the ubiquitin pathway and advocates for the role of targeted cytokine therapies. A novel homozygous mutation in the FAM105B gene was first identified in one Pakistani and two Turkish families with four affected patients described by Zhou et al. in 2016 [12]. Heterozygote carriers were asymptomatic, which suggested that a reduced protein expression of OTULIN is sufficient for immune homeostasis regulation.

15.2.2 Etiology/Pathogenesis

Post-translational protein modification by ubiquitination is essential for many biological regulatory processes such as DNA repair, endocytosis, transcription, protein degradation, and preservation of cellular homeostasis [10, 12]. Linear or methionine 1-linked ubiquitination is catalyzed by the linear ubiquitin (Ub) assembly complex called LUBAC, which holds HOIL-1, HOIP, and SHARPIN molecules [13]. Currently, LUBAC is the only E3 ubiquitin ligase known to generate linear polyubiquitin chains and plays a crucial role in the activation of NF-kB signaling by ligating linear Ub to its target proteins, which include NEMO (NF-kB essential modulator) and RIPK1(receptor-interacting serine/threonine protein kinase 1) [13, 14].

OTULIN is a 352-residue highly conserved protein that consists of N-terminal LUBAC-binding domain and C-terminal ovarian tumor (OTU) domain with a specific activity to hydrolyze linear (Met1)-linked Ub chains [10, 12]. The OTU domain and binding of OTULIN to linear Ub chains are affected by disease-associated mutations. OTULIN restricts NF-kB signaling activity through direct interaction

with HOIP. Mutant OTULIN proteins cannot restrict the accumulation of Met1 Ub chains on target substrates (IKK/NEMO, RIPK1, and ASC) [10]. Thus, many proinflammatory cytokines are overproduced including TNF, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-17, IL-18, and IFN- γ [13].

Otulipenia, also called OTULIN-related autoinflammatory syndrome (ORAS), has been showing to arise from several homozygous loss-of-function mutations [14]. Otulipenia-related mutations result in OTULIN dysfunction rather than a quantitative deficit [15]. At a molecular level, different residual amounts of OTULIN proteins were expressed between cells. Measured cytokine levels correlated with the activity level of the disease [15]. Boisson and colleagues reported three RBCK1 (HOIL-1)-deficient and one RNF31 (HOIP)-deficient patient [16, 17]. Fibroblasts of these four patients showed less linear Ub accumulation and reduced NF-kB signaling, comparative to those of controls, while patients' monocytes were hyperactivated with IL-1 β stimulation.

15.2.3 Epidemiology

Otulipenia is a newly identified disease with only four patients described to date; the etiology remains speculative. Three homozygous mutations in the OTULIN/ FAM105B gene were identified using a combination of exome sequencing and candidate gene screening in unrelated families of Pakistani and Turkish descent [12]. Unaffected parents and siblings were carriers for the individual mutations, and none of the mutations were reported in public databases or detected in 1630 Turkish healthy controls according to Zhou et al. [12]. Further genetic and clinical studies are required.

15.2.4 Clinical Manifestations

For a better understanding, each disease clinical manifestation will be described for the three patients in the literature. Patient 1, from a large consanguineous family, was born prematurely and soon after birth presented with fever and rash. Two of his first cousins died due to a similar disease in early childhood, one of whom was found to have the same homozygous mutation. Failure to thrive, joint swelling, lipodystrophy, and diarrhea were other findings described in this patient. Patient 2 presented at the age of 4.5 months with prolonged fever and a pustular scarring rash. Skin biopsy revealed panniculitis and a neutrophilic dermatosis. Patient 3 presented with neonatal-onset fever and prominent cutaneous lesions including an erythematous rash with painful skin nodules. Her skin biopsy showed a predominantly septal panniculitis with vasculitis of small- and medium-sized blood vessels. Arthralgia, progressive lipodystrophy (Fig. 15.2), and failure to thrive were other manifestations [12].

Patients did not have clear evidence for a primary immunodeficiency and suffered from immunosuppressive therapy-related infections. Two of the patients had **Fig. 15.2** Facial feature of the patient with otulinemia, which is characterized by prominent fat loss (lipodystrophy)



normal to high levels of T, B, and natural killer cell, and Ig levels were normal to high. T- and B-cell responses were normal. Patients had acceptable specific antibody responses to vaccines or natural infections when tested [12].

15.2.5 Diagnosis

Similar to other rare monogenic autoinflammatory diseases, cardinal clinical features should prompt physicians to consider otulipenia in the context of an early onset of unexplained recurrent fever, recurrent cutaneous rash or arthralgia/arthritis, onset during early childhood, family history of similar disorders, elevated acute phase reactants during episodes and normalization during symptom-free intervals, late complications of continuous systemic inflammation, such as AA amyloidosis, and absence of obvious differential diagnosis [15].

Practitioners should also look for specific signs, which may include but not limited to urticarial-like rash, pustular dermatosis resembling psoriasis or acne, erysipelas-like erythema, aphthosis, recurrent or unexpected pharyngitis/cervical adenitis, conjunctivitis/uveitis, diarrhea/colitis, lipodystrophy/panniculitis or erythema nodosum-like nodules, and arthritis/arthralgias, which may help differentiate from other autoinflammatory diseases and help further molecular analyses.

15.2.6 Management

Preservation of immune homeostasis is a highly balanced act that requires the coordinated action of many proteins to allow optimal and efficient immune responses. Given the importance of the ubiquitination in cellular physiology, the ubiquitin protein system has produced a substantial interest for drug development [10]. One of the reported cases of otulipenia was partially controlled with a TNF inhibitor (etanercept); however, she is still steroid dependent. Therefore, targeting TNF may be a promising treatment option.

A key challenge for finding effective drugs would be in developing cell-based therapies. The ubiquitination process is regulated at multiple levels of generation, recognition, and removal. Targeting more mechanisms of the Ub-proteasome pathway seems to provide new prospects for therapeutic exploitation and drug discovery [10].

15.3 DIRA (Deficiency of Interleukin 1 Receptor Antagonist)

15.3.1 Definition

DIRA (deficiency of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist) is an autoinflammatory disease characterized by neutrophilic pustular dermatosis, periostitis, aseptic multifocal osteitis, and high acute phase reactants [18, 19]. Interleukin 1 (IL-1) receptor antagonist is the first described endogenous cytokine receptor antagonist, and it normally inhibits the activities of IL-1 [20]. In DIRA, unopposed IL-1 activity is the primary problem. DIRA was described first in 2009 in two articles by Aksentijevich et al. and Reddy et al. [18, 19]. To date, there are around 20 cases reported [19–26]. Almost all the DIRA cases were symptomatic within the newborn period [22, 27].

15.3.2 Etiology: Pathogenesis

DIRA is caused by loss-of-function mutations in the IL1RN gene, which encodes for the IL-1 receptor antagonist [18, 19]. It is autosomal recessively inherited, and carriers are asymptomatic. The mutations in the IL1RN gene result in the absence of production of a functional IL-1 receptor antagonist. Therefore, IL-1 signaling in response to various triggers goes uninhibited in these patients.

15.3.2.1 Epidemiology

Missense and nonsense mutations in the IL1RN gene triggering DIRA have been found in Puerto Rico, the Netherlands, Newfoundland/Canada, Palestine/Lebanon, and Brazil populations. Further studies are required to identify the worldwide epidemiology of this new autoinflammatory disease.

Systems	Major (signs/symptoms)	Minor (signs/ symptoms)
General	Fetal distress Prematurity Failure to thrive Growth retardation	Fever
Mucocutaneous	Neutrophilic pustular skin eruption (may heal with scars) Skin abscess Nail dystrophy	Oral mucosal lesions Skin pathergy
Musculoskeletal	Multifocal aseptic osteitis Periostitis Epiphyseal ballooning of long bones/ribs Metaphyseal erosions in the long bones Arthralgia/arthritis	Nonunion of the odontoid Muscle atrophy ^a Osteopenia
Hematological	Anemia Leukocytosis/neutrophilia Venous thrombosis Hemophagocytosis ^a	Thrombocytosis
Gastrointestinal	Ascites (due to portal vein thrombosis) ^a	Gastroesophageal reflux ^a
Cardiovascular	Dilated cardiomyopathy ^a	
Respiratory	Respiratory distress/insufficiency Interstitial fibrosis Atelectasis Pulmonary hemosiderosis ^a	Apnea ^a
Central nervous system	Cerebral vasculitis/vasculopathy ^a Delay in motor development ^a	
Ophthalmological	Episcleritis ^a Corneal lacerations/ulcers ^a	

Table 15.2 Clinical features of DIRA

^aPresent in one patient only

15.3.2.2 Clinical Manifestations

Similar to other hereditary autoinflammatory diseases, DIRA patients exhibit features characteristic of all autoinflammatory disease but also cardinal features that suggest this condition. First clinical manifestations were seen in the neonatal period, including skin pustules, joint swelling, painful osteolytic lesions, and periostitis where the distal ribs, and the long bones were affected particularly. Fever developed rarely and, when present, was often low grade with elevation of acute phase reactants such as erythrocyte sedimentation and C-reactive protein. Pathergy test was positive after mechanical trauma [28]. Other mucocutaneous lesions include neutrophilic pustular skin eruption, skin abscess, nail dystrophy, and oral mucosal lesions in some cases. Other systemic findings are described in Table 15.2.

15.3.3 Diagnosis

Providing optimal medical management for DIRA patients hinges on timely and accurate diagnosis. Prompt recognition of the cardinal clinical manifestations is

crucial. The diagnosis is made by genetic testing for IL1RN mutations [18, 19]. Radiological tests may support the diagnosis, which may include multifocal osteitis in long bones and ribs, heterotopic ossification, and periarticular soft tissue swelling [24]. Biopsies of the affected sites such as skin and bone can be supportive of the diagnosis. In skin biopsies, extensive infiltration of the dermis and epidermis by neutrophils, acanthosis, hyperkeratosis, pustule formation along hair follicles, and perivascular dermatitis can be seen [21]. Purulent osteitis, fibrosis, and sclerosis are seen in the bone biopsy.

Neutrophilic infiltrates in the skin and bone lesions and blood neutrophilia in DIRA patients need to be differentiated from infectious osteomyelitis and congenital/perinatal systemic infections in the newborn period [21]. Furthermore, a lack of response to antibiotics as well as negative bone/blood cultures differentiates DIRA from the etiology of other infections in patients.

DIRA also shares clinical similarities with NOMID (neonatal-onset multisystem inflammatory disease) and Majeed syndromes [25, 27]. Nevertheless, in NOMID, central nervous system involvement is much more obvious with recurrent aseptic meningitis, cochlear inflammation, and mental retardation, and bone lesions are mainly seen in DIRA. Likewise, in DIRA, skin lesions are pustular with urticaria-like neutrophilic lesions seen in NOMID cases. Both Majeed and DIRA patients have chronic recurrent multifocal osteitis and neutrophilic dermatosis, whereas congenital dyserythropoietic anemia is only present in Majeed syndrome [25, 27]. Genetic testing is essential to discriminate these diseases.

15.3.3.1 Management

IL-1 receptor antagonist supplementation is the definitive treatment for DIRA [29]. Anakinra (IL-1 receptor antagonist) causes a rapid clinical improvement in DIRA patients [18]. Few patients may also reply partially to corticosteroid therapy [21]. There is no consensus on the duration of anakinra treatment. Yet, since previous reports of attempts to stop anakinra have led to disease flares, patients may require life-long treatment [23]. There is one case report of effective use of canakinumab (long-acting anti-IL-1 therapy) in DIRA [24].

Five of the reported DIRA patients in the literature have died due to multiorgan failure secondary to severe inflammatory response syndrome (n = 2), multiorgan failure and hemophagocytosis (n = 1), complications of pulmonary hemosiderosis with progressive interstitial fibrosis (n = 1), and intrauterine demise (n = 1) [18, 20].

15.4 DITRA (Deficiency of Interleukin-36 Receptor Antagonist)

15.4.1 Definition

The recently discovered IL-36 cytokine family is emerging as significant mediators for inflammatory diseases. The IL-36 subfamily involves three ligands—IL-36 α , IL-36 β , and IL-36 γ —and the natural antagonist IL-36Ra. A rare multisystemic

autoinflammatory disorder characterized by repeated fever episodes with generalized pustular psoriasis (GPP) has been the most convincing association between the IL-36 family and human disease [30]. In 2011, Marrakchi et al. identified IL36RN (the gene that encodes the IL-36 receptor antagonist) as the putative gene for autosomal recessive familial GPP and termed this as the deficiency of the IL-36 receptor antagonist (DITRA) [31]. To date, a comprehensive in vitro functional analysis of all identified IL36RN mutations associated with GPP proved that most mutations cause a complete lack of or substantial reduction in IL-36Ra expression and activity [32].

15.4.2 Etiology: Pathogenesis

The IL-1 family involves 11 molecules, and excessive expression of IL-36 proteins belonging to interleukin-1 subfamily in the skin and disinhibition of the signaling pathway of these proteins' activation lead to an autoinflammatory disease, GPP [31]. Interleukin-36Ra (also known as IL-1F5) is an antagonist of three cytokines, IL-36α (IL-1F6), IL-36β (IL-1F8), and IL-36γ (IL-1F9), which are involved in activating several proinflammatory signaling pathways such as the nuclear factor-kB and mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways (Fig. 15.3). The exact etiology of the disease is still unclear, and there are some studies showing the feasible mechanism underlying the signaling pathway. According to Johnston et al. and Towne et al., IL36RN and its paralogs IL36A, IL36B, and IL36G are abundantly expressed in the skin, and the proteins encoded by these genes modulate NF-kB signaling through their interaction with the IL-1RL2 receptor [33, 34]. Sims and Smith suggested that IL36RN antagonizes the activity of IL-36A and IL-36G by hindering the enrollment of the IL-1RL2 receptor complex [35]. Furthermore, IL36RN itself comprises a putative signal peptide followed by a large IL-1 homology motif, therefore, reflecting the typical domain architecture of IL-1 family cytokines [36].

In 2017, Verena Schmitt et al. discussed that the crosstalk between plasma cells and synovial fibroblasts is mediated by IL-36 receptor. According to this study, IL-36 α is expressed in B cells and upregulated in plasma cells. Here, detailed analysis of signaling pathway upon IL-36 α stimulation of fibroblast-like synoviocytes, exposed activation of the p38/HSP27 pathway and p38MAPK and NF-kB pathways [37]. Further genetic and immunological studies are necessary to further our understanding of the etiopathogenesis of DITRA.

15.4.3 Epidemiology

DITRA was first described in nine Tunisian families [31]. It has been further characterized by two distinct phenotypes, which are pediatric onset of GPP (PGPP) and adult onset of GPP (AGPP). Li et al. compared the IL-36RN mutations association between PGPP and AGPP in 11 patients of African, European, and Asian origin. In that study, they found that the percentage of IL-36RN mutations of PGPP patients was much higher than that of AGPP patients. They also discussed the possibility of



Fig. 15.3 In normal functional cell, IL36Ra regulates IL36- α , β , γ cytokine response with gene regulation. In DITRA, because of the IL36Ra gene defect, IL36Ra cannot lead to NF-kB and MAPK response and the cell reacts with enhanced inflammatory cytokine release

the existence of environmental factors or other regulatory genes may also have a role in the pathogenic process of GPP patients with DITRA [38].

15.4.4 Clinical Manifestations

DITRA is a potentially life-threatening condition if not treated. This autosomal recessive autoinflammatory disease is defined in GPP patients characterized by sudden, repeated episodes of high-grade fever, generalized rash, and disseminated pustules, with hyperleukocytosis and elevated C-reactive protein levels, which may be associated with plaque-type psoriasis [31]. Bonekamp et al. identified two pediatric cases with a severe clinical course [39]. The first patient was a boy who presented at the age of 3 years with inverse psoriasis in the genital area. He later developed diffuse pustular lesions associated with fever and elevation of acute phase reactants, and compound heterozygosity for the IL36RN P76L/S113L mutations has been observed in the patient. The second patient was a 5-year-old girl presenting with erythroderma and pustular lesions, covering more than 85% of her body surface at the age of 1-month-old who also had fever, elevation of acute phase reactants, and failure to thrive. Genetic analysis revealed a homozygous L27P mutation in the IL-36RN gene. After this study, Cherqaoui et al. reported another pediatric case from consanguineous Tunisian parents who had diffuse inflammatory pustular psoriasis and erythrodermic extension at the onset age of 1 month of life [40]. He had fever, irritability, severe failure-to-thrive and recurrent diarrhea, microcephaly, and a triangular chin at the age of 2 months. Laboratory studies showed markedly increased leukocyte/neutrophil/platelet counts during flares, conversely with normal erythrocyte sedimentation/C-reactive protein rates. Another case whose cutaneous lesions varied from psoriasis vulgaris in infancy to annular pustular psoriasis with acute exacerbation to GPP at 13 years of age was reported in 2017 by Koike et al. [41]. During disease flares, he had mild fever.

15.4.5 Diagnosis

Diagnosis of DITRA includes genetic evaluation of the IL-36RN in GPP patients. The spectrum of mutations for this new disease in many populations is still unclear. Several Japanese patients and one Arab-Palestinian patient have been identified with c.28C>T mutation [42]. Diagnosis of GPP is critical to consider DITRA diagnosis. Because it is a life-threatening condition, urgent genetic testing should be considered in patients with recurring episodes of fever and GPP. Differential diagnosis includes related pustular disorders, palmoplantar pustulosis, acrodermatitis continua of Hallopeau, and acute generalized exanthematous pustulosis, which are also other phenotypes of IL-36RN mutations.

15.4.6 Management

The early age of onset, parental consanguinity, and resilient to therapy provoke to doubt DITRA [42]. Given the lack of clinical response to psoriasis vulgaris treatment such as high-dose corticosteroids and retinoid acid, by the description of the etiology, IL-1 receptor-related drugs used were effective in some patients [43, 44]. In IL-1 receptor antagonist-resistant patients, etanercept, ustekinumab, secukinumab, and infliximab have also been used successfully [39, 40, 45, 46]. Further development of IL-36 targeted inhibition strategies is needed to better manage DITRA patients particularly in pediatric population.

References

- Berteau F, Rouviere B, Delluc A, Nau A, Le Berre R, Sarrabay G, et al. Autosomic dominant familial Behçet disease and haploinsufficiency A20: a review of the literature. Autoimmun Rev. 2018;17(8):809–15.
- Zhou Q, Wang H, Schwartz DM, Stoffels M, Park YH, Zhang Y, et al. Loss-of-function mutations in TNFAIP3 leading to A20 haploinsufficiency cause an early-onset autoinflammatory disease. Nat Genet. 2016;48(1):67–73.
- Aeschlimann FA, Batu ED, Canna SW, Go E, Gul A, Hoffmann P, et al. A20 haploinsufficiency (HA20): clinical phenotypes and disease course of patients with a newly recognised NF-kBmediated autoinflammatory disease. Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(5):728–35.
- Shigemura T, Kaneko N, Kobayashi N, Kobayashi K, Takeuchi Y, Nakano N, et al. Novel heterozygous C243Y A20/TNFAIP3 gene mutation is responsible for chronic inflammation in autosomal-dominant Behçet's disease. RMD Open. 2016;2(1):e000223.

- Ohnishi H, Kawamoto N, Seishima M, Ohara O, Fukao T. A Japanese family case with juvenile onset Behçet's disease caused by TNFAIP3 mutation. Allergol Int. 2017;66(1):146–8.
- Ma A, Malynn BA. A20: linking a complex regulator of ubiquitylation to immunity and human disease. Nat Rev Immunol. 2012;12(11):774–85.
- Duncan CJA, Dinnigan E, Theobald R, Grainger A, Skelton AJ, Hussain R, et al. Early-onset autoimmune disease due to a heterozygous loss-of-function mutation in TNFAIP3 (A20). Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(5):783–6.
- Takagi M, Ogata S, Ueno H, Yoshida K, Yeh T, Hoshino A, et al. Haploinsufficiency of TNFAIP3 (A20) by germline mutation is involved in autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2017;139(6):1914–22.
- 9. Davatchi F. Diagnosis/classification criteria for Behçet's disease. Pathol Res Int. 2012;2012:607921.
- Aksentijevich I, Zhou Q. NF-kappaB pathway in autoinflammatory diseases: dysregulation of protein modifications by ubiquitin defines a new category of autoinflammatory diseases. Front Immunol. 2017;8:399.
- Aksentijevich I, McDermott MF. Lessons from characterization and treatment of the autoinflammatory syndromes. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2017;29(2):187–94.
- Zhou Q, Yu X, Demirkaya E, Deuitch N, Stone D, Tsai WL, et al. Biallelic hypomorphic mutations in a linear deubiquitinase define otulipenia, an early-onset autoinflammatory disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(36):10127–32.
- Oda H, Kastner DL. Genomics, biology, and human illness: advances in the monogenic autoinflammatory diseases. Rheum Dis Clin N Am. 2017;43(3):327–45.
- 14. Steiner A, Harapas CR, Masters SL, Davidson S. An update on autoinflammatory diseases: relopathies. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2018;20(7):39.
- Jamilloux Y, Belot A, Magnotti F, Benezech S, Gerfaud-Valentin M, Bourdonnay E, et al. Geoepidemiology and immunologic features of autoinflammatory diseases: a comprehensive review. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2018;54(3):454–79.
- Boisson B, Laplantine E, Prando C, Giliani S, Israelsson E, Xu Z, et al. Immunodeficiency, autoinflammation and amylopectinosis in humans with inherited HOIL-1 and LUBAC deficiency. Nat Immunol. 2012;13(12):1178–86.
- Boisson B, Laplantine E, Dobbs K, Cobat A, Tarantino N, Hazen M, et al. Human HOIP and LUBAC deficiency underlies autoinflammation, immunodeficiency, amylopectinosis, and lymphangiectasia. J Exp Med. 2015;212(6):939–51.
- Aksentijevich I, Masters SL, Ferguson PJ, Dancey P, Frenkel J, van Royen-Kerkhoff A, et al. An autoinflammatory disease with deficiency of the interleukin-1-receptor antagonist. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(23):2426–37.
- Reddy S, Jia S, Geoffrey R, Lorier R, Suchi M, Broeckel U, et al. An autoinflammatory disease due to homozygous deletion of the IL1RN locus. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(23):2438–44.
- Altiok E, Aksoy F, Perk Y, Taylan F, Kim PW, Ilikkan B, et al. A novel mutation in the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist associated with intrauterine disease onset. Clin Immunol (Orlando, FL). 2012;145(1):77–81.
- 21. Jesus AA, Osman M, Silva CA, Kim PW, Pham TH, Gadina M, et al. A novel mutation of IL1RN in the deficiency of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist syndrome: description of two unrelated cases from Brazil. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(12):4007–17.
- 22. Mendonca LO, Malle L, Donovan FX, Chandrasekharappa SC, Montealegre Sanchez GA, Garg M, et al. Deficiency of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (DIRA): report of the first Indian patient and a novel deletion affecting IL1RN. J Clin Immunol. 2017;37(5):445–51.
- Schnellbacher C, Ciocca G, Menendez R, Aksentijevich I, Goldbach-Mansky R, Duarte AM, et al. Deficiency of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist responsive to anakinra. Pediatr Dermatol. 2013;30(6):758–60.
- Ulusoy E, Karaca NE, El-Shanti H, Kilicoglu E, Aksu G, Kutukculer N. Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist deficiency with a novel mutation; late onset and successful treatment with canakinumab: a case report. J Med Case Rep. 2015;9:145.

- 25. Brau-Javier CN, Gonzales-Chavez J, Toro JR. Chronic cutaneous pustulosis due to a 175-kb deletion on chromosome 2q13: excellent response to anakinra. Arch Dermatol. 2012;148(3):301–4.
- Minkis K, Aksentijevich I, Goldbach-Mansky R, Magro C, Scott R, Davis JG, et al. Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist deficiency presenting as infantile pustulosis mimicking infantile pustular psoriasis. Arch Dermatol. 2012;148(6):747–52.
- 27. Stenerson M, Dufendach K, Aksentijevich I, Brady J, Austin J, Reed AM. The first reported case of compound heterozygous IL1RN mutations causing deficiency of the interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. Arthritis Rheum. 2011;63(12):4018–22.
- 28. Lachmann HJ. Periodic fever syndromes. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2017;31(4):596–609.
- Ter Haar N, Lachmann H, Ozen S, Woo P, Uziel Y, Modesto C, et al. Treatment of autoinflammatory diseases: results from the Eurofever Registry and a literature review. Ann Rheum Dis. 2013;72(5):678–85.
- Walsh PT, Fallon PG. The emergence of the IL-36 cytokine family as novel targets for inflammatory diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2018;1417(1):23–34.
- Marrakchi S, Guigue P, Renshaw BR, Puel A, Pei XY, Fraitag S, et al. Interleukin-36-receptor antagonist deficiency and generalized pustular psoriasis. N Engl J Med. 2011;365(7):620-8.
- 32. Tauber M, Viguier M, Le Gall C, Smahi A, Bachelez H. Is it relevant to use an interleukin-1-inhibiting strategy for the treatment of patients with deficiency of interleukin-36 receptor antagonist? Br J Dermatol. 2014;170(5):1198–9.
- 33. Johnston A, Xing X, Guzman AM, Riblett M, Loyd CM, Ward NL, et al. IL-1F5, -F6, -F8, and -F9: a novel IL-1 family signaling system that is active in psoriasis and promotes keratinocyte antimicrobial peptide expression. J Immunol. 2011;186(4):2613–22.
- 34. Towne JE, Garka KE, Renshaw BR, Virca GD, Sims JE. Interleukin (IL)-1F6, IL-1F8, and IL-1F9 signal through IL-1Rrp2 and IL-1RAcP to activate the pathway leading to NF-kappaB and MAPKs. J Biol Chem. 2004;279(14):13677–88.
- 35. Sims JE, Smith DE. The IL-1 family: regulators of immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. 2010;10(2):89–102.
- 36. Onoufriadis A, Simpson MA, Pink AE, Di Meglio P, Smith CH, Pullabhatla V, et al. Mutations in IL36RN/IL1F5 are associated with the severe episodic inflammatory skin disease known as generalized pustular psoriasis. Am J Hum Genet. 2011;89(3):432–7.
- Schmitt V, Hahn M, Kastele V, Wagner O, Wiendl M, Derer A, et al. Interleukin-36 receptor mediates the crosstalk between plasma cells and synovial fibroblasts. Eur J Immunol. 2017;47(12):2101–12.
- 38. Li M, Han J, Lu Z, Li H, Zhu K, Cheng R, et al. Prevalent and rare mutations in IL-36RN gene in Chinese patients with generalized pustular psoriasis and psoriasis vulgaris. J Invest Dermatol. 2013;133(11):2637–9.
- Bonekamp N, Caorsi R, Viglizzo GM, Graaf M, Minoia F, Grossi A, et al. High-dose ustekinumab for severe childhood deficiency of interleukin-36 receptor antagonist (DITRA). Ann Rheum Dis. 2018;77(8):1241–3.
- Cherqaoui B Jr, Rossi-Semerano L, Piram M, Kone-Paut I. Standard dose of Ustekinumab for childhood-onset deficiency of interleukin-36 receptor antagonist. Ann Rheum Dis. 2017; https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2017-212793.
- 41. Koike Y, Okubo M, Kiyohara T, Fukuchi R, Sato Y, Kuwatsuka S, et al. Granulocyte and monocyte apheresis can control juvenile generalized pustular psoriasis with mutation of IL36RN. Br J Dermatol. 2017;177(6):1732–6.
- 42. Renert-Yuval Y, Horev L, Babay S, Tams S, Ramot Y, Zlotogorski A, et al. IL36RN mutation causing generalized pustular psoriasis in a Palestinian patient. Int J Dermatol. 2014;53(7):866–8.
- Rossi-Semerano L, Piram M, Chiaverini C, De Ricaud D, Smahi A, Kone-Paut I. First clinical description of an infant with interleukin-36-receptor antagonist deficiency successfully treated with anakinra. Pediatrics. 2013;132(4):e1043–7.

- 44. Podlipnik S, Morgado-Carrasco D, Fusta-Novell X, Mensa-Vilaro A, Arostegui JI, Alsina-Gibert M, et al. Dynamics of plasma cytokines in a patient with deficiency of interleukin-36 receptor antagonist successfully treated with anakinra. Br J Dermatol. 2018;178(4):e258–e60.
- 45. Cuperus E, Koevoets R, van der Smagt JJ, Toonstra J, de Graaf M, Frenkel J, et al. Juvenile interleukin-36 receptor antagonist deficiency (DITRA) with c.80T>C (p.Leu27Pro) mutation successfully treated with etanercept and acitretin. JAAD Case Rep. 2018;4(2):192–5.
- 46. Kinoshita M, Okamoto T, Sano S, Mitsui H, Takeichi T, Sugiura K, et al. Deficiency of the interleukin-36 receptor antagonist dramatically improved by secukinumab. J Dermatol. 2018;45:e280.



16

Pyogenic Arthritis, Pyoderma Gangrenosum, and Acne (PAPA) Syndrome

Antonella Insalaco

Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, and acne (PAPA) syndrome is a rare autosomal dominant autoinflammatory syndrome first described by Lindor et al. in 1997 [1], characterized by early onset of recurrent episodes of severe inflammation of skin and joints.

16.1 Clinical Features

PAPA syndrome presents typically with recurrent episodes of sterile, pyogenic, pauciarticular, and peripheral arthritis in early childhood, occurring spontaneously or after minor trauma (Fig. 16.1). Recurring inflammatory episodes lead to accumulation of sterile, pyogenic, neutrophil-rich material within the affected joints occasionally resulting in significant joint destruction [2]. Radiographic findings include periosteal proliferation of involved bones and, in some cases, ankylosis [1, 2]. Skin involvement is more variable and may predominate as patients progress to puberty. It is also episodic and recurrent and can include aggressive ulcerative skin lesions, often of the lower extremities, indistinguishable from pyoderma gangrenosum (Fig. 16.2) or severe cystic acne, which begins in adolescence and persists into adulthood [1-3] (Fig. 16.3). Although the synovial fluid and skin lesions may have the appearance of an infectious process, culture of skin and joints is sterile. Other possible manifestations of the PAPA syndrome include pathergy (the formation of sterile abscesses at injection sites), sporadic episodes of irritable bowel syndrome, aphthous stomatitis, and, reported in one family, pancytopenia after administration of sulfa-containing medications [1, 2].

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

A. Insalaco (🖂)

Division of Rheumatology, IRCCS Ospedale Pediatrico Bambino Gesù, Rome, Italy e-mail: insalaco@opbg.net

R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2_16



Fig. 16.1 Peripheral joint involvement in patients with PAPA syndrome. *Source*: Courtesy of Dr Marco Gattorno

Fig. 16.2 Pyoderma gangrenosum in a patient with PAPA syndrome



Fig. 16.3 Cystic acne in PAPA syndrome begins in adolescence and persists into adulthood



16.2 Pathogenesis

PAPA is caused by different mutations in the proline-serine-threonine phosphataseinteracting protein (PSTPIP1) gene, located on chromosome 15 [4]. PSTPIP1 is a cytoskeleton-associated adaptor protein that was originally identified in the mouse through interaction with PEST (rich in proline (P), glutamic acid (E), serine (S), and threonine (T) residues-type protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP-PEST, also known as PTNP12) [5]). The human homolog, called CD2-binding protein1 (CD2BP1), was identified by interaction with the T cell surface protein CD2 [6]. PSTPIP1/ CD2BP1 protein links PEST-type phosphatases to their substrates [7]. The binding of PTP-PEST to PSTPIP1 is essential for its dephosphorylation. Mutations of PSTPIP1 severely abrogate binding to PTP-PEST causing the hyperphosphorylation of PSTPIP1 itself [3, 8]. PSTPIP1 protein also interacts with Wiskott-Aldrich syndrome protein (WASP) and with the pyrin inflammasome. Disease-causing *PSTPIP1* mutations diminish the interactions with PEST-type proteins or WASP and increase interaction with pyrin [9]. The PSTPIP1/CD2BP1 protein acts as a scaffold protein participating in the organization of the actin cytoskeleton [10] and modulates T cell activation [11] and IL-1 β release. The last mechanism is due to interaction between PSTPIP1 and Pyrin, the familial Mediterranean fever (FMF) protein that, in association with the cytoskeleton, in myeloid/monocytic cells, modulates IL1ß processing, NF-kb activation, and apoptosis [9]. The originally identified PSTPIP1/CD2BP1 causing mutations, A230T, and E250Q, as well as others subsequently described, increase the strength of the interaction between PSTPIP1 and pyrin interfering with the ability of PSTPIP1 to phosphorylate proinflammatory pyrin domain, eventually leading to an altered assembly and activation of the inflammasome and consequent release of IL-1β. Increased avidity of PSTPIP1 for pyrin leads indeed to the formation of macromolecular complexes, so-called "pyroptosomes" that recruit and activate caspase-1, an inflammasome component, leading to cell death and to the release of inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β [3, 4, 9, 12]. While disease-causing mutations in PSTPIP1 affect pyrin-mediated pathways, the reverse does not happen; indeed FMF causal mutations do not affect binding to PSTPIP1 [3]. The overexpression of IL1-β induces an uncontrolled production of several proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines, which are responsible for the recruitment and activation of mature neutrophils, leading to a neutrophil-mediated inflammatory scenario [10, 13]. Furthermore, PAPA syndrome macrophages exhibit a specific defect in the directed migration and a significant defect in podosome formation with many cells forming few altered podosomes. Defects in mononuclear cell podosome formation and migration have been reported in patients with WASP mutations and the primary immunodeficiency disorder Wiskott-Aldrich Syndrome (WAS). The similarities in macrophage morphology from patients with both PAPA syndrome and WAS suggest that PSTPIP1 may regulate macrophage podosome formation through its interaction with WASP. During the inflammatory phase, macrophages must navigate the granulation tissue to clear apoptotic neutrophils. Abnormal macrophage trafficking and retention of macrophages within tissues because of impaired migration may contribute to the development of chronic inflammation through neutrophil recruitment [14]. A hallmark of PAPA syndrome is the very high expression of two pro-inflammatory proteins of the S100-family, MRP8 (S100A8) and MRP14 (S100A9). These proteins belong to the family of so-called "alarmins" or danger-associated molecular pattern (DAMPs), which are released during cell stress or damage at the local site of inflammation [15]. The exact role of these molecules in the pathogenesis of PAPA is yet not clear. Extracellular MRP8 and MRP14 form a positive inflammatory feedback loop with IL1- β , playing a significant role in the autoinflammatory process of PAPA syndrome.

To date, several missense mutations have been described in an online database of mutations (http://fmf.igh.cnrs.fr/infevers/). Mutations in PSTPIP1 are incompletely penetrant and variably expressed in the PAPA syndrome [16]. Interestingly, some cases of PAPA syndrome have proven negative for PSTPIP1 mutations [17].

16.3 Other PSTPIP1-Associated Inflammatory Diseases

In the last years, the spectrum of autoinflammatory diseases due to mutation in PSTPIP1 with distinct clinical phenotypes has been expanded, indicating that PAPA syndrome is only one clinical entity within the spectrum of PSTPIP1-associated inflammatory disease, so-called "PAID" [16]. Other related syndromes have indeed recently been described: PASH (pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis) syndrome [18], PAPASH (pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis) syndrome [19], PAMI (PSTPIP1-associated myeloid-related proteinemia inflammatory), and PAC (pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and ulcerative colitis) syndrome [20, 21] (Table 16.1). PASH syndrome has been described in 2011 in two unrelated patients as an autoinflammatory disease of the skin, clinically characterized by pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis. No recurrent arthritis was observed in these patients. No coding mutations in PSTPIP1 were identified, but an increased repetition of the CCTG microsatellite motif was present in the PSTPIP1 promoter on one allele in both patients [18]. Some years later, a new entity, characterized by pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis, called PAPASH, was described in one patient [19]. The p.E277D missense mutation of the PSTPIP1 gene was found in that case. In 2016, PSTPIP1-associated myeloid-related proteinemia inflammatory (PAMI) syndrome has been defined as another distinct autoinflammatory

Acronym	Syndrome
PAPA	Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum and acne
PASH	Pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis
PAPASH	Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis
PAMI	PSTPIP1-associated myeloid-related-proteinemia inflammatory syndrome
PAC	Pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and ulcerative colitis syndrome

 Table 16.1
 PSTPIP1-associated inflammatory diseases (PAID)

disorder presenting clinical and biochemical features not found in patients with classic PAPA syndrome [20]. In addition to skin inflammation and arthritis, PAMI is characterized by chronic systemic inflammation, hepatosplenomegaly, and pancytopenia. Bone marrow involvement, hyperzincemia, and extremely high levels of pro-inflammatory alarmins myeloid-related protein (MRP) 8/14 distinguish PAMI from PAPA. It is due to p.E250K and p.E257K mutations that result in charge reversal in the y-domain of PSTPIP1 ($E \rightarrow K$) and increase interaction with pyrin [20]. Finally, PAC syndrome, consisting of pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and ulcerative colitis, has also been described [22].

16.4 Treatment

Because of its rarity, clinical heterogeneity, and the complex pathogenesis, patients with PAID still lack a well-defined therapeutic approach. In addition to steroids, in line with the presumed common pathogenesis involving IL-1-driven inflammation, collective experience so far indicates that IL-1- and TNF-targeted therapies represent the most successful treatment solution in order to obtain prolonged remission.

Arthritis responds to corticosteroid therapy; however, the associated adverse effects often limit steroid use. Consistent with the pathogenesis, leukocytes from patients produce increased levels of IL-1 β in vitro [9], which is a potent inducer of TNF α [23], raising the possibility that treatment with biological agents may be helpful. There are reports of successful treatment with etanercept [23], infliximab [24], anakinra [16, 25–27], and canakinumab [28] in some patients. There is anecdotal evidence that IL-1 inhibition may be more beneficial for joint manifestations and TNF inhibition for pyoderma gangrenosum. However, there is no consistently successful treatment for this syndrome. Significant variability in response has been observed; biologics have not been consistently effective and do not necessarily induce remission of all the disease manifestations, raising interesting questions about the pathogenesis of each feature of the diseases. Since PSTPIP1 may potentially network with several proteins involved in the immune response, other than pyrin, it is conceivable that mechanisms different from IL-1 signaling activation may play an additional role in the pathogenesis of the disease, thus explaining the clinical peculiarity of PAPA compared with other IL-1-mediated diseases.

References

- Lindor NM, Arsenault TM, Solomon H, et al. A new autosomal dominant disorder of pyogenic sterile arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, and acne: PAPA syndrome. Mayo Clin Proc. 1997;72:611–5.
- 2. Tallon B, Corkill M. Peculiaritis of PAPA syndrome. Rheumatology. 2006;45:1140-3.
- Smith EJ, Allantaz F, Bennet L. Clinical, molecular and genetic characteristics of PAPA syndrome: a review. Curr Genomics. 2010;11:519–27.
- Yeon HB, Lindor NM, Seidman JG, Seidman CE. Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, and acne syndrome maps to chromosome 15q. Am J Hum Genet. 2000;66:1443–8.

- Spencer S, Dowbenko D, Cheng J, et al. PSTPIP1: a tyrosine phosphorylated cleavage furrow-associated protein that is a substrate for a PEST tyrosine phosphatase. J Cell Biol. 1997;138:845–60.
- Li J, Nishizawa K, An W, et al. A cdc15-like adaptor protein (CD2BP1) interacts with CD2 cytoplasmic domain and regulates CD2-triggered adhesion. EMBO J. 1998;17:7320–36.
- 7. Waite AL, Schaner P, Richards N, et al. Pyrin modulates the intracellular distribution of PSTPIP1. PLoS One. 2009;4:e6147.
- Wise CA, Gillum JD, Seidman CE, et al. Mutations in CD2BP1 disrupt binding to PTP PEST and are responsible for PAPA syndrome, an autoinflammatory disorder. Hum Mol Genet. 2002;11:961–9.
- Shoham NG, Centola M, Mansfield E, et al. Pyrin binds the PSTPIP1/CD2BP1 protein, defining familial Mediterranean fever and PAPA syndrome as disorders in the same pathway. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2003;100:13501–6.
- 10. Cote JF, Chung PL, Theberge JF, et al. PSTPIP is a substrate of PTP-PEST and serves as a scaffold guiding PTP-PEST toward a specific dephosphorylation of WASP. J Biol Chem. 2002;277:2973–86.
- Yang H, Reinherz EL. CD2BP1 modulates CD2-dependent T cell activation via linkage to protein tyrosine phosphatase (PTP)-PEST. J Immunol. 2006;176:5898–907.
- 12. Yu JW, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Datta P, et al. Pyrin activates the ASC pyroptosome in response to engagement by autoinflammatory PSTPIP1 mutants. Mol Cell. 2007;28:214–27.
- Dinarello CA. Clinical perspective of IL1-Beta as the gatekeeper of inflammation. Eur J Immunol. 2011;41:1203–17.
- Cortesio CL, Wernimont SA, Kastner D. Impaired podosome formation and invasive migration of macrophages from patients with a PSTPIP1 mutation and PAPA syndrome. Arthritis Rheum. 2010;62(8):2556–8.
- Holzinger D, Roth J. Alarming consequences-autoinflammatory disease spectrum due to mutations in proline-serine-threonine phosphatase-interacting protein 1. Curr Opin Rheumatol. 2016;28:550–9.
- Demidowich AP, Freeman AF, Douglas BK, et al. Genotype, phenotype and clinical course in five patients with PAPA syndrome (pyogenic sterile arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum and acne). Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):2022–7.
- Hong J-B, Su Y-N, Chiu H-C. Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum and acne syndrome (PAPA syndrome): report of a sporadic case without an identifiable mutation in the CD2BP1 gene. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2009;61:533.
- Braun-Falco M, Kovnerystyy O, Lohse P, Ruzicka T. Pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and suppurative hidradenitis (PASH): a new autoinflammatory syndrome distinct from PAPA syndrome. J Am Acad Dermatol. 2012;66:409–15.
- Marzano AV, Trevisan V, Gattorno M, et al. Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, acne, and hidradenitis suppurativa (PAPASH): a new autoinflammatory syndrome associated with a novel mutation of the PSTPIP1 gene. JAMA Dermatol. 2013;149:762–4.
- Holzinger D, Fassl SK, de Jager W, et al. Single amino acid change switch defines clinically distinct proline-serine-threonine phosphatase-interacting protein 1 (PSTPIP1)-associated inflammatory diseases. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2015;136(5):1337–45.
- Belelli E, Passarelli C, Pardeo M, et al. Haematological involvement associated with a mild autoinflammatory phenotype in two patients carrying the E250K mutation of PSTPIP1. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 2017;35 Suppl 108(6):113–5.
- 22. Zeeli T, Padalon-Brauch G, Ellenbogen E, et al. Pyoderma gangrenosum, acne and ulcerative colitis in a patient with a novel mutation in the PSTPIP1 gene. Clin Exp Dermatol. 2015;40(4):367–72.
- 23. Cortis E, De Benedetti F, Insalaco A, et al. Abnormal production of tumor necrosis factor (TNF)—alpha and clinical efficacy of the TNF inhibitor etanercept in a patient with PAPA syndrome [corrected]. J Pediatr. 2004;145:851–5.

- 24. Stichweh DS, Punaro M, Pascual V. Dramatic improvement of pyoderma gangrenosum with infliximab in a patient with PAPA syndrome. Pediatr Dermatol. 2005;22:262–5.
- Dierselhuis MP, Frenkel J, Wulffraat NM, Boelens JJ. Anakinra for flares of pyogenic arthritis in PAPA syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2005;44:406–8.
- Omenetti A, Carta S, Caorsi R, et al. Disease activity accounts for long-term efficacy of IL-1 blockers in pyogenic sterile arthritis pyoderma gangrenosum and severe acne syndrome. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2016;55(7):1325–35.
- 27. Caorsi R, Picco P, Buoncompagni A, et al. Osteolytic lesion in PAPA syndrome responding to anti-interleukin 1 treatment. J Rheumatol. 2014;41:2333–4.
- Geusau A, Mothes-Luksch N, Nahavandi H, et al. Identification of a homozygous PSTPIP1 mutation in a patient with a PAPA-like syndrome responding to Canakinumab treatment. JAMA Dermatol. 2013;149(2):209–15.

Index

A

Acne, 273–276 Adult-onset Still's disease (AoSD), 95–117 Aicardi-Goutières syndrome (AGS), 249–254 Amyloidosis, 236, 239–241 Anakinra, 24, 134, 136, 138, 144, 145 Anti-interleukin-1, 232 Anti-TNF, 232 AoSD, *see* Adult-onset Still's disease (AoSD) Aphthous stomatitis, 28, 30, 33, 35, 41 Arthritis, 179–181, 187, 189–191, 273–276 Autoimmune disease, 136, 138 Autoimmune hepatitis (AIH), 196, 198 Autoinflammation, 23, 177–179, 257, 258, 260, 261, 263–265, 267, 268

Autoinflammatory disease (AID), 65, 67, 69, 70, 79, 93, 108, 136, 144, 149, 151, 156, 229, 235, 237–239, 241, 247, 253, 273, 276

B

Behçet disease (BD), 23, 161–172, 257–259 Behçet, Hulusi, 161, 169 Behçet-like autoinflammatory syndrome (AISBL), 257–261 Bone marrow transplantation, 232

С

Canakinumab, 24 Cardiac magnetic resonance (CMR), 135, 139, 140 Castleman disease (CD), 215–224 Chronic non-bacterial osteomyelitis (CNO), 147–157 Chronic recurrent multifocal osteomyelitis (CROM), 147, 154 Colchicine, 24, 138, 140, 142–144 Coronary artery abnormalities (CAAs), 45, 46, 51–60 Cytokine storm, 215, 218

D

Deficiency of interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (DIRA), 148, 264–266 Deficiency of interleukin-36 receptor antagonist (DITRA), 266–269 Diagnosis, 45, 48–55, 57, 60, 94, 97, 100–102, 104–107, 109–111, 116, 122, 123

E

Echocardiography, 135, 137, 139 Epidemiology, 46 Erythema nodosum (EN), 181, 183–186, 188, 189, 191 Extraintestinal manifestations, 177–204

F

Familial Mediterranean fever (FMF), 4–10, 12–15 Fever of unknown origin (FUO), 21, 22, 24, 25 Fever without source (FWS), 21

G

Genetic, 248, 253, 254 Genital ulcer, 161, 162, 164, 169

Η

Haploinsufficiency of A20 (HA20), 257–261 Human herpes virus-8 (HHV-8), 216, 219–220, 222, 223 Hyperimmunoglobulinemia D syndrome (HIDS), 229, 230

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020 R. Cimaz (ed.), *Periodic and Non-Periodic Fevers*, Rare Diseases of the Immune System, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-19055-2

I

Idiopathic multicentric castleman disease (iMCD), 216, 219-224 Immune dysregulation, 23 Immunotherapy, 144 Inflammasome, 98, 99 Inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), 177-204 Interferonopathies, 25 Interleukin 1 (IL-1), 98, 99, 102, 103, 105, 106, 113, 114, 117-120, 122, 123, 232, 277 Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1RN) gene, 264 Interleukin 6, 215 Interleukin 36 (IL-36) cytokine family, 266 Intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIg), 52-54, 57-59

J

JAK inhibitors, 25 Jeffrey Modell Foundation (JMF), 22 Juvenile idiopathic arthritis (JIA), 23, 65–80

K

Kawasaki disease (KD), 45-60

L Lymphoproliferative disorder, 216

Μ

Magnetic resonance (MR), 151, 152 Marshall's syndrome, 27–30 Mevalonate kinase deficiency (MKD), 6, 9–13, 15, 16, 229–233

Ν

NLRP3 inflammasome, 2, 5, 12 Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), 154–157

0

Oral ulcer, 161, 164, 169 Otulipenia, 261–264

P

Pathogenesis, 98-100, 114, 121, 123 Pericarditis, 133-145 Periodic fever, 27-30, 32, 42, 238.239 Periodic fever with aphthous stomatitis, pharyngitis, and adenitis (PFAPA), 23.27 - 40Periodic recurrent fever, 21 Polyneuropathy, organomegaly, endocrinopathy, monoclonal plasma cell disorder, and skin changes (POEMS), 216, 220-221 Primary immunodeficiency, 22 Prognosis, 100, 111, 114-115, 122, 123 Proline-serine-threonine phosphataseinteracting protein 1 (PSTPIP1), 275-277 Pyoderma gangrenosum (PG), 181, 185-186, 189, 273-276 Pyogenic arthritis, pyoderma gangrenosum, and acne syndrome (PAPA) syndrome, 148, 150, 273-276 Pyrin inflammasome, 5, 10

R

Recurrent fever, 6, 9, 11, 21 Recurrent pericarditis, 133–146 Rilonacept, 24

S

Sinus thrombosis, 166, 167, 169 Sweet's syndrome, 181, 186 Synovitis, acne, pustulosis, hyperostosis, and osteitis syndrome (SAPHO), 147, 150 Systemic, 65–80

Т

Thrombocytopenia, anasarca, fever, reticulin fibrosis, and organomegaly (TAFRO), 216, 221–224 Treatment, 97, 101–106, 113–123 TREX1, 248, 249, 251–253 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) inhibition, 25 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor, 235, 236, 240 Tumor necrosis factor receptor periodic fever syndrome (TRAPS), 6, 12–15, 235–241 Type I interferon, 248, 249, 253, 254

U

Ubiquitination, 261, 264

Unfolded protein response, 13 Unicentric castleman disease (UCD), 215–218, 222 Uveitis, 161, 162, 165, 170, 179, 191, 194, 195

V

Vasculitis, 161, 162, 165, 166, 168, 169